# Miscellaneous Laws of Nassau County



BRUCE A. BLAKEMAN Nassau County Executive

> Thomas A. Adams County Attorney

January 1, 2022

### **Miscellaneous Laws of Nassau County:**

### **January 1, 2022**

This compilation includes a selection of local laws that are not consolidated in the County Government Law of Nassau County (the Nassau County Charter) or the Nassau County Administrative Code. These laws have been included in this compilation because they were identified for inclusion by the County Attorney when the Miscellaneous Laws were first compiled in 1985 pursuant to Resolution No. 70-1985, or because the Legislature has since indicated in a particular law that it was to be an addition or amendment to the Miscellaneous Laws. Other unconsolidated local laws may exist that have not been included in this compilation. Some of these laws are available on the webpage of the Nassau County Legislature: <a href="http://www.nassaucountyny.gov/525/Local-Laws">http://www.nassaucountyny.gov/525/Local-Laws</a>.

### Verification of text:

The annexed has been reviewed and edited through January 1, 2022. Text may be compared for verification to the enacting and amending legislation. Such legislation can be obtained from the Office of the Clerk of the Legislature at (516) 571-4252 or online at

#### http://www.nassaucountyny.gov/525/Local-Laws

In case of any discrepancy between this compilation and the local laws as enacted by the Legislature, the latter shall be determinative.

The County is not responsible for any errors or omissions in this publication.

### Other laws:

Users should also be aware that, in addition to these miscellaneous laws, local laws enacted by the County Legislature are codified in the Nassau County Charter (also called the County Government Law of Nassau County) and Nassau County Administrative Code. These are also available on the County website. In addition, there may be local laws that remain unconsolidated in any volume.

The County Legislature also acts by Ordinance and Resolution. Ordinances and Resolutions are not codified, but the proceedings of the Legislature are available through the office of the Clerk of the Legislature and at: <a href="http://www.mccinnovations.com/weblink/Browse.aspx">http://www.mccinnovations.com/weblink/Browse.aspx</a>.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

### MISCELLANEOUS LOCAL LAWS OF NASSAU COUNTY

| TITLE    |  | PAGE |
|----------|--|------|
| 1        | Elections  | 6    |
| 2        | Judiciary  | 6    |
| 3        | Municipalities   | 6    |
| 4        | Nassau County American Revolution Bicentennial Advisory    | 9    |
|          | Commission   |      |
| 5        | Nassau County Veterans Memorial Coliseum                   | 9    |
| 6        | Consumer Affairs - Perishable Foods-Pricing                | 14   |
| 7        | Racing-Pari-Mutual/Off Track Betting                       | 18   |
| 8        | Social Welfare   | 19   |
| 9        | Taxation   | 21   |
| 10       | Transportation - Mass Transit                              | 24   |
| 11       | Elected Officials  | 24   |
| 12       | Early Retirement Incentive Program                         | 25   |
| 13       | Nassau Community College; Casualty Reserve Fund            | 26   |
| 14       | Defacing Property/Aerosol Paint Cans and Broad-Tipped      | 28   |
|          | Markers  |      |
| 15       | Land Preservation  | 30   |
| 16       | Nassau County Board of Parole                              | 31   |
| $17^{1}$ | Purchase Frozen Desserts from Vendor in Motor Vehicle      | 35   |
| $17^2$   | Nassau County Special Motor Vehicle Use Fee                | 38   |
| 18       | Prisoners in Nassau County Correctional Center - Payment   | 40   |
|          | for Medical or Dental Services If Insured                  |      |
| 19       | Disseminating Indecent Crime Material to Minors            | 41   |
| 20       | Fees for Probation Department Services                     | 43   |
| 21       | Certain Persons Convicted of Violating Nassau County Local | 46   |
|          | Laws or Ordinances - Reimbursement of Actual Investigatory |      |
|          | and Incarceration Costs                                    |      |
| 21-A     | Certain Persons Who Are Incarcerated in the Nassau County  | 48   |
|          | Correctional Center – Payment Of Unreimbursed              |      |
| _        | Incarceration Costs  |      |
| 22       | <b>Employee Commute Options (ECO) Program</b>              | 49   |

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> There are two Titles 17. <sup>2</sup> There are two Titles 17.

| 23              | <b>Automated Teller Machine Security Protection Act for Bank Customers</b>  | 54  |
|-----------------|---|-----|
| 24              | Nassau County Hotel and Motel Occupancy Tax   |     |
| 25              | Sale of Certain Dietary Supplements and Other Products<br>Containing Ephedrine  |     |
| $26^3$          | Agreements Between the County of Nassau and the Metropolitan Transportation Authority, the Long Island Rail Road Company and the Metropolitan Suburban Bus Authority  | 65  |
| 26 <sup>4</sup> | Box Cutters- Prohibition On Sale to Minors, Open Displays and Possession on School Premises   | 67  |
| 28              | Smoking Law   | 69  |
| 29              | Real Property Tax Exemption for Seniors and Veterans in<br>Cooperative Housing  | 78  |
| 30 <sup>5</sup> | Extension of Time Period for Filing Applications for the School Tax Relief (STAR) Exemption With Respect to the 1998-99 School Taxes.   | 79  |
| 306             | Linked Deposit Program  | 80  |
| 32              | Extension of Time Period for Filing Applications for the<br>School Tax Relief (STAR) Exemption With Respect to the<br>1999-2000 School Taxes  | 87  |
| 33              | Local Development Corporation   | 88  |
| 34              | Repealed  | 90  |
| 35              | Sale of Tobacco Litigation Settlement Payments  | 91  |
| 36              | Prescription of Certain Health Related Facilities and Hospital Facilities for the Prevention, Diagnosis or Treatment of Human Disease, Pain, Injury, Disability, Deformity or Physical Condition and Certain Facilities Incidental or Appurtenant Thereto and Authorization of Regulatory Agreement Between The County of Nassau and The Nassau Health Care Corporation | 92  |
| 37              | Repealed  | 94  |
| 38              | Tobacco Advertising   | 95  |
| 39              | Display of Adult Materials  | 100 |
| 40              | Nassau County Vehicle Control Act   | 101 |
| 41              | Nassau County Educational Resource Center   | 102 |

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> There are two Titles 26. <sup>4</sup> There are two Titles 26. <sup>5</sup> There are two Titles 30. <sup>6</sup> There are two Titles 30.

| 42              | Advance Notification of Aerial and Ground Spraying of   | 105 |
|-----------------|---|-----|
| 43              | Pesticides for Adult Mosquito Control  Adapting Countywide Notification Requirements for                    | 100 |
| 43              | Adopting Countywide Notification Requirements for<br>Commercial and Residential Lawn Pesticide Applications | 108 |
| 44              |   | 111 |
|                 | Aid to Villages Within Nassau County  | 111 |
| 45              | Child Helmet Safety Law   | 112 |
| 45-A            | A Law To Require the Safe Operations of Bicycles  |     |
| 46              | Regulation of the Use of Mobile Telephones  | 115 |
| 47              | Nassau County Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee   | 117 |
| 48              | Body-Piercing and Tattooing Law   | 121 |
| 49              | Carbon Dioxide Emissions Regulation   | 124 |
| 50              | Requiring Clergy to Report Incidences of Sexual Abuse or  | 128 |
|                 | Other Unlawful Conduct Against Minors to the Nassau   |     |
|                 | County District Attorney  |     |
| 51              | <b>Apprenticeship Training Programs for County Contracts</b>  | 129 |
| 52              | Good Sportsmanship of Participants, Their Parents and   | 132 |
|                 | Coaches In Sports and Recreational Activities On Nassau   |     |
|                 | County Property   |     |
| 53              | Participation By Minority Group Members and Women In  | 133 |
|                 | Nassau County Contracts   |     |
| 54              | Leave Allowed by County to Employees for Organ or Bone  | 145 |
|                 | Marrow Donation   |     |
| 55              | Prohibition Against the Sale of Lighters, Matches and Lighter   | 146 |
|                 | Fluid to Minors   |     |
| 56              | Collective Bargaining Activities of Unions in Nassau County   | 147 |
| 57              | Nassau County Living Wage Law   | 152 |
| 58              | Nassau County BB Gun Law  | 161 |
| 59 <sup>7</sup> | Nassau County Poet Laureate Law   | 162 |
| 59 <sup>8</sup> | Environmental Program   | 163 |
| 61              | Mark Sattler Law Restricting the Use of Motorized Scooters,   | 169 |
|                 | All-Terrain Vehicles and Other Off-Road Vehicles and  |     |
|                 | Requiring Truth-In-Selling  |     |
| 62              | Ultra Low Sulfur Diesel Fuel Law  | 173 |
| 63              | Migratory Waterfowl Law   | 177 |
| 64              | Social Host Law   | 178 |
| 65              | Alec's Law  | 181 |
| 66              | Green Buildings Standards Law   | 182 |
| 67              | DXM Law   | 185 |
|                 | T =   | 100 |

There are two Titles 59
 There are two Titles 59

| 68                      | Plastic Bag Reduction and Recycling Law                        | 187 |
|-------------------------|--|-----|
| 69                      | Deceptively Colored Handgun Law                                | 189 |
| 70                      | Providing Prices of Restaurant Specials                        | 191 |
| 71                      | Text Messaging   | 193 |
| 729                     | Nassau County Fertilizer Law                                   | 194 |
| 7210                    | Vehicle Owner Liability for Failure of Operator to Comply      | 195 |
|                         | With Traffic-Control Indications                               |     |
| 72-b                    | Payment in Lieu of Taxes [Repealed]                            | 200 |
| 73                      | Regulation of Private Fire Hydrants within Residential Private | 200 |
|                         | Communities  |     |
| <b>74</b>               | Regulation of Drop-Off Bins                                    | 203 |
| 75                      | Regulation of Drop-Side Cribs                                  | 205 |
| 76                      | Sex Offender Identification and Disclosure Law                 | 206 |
| 77                      | Law against Disruption of Funeral Related Events               | 209 |
| <b>78</b> <sup>11</sup> | Law Against the Application, Sale, Treatment and               | 210 |
|                         | Importation of Natural Gas Wastes and Oil Extraction Wastes    |     |
| $78^{12}$               | Prohibition of the Sale of Synthetic Cannabinoids in Nassau    | 214 |
|                         | County   |     |
| 78 <sup>13</sup>        | Animal Abuse Registry Law                                      | 215 |
| $79^{14}$               | Marchiselli Funds Pass Through Law                             | 219 |
| 79 <sup>15</sup>        | Nassau County Pet Dealers and Pet Stores Law                   | 221 |
| 79-a                    | Fee Relief for Hurricane/Super Storm Sandy Victim              | 225 |
| 80                      | Superstorm Sandy Assessment Relief                             | 227 |
| 81                      | Nassau County Emergency Solutions Grant Program                | 227 |
| 82                      | Participation of Service-Disabled Veterans in County           | 228 |
|                         | Contracts  |     |
| 83                      | Energize NY Open C-Pace Financing Program                      | 224 |
| 84                      | American Sign Language Interpreters at All Nassau County       | 236 |
|                         | Government Press Conferences Held During Emergency             |     |
|                         | Situations   |     |
| 85                      | Polystyrene Foam Container Ban                                 | 237 |
| 86                      | Vehicle Owner Liability for Failure of Operator to Stop for a  | 239 |
|                         | School Bus Displaying a Red Visual Signal and Stop-Arm         |     |

<sup>9</sup> There are two Titles 72
10 There are two Titles 72
11 There are three Titles 78
12 There are three Titles 78
13 There are three Titles 78
14 There are two Titles 79
15 There are two Titles 79

| 86 | Tethering Law <sup>16</sup>  | 246 |
|----|--|-----|
| 87 | A Law to Require Cooperative Housing Corporations to Take                                    | 248 |
|    | <b>Timely Action Upon Applications by Prospective Purchasers</b>                             |     |
| 88 | Benny's Law  | 249 |
| 89 | Prohibition Against The Smoking Or Vaping Of Cannabis<br>Products On County-Owned Properties | 251 |

<sup>16</sup> There are two Titles 86

#### TITLE 1

#### **ELECTIONS**

#### Chapter 1. A System of Permanent Personal Registration.

Section 1. The county of Nassau does hereby elect to adopt, for the purpose of the registration of voters for elections within the county of Nassau, the system of permanent personal registration set forth in article fifteen of the election law. (Local Law No. 7, 1954, in effect December 27, 1954.)

#### TITLE 2

#### **JUDICIARY**

## Chapter 1. Additional compensation for the judges of the County Court, Family Court, District Court, and Surrogates Court of Nassau County.<sup>17</sup>

(Local Law, No. 9, 1974, in effect July 22,1974, Local Law No. 15, 1973 and Local Law No. 17, 1972, Local Law No. 8, 1974, in effect July I, 1974, amends Local Law No. 11, 1969, and Local Law No. 2 1967.)

#### TITLE 3

#### **MUNICIPALITIES**

#### Chapter 1. Assumption of liability of Nassau County for acts committed by the County Clerk.

Section 1. In pursuance of the provisions of section five hundred thirty-three of the county law, as added by chapter five hundred ninety-six of the laws of nineteen hundred sixty-seven, the county of Nassau hereby assumes the liability of the county clerk of the county of Nassau and the employees of the county clerk's office, and shall save harmless and protect the said county clerk and the said employees from financial loss arising out daily claim, demand, suit or judgment by reason of any alleged negligence of the said county clerk and the said employees, provided such act of negligence was committed in the discharge of their duties and within the scope of their employment.

(Local Law No. 2, 1969, in effect March 1, 1969.)

## Chapter 2. Nassau County authorized to act as an agent for local authorities for the removal of abandoned vehicles.

 $<sup>^{17}</sup>$  Editor's note. Compensation of Judges and Justice of the Unified Court System now fixed by the Stale Legislature in Articles 6-A and 7-B of the New York Slate Judiciary Law, and Ch 881 of the Laws of 1980

Section 1. The County of Nassau is hereby authorized to act as the agent of local authorities within the county, as defined by the vehicle and traffic law, to take into custody vehicles abandoned within the jurisdiction of such local authorities upon the adoption of a resolution by the legislative body of such local authority authorizing the county of Nassau to act as such agent. The County Executive may direct the police department of the County of Nassau to perform such functions as may be required in pursuance of the authority herein granted.

Section 2. The removal and disposition of all abandoned vehicles by the County, as agent of the local authority, and disposition of any proceeds resulting from the sale of such vehicles shall be governed by the provisions of the vehicle and traffic law and the regulations of the commissioner of motor vehicles.

Section 3. The County Executive is hereby authorized to execute all contracts between the County and the local authorities which may be required to implement this local law. (Local Law No. 10, 1973, in effect October 1, 1973)

#### Chapter 3. Legalization of Over-expenditures by Incorporated Village of Sea Cliff.

Section 1. The Incorporated Village of Sea Cliff, by petition duly verified on January 16, 1962, and filed with the Board of Supervisors, has requested the said Board of Supervisors to legalize and validate certain over-expenditures or obligations which have been incurred against a fund or account in excess of the total amount appropriated or lawfully transferred thereto. Such petition had annexed to it certified copies of a detailed, sworn statement of the Treasurer of the said Incorporated Village of Sea Cliff from which it appears that the aforesaid over-expenditures or obligations have been incurred through inadvertence, mistake or error; and the said petition also had annexed to it certified copies of affidavits and resolutions evidencing the holding of a public hearing in the said Incorporated Village of Sea Cliff, authorizing the presentation of the said petition to the Board of Supervisors of the County of Nassau.

Section 2. In pursuance of Resolution No. 165, 1962 of the Board of Supervisors of the County of Nassau, adopted on the 26th day of March, 1962, the Clerk of the Board was authorized and directed to publish a notice stating the time, place and purpose of a public hearing to be held by the said Board of Supervisors or a standing or special committee thereof, in relation to the said petition, which said time and place were the 16th day of April; 1962, at the Village Hall, Sea Cliff, New York; and directing, further that such notice of hearing was to be published in the Glen Cove Record-Pilot, a newspaper having general circulation in the Incorporated Village of Sea Cliff, and that said notice of hearing was also to be posted in three conspicuous places in the Incorporated Village of Sea Cliff, one of which was to be posted upon the bulletin board in the office of the Village Clerk of the Incorporated Village of Sea Cliff.

Section 3. That the notice of public hearing to be held by the Board of Supervisors or a standing or special committee thereof was thereafter published in the Glen Cove Record-Pilot and

in the official newspapers, designated by the Board of Supervisors, on March 29, 1962, and affidavits of such publications are on file with the Clerk of the Board.

Section 4. That pursuant to Resolution No. 49, 1962 of the Board of Supervisors, relating to procedure, Supervisors John J. Burns, Clinton G. Martin and Joseph M. Reilly were designated as a Special Committee of the Board of Supervisors for the purpose of conducting the hearing referred to in sections 2 and 3 hereof. On April 16, 1962, a public hearing was held by the said Special Committee of the Board of Supervisors in the Incorporated Village of Sea Cliff and closed on the same day and no one appeared in opposition to the said petition. The minutes of the said hearing, held on April 16, 1962, are on file with the Clerk of the Board of

Supervisors together with the written report of the Special Committee of the Board of Supervisors with regard to the proceedings at the said hearing.

Section 5. From all of the proceedings had herein and the papers on file with the Clerk of this Board, it appears that the 1960-61 budget of the Incorporated Village of Sea Cliff contained a deficit as of May 31, 1961, in the total amount of \$21,300.04, of which amount \$9,572.70 constituted extraordinary snow removal costs subsequently financed in pursuance of Chapter 494 of the Laws of 1961, leaving a balance overexpended against a fund or account in excess of the total amount appropriated or lawfully transferred thereto, of \$11,727.34.

Section 6. That such over-expenditures or obligations incurred against a fund or account in excess of the total amount appropriated was the result of inadvertence, mistake or error in accounting methods or otherwise and was not the result of fraud and no substantial hardship will result therefrom and the aforesaid acts were had and taken in connection with a lawful municipal object or purpose by the appropriate officials of the said Incorporated Village of Sea Cliff.

Section 7. That this Board determines that the acts in sections 5 and 6 of this local law are hereby legalized and validated.

Section 8. That the amount of the over-expenditures or obligations legalized and validated, as provided herein, may be paid from available funds or shall be deemed to be a settled claim within the meaning of paragraph a of subdivision 33 of section 11.00 of the Local Finance Law, which may be financed by the issuance of bonds or capital notes, provided, however, that the maximum maturity of any such bonds shall not exceed three years from the date of issuance of such bonds or from the date of issuance of the earliest bond anticipation note issued in anticipation thereof, whichever date is the earlier, and provided further, however, that the cost shall be charged against the area normally responsible for the payment of the over-expenditures or obligations hereby legalized and validated.

(These provisions enacted by Local Law No. 2, 1962, in effect May 28, 1962.)

#### TITLE 4

### NASSAU COUNTY AMERICAN REVOLUTION BICENTENNIAL ADVISORY COMMISSION

#### Chapter 1. Expansion of membership: Appointment of a Secretary to the Commission.

Section 1. Such commission shall have not less than ten nor more than twenty members who shall be appointed by the County Executive subject to confirmation by the Board of Supervisors. One member shall be designated as chairman by the County Executive and the director of the Nassau County museum shall be an ex officio member of the commission. Within the appropriation therefor, there shall be a secretary to the commission who shall be appointed by the commission. The members of the commission shall serve without compensation, but shall be reimbursed for expenses, actually and necessarily incurred, in the performance of their duties within the appropriation for that purpose. Vacancies on the commission shall be filed for the unexpired term in the same manner as original appointments. (Local Law No. 6, 1973, in effect October 1, 1973)

#### TITLE 5

#### NASSAU COUNTY VETERANS MEMORIAL COLESEUM

#### Chapter 1. Rules and regulations regarding Nassau County Veterans Memorial Coliseum.

Section 1. There are hereby established rules and regulations relating to the use of the Nassau County Veterans Memorial Coliseum.

Section 2. Definitions. Unless otherwise expressly stated whenever used in this local law, the following terms shall respectively mean and include each of the meanings as set forth below:

- a. "Director" shall mean the Executive Director of the Nassau County Veterans Memorial Coliseum.
- b. "Coliseum" shall mean the Nassau County Veterans Memorial Coliseum which shall include the entire Coliseum building, together with the surrounding grounds, including, but not limited to, parking fields, roadways, malls and entrances thereto.
- c. "Person" shall mean any individual, firm, partnership, association or corporation.
- d. "County Executive" shall mean the County Executive of Nassau County.
- e. "Coliseum building" shall be limited to its ordinary meaning and shall not include surrounding grounds.

Section 3. Construction. The provisions of this local law shall be construed as follows:

1. Any term in the singular shall include the plural.

- 2. Any term in the masculine shall include the feminine and the matter. 18
- 3. When one person engages in conduct which constitutes an offense under the provisions of this local law, another person is liable for such conduct when he solicits, requests, commands, importunes or intentionally aids such person to engage in such conduct.
- 4. The provisions of this local law shall not apply to any act necessarily performed by any County officer or employee in line of duty or work, or by any person, his agents or employees, in the proper and necessary performance of the terms of any agreement with the county of Nassau.
- 5. These rules and regulations are intended to supplement all applicable municipal, state and federal laws and ordinances.

Section 4. General regulations.

a. Meetings, exhibits and performances.

The erection of any structure, the staging of any performance, the conducting of any athletic event or the holding of any meeting at the Coliseum shall be done as provided in a duly executed contact or upon such terms and conditions as the director or his designated representative may deem necessary, subject to the approval of the County Executive.

b. Peddling and sales.

No person shall exhibit, sell or offer for sale or hire any object, merchandise or service at the coliseum, without the approval of the County Executive, except as provided in a duly executed contract between such person and the county of or as otherwise authorized by the Director or his (lest representative.

c. Littering.

All litter or garbage shall be placed in the receptacles provided therefor.

d. Property.

No person shall injure, deface, alter, remove or destroy any property or equipment of another person at the coliseum.

- e. Advertising and demonstrations.
  - 1. No person shall display any sign, banner or poster which unreasonably obstructs the view of other persons in the coliseum building or interferes

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> So in original. (Ed.'s note. Probably should read "neuter".)

- with a performance, exhibition, show, game, event or contest therein.
- 2. No person shall distribute, at the Coliseum, any sign, banner poster, or similar material which is readily capable of obstructing the view of other persons in the Coliseum, building or interfering with the performance, exhibition show, game, event or contest therein.

#### f. Prohibited conduct.

No person shall, at the coliseum:

- 1. disobey or disregard the lawful directions of any police officer, coliseum employee, or any lawful sign or posted regulations at the coliseum;
- 2. throw or attempt to throw any object which injures or is readily capable of causing injury to other persons, animals equipment or property;
- 3. solicit alms, subscriptions or contributions for any purpose except where such solicitation results from fund raising program authorized by the Board of Supervisors of the county of Nassau;
- 4. interfere with, encumber or obstruct passage of any entranceway or exit of the coliseum;
- 5. enter or leave the coliseum except at established entranceways or exits and at established times;
- 6. gain or attempt to gain admittance to any event at the coliseum without paying the established fee; or
- 7. bring thermos bottles or other types of scaled containers into the Coliseum, unless authorized by the Director or his designated representative.

#### g. Firearms, weapons, explosives.

No person shall have in his possession or bring into the Coliseum any firearm, weapon, explosive, fireworks, or properties having such characteristics, except when specifically permitted by law or duly licensed.

#### h. Alcoholic beverages.

No person shall bring beer, ale, wine or other alcoholic beverages into the Coliseum, unless authorized by the Director or his designated representative.

#### i. Animals.

No person shall bring any animals into the Coliseum unless authorized by the Director or his designated representative.

#### j. Trespass.

Any person who remains on the premises of the Coliseum and has no legitimate or lawful reason for remaining and refuses to leave upon the lawful request of a duly authorized representative of the Director or a police officer shall be guilty of trespassing.

#### k. Fires.

No person shall intentionally or recklessly cause a fire to be started which creates or is readily capable of creating a hazardous condition and serves no legitimate purpose.

#### Section 5. Traffic

#### Traffic control.

All persons shall comply with all applicable ordinances, posted regulations and the lawful directions of police officers and Coliseum employees in parking areas.

#### b. Restrictions on vehicles.

- 1. Commercial vehicles. Vehicles such as trucks and trailers engaged in the commercial carrying of merchandise are prohibited from entering the coliseum except to make necessary deliveries or pickups.
- 2. Omnibuses. No person shall drive or operate at the Coliseum any omnibus adapted for more than nine passengers except upon payment of the prescribed entrance fee or when authorized by the Director or his authorized representative.

#### c. Soliciting passengers.

Except as otherwise provided in this local law, no taxicab driver or other person shall offer his vehicle for hire to any person at the Coliseum.

#### d. Hitchhiking.

No person shall attempt to solicit a ride from any vehicle at the Coliseum except in case of emergency.

#### e. Restricted areas.

No person shall operate a vehicle at, within, or upon any area not designated for use by the public.

#### f. Obstructing traffic.

No person shall cause or permit any obstruction of traffic by a vehicle or otherwise at the Coliseum. No person shall remove or replace a flat tire at the Coliseum unless the vehicle is completely off the roadway so that no part of the vehicle or person is within the path of passing vehicles.

#### g. Towing.

No person shall cause or permit a vehicle to be towed or pushed by another vehicle at the Coliseum except that in the event of a breakdown, a disabled vehicle may be towed or pushed to the nearest exit.

#### h. Removal of vehicles.

- 1. Illegally parked. The Nassau County Police Department and/or Director or his designated representative are hereby authorized to provide for the removal of any vehicle to a garage, automobile pound or other place of safety if such vehicle is parked so as to obstruct traffic and is unattended or is parked and unattended at the Coliseum, except those vehicles parked in areas where parking shall be permitted by order of the County Executive. The owner or other person lawfully entitled to the possession of such vehicle may be charged with the reasonable cost for removal and storage, payable before the vehicle is released. The County shall not be liable for damages which may result from such removal.
- 2. Vehicles stalled or disabled. Any stalled or disabled vehicle shall not be permitted to remain at the Coliseum for more than a reasonable time after the last performance of any event. If not removed by the owner, such vehicle may be removed by the Coliseum employees or by licensed tow operators authorized by the Director or his designated representative with the approval of the County Executive at the expense of the owner.

Section 6. Enforcement. The Coliseum management or his designated representatives of the Nassau County Police Department shall be authorized to remove from the Coliseum any person who there is reasonable cause to believe has violated any of the provisions of this local law.

Section 7. Penalties. A violation of the provisions of this local law shall be punishable by a fine not exceeding one hundred dollars or imprisonment for a period not exceeding fifteen days for each violation or by both such fine and imprisonment. (Local Law No. I, 1978, in effect January 9, 1978.)

#### TITLE 6

#### CONSUMER AFFAIRS - PERISHABLE FOOD - PRICING

#### Chapter 1. Expiration date of perishable foods to be displayed.

Section 1. Legislative purpose. The Board of Supervisors hereby finds and determines that the consumers of Nassau County should be able to ascertain that perishable food products offered for sale or sold in the County are fresh and that such food products will not spoil or suffer loss of either nutritional value or palatability for a reasonable period of time after purchase. Therefore, the Board of Supervisors deems it in the best interests of the consumer public to establish a system of clear and legible dating in order to assure consumers of the freshness of perishable food products sold or offered for sale within the County.

#### Section 2. Definitions.

- a. "Commissioner" means the Commissioner of Consumer Affairs.
- b. "Office" means the Office of Consumer Affairs.
- c. "Person" means an individual, firm, partnership, association or corporation.
- d. "Perishable food products" shall mean those commodities as defined in section three or as otherwise designated by regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this local law.
- e. "Sell" or "offer to sell" shall mean the act of selling, displaying, or offering for sale by a retailer or retail entity to the public for off-premises human consumption.

Section 3. Perishable food products. For the purposes of this local law, the following items shall be deemed perishable food products:

- a. eggs-grade AA, grade A and grade B shell eggs.
- b. all pre-packaged, fully or partially prepared baked goods, which have a moisture content exceeding eighteen percent, with or without additives known as:
  - (1) bread, rolls and buns as defined in title twenty-one, chapter one, part seventeen of the code of federal regulations, except those products traditionally known as "fruitcake";
  - (2) cakes, pastries and cookies, except those that are offered for sale in individual, portion-pack, snack-type packages;

- (3) english muffins, corn muffins, bran muffins and other similar products.
- c. The following pre-packaged dairy and dairy-type products:
  - (1) those products with or without additives or flavoring, known as cheese, as defined in title twenty-one, chapter one, part nineteen of the code of federal regulations, which contain fifty percent or more moisture in the finished product;
  - (2) milk and milk products as defined in title ten, chapter one, part three of the official compilation of codes, rules and regulations of the state of New York:
  - (3) cultured milk, cultured milk products, cultured skim milk and cultured skim milk products with or without fruits, vegetables, meats or cheeses, or other additives;
  - (4) yogurt, made from skim milk or whole milk, with or without fruits, vegetables, meats or other additives;
  - (5) cultured cream, salad cream and non-cultured sour cream, with or without fruits, vegetables, meats or cheese or other additives;
  - (6) cultured half and half, non-cultured sour half and half and non-cultured half and half;
  - (7) dairy dressing and dairy dip;
  - (8) non-dairy coffee creamers which are normally stored at temperatures between thirty-two degrees Fahrenheit and forty degrees Fahrenheit.
- d. All pre-packaged, prepared foods which require refrigeration.
- e. Meat as defined in title one, chapter six, part three hundred one of the official compilation of codes, rules and regulations o the state of New York.
- f. Slaughtered domesticated poultry (chicken, turkey, due geese and guineas).

#### Section 4. General dating requirements.

- a. It shall be unlawful to sell or offer for sale any perishable food product unless there is a stamped, printed or otherwise plainly and conspicuously marked a day or date indicating the last day or date of sale with a statement which shall further indicate that it is the last day or date of sale.
- b. It shall be unlawful to sell or offer for sale any perishable food product after the day or date required by subdivision (a) of this section, except that outdated perishable food products may continue to be sold provided they are conspicuously identified as outdated perishable food products and are physically separated from perishable food products whose expiration dates have not expired. The Commissioner may, by regulation,

set standards for the form of conspicuous identification required for the sale of outdated perishable food products.

Section 5. Display of required information. The information required by subdivision (a) of section four shall be clearly marked on each and every package or item as follows:

- a. on the top cover or principal panel of the packaging or container, or, on a label affixed thereto, or
- b. on the top or principal panel or on a label affixed thereto, a notice shall appear indicating the location on the packaging of the required information.

#### Section 6. Exemptions. The provisions of this local law shall not apply to:

- a. any product stored in a retail store at or below a temperature of thirty-two degrees Fahrenheit, in accordance with the specifications of the manufacturer or processor;
- b. any sterilized product when hermetically scaled and packaged and is so maintained until the time of sale to the public;
- c. products made from products which are date marked where such secondary products are the result of an additional processing stage;
- d. prepared foods sold or offered for sale exclusively on the premises where manufactured;
- e. poultry and meat particles prepared at any establishment under inspection pursuant to the federal meat inspection act, as amended by the wholesome meat act.

#### Section 7. Violations.

- a. The Commissioner or his designated representative shall have the power to impose upon any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this local law and/or any regulations duly promulgated with respect thereto a civil penalty of not less than fifty dollars nor more than five hundred dollars for each such violation.
- b. For purposes of this section, each group of identical packaged perishable food products which, on any single day, are in violation of either or both subdivision (a) or (b) in section four, shall constitute a single violation.
- c. Each day a violation is continued shall constitute a separate violation.
- d. No penalty shall be imposed until after a hearing has been held before the Commissioner or his designated representative upon at least five business days' notice to the alleged violator. Such notice shall be served either personally or by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the last known address of the alleged violator, and shall state the date and place of the hearing as well as enumerate the grounds constituting the allegations. The alleged violator may be represented by counsel and may produce witnesses in his own behalf.

e. All monies received by the Office pursuant to the provisions of this local law shall be remitted to the County Treasurer for deposit in the general fund of the County within thirty days after receipt.

#### Section 8. Powers of the Commissioner.

- a. The Commissioner shall receive and evaluate complaints and initiate his own investigations relating to these matters and may take appropriate action related thereto including stop-sale and stop-removal orders where necessary and proper, except that stop-sale and stop-removal orders may only be issued in conjunction with the issuance of a notice of violation of either section four or section five hereof.
- b. The Commissioner shall have the power after reasonable notice and hearing, to determine the reasonableness of any statement or representation as to the day or date affixed pursuant to section four and five.
- c. The Commissioner may promulgate regulations designating additional commodities as perishable food products whenever the commissioner shall find that because of the nature of the commodity or the mode of packaging, information relative to the last selling day or date of the commodity shall be necessary in order to provide adequate information to the consuming public as to the perishable nature of such commodity.
- d. The Commissioner may promulgate regulations deleting commodities as perishable food products whenever the Commissioner may find that as a result of new technology or otherwise, it is no longer necessary to require disclosing of the last selling day or date of such commodity.
- e. No rule or regulation may be promulgated pursuant to subdivision (c) or (d) herein unless a public hearing is held by the Commissioner. At least seven business days' prior notice of such public hearing shall be published in the official newspapers of the County. A copy of all rules and regulations promulgated and any amendments thereto shall be filed in the office of the clerk of the board of supervisors.

Section 9. Injunctive relief. Upon application of the Commissioner, the County Attorney may commence a civil action in the name of the County to restrain, prevent and enjoin a violation of this local law or any rule or regulation promulgated or any continuance of such violation.

Section 10. Review of administrative determination. The action of the Commissioner in adjudging penalties or making administrative determinations appropriate to his powers and duties may be reviewed by a proceeding brought under and pursuant to article seventy-eight of the Civil Practice Law and Rules of the state of New York.

Section 11. Separability. If any part of, or provision of this local law or the application thereof to any person or circumstance be adjudged invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, such judgment shall be confined in its operation to the part of or provision of or application directly

involved in the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered and shall not affect or impair the validity of the remainder of this local law or the application thereof to other persons or circumstances.

Section 12. Superseder. Nothing contained within this local law shall be deemed to conflict with and/or supersede the authority of the Nassau County Department of Health or any state or federal law or regulation with respect to the dating of perishable food products. (Local Law No. 7, 1976, in effect November 13, 1976)

#### Chapter 2. Pricing of Consumer Products within Nassau County.

(Local Law No. 13-1974 in effect January 7, 1975, and terminated on January 7, 1976 in accordance with its terms.)

#### TITLE 7

#### **RACING**

#### Chapter 1. Off-track parimutuel betting within Nassau County.

Section 1. The County of Nassau pursuant to subdivision five of the section one hundred eighteen of article six of the New York State Off-track Pari-mutuel Betting Law, as renumbered by chapter four hundred twenty-three of the laws of nineteen hundred seventy-one, hereby requests and authorizes the conduct of off-track pari-mutuel betting within the County. The County Executive is hereby authorized to execute such application and other papers and documents as may be necessary for the approval of the County as a participating municipality.

Section 2. Upon approval of the County as a participating municipality, as aforesaid, the County Executive, subject to approval of the Board of Supervisors, may submit a plan of operation for the conduct of such off-track pari-mutuel betting to he operated by the County as such participating municipality.

(Local Law No. 10, 1971, in effect September 13, 1971)

# Chapter 2. County of Nassau participation in the management of the Nassau-Suffolk regional off-track betting corporation.<sup>19</sup>

#### Chapter 3. Nassau County participation in the Nassau regional off-track betting corporation.

Section 1. Local Law number twelve of nineteen hundred seventy-three of the county of Nassau in relation to the Nassau - Suffolk regional off-track betting corporation is hereby repealed.

Section 2. The county of Nassau, pursuant to the "regional off-track betting corporation law," as added by chapter three hundred forty-six of the laws of nineteen hundred seventy-three, and amended by chapter six hundred sixty-four, of the laws of nineteen hundred seventy-four, hereby elects to participate in the Nassau regional off-track betting corporation.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Editor's note- Chapter 2 has been repealed by the enactment of Chapter 3 of this title.

(Local Law No. 10, 1974, in effect August 17, 1974.) (Ed's Note. L. 1973, c. 346 repealed by L.1982, c. 865  $\S$  2. Subject matter is now covered in Article V of the Racing, Pari-mutuel Wagering and Breeding Law as added by L. 1982, C. 865.  $\S$ 1.)

#### TITLE 8 SOCIAL WELFARE

#### Chapter 1. Issuance of specific parking permits for use of physically handicapped persons.

Section 1. The board of supervisors finds and determines that it is in the best interests of the residents of the county of Nassau to grant certain parking privileges to physically handicapped persons.

Section 2. The term "physically handicapped person", for the purpose of this local law, shall mean any person who by reason of a defect or infirmity whether congenital or acquired by accident injury or disease, is permanently incapacitated, totally or partially, from walking without the assistance of artificial devices.

Section 3. Any person who is a physically handicapped person, as defined in section two of this local law, may apply to the Coordinator of the handicapped for a special parking permit.

Section 4. Such permit shall authorize the holder thereof to park the motor vehicle for which the permit was issued in those areas under county jurisdiction designated to be available for such purpose to physically handicapped persons and in areas under city, town or village jurisdiction where the governing body of the municipality has designated such areas and authorized the use of permits issued by the Coordinator pursuant to the provisions of this local law.

Section 5. The application for a special parking permit by a physically handicapped person shall be made on forms furnished by the coordinator of the handicapped which shall contain, but not be limited to, the following information:

- a. name and address of applicant;
- b. age, date of birth, sex, height, weight, color of hair and color eyes of applicant and whether married or single;
- c. the type of driver's license held by the applicant and the license or identification number thereof and the date of issuance and expiration date thereof;
- d. all the restrictions listed on said driver's license;
- e. occupation and social security number of applicant;
- f. name and address of applicant's employer and business phone;
- g. if applicant is a student, name and address of school, course of study and hours of attendance:
- h. name and address of owner of vehicle to be used;
- i. year, make, type, identification or serial number and color of said vehicle, the license plate number, and tab number, if any, and the year for which issued and state which issued same;

j. whether a physically disabled drivers parking permit was ever issued to the applicant and, if so whether it was ever revoked, and requesting details of any revocation.

Section 6. Upon receipt of an application for a special parking permit the Coordinator may arrange for a medical examination of the applicant at the Nassau County Medical Center. Upon completion of a physical examination the Nassau County Medical Center, if it determines that the applicant qualifies as a physically handicapped person within the meaning of this local law, may certify such determination to the coordinator. The following findings may be included in the certification by the Nassau County Medical Center:

- a. nature and duration of disability;
- b. cause of disability;
- c. date of last examination;
- d. whether the disability is progressive.

In the event the Medical Center is unable for any reason to conduct the required examination, the Coordinator may accept the certification of a private physician concerning the disability.

Section 7. Upon approval of the application for a special parking permit by a physically handicapped person, the Coordinator may issue a special parking permit to the applicant which shall be in such form as may be prescribed by the Coordinator and shall expire in the following year on the date of the original issuance of the permit and renewed in each succeeding year. The Coordinator may also issue to the applicant an identification card bearing the same number as that on the permit to be affixed to the automobile.

Section 8. Any permit issued pursuant to this local law, to be effective, shall be conspicuously displayed against or near the inside lower right front window of the motor vehicle in which the physically handicapped person in whose name the permit is issued shall be transported at the time. Such permits shall not be transferable and shall be subject to such conditions, rules and regulations as the Board of Supervisors of the county of Nassau may establish and the acceptance of a permit shall constitute an agreement to comply with such conditions, rules and regulations. When the vehicle is parked, stopped or left standing in a parking space designated as reserved parking for physically handicapped persons the permit shall be placed within the motor vehicle in such manner as to be visible and legible from the outside of the vehicle.

Section 9. The permit issued may bear a code which shall indicate the town, city, or incorporated village in which the driver of the vehicle resides.

Section 10. In the event a person, other than the person to whom the permit is issued, utilizes the permit claiming the privileges granted under this local law to the physically handicapped person, the permit issued to the physically handicapped person shall be subject to

suspension for six months for the first offense if the Coordinator determines that such use was with the consent, expressed or implied, of the permitee. After a second offense, as determined by the Coordinator, the permit may be revoked. Prior to suspension or revocation as herein provided, a hearing shall be held by the Coordinator. Notice of any hearing to be held by the Coordinator for revocation or suspension of any license or permit shall be mailed, by ordinary mail, to the holder of the permit directed to the address of such holder as set forth in the application. Such notice shall be mailed not less than five days prior to the hearing date and shall advise said holder of the permit of the time and place of the hearing and shall contain a concise statement of the reason or reasons for holding the hearing. The Coordinator shall make findings based upon the evidence presented at such hearing, which shall be conclusive as to all matters of fact.

Section 11. The Coordinator may process applications and issue permits effective in any city, town or village within the county of Nassau upon the adoption of an appropriate local law, ordinance or resolution by the governing body of such municipality designating parking areas for use by physically handicapped persons and authorizing the use of permits issued pursuant to this local law.

(Local Law No. 4, 1973, in effect March 26, 1973.)

#### TITLE 9

#### **TAXATION**

#### Chapter 1. Imposition of a four percent sales and compensating use tax, 1976-77.

Section 1. Notwithstanding the provisions of any ordinance to the contrary, for the period beginning September first, nineteen hundred seventy-six and ending August thirty-first, nineteen hundred seventy-seven, there is hereby imposed and there shall be paid a four percent sales and compensating use tax, which shall be one percent additional to the three percent rate presently imposed, on the items and services enumerated in ordinance numbered four hundred four-C of nineteen hundred sixty-eight, as amended.

Section 2. The tax imposed herein shall be administered and collected as provided by Nassau County Board of Supervisors ordinance numbered four hundred four-C of nineteen hundred sixty-eight, as amended.

(Local Law No. 6, 1976, in effect July 16, 1976.)

#### Chapter 2. Imposition of a four percent sales and compensating tax, 1983-84.

Section 1. Notwithstanding the provisions of any ordinance to the contrary, for the period beginning .June first, nineteen hundred eighty-three and ending December thirty-first, nineteen hundred eighty-four, there is hereby imposed and there shall be paid a one percent sales and compensating use tax which shall be in addition to the three percent rate presently imposed on the

items and services enumerated in Nassau County Board of Supervisors ordinance numbered four hundred four-C of nineteen hundred sixty-eight, as amended. (Local Law No. 2-1983, in effect June 1, 1983.)

Chapter 3. **Imposition and collection of a privilege tax on coin operated amusement devices** (Local Law No. 7-1977 in effect October 17, 1977; repealed by Local Law No. 1-1979. Tax on Coin Operated Amusement Devices under Nassau County Administrative Code § 21-12.0 et. seq. repealed by Local Law No. 20-2003).

## Chapter 4. Imposition of a sales and use tax 1991-2015; Establishment of Local Government Assistance Program.<sup>20</sup>

Section 1. Notwithstanding the provisions of any local law or ordinance to the contrary, for the period beginning September first, nineteen hundred ninety-one and ending November thirtieth, two thousand twenty-three, there is hereby imposed and there shall be paid a four and one-quarter percent rate of sales and compensating use taxes, with respect to the items and services enumerated in ordinance numbered four hundred four-c of nineteen hundred sixty-eight, as amended, subject to the exemptions, exclusions and other provisions applicable to such taxes set forth in such ordinance.

§ 2.a. Towns and cities. For the calendar year beginning on January first, nineteen hundred ninety-eight and continuing through the calendar year beginning on January first, two thousand twenty-three, a local government assistance program is hereby established pursuant to section twelve hundred sixty-two-e of the New York Tax Law for the towns and cities within the county to assist such towns and cities to minimize real property taxes; defray the cost and expense of the treatment, collection, management, disposal and transportation of municipal solid waste, and to comply with the provisions of chapter two hundred ninety-nine of the laws of nineteen hundred eighty-three; and defray the cost of maintaining conservation and environmental control programs. The funding for such programs shall equal one-third of the revenues received by the county from the imposition of the three-quarters percent sales and use tax during calendar years two thousand one, two thousand two, two thousand three, two thousand four, two thousand five, two thousand six, two thousand seven, two thousand eight, two thousand nine, two thousand ten, two thousand eleven, two thousand twelve, two thousand thirteen, two thousand fourteen, two thousand fifteen, two thousand sixteen, two thousand seventeen, two thousand eighteen, two thousand nineteen, two thousand twenty, two thousand twenty-one, two thousand twenty-two and two thousand twentythree additional to the regular three percent rate authorized for the county by section twelve hundred ten of the New York Tax Law. Such one-third of such revenues shall be paid and distributed to the towns and cities on a per capita basis using the population figures in the latest decennial federal census. The establishment of this local government assistance program shall preclude any city or town in the county from preempting or claiming under any other section of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> All references to dates after November 30 2017 are pursuant to Local Law No. 9-2017 which is in effect December 1, 2017.

the New York Tax Law the revenues derived from the county's additional rate of sales and compensating use taxes imposed pursuant to the authority of section twelve hundred ten of the New York Tax Law. Any town or towns may, by resolution of the town board, apportion all or a part of the monies received in this special assistance program to an improvement district or special district account with such town or towns in order to accomplish the purposes of this special assistance program.

Section 2.b The local government assistance program hereby created shall be funded in an amount not to exceed one quarter of the revenues received from the imposition of the one percent sales and use tax during the calendar year nineteen hundred eighty-five, and not to exceed one third of the revenues received by the County from the imposition of the three quarter percent sales and use tax during the calendar years nineteen hundred eighty-six, nineteen hundred eighty-seven, nineteen hundred eighty-eight, nineteen hundred eighty-nine, nineteen hundred ninety, nineteen hundred ninety-one, nineteen hundred ninety-two, nineteen hundred ninety-three, nineteen hundred ninety-four, nineteen hundred ninety-five, nineteen hundred ninety-six and nineteen hundred ninety-seven, additional to the regular three percent rate authorized for the County in section twelve hundred ten of the tax law and ordinance four hundred four-C of nineteen hundred sixty-eight, as amended through August 31, 1991 and additional to the three and one half percent rate authorized for the County in section twelve hundred ten of the tax law and ordinance four hundred-C of nineteen hundred sixty eight, as amended for the period September 1, 1991 through December 31, 1997.

Section 2.c The Nassau County Legislature shall by ordinance implement the local government assistance program as created by this local law. Such ordinance shall provide for the amounts and methods of payment to the towns, cities and villages authorized by this local law and section twelve hundred sixty-two-e of the Tax Law.

#### Section 2.d. Aid to villages in Nassau county.

For the calendar years beginning January first, two thousand one and continuing through the calendar year beginning on January first, two thousand twenty-three, the county hereby establishes a local government assistance program for the villages within the county pursuant to section twelve hundred sixty two-e of the New York Tax Law to assist such villages to minimize real property taxes; defray the cost and expense of the treatment, collection, management, disposal, and transportation of municipal solid waste; and defray the cost of maintaining conservation and environmental control programs. Such program shall be funded annually in the amount of one million two hundred fifty thousand dollars from the net collections from the county's additional three-quarter percent rate of sales and compensating use taxes during that calendar year, which amount shall be paid and distributed to such villages on a per capita basis using the populations figures in the latest decennial federal census. The establishment of this village local government assistance program shall preclude any village in the county from preempting or claiming under any other section of the New York Tax Law any revenues derived from the county's additional rates of sales and compensating use taxes imposed pursuant to the

authority of section 1210 of the New York Tax Law.

(Local Law No. 18-1984 as amended by Local Law No. 21, 1984, in effect January 1, 1985, § 1 and § 2(b) amended by Local Law No. 4, 1988, in effect November 14, 1988; Local Law No. 6, 1989, in effect September 11, 1989; Local Law 13-1990, in effect January 1, 1991; Local Law No. 7-1991, in effect September 1, 1991; Local Law 4-1993, in effect January 1, 1994; Local Law No. 8-1995, in effect January 1, 1996; Local Law No. 3-1997, in effect, January 1, 1998; Local Law No. 2-2001; Local Law 16-2003, in effect December 1, 2003; Local Law No 11-2005, in effect December 1, 2005; Local Law No 18-2007, in effect December 1, 2007; §§ 1, 2a and 2d amended by Local Law 23-2009, in effect December 1, 2009; as amended by Local Law No 8-2011, in effect October 28, 2011; as amended by Local Law No 9-2011, in effect December 1, 2011; as amended by Local Law No.4-2013, enacted August 12, 2013, in effect December 1, 2013; amended by Local Law No. 4-2015, in effect December 1, 2015; amended by Local Law No. 9-2017, in effect December 1, 2017, amended by Local Law No.8-2020, in effect December 1, 2020.)

#### TITLE 10

#### TRANSPORTATION

#### Chapter 1. Mass Transportation Services.

Section 1. It is hereby declared to be the policy of the County of Nassau that adequate, safe and efficient transportation facilities and services at reasonable cost to the residents of the County are essential to the growth of the County and the well-being of the residents.

Section 2. In order to assure the provision of Mass Transportation Services within the County of Nassau, the County Executive is authorized, with the approval of the Board of Supervisors, to enter into a contract or contracts for a fair and reasonable consideration for Mass Transportation Services to be rendered to the public by a privately owned or operated Mass Transportation facility or facilities.

Section 3. The Board of Supervisors of the County of Nassau may appropriate such sums of money as it may deem proper for the operation of the Mass Transportation System or any part thereof, in the County of Nassau for the purpose of maintaining transportation services at levels of performance determined by such Board. (Local Law No. 2-1972, in effect February 2, 1972.)

#### TITLE 11

#### **ELECTED OFFICIALS**

Chapter 1. Compensation of the District Attorney and the County Comptroller of Nassau County.

Section 1. The annual salary of the following Nassau County elected officials shall be increased, by ordinance, over the salary paid at the start of the respective terms of such elected officials in accordance with the schedule hereafter set forth:

| County             | Start of  | Proposed |
|--------------------|-----------|----------|
| Official           | Term 1982 | 1984     |
|                    | Salary    | Salary   |
| District Attorney  | \$64,163  | \$77,041 |
| County Comptroller | \$58,000  | \$70,000 |

(Local Law No. 6-1984, in effect May 24, 1984.)

#### TITLE 12

#### EARLY RETIREMENT INCENTIVE PROGRAM

Section 1. The County of Nassau hereby elects to provide all its eligible employees with a retirement incentive program as authorized by Chapter 47, Laws of 1998.

Section 2. The commencement date of the retirement incentive program shall be September 1, 1998.

Section 3. The open period during which eligible employees may retire and receive the additional retirement benefits, shall be thirty one (31) days in length up to and including October 1, 1998.

Section 4. Eligible employees who elect to retire and receive the additional retirement benefits shall receive their requisite cash payments for accumulated vacation and sick leave, as provided below either under the CSEA Collective Bargaining Agreement or under Ordinance 543-1995, as amended, with such payments to be made in three equal annual installments, the first payable on or before January 31, 1999, the second payable on or before January 31, 2000 and the final payable on or before January 31, 2001:

- a) Eligible employees under the CSEA Collective Bargaining Agreement shall have sick leave accumulations calculated in accordance with Section 42-10.1 (c) (2) of the July 27, 1998 Memorandum of Agreement; and
- b) Eligible non-contract employees shall have sick leave accumulations calculated in accordance with Section 3.6 of Ordinance 543-1995, as amended.

Section 5. The actuarial present value of the additional retirement benefits payable pursuant to the provisions of this local law shall be funded over a five year period. The amount of the annual payment in each of the five years shall be determined by the Actuary of the New York State and Local Employees' Retirement System, and it shall be paid by the County of Nassau for each employee who receives the retirement benefits payable under this local law. (Local Law No. 16-1984, in effect August 27, 1984; amended by Local Law No. 17-1984, in effect September 10,

1984; Local Law No. 6-1991, in effect August 1, 1991; Local Law No. 14-1992, in effect September 1, 1992; Local Law No. 7-1995, in effect August 21, 1995; Local Law No. 6-1996, in effect August 23, 1996; Local Law No. 2-1997, in effect July 8, 1997; Local Law No. 6-1998, in effect August 31, 1998.)

#### TITLE 13

#### NASSAU COMMUNITY COLLEGE

#### Chapter 1. Establishment of liability and casualty reserve fund.

Section 1. Definitions. "Judgments", "actions" and "claims", as used in this Chapter, shall mean those judgments, actions and claims against Nassau Community College and/or the Dormitory Authority of the State of New York that are founded upon tort or that arise out of any acts or omissions of their respective officers, employees, agents or other representatives that result in personal injuries or property damage, if such officers, employees, agents or other representatives, at the time the damages were sustained, were acting within the scope of their powers and duties.

Section 2. Establishment of liability and casualty reserve fund. There is hereby established a reserve fund to be known as the liability and casualty reserve fund.

Section 3. There may be paid into such fund:

- a. Such amounts as may be provided by budgetary appropriations;
- b. Amounts from any other fund authorized by the General Municipal Law by resolution subject to permissive referendum; and
- c. Such other funds as may be legally appropriated.

Section 4. For the fiscal year commencing June 30, 1986, the sum of one hundred thousand (\$100,000) dollars shall be deposited in the fund by Nassau County from monies appropriated by Nassau Community College for such purpose. Thereafter, and for each fiscal period commencing June 30, the amount to be deposited in the fund shall be determined by an actuarial study within the constraints set forth in Section 5 below.

Section 5. The cash balance of such fund at the end of any fiscal year shall not exceed the greater of one hundred thousand (\$100,000) dollars or five (5%) per centum of the total budget for such fiscal year. The amount paid into such fund during any fiscal year shall not exceed the greater of thirty-three thousand (\$33,000) dollars or one and two-thirds (12/3%) per centum of the total budget for such fiscal year.

Section 6. The monies in such fund shall be deposited in one or more banks or trust companies designated in the manner provided by law as depositories of the funds of the County of Nassau. The County Treasurer may invest the monies in such fund in obligations specified by the

General Municipal Law. Any interest earned or capital gain realized on the monies so deposited or invested shall accrue to and become part of such fund.

Section 7. The County Treasurer shall account for this fund separate and apart from all other funds of the County of Nassau. Such accounting shall show: the source, date and amount of each sum paid into the fund; the interest earned by such fund; capital gains or losses resulting from the sale of investments of this fund; the order, source thereof, date and amount of each payment from this fund; the assets of the fund, indicating cash balance and schedule of investments. The County Treasurer, within sixty days of the end of each fiscal year, shall furnish a detailed report of the operation and condition of this fund to the Board of Supervisors.

Section 8. An expenditure may be made from this fund for the payment of all or part of the cost, including interest of:

- a. Judgments;
- b. Actions that have been compromised or settled and that have been approved by the Court in which the action or proceeding is pending;
- c. Claims that have been approved by a Justice of the Supreme Court of the Tenth Judicial District;
- d. Claims, demands or actions that have been compromised, settled, or adjusted by the County Attorney.
- e. Expert or professional services rendered in connection with the investigation, adjustment, resolution or settlement of claims, actions or judgments.

Section 9. The order of the court or the justice approving such settlement or compromise may be granted upon motion of the County Attorney or his designee supported by an affidavit setting forth the cause of action or claim against Nassau Community College and/or the Dormitory Authority of the State of New York, and also such other information which, in the opinion of the County Attorney or his designee, will enable the court or justice to arrive at a determination that such compromise or settlement is just, reasonable and to the interest of Nassau Community College and/or the Dormitory Authority of the State of New York. The County Attorney or his designee may also present the affidavits of other persons in support of such motion. The court or the justice, in order to arrive at such a determination, may require the County Attorney or his designee to present additional information by a supplementary affidavits or affidavits or may require other persons to present additional information by their affidavits.

Section 10. Notwithstanding section seven of this Chapter, the Board of Supervisors may make an expenditure from this fund, without judicial approval, for the compromise or settlement of any action or claim where the amount of such settlement or compromise does not exceed ten thousand (\$10,000) dollars.

Section 11. If, after the establishment of such fund, the Board of Supervisors of the County of Nassau determines that such fund is no longer needed, the monies remaining in such fund may be transferred to any other reserve fund of the County of Nassau authorized by the General Municipal Law that is comprised of monies which were raised on the same tax base as the monies in the reserve fund established under this Chapter, only to the extent that the monies in this fund shall exceed the sum sufficient to pay all liabilities incurred or accrued against it. Prior to the discontinuance of such fund, the County Treasurer and the County Attorney shall certify to the Board of Supervisors the amount that may be necessary to retain in such fund to satisfy all liabilities incurred or accrued against it and such sum shall be retained in the fund for payment of such amounts or until later certified that such funds are no longer needed. (Title 13 added by Local Law No. 9-1986, in effect June 16, 1986.)

#### TITLE 14

#### DEFACING PROPERTY/AEROSOL PAINT CAN AND BROAD TIPPED MARKERS

Section 1. **Legislative intent.** It is the intention of the Board of Supervisors of the County of Nassau to promote the health, safety and welfare of the residents of the County by strengthening the laws designed to deter the defacing of public and private property with aerosol spray paint cans and broad tipped markers.

#### Section 2. **Definitions.**

- a. The term "deface" shall mean to mar the face or surface of, disfigure, injure or spoil the appearance of.
- b. The term "broad tipped marker" shall mean any felt tip marker or similar implement containing a fluid or coloring matter, and which has a flat or angled writing surface of one-quarter square inch.

# Section 3. Defacement of property, possession and sale of aerosol spray paint cans and broad tipped markers prohibited in certain instances.

- a. No person shall write, paint or draw any word inscription, design, figure or mark of any type on any public or private building or other structure or any other real or personal property owned, operated or maintained by the County of Nassau or any agency or instrumentality thereof or by any person, firm or corporation unless the express permission of the owner or operator of the property has been obtained.
- b. No person shall carry an aerosol spray paint can or broad tipped marker into any public and/or private building or other public and/or private facility with the intent to violate the provisions of subdivision a. of this section.
- c. No person shall knowingly or having reason to know that the purchaser of an aerosol spray paint can and/or broad tipped marker is under eighteen years of age and/or

who intends to use said paint and markers for an illegal purpose sell or offer to sell such product or products to any such purchaser.

- d. Any person selling or offering for sale aerosol spray paint cans or broad tipped markers shall post in a conspicuous place a sign which clearly states:
- "It is unlawful to sell aerosol spray paint cans or broad tipped markers to any person under the age of eighteen years."
- e. Any person selling or offering for sale aerosol paint cans shall only display and/or offer for sale aerosol paint cans in a secure enclosed display or behind a sales counter which is not accessible to the public.

Section 4. **Penalty for violation.** Any person who violates the provisions of subdivisions a, b or c of section three of this title shall be guilty of a class A misdemeanor punishable by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars or imprisonment of not more than one year, or both. The Court may consider a conditional discharge upon the condition that, with the consent of the owner, the defendant restore the property so defaced to its original condition by means of the defendant's own labor or on the condition of monetary restitution in an amount not to exceed the cost of said restoration. Any person who violates the provisions of subdivision d and c of section three of this title for a first offense shall be guilty of a violation punishable by a fine of not more than two hundred fifty dollars, and for a second or subsequent offense shall be guilty of a Class B misdemeanor punishable by a fine of not more than five hundred dollars or three months imprisonment or both.

#### Section 5. Civil liability.

- a. The parent or legal guardian, other than the state or local social services department or foster parent of any minor over the age of ten and under eighteen that violates any provision of this law shall be held liable for any damages and/or clean-up costs that result from a violation of subdivisions a, b or c of section three of this title.
- b. If anyone sells a broad tipped marker and/or aerosol spray paint can to a minor or anyone he knew or should have known would use it for an illegal purpose shall be held liable for any damages and/or clean-up costs that result from the violation.
- § 6. **Separability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, section or part of any section shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid; such judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, section or part thereof directly involved in the controversy and in which such judgment shall have been rendered.

(Title 14 added by Local Law No. 14-1986, sections 1 and 2 and subdivisions a and b of section 3, in effect November 17, 1986, subdivisions c and d of section 3, in effect January 17, 1987; amended by Local Law No. 3-1993, in effect June 8, 1993.)

#### TITLE 15

#### LAND PRESERVATION

### Chapter 1. Perpetual preservation of County-owned natural, environmental, recreational, historical and scenic resources.

Section 1. Legislative intent. It is the intention of this legislation, which is to become a new Title 15 in the Miscellaneous Laws of Nassau County, to protect and preserve in perpetuity the natural, environmental, historical and scenic resources of the County of Nassau. While other statutory authority exists to allow the County to purchase and maintain land in a natural and open state, there is no existing statutory authority to protect County owned recreational, historical, natural preserves or environmental areas, either currently owned or hereafter acquired from encroachment from development inconsistent with the intent of this statute. This legislation seeks to strike a balance between controlled growth and environmental and parkland preservation for both this and future generations of Nassau County residents. This legislation shall ensure that no improvement, alteration or modification of the County's 5600 acres of park and natural resources land, any other County land now owned and hereafter designated as such, or any land hereafter acquired by the County for natural, environmental, historical or other purposes, would be undertaken by the County or any other person, firm, municipality, corporation or any other successor in interest if such improvements were not consistent with the recreational, historical and environmental purposes of the land. By implementing this protective legislation, the County of Nassau can insure that the valuable acres of Nassau County land, either currently owned or hereafter acquired will be protected and preserved forever.

Section 2. **Perpetual preservation of designated county land**. Consistent with the Program of Open Space Preservation within Nassau County, there shall be a designation of certain County owned real property as "Perpetual Preservation Land". Those lands of the County now owned, or hereafter acquired, because of their natural beauty, wilderness character, historical significance, geological significance, or ecological and environmental significance may be so designated as hereinafter provided.

The dedication or acquisition of such "Perpetual Preservation Land" shall be preserved and administered for the use and enjoyment of the people, and the management and use of such real property shall be for the sole purpose of preserving and maintaining the natural beauty, wilderness character, historical, geological or ecological and environmental significance, or other natural physical condition of the aforesaid land.

#### Section 3.

a. Hereafter and from time to time the County Executive after study and report shall recommend parcels of County land now or hereafter acquired for designation as "Perpetual Preservation Land".

b. Upon such recommendation by the County Executive and after a public hearing, the Board of Supervisors may designate such County land as "Perpetual Preservation Land" to be held as such in perpetuity.

A designation of "Perpetual Preservation Land" shall be by ordinance, which shall be forthwith duly recorded in the office of the Clerk of the County of Nassau.

Section 4. A designation of County land as "Perpetual Preservation Land" shall be extinguished only by an exercise of the power of eminent domain or an enactment of a general law adopted at two separate sessions of the State Legislature.

Section 5. Nothing herein shall prevent the County from regulation of public access or public use of designated land.

(Local Law No. 5-1988, in effect November 28, 1988.)

#### TITLE 16

#### NASSAU COUNTY BOARD OF PAROLE

#### Section 1. **Definitions.**

As used in this title, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

- A. "Correctional Center" shall mean the Nassau County Correctional Center.
- B. "County" shall mean the County of Nassau.
- C. "Division" shall mean the Division of Probation and Correctional Alternatives.
- D. "Parole Board" shall mean the Nassau County Board of Parole (Conditional Release Commission) as mandated by Chapter 79 of the Laws of 1989.
- E. "Probation Department" shall mean the Nassau County Probation Department.

#### Section 2. Organization.

- A. There shall be a Parole Board consisting of three members who shall be appointed by the County Executive with the advice and consent of the Nassau County Board of Supervisors. Compensation for members, if any, may be fixed by ordinance. Each member of the Parole Board shall have graduated from an accredited four-year college or university and shall have had at least five years of experience in the field of criminology, administration of criminal justice, law enforcement, probation parole, law, social work, social science, psychology, psychiatry or corrections.
- B. The term of office of each member of the Parole Board shall be for four years, provided, however, that any member chosen to fill a vacancy occurring otherwise than by expiration of term shall be appointed for the remainder of the unexpired term of the

member whom the person is to succeed. Vacancies caused by expiration of term or otherwise shall be filled in the same manner as original appointments.

- C. No member of the Parole Board shall serve as a representative of any political party, on an executive committee or other governing body thereof, as an executive officer or employee of any political committee, organization or association, nor be a judge or justice, a sheriff or district attorney.
- D. Any member may be removed by the County Executive for cause, after notice and an opportunity to be heard.

# Section 3. **Function, Powers and Duties.** The Parole Board shall:

- A. have the power and duty of determining which persons sentenced within the County and serving a definite sentence of imprisonment and eligible for conditional release pursuant to subdivision two of section 70.40 of the Penal Law may be released on conditional release and when and under what conditions in accordance with Section 4 of this title:
- B. determine, as each inmate applies for conditional release, the need for supplemental investigation of the background of such inmate and cause such investigation as may be necessary to be made as soon as practicable. The Parole Board may require that the Probation Department conduct such supplemental investigation. The results of such investigation together with all other information compiled by the Correctional Center and the complete criminal record and family court record of such inmate shall be readily available when the conditional release of such inmate is being considered. Such information shall include a complete statement of the crime for which the inmate has been sentenced, the circumstances of such crime, all presentence memoranda, the nature of the sentence, the court in which such inmate was sentenced, the name of the judge and district attorney and copies of such probation reports as may have been made as well as reports as to the inmate's social, physical, mental and psychiatric condition and history;
- C. have the legal custody of persons conditionally released and placed under the supervision of the Probation Department until the expiration of the maximum term or period of sentence or return to the custody of the Correctional Center, as the case may be;
- D. have the power to revoke the conditional release of any person in the legal custody of the Parole Board and to issue declarations of delinquency and authorize the issuance of a warrant for the retaking of such person, as provided for in Section 5 of this title;
- E. for the purpose of any investigation necessary in the performance of its duties, have the power to issue subpoenas, to compel the attendance of witnesses and the production of books, papers, and other documents pertinent to the subject of its inquiry;
- F. have the power to authorize any members thereof to administer oaths and take the testimony of persons under oath;
- G. notify in writing the Probation Department prior to release of a conditionally released person of such department's responsibilities to supervise such person;

Such notice shall include the name and residence of the person, the date of release, the conditions of release, and all necessary records maintained on such persons to aid the Probation Department in the performance of its responsibilities pursuant to subdivision 6 of section two hundred fifty-six of the executive law; and

H. have the power to transfer the legal custody of persons conditionally released in accordance with the provisions of Section 6 of this title.

# Section 4. Conditional release; procedures for application and determinations.

- A. Any inmate who is eligible for conditional release by the Parole Board pursuant to subdivision two of section 70.40 of the penal law and who has served a minimum period of thirty days in the Correctional Center may apply for conditional release. Application shall be made in writing, on forms prescribed by the Division, to the Parole Board.
- B. The Parole Board shall review and make a determination on each application within thirty days of receipt of such application. No determination granting or denying such application shall be valid unless made by a majority vote of the members.
- C. If conditional release is granted, the Parole Board shall set the conditions for release of the person in accordance with rules and regulations promulgated by the Division. Such person shall be given a copy of the conditions of release. Such conditions shall, where appropriate, include a requirement that the person comply with any restitution order previously imposed by a court of competent jurisdiction that applies to the person.
- D. No person who has been granted conditional release shall he released until such person has served a minimum period of incarceration of sixty days, in accordance with subdivision two of Section 70.40 of the penal law, and unless such person has agreed in writing to the conditions set by the Parole Board. Such agreement shall state in plain, easily understandable language the consequences of a violation of one or more of the conditions of release.
- E. Persons who have been granted conditional release shall, while on conditional release, be in the legal custody of the Parole Board until the expiration of the maximum term or period of sentence, or return to the custody of the Correctional Center, as the case may be. The Probation Department shall have the duty of supervising the person during the period of such conditional release.
- F. If conditional release is not granted, the Parole Board shall inform the person in writing of the factors and reasons for such denial of conditional release within fifteen days of the decision. Such reasons shall be given in detail and not in conclusory terms. Inmates denied conditional release are eligible to reapply sixty days after the date of submission of the denied application.

# Section 5. Conditional releases; procedures for violation, delinquency, warrants and revocation.

- A. If at any time during the period of conditional release, the Parole Board, or any member thereof, has reasonable cause to believe that a person who has been conditionally released has lapsed into criminal ways or company, or has violated one or more conditions of conditional release, the Parole Board or sue member may declare such person delinquent and issue a written declaration of delinquency. Upon such declaration, such Parole Board or such member may issue a warrant for the retaking and temporary detention of such person.
- B. A warrant issued pursuant to this section shall constitute sufficient authority to the chief administrative officer of any local correctional facility to whom it is delivered to hold in temporary detention of such person.
- C. A warrant issued pursuant to this section may be executed by any probation officer or any officer authorized to serve criminal process or any peace officer, who is acting pursuant to his or her special duties, or any police officer. Any such officer to whom such warrant shall be delivered is authorized and required to execute such warrant by taking such person and having him or her detained as provided for in this section.
- D. The alleged violator shall, within three days of the execution of the warrant, be given written notice of the time, place and purpose of the hearing. The notice shall state what conditions of conditional release are alleged to have been violated and in what manner and shall inform the alleged violator of his or her right to counsel as provided for in subdivision G of this section.
- E. The alleged conditional release violator shall appear before the Parole Board, or any member thereof, within fifteen days of the execution of the warrant. At the time of such appearance the Parole Board or such member shall ask the alleged violator whether he or she wishes to make any statement with respect to the violation. If the alleged violator makes a statement, the Parole Board or such member may accept it and base a decision thereon. If the Parole Board or such member does not accept it, or if the alleged violator does not make a statement, the Parole Board or such member shall proceed with the hearing.
- F. The Parole Board, or any member thereof, may receive any relevant evidence. The alleged violator may cross examine witnesses and may present evidence on his or her own behalf.
- G. The alleged violator is entitled to counsel at all stages of any proceeding under this section and the Parole Board, or any member thereof, shall advise him or her of such right upon delivering to the alleged violator written notice required pursuant to subdivision D of this section.
- H. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Parole Board, or any member thereof, shall issue a finding. If the Parole Board or such member is not satisfied that there is a preponderance of evidence in support of the violation, the Parole Board or such member shall dismiss the violation, cancel delinquency and restore the person to supervision. If the Parole Board or such member is satisfied that there is a preponderance of evidence that the alleged violator violated one or more conditions of conditional release in an important respect, the Parole Board or such member shall so find.

I. Upon a finding in support of the violation, the Parole Board, or any member thereof, may revoke the conditional release, or continue or modify the conditions of such conditional release. Where the Parole Board or such member revokes a person's conditional release, such person shall be committed to the custody of the Warden of the Correctional Center to serve the time remaining on his or her sentence, in accordance with subdivision three of section 70.40 of the penal law. Where the Parole Board of such member modifies the conditions of the conditional release, the Parole Board or such member shall inform the person in writing of such modified conditions.

# Section 6. Transfer of custody and supervision of conditional release.

- A. If a person who has been granted conditional release pursuant to this title resides or desires to reside in a place other than the one located within the jurisdiction of the Parole Board, the Parole Board or any member thereof, may designate any other Parole Board to assume local custody of such person and may so transfer custody.
- B. Where custody of a person who has been granted conditional release pursuant to this title is transferred pursuant to subdivision A of this section, upon designation and prior to transfer, the Parole Board making the designation shall notify the Parole Board which has been designated to receive custody of such transfer. The Parole Board making the designation shall immediately forward its entire case record regarding such person to the receiving Parole Board. The Parole Board to which legal custody has been transferred shall assume the same powers and duties exercised by the designating Parole Board and shall have the sole custody of such person.
- C. The Parole Board making the designation shall, upon designation and prior to transfer, notify the Probation Department located in the jurisdiction of the receiving Parole Board of the duties of supervision and conditions of release of such person. Upon such notification, such Probation Department shall assume responsibilities of supervision. The Parole Board making the designation shall immediately forward its entire case record regarding such person to such Probation Department.

(Added by Local Law No. 3-1989, in effect June 19, 1989.)

# TITLE $17^{21}$ PURCHASE FROZEN DESSERTS FROM VENDOR IN MOTOR VEHICLE

#### Section 1. **Definitions.**

a.) "Frozen desserts" shall mean ice cream, frozen custard, French ice cream, French custard ice cream, artificially sweetened ice cream, ice milk, artificially sweetened ice milk, fruit sherbert, non-fruit sherbert, water ices, non-fruit water ices, quiescently frozen confection, quiescently frozen dairy confection, manufactured desserts mix, frozen

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> There are two titles 17

confection, mellorine frozen dessert, parevine, frozen yogurt, freezer made shakes, freezer made milk shakes, lo-mel, and dietary frozen dessert as all such products are commonly known, together with any mix used in such frozen desserts and any products which are similar in appearance, color or taste to such products or are prepared or frozen as frozen desserts are customarily prepared or frozen, whether made with dairy products or non-dairy products.

- b.) "Other treats" shall include, but is not limited to, candy, chips, soft drinks, juice, and other similar edible items.
- c.) "Person" shall mean any individual, corporation, partnership, association or any other form of business entity engaged in the retail sale of frozen desserts directly to pedestrians from a street vending vehicle.
- d.) "Street vending vehicle" shall mean any vehicle that is used to sell frozen desserts and other treats, and which travels the various roadways within the county making frequent, intermittent stops on the roadways or shoulders of the roadways, in order to sell frozen desserts and other treats.
- e.) "Road" shall mean any roadway located within Nassau County.

#### Section 2. Restrictions.

- a.) A person shall vend only when the street vending vehicle is lawfully parked or stopped on road located within Nassau County.
- b.) A person shall vend only from the side of the street vending vehicle away from moving traffic and as near as possible to the curb, edge, or sidewalk of the road.
- c.) A person shall not vend to a pedestrian standing in the roadway of a road located within the county.
- d.) The driver of a street vending vehicle shall not reverse his/her vehicle to make or attempt to make a sale.
- e.) The driver of a street vending vehicle shall not permit any person, other than one presently, directly and legally aiding the driver in the sale of his/her product, to ride on or in the vehicle.
- f.) The driver of a street vending vehicle that stops on a road located within Nassau County for the purpose of selling or offering for sale his or her goods shall fully extend the swing arm with its flashing signal lamps operational, and shall maintain the extended swing arm until the sale is complete. The swing arm shall be fully retracted and its flashing signal lamps turned off whenever the street vending vehicle is in motion or is not being used to vend frozen desserts or other treats.
- g.) In addition to the other equipment required by law, every street vending vehicle operating in Nassau County shall be equipped with a swing arm that can be extended horizontally from the left side of the vehicle. The swing arm shall be made of a material approved by the Commissioner of the Nassau County Department of Public Works. That part of the swing arm that is attached to the vehicle itself shall be seven and three-sixteenths (7 3/16) inches in height and, when extended outward and to the side of the vehicle, shall

extend to a length of eighteen (18) inches and flared to a height of eighteen (18) inches. Located at the upper and lower corners of the eighteen-inch side will be flashing yellow lights visible from the front and red lights visible from the rear. These lights shall be four (4) inches in diameter and shall flash simultaneously. The background of the sign shall be painted red and shall be reflective. The lettering shall be painted white. In the middle, in letters seven (7) inches in height, shall be painted the words "STOP". The sign shall be lettered and painted on both sides, so that it will be visible from both the front and rear. The bottom of said sign shall be at a height of not less than forty-two (42) inches above the level of the streets, except for limited use motorcycle vending vehicles where the height to the bottom of said sign shall not be less than twenty-five (25) inches.

h.) The restrictions set forth in this section shall only be applicable to roads within Nassau County where the speed limit is thirty-five miles per hour or less.

Section 3. **Penalty for violation.** Any person who violates the provisions of this local law shall be guilty of a traffic violation. A first conviction shall be punishable by a fine of not more than one hundred dollars (\$100). A second violation committed within a period of eighteen months of the first violation shall be punishable by a fine of not less than one hundred dollars (\$100), and not more than three hundred dollars (\$300). A third or subsequent violation committed within a period of eighteen months of the first violation shall be punishable by a fine of not less than two hundred dollars (\$200), and not more than five hundred dollars (\$500).

Section 4. **Use of swing arm.** The swing arm shall not be used when the street vending vehicle is in motion, nor at anytime when the vehicle is stopped for a purpose other than vending.

Section 5. **Enforcement.** This law shall be enforced by the Nassau County Police Department, and sworn officers, as defined in Section 1-20(34) of the New York State Criminal Procedure Law, of an authorized Police Department or force of a city, town or village, or other police district within the geographic boundaries of Nassau County.

§ 6. **Separability.** If any part or portion of this local law or the application thereof to any person, entity, or circumstances be adjudged invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, such judgment shall be confined in its operation to the part of or provision of or the application directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered and shall not affect or impair the validity of the remainder of this local law or the application thereof to other persons, entities, or circumstances.

(Local Law No. 12-1990, in effect August 28, 1990; amended by Local Law No. 2-2002, in effect April 2, 2002; amended by L.L. No. 1-2004.)

# TITLE 17<sup>22</sup>

# NASSAU COUNTY SPECIAL MOTOR VEHICLE USE FEE

#### Section

- 1. Definitions
- 2. Imposition of special use fee
- 3. Exemptions
- 4. Administration and collection of special use fee by Commissioner of Motor Vehicles
- 5. Judicial review
- 6. Recovery of fee
- 7. Severability

Section 1. **Definitions.** As used in this title the following terms shall have the following meanings:

- A. "Passenger motor vehicle" shall mean any motor vehicle subject to the registration fee as provided for in Section 401 subdivision six of the Vehicle and Traffic Law.
- B. "Bus" shall mean any motor vehicle as defined in Section 104 of the Vehicle and Traffic Law, as amended.
- C. "Truck" shall mean any motor vehicle as defined in Section 158 of the Vehicle and Traffic Law, as amended.

# Section 2. Imposition of Special Use Fee.

- A. Pursuant to the Vehicle and Traffic Law and Sections 1201(e) and 1202(c) of the Tax Law, a special motor vehicle use fee on vehicle registrations is hereby imposed on motor vehicles registered with Nassau County. Such special motor vehicle use fee shall be charged in accordance with the following schedule:
  - 1. A fee of fifteen dollars per year for passenger motor vehicles of a type commonly used for non-commercial purposes owned by residents of Nassau County for each such;
  - 2. A fee of forty dollars per year for the trucks, buses and other such commercial vehicles used principally in connection with a business carried on within Nassau County, except when owned and used in connection with the operation of a farm by the owner or tenant thereof.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> There are two titles 17

- B. The special motor vehicle use fee shall be paid for all registrations and renewals of registrations for which the registration fee is established pursuant to Sections 401(6)(a) or (7) of the Vehicle and Traffic Law subject to the following conditions:
  - 1. The special motor vehicle use fee shall be applicable to an original or renewal registration transaction only, and to a re-registration transaction. If no fee for a registration is due, no special motor vehicle use fee shall be due on that transaction:
  - 2. The applicability of such special motor vehicle use fee shall be determined based upon the information contained on the application for registration, as well as any additional documentation required by the Commissioner of Motor Vehicles;
  - 3. The receipt for payment of the special motor vehicle use fee shall be the registration certificate, whether or not it indicates the amount of the fee paid.

# Section 3. Exemptions.

- A. The special motor vehicle use fee imposed by this title shall not be imposed upon any vehicle exempt from the registration fee pursuant to the Vehicle and Traffic Law.
- B. The special motor vehicle use fee imposed by this title shall not be imposed upon nonprofit, religious, charitable or educational organizations qualified for exemptions with the New York State Department of Taxation and Finance.

# Section 4. Administration and collection of special use fee by Commissioner of Motor Vehicles.

- A. As authorized under Section 1202(c) of the Tax Law, the special motor vehicle use fee shall be administered and collected on behalf of Nassau County by the Commissioner of Motor Vehicles or his agents.
- B. Pursuant to Section 1202(c) of the Tax Law, the Commissioner of Motor Vehicles is authorized, on behalf of Nassau County, to make the payment of such special motor vehicle use fee a condition precedent to the registration or registration renewal of any vehicle subject to the special motor vehicle use fee imposed by this title.
- C. The Nassau County Executive is hereby authorized and directed to negotiate and enter into an agreement with the Commissioner of Motor Vehicles for the implementation of this title, and such agreement shall provide for the exclusive method of collection, custody and remittal of the proceeds of the special motor vehicle use fee and for the payment by the County of the reasonable expenses incurred by the New York State Department of Motor Vehicles in connection with the administration and collection of the special motor vehicle use fee. Such agreement shall also provide that the Nassau County Comptroller shall, upon request, not more frequently than once each calendar year at a

time agreed upon the State Comptroller, audit the accuracy of the payments, distributions and remittances to Nassau County pursuant to this title.

D. The agreement referred to in subdivision C. above shall set forth, in detail, policies and procedures for collection for underpayment and for refunds. Such agreement shall also set forth procedures for deposit and retention of funds and indemnification.

Section 5. **Judicial review.** Any determination made hereunder by Nassau County shall be reviewable pursuant to Article 78 of the Civil Practice Law and Rules.

Section 6. **Recovery of fee.** Whenever any person fails to pay the special motor vehicle use fee due hereunder, procedures to recover such fees, as well as any applicable penalties and/or interest, shall be the responsibility of Nassau County, as set forth in the agreement referred to in subdivision C of section 4 of this title.

Section 7. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this title or its application to any person, individual corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance, shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall he confined in it operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this title, or in its application to the person, individual corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance, directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment or order shall be rendered.

(Title 17, added by Local Law No. 14-1991, in effect December 17, 1991 amended by Local Law No. 1-2004, in effect January 29, 2004.)

#### TITLE 18

# PRISONERS IN NASSAU COUNTY CORRECTIONAL CENTER - PAYMENT FOR MEDICAL OR DENTAL SERVICES IF INSURED

Section 1. Legislative intent

- 2. Payment for medical or dental services if insured
- 3. Severability

Section 1. **Legislative intent.** Chapter 481 of the Laws of 1991 was enacted by the State Legislature on July 19, 1991, which Chapter authorized counties and the City of New York to require prisoners of county jails who require medical or dental services to pay for such services if insured under a Health Insurance Policy. The Board of Supervisors finds it to be in the best interest of the County of Nassau to require prisoners of the Nassau County Correctional Center who require medical or dental services to pay for such services if insured under a health insurance policy.

# Section 2. Payment for medical or dental services if insured.

- A. The County of Nassau shall be entitled to reimbursement for costs paid by it on behalf of inmates at the Nassau County Correctional Center for diagnoses, tests, studies or analyses for the diagnosis of a disease or disability, and care and treatment by a hospital, as defined in article twenty-eight of the Public Health Law, or by a physician, or by a dentist from any third party coverage or indemnification carried by an inmate.
- B. Such third party coverage or indemnification shall first be applied against the total cost to the hospital or other provider as established in accordance with the provisions of section twenty-eight hundred seven of the Public Health Law relating to rates of payments of an individual's care and treatment, as provided herein.

Section 3. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this title or its application to any person or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this title or its application to the person or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment or order shall be rendered.

(Title 18 added by Local Law No. 4-1992, in effect March 16, 1992.)

#### TITLE 19

#### DISSEMINATING INDECENT CRIME MATERIAL TO MINORS

#### Section

- 1. Legislative intent
- 2. Definitions of terms
- 3. Disseminating indecent crime materials to minors
- 4. Presumption and defense
- 5. Severability

Section 1. **Legislative intent.** The Board of Supervisors finds that in light of their limited experience, education and emotional development, children under the age of seventeen are impressionable and susceptible to the influence of violence and criminal conduct in our society. The dissemination of materials devoted to the depiction of heinous crimes and heinous criminals is a contributing factor to juvenile crime, a basic factor in impairing the ethical and moral development of our youth and a clear and present danger to the citizens of Nassau County. The County has a responsibility and an exigent interest to protect the welfare of its children and to see that they are safeguarded from influences which might prevent their growth into free and independent well-developed citizens by preventing the distribution to children of material deemed harmful to children.

The Board of Supervisors further finds that for generations, children have purchased and collected trading cards depicting war heroes, sports heroes and other luminaries whom they revere and emulate. In such form, trading cards are not harmful to children. When, however, trading cards which depict heinous crimes and heinous criminals and which appeal to the depraved interest of minors in crime are disseminated to our youth, they are harmful.

# Section 2. **Definitions of terms.**

- A. "Minor" means any person under the age of seventeen.
- B. "Trading card" means any card, souvenir card, playing card or game card commonly known as a trading card.
- C. "Heinous crime" means murder, assault, kidnapping, arson, burglary, robbery, rape or other sexual offense.
- D. "Heinous criminal" means a person who has been convicted of a heinous crime or who has been found not criminally responsible by reason of mental disease or defect for criminal conduct concerning the commission of a heinous crime.
- E. "Harmful to minors" means that quality of any description or representation in whatever form of a heinous crime, an element of a heinous crime or a heinous criminal, when it:
  - 1. Considered as a whole, appeals to the depraved interest of minors in crime; and
  - 2. Is patently offensive to prevailing standards in the adult community as a whole with respect to what is suitable material for minors; and
  - 3. Considered as a whole, lacks serious literary, artistic, political and scientific value for minors.

Section 3. **Disseminating indecent crime material to minors.** A person is guilty of disseminating indecent crime material to minors when, with knowledge of its character and content, he sells or loans to a minor for monetary consideration in Nassau County any trading card which depicts a heinous crime, an element of a heinous crime, or a heinous criminal and which is harmful to minors. Disseminating indecent crime material to minors shall be a Class A misdemeanor.

# Section 4. Presumption and defense.

- A. A person who engages in the conduct prescribed by Section 3 of this Title is presumed to do so with knowledge of the character and content of the material sold or loaned.
- B. In any prosecution for disseminating indecent crime material to minors, it is an affirmative defense that:

- 1. The defendant had reasonable cause to believe that the minor involved was seventeen years old or more; and
- 2. Such minor exhibited to the defendant a draft card, driver's license, birth certificate or other official or apparently official document purporting to establish that such minor was seventeen years old or more.

Section 5. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this Title or its application to any person or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this Title or its application to the person or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment or order shall be rendered.

(Title 19 added by local Law No. 11-1992, in effect June 16, 1992.)

#### TITLE 20

#### FEES FOR PROBATION DEPARTMENT SERVICES

Section

- 1. Legislative intent
- **2.** Administrative, pre-sentence investigation, electronic monitoring, drug testing, victim impact panel session, certificate of relief investigation, and community service placement fees
- 3. Investigation fee
- 4. Community service placement fee
- **5.** Fee usage
- **6.** Severability

Section 1. **Legislative intent.** Chapter 55 of the Laws of 1992 provides the County of Nassau with the power to impose a probation administrative fee on those individuals currently serving or who shall be sentenced to a period of probation upon conviction of any crime under Article 31 of the Vehicle and Traffic Law in relation to alcohol and drug related motor vehicle matters as well as the power to impose a probation investigation fee for investigations ordered by the Family Court in custody and visitation proceedings. The County Legislature finds it to be in the best interests of the County of Nassau to permit the Probation Department to collect such fees from all persons sentenced to probation as has been mandated by other counties in New York State. The County Legislature further finds it to be in the best interests of the County of Nassau to increase the current probation administrative fee for probationers other than those currently serving or who shall be sentenced to a period of probation upon conviction of any crime under Article 31 of the Vehicle and Traffic Law in relation to alcohol and drug related motor vehicle matters. The County Legislature further finds it to be in the best interests of the County of Nassau to impose fees for presentence investigations, electronic monitoring, drug testing, victim impact panel sessions, and community service placements.

- § 2. Administrative, presentence investigation, electronic monitoring, drug testing victim impact panel session, certificate of relief investigation, and community service placement fees.
  - A. An individual currently serving, or who shall be sentenced to a period of probation upon conviction of any crime under Article 31 of the Vehicle and Traffic Law, shall pay the Probation Department an administrative (sic) to be set by ordinance for probation services from the time the probation period is commenced until such period is terminated.
  - B. Other than individuals covered by subdivision A., an individual currently serving, or who shall be sentenced to a period of probation shall pay the Probation Department an administrative fee to be set by ordinance for probation services from the time the probation period is commenced until said period is terminated.
  - C. An individual before the Court for sentencing, for whom a presentence investigation is either mandatory, or ordered by the court pursuant to section 390.20 of the Criminal Procedure Law, shall pay the Probation Department a fee to be set by ordinance.
    - (1) In addition to the pre-sentence investigation fees set forth above, an additional administrative fee to be set by ordinance will be assessed for an individual for whom a presentence investigation is conducted by the Sex Offender/Domestic Violence Unit of the Nassau County Probation Department.
  - D. An individual currently serving, or who shall be sentenced to a period of probation and who is required to submit to electronic monitoring by the Court pursuant to Section 65.10(4) of the Penal Law, shall pay the Probation Department a fee to be set by ordinance for such services from the time the probation period is commended until such time as either the requirement of said monitoring is terminated by the Court, the Probation Department or the period of probation is terminated.
  - E. An individual currently serving, or who shall be sentenced to a period of probation, required to submit to drug testing by the Court or the Probation Department, shall pay the Probation Department a fee to be set by ordinance from the time the probation period is commenced until such time as the period of probation is terminated.
  - F. A fee to be set by ordinance shall be paid to the Probation Department, by any individual whose attendance at a victim impact panel is either (1) mandated by the Court as a requirement of conditional discharge; or (2) required by the Court or the Probation Department, to attend, the victim impact panel, during said individual's sentenced term of probation.

- G. An individual before the court on an application for a certificate of relief, for whom an investigation is ordered in the court shall pay the Probation department a fee to be set by ordinance.
- H. An individual who is sentenced to the sanction of community service, to be placed by the Probation Department, shall pay a community service placement fee which shall be set by ordinance to the Probation Department at the time of the placement interview with the Probation Department. If the individual fails or refuses to pay the fee, the Probation Department may return the case to court for appropriate action.
- I. The provisions of Subdivision 6 of Section 420.10 of the Criminal Procedure Law shall govern for purposes of collection of the Administrative, Pre-Sentence Investigations, Certificate of Relief Investigations, Electronic Monitoring, Drug Testing, and Victim Impact Panel fees.
- J. The Administrative, Pre-Sentence Investigations, Certificate of Relief Investigations, Electronic Monitoring, Drug Testing, Victim Impact Panel, and community service placement fees authorized by this section shall not constitute, nor be imposed as, a condition of probation.
- K. The Probation Department shall waive all, or part, of the Administrative, Pre-Sentence Investigations, Certificate of Relief Investigations, Electronic Monitoring, Drug Testing, Victim Impact Panel, and community service placement fees where, because of the indigence of the offender, the payment of said fees would work an unreasonable hardship on the person convicted, his or her family or any other person who is dependent on such person for financial support.
- L. In the event of non-payment of any fees which have not been waived, the County may seek to enforce payment in any manner permitted by law for the enforcement of a debt.

# § 3. Investigation fee.

- A. When ordered to conduct an investigation pursuant to Sections 252-a and 653 of the Family Court Act involving custody and visitation proceedings, the Probation Department shall receive an investigation fee of not less than fifty dollars and not more than five hundred dollars from the parties in such proceeding for performing such investigation.
- B. Such fee shall be based on the parties' ability to pay the fee and the schedule for payment shall be fixed by the court issuing the order for investigation, pursuant to the guidelines issued by the Director of the Division of Probation and Correctional Alternatives.
- C. The court shall apportion the fee between the parties based upon the respective financial circumstances of the parties and the equities of the case.

- D. The court, at its discretion, may waive the investigation fee when the parties lack sufficient means to pay the fee.
- § 4. **Fee usage.** Fees collected pursuant to this Title shall be used to offset the cost of providing the services for which the fees are collected.
- § 5. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph subdivision, section or part of this Title or its application to any person or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order of judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this Title or its application to the person or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment or order shall be rendered. (Title 20 added by Local Law No. 10-1992, in effect June 15, 1992; amended by Local Law No. 2-2002, sections 13-18; amended by Local Law No. 2-2009, in effect January 1, 2009; amended by Local Law No. 2-2011, in effect

# TITLE 21<sup>23</sup>

# CERTAIN PERSONS CONVICTED OF VIOLATING NASSAU COUNTY LOCAL LAWS OR ORDINANCES REIMBURSEMENT OF ACTUAL INVESTIGATORY, AND INCARCERATION COSTS

Section

1. Legislative intent

March 28, 2011; amended by Local Law No. 9-2016, in effect January 2, 2017.)

- 2. Definitions
- 3. Investigatory costs
- 4. Incarceration costs
- 5. Waiver of investigatory and incarceration costs
- 6. Severability

Section 1. **Legislative intent.** With the rising costs of both investigation of violations of Nassau County local laws or ordinances as well as post-conviction incarceration costs at the Nassau County Correctional Center, it is in the best interests of the County of Nassau to require certain persons who are convicted of violating a Nassau County local law or ordinance as well as those persons who are sentenced to serve a term of incarceration in the Nassau County Correctional Center for violating a Nassau County local law or ordinance to reimburse the County of Nassau for all actual costs of investigation and incarceration.

# Section 2. **Definitions.**

 $<sup>^{23}</sup>$  The Nassau County Sheriff is prohibited from enforcing this provision. *Commission of Correction v. Reilly*, Supreme Court Nassau County, Index No. 3074/07 (2007).

- A. "Investigatory costs" shall mean all actual costs incurred by the County of Nassau, its agencies and departments in obtaining a conviction against a person for a violation of a Nassau County local law or ordinance.
- B. "Incarceration costs" shall mean all actual costs incurred by the Sheriff's Department in housing a person convicted of a violation of a Nassau County local law or ordinance including, but not limited to, room, board, medical expenses, educational expenses, etc.
- C. "Person" shall mean a human being, and where appropriate, a public or private corporation, an unincorporated association or a partnership.

Section 3. **Investigatory costs.** A person convicted of a violation of a Nassau County local law or ordinance shall reimburse the County of Nassau for all actual investigatory costs incurred in conjunction with the investigation and prosecution of such violation of a Nassau County local law or ordinance. All monies reimbursed shall be proportionately appropriated to each County agency or department that incurred an investigatory cost.

Section 4. **Incarceration costs.** Any person convicted of a violation of a Nassau County local law or ordinance who is sentenced to serve a term of incarceration in the Nassau County Correctional Center shall reimburse the Sheriff's Department for all actual costs incurred in conjunction with the incarceration of such person. All monies reimbursed shall be appropriated to the Sheriff's Department.

Section 5. Waiver of investigatory and incarceration costs. The Nassau County Probation Department may waive all or part of the investigatory costs and incarceration costs where, because of the indigence of the person convicted of a violation of a Nassau County local law or ordinance, the reimbursement of said costs would work an unreasonable hardship on the person convicted, his or her immediate family or any other person who is dependent on such individual for financial support.

Section 6. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this Title or its application to any person or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order of judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this Title or its application to the person or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment or order shall be rendered.

(Title 21 added by Local Law No. 16-1992, in effect October 26, 1992.)

# **TITLE 21-A<sup>24</sup>**

# CERTAIN PERSONS WHO ARE INCARCERATED IN THE NASSAU COUNTY CORRECTIONAL CENTER – PAYMENT OF UNREIMBURSED INCARCERATION COSTS

Section 1. Legislative intent

- 2. Definition
- 3. Incarceration costs
- 4. Waiver of incarceration costs
- 5. Event of non-payment
- 6. Severability

Section 1. **Legislative intent.** With the rise of incarceration costs at the Nassau County Correctional Center, it is in the best interests of the County of Nassau to require certain persons who are incarcerated in the Nassau County Correctional Center and are subsequently convicted of the crime which led to their incarceration to pay the County of Nassau for actual unreimbursed costs of incarceration.

Section 2. **Definition.** "Incarceration costs" shall mean actual costs incurred by the Sheriff's Department in housing a person convicted of a crime, including, but not limited to, room, board and educational expenses.

Section 3. **Incarceration costs.** Any person convicted of a crime which led to his or her incarceration in the Nassau County Correctional Center shall pay the County of Nassau for preconviction and post-conviction actual unreimbursed costs incurred in conjunction with the incarceration of such person.

Section 4. **Waiver of incarceration costs.** The sheriff of the County of Nassau may waive all or part of the incarceration costs where, because of the indigence of the person sentenced, the payment of said costs would work an unreasonable hardship on the person convicted, his or her immediate family or any person who is dependent on such individual for financial support.

Section 5. **Event of non-payment.** In the event of non-payment of any costs which have not been waived, the County of Nassau may seek to enforce payment in any manner permitted by law for enforcement of a debt.

(Added by Local Law No. 12-1996, in effect November 25, 1996.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> The Nassau County Sheriff is prohibited from enforcing this provision. *Commission of Correction v. Reilly*, Supreme Court Nassau County, Index No. 3074/07 (2007).

#### TITLE 22

# EMPLOYEE COMMUTE OPTIONS (ECO) PROGRAM

Section

- 1. Legislative intent
- 2. Definitions
- 3. Registration and correspondence
- 4. Average Passenger Occupancy (APO) Surveys
- 5. Calculation of the Average Passenger Occupancy (APO)
- 6. Compliance plan and maintenance report filing
- 7. Compliance plan and maintenance report review process
- 8. Local administrative fees
- 9. Auditing and recordkeeping
- 10. Penalties
- 11. Employer petitions
- 12. Rules and regulations
- 13. SEQRA findings
- 14. Severability

Section 1. **Legislative Intent.** Section 182(d)(1)(B) of the Federal Clean Air Act Amendments, 42 U.S.C. section 7511a(d)(I)(B), as amended by Public Law 101-549, November, 15, 1990, 104 Stat. 2399, requires states having severe nonattainment areas for ozone to submit a State Implementation Plan revision requiring employers in such nonattainment areas to implement programs to reduce work related vehicle travel by employees.

The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has designated the County of Nassau as a severe nonattainment area for ozone within New York State.

Pursuant to section 14(31) of the Transportation Law the New York State Department of Transportation has promulgated regulations to implement the Employee Commute Options (ECO) Program of the Federal Clean Air Act Amendments.

In general, employers of one hundred or more persons at worksites in a severe nonattainment area for ozone, as designated by the EPA, shall increase the Average Passenger Occupancy (APO) per Vehicle of its employees in commuting trips between home and the worksite during peak travel periods to at least twenty-five (25) percent above the Average Vehicle Occupancy (AVO) Standard for all such trips. Such Standard shall be established in accordance with the Federal Clean Air Act Amendments and with guidance issued by the EPA (entitled "Employee Commute Options Guidance," United States Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Air and Radiation, December, 1992).

The New York State Transportation Law and the regulations promulgated pursuant thereto require the ECO Program to be administered by New York City and the Counties which are wholly or partially designated as severe nonattainment areas for ozone.

The Board of Supervisors finds it to be in the best interests of the County of Nassau to enact a Local Law for implementation of the ECO Program consistent with Section 14(31)(b), (c) and (d) of the New York State Transportation Law and 17 NYCRR Part 38.

Section 2. **Definitions.** For the purposes of the ECO Program, the definitions set forth in 17 NYCRR Part 38 shall apply, provided, however, that in this Chapter:

- A. "Board" means the three member body established to review petitions filed by affected employers to appeal the decisions of the Local Administrative Agency.
- B. "Department" shall mean the Nassau County Department of Planning;
- C. "Local Administrative Agency" shall mean the Nassau County Department of Planning, Division of Transportation.

Section 3. **Registration and correspondence.** In accordance with the provisions of 17 NYCRR Part 38.3, Affected employers shall register with the Local Administrative Agency or notify the Local Administrative Agency of the reasons why that employer may be exempt from the requirements of this Chapter, and shall comply with requirements with respect to correspondence set forth therein.

Section 4. **Average Passenger Occupancy (APO) Surveys.** In accordance with the provisions of 17 NYCRR Part 38.5, Affected Employers shall conduct Worksite APO Surveys, utilizing forms provided by the Local Administrative Agency or may utilize other APO Survey forms upon approval of the Local Administrative Agency and report the results of such worksite APO Survey to the Local Administrative Agency, as part of the required Compliance Plan or Maintenance Report.

Section 5. **Calculation of the Average Passenger Occupancy (APO).** In accordance with the provisions of 17 NYCRR Part 38.6, Affected Employers shall calculate the worksite APO and strive to achieve the target APO.

# Section 6. Compliance Plan and Maintenance Report filing.

- A. In accordance with the provisions of 17 NYCRR Part 38.7, each affected employer shall prepare and file Initial Compliance Plans and Compliance Plan Updates or Maintenance Reports.
- B. For each affected worksite, by November 15, 1994, the affected employer shall file with the Local Administrative Agency an Initial Compliance Plan for each affected worksite.
- C. An employer that becomes an affected employer after April 6, 1994 shall have six months from the date it becomes an affected employer to file an Initial Compliance Plan and two years from filing to implement its Initial Compliance Plan.

Section 7. **Compliance Plan and Maintenance Report review process.** In accordance with the provisions of 17 NYCRR Part 38.8:

- A. Affected employers shall implement approved plans or reports and revise rejected plans or reports.
  - B. Affected employers may appeal plan or report rejection by the Local Administrative Agency.

# Section 8. Local administrative fees.

- A. Each affected employer shall be required to submit its annual fee on the date its Initial Compliance Plan is due to be submitted and thereafter on each subsequent anniversary of such date.
- B. Fees are as follows:
  - 1) for each employer's worksite with more than one thousand (1,000) affected employees, the fee shall be two thousand dollars (\$2,000.00).
  - 2) for each employer's worksite with five hundred and one (501) to one thousand (1,000) affected employees, the fee shall be twelve hundred dollars (\$1,200.00).
  - for each employer's worksite with two hundred fifty one (251) to five hundred (500) affected employees, the fee shall be six hundred dollars (\$600.00).
  - 4) for each employer's worksite with one hundred (100) to two hundred fifty (250) affected employees, the fee shall be three hundred dollars (\$300.00).
- C. Fees shall be reduced by fifty percent (50%) of the amount due for all affected employers submitting plans not later than 90 days prior to the date a submission is due. Fees shall be reduced by thirty-three and one third percent (33-1/3%) of the amount due for all affected employers submitting plans not later than 60 days prior to the date a submission is due. Fees shall be reduced by twenty percent (20%) of the amount due for all affected employers submitting plans not later than 30 days prior to the date a submission is due. Fee reductions shall be available only in the year when the employer is required to file a plan or report pursuant to 17 NYCRR Part 38.
- D. Fees shall be in the form of a company check, bank check, money order, or other form of payment acceptable to the Local Administrative Agency made payable to the Nassau County Treasurer.

Section 9. **Auditing and recordkeeping.** In accordance with the provisions of 17 NYCRR Part 38.10:

- A. Affected employers shall provide access to the Local Administrative Agency for auditing to verify compliance with the provisions of this Chapter.
- B. Affected employers shall facilitate the audit functions by maintaining copies of relevant documents.

# Section 10. Penalties.

- A. The Local Administrative Agency shall send a notice of violation of any provision of this chapter by registered, certified or other form of mail documenting receipt to the affected employer. Such notice shall specify the nature of the violation and the fine due.
- B. Failure of an affected employer to comply with the requirements set forth in the rules of the ECO Program as specified in NYCRR Part 38.11(a) shall constitute a violation of such rules. The civil penalty for each violation shall be fifty cents (50¢) per employee per day for each affected worksite, not to exceed five hundred dollars (\$500.00) per day for each affected worksite.
- C. Failure of an affected employer to register pursuant to 17 NYCRR Part 38.3(b) shall constitute a violation of such rules. The penalty for such violation shall be fifty cents  $(50\phi)$  per employee per day for each affected worksite, not to exceed five hundred dollars (\$500.00) per day for each affected worksite.

# Section 11. Employer petitions.

- A. In accordance with the provisions of 17 NYCRR Part 38.12, affected employers shall have the opportunity to file a petition appealing a Local Administrative Agency's decision pertaining to the following issues:
  - 1) The rejection of a Compliance Plan for failure to convincingly demonstrate that the Target CPO will be achieved.
  - 2) The rejection of a Maintenance Report for failure to convincingly demonstrate that the Target APO will be maintained.
  - 3) The imposition of a penalty in accordance with the provisions of 17 NYCRR Part 38.
- B. Petitions to appeal by affected employers shall be reviewed by a three member Board appointed by the County Executive subject to confirmation by the Board of Supervisors.
  - All appointees to membership to the Board shall have a term of three years, except that of those first appointed, one member shall be appointed for a term of three (3) years, one member shall be appointed for a term of

- two (2) years and one member shall be appointed for a term of one (1) year.
- 2) Board members shall serve without compensation but shall be entitled to receive all reasonable expenses actually incurred in the performance of their duties.
- 3) The Board shall be the final administrative authority for the enforcement and administration of this Title.

# C. The procedure for appeal to the Board shall be as follows:

- 1) An affected employer wishing to file a petition of appeal shall submit such request to the Board within fifteen (15) days of receipt of the notification to be appealed from.
- 2) Notice of hearing shall be sent by registered or certified mail and shall state the date and place of hearing. The affected employer shall be heard either in person or by counsel and may offer evidence on its behalf. A stenographic record of the hearing shall be taken. The Board shall make a written report of findings and issue an order in determination of the question presented for appeal. Both the affected employer and the Local Administrative Agency shall be notified of such order.
- 3) For the purpose of this Title, the Board may administer oaths, take testimony, subpoena witnesses and compel the production of books, papers, records and documents deemed pertinent to the subject of the appeal, pursuant to section twenty two hundred thirteen of the County Government Law of Nassau County.

Section 12. **Rules and regulations.** The Local Administrative Agency is hereby authorized, empowered and directed to promulgate and issue such rules and regulations as the Local Administrative Agency may deem necessary to implement and carry out this Title and 17 NYCRR Part 38.

Section 13. **SEQRA findings.** The Board of Supervisors as lead agency has determined that in conformance with the SEQRA findings of the New York State Department of Transportation, the proposed action described herein is an unlisted action and will not have a significant effect on the environment, and a Draft Environmental Impact Statement will not be prepared.

Section 14. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this Title or its application to any person or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order of judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this Title or its application to the person or

circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment or order shall be rendered.

(Title 22 added by Local Law No. 3-1994, in effect May 23, 1994.)

# TITLE 23

# AUTOMATED TELLER MACHINE SECURITY PROTECTION ACT FOR BANK CUSTOMERS

Section

- 1. Legislative intent
- 2. Definitions
- 3. Security measures
- 4. List of facilities
- 5. Violations and penalties
- 6. Enforcement
- 7. Exemption
- 8. Applicability
- 9. Severability

Section 1. **Legislative intent.** The Board of Supervisors hereby finds and determines that the use of automated teller machines (ATM's) to conduct banking transactions has become a fact of daily life for many Nassau County residents; that, because of the location of many of these ATM's and the time of day and night they are used there is a potential risk of robbery and other related crimes for users of these machines; and that currently there are no standards for security at ATM facilities.

# Section 2. **Definitions.**

- A. "Access code" shall mean a series of numbers or letters, unique to each banking customer, which when entered into an automated teller machine, grant the customer entry to the customer's account records.
- B. "Automated teller machine" shall mean a device, linked to a financial institution's account records, which is able to carry out transactions, including, but not limited to: account transfers, deposits, cash withdrawals, balance inquiries, and mortgage and loan payments.
- C. "Automated teller machine card" shall mean an instrument authorized by a bank which permits a customer to gain access to an automated teller machine facility.
- D. "Automated teller machine facility" shall mean the area comprised of one or more automated teller machines, and any adjacent space which is made available to banking customers after regular banking hours.
- E. "Bank" shall mean any banking corporation which operates, owns, or controls and automated teller machine facility within the County of Nassau.

- F. "Adequate lighting" with respect to an open and operating automated teller machine facility located on an exterior wall of a building open to the outdoor air, and any defined parking area, shall mean lighting during nighttime hours according to the following standards:
  - 1. minimum of ten (10) candlelight power at the face of the automated teller machine and extending in an unobstructed direction outward five (5) feet; and
  - 2. a minimum of two (2) candlefoot power within fifty (50) feet from all unobstructed directions from the face of the automated teller machines. If such machine is located within ten (10) feet of the corner of the building and the automated teller machine facility is generally accessible from the adjacent side, there shall be a minimum of two (2) candlefoot power along the first forty (40) unobstructed feet of the adjacent side of the building.
- G. "Adequate lighting" with respect to defined parking areas shall mean a minimum of two (2) candlefoot power in that portion of the parking area within the sixty (60) feet of the automated teller machine facility.
- H. "Adequate lighting" with respect to an automated teller machine facility located within the interior of a building shall mean lighting on a twenty-four (24) hour basis, which permits a person entering the facility to readily and easily sec all persons at the entry door of such facility.
- I. "Defined parking area" shall mean that portion of any parking area for bank customer parking which is:
  - 1. contiguous to any paved walkway or sidewalk within fifty (50) feet of an automated teller machine facility;
  - 2. regularly, principally, and lawfully used for parking by users of the automated teller machine facility while conducting transactions at such automated teller machine facility during nighttime hours; and
  - 3. owned or leased by the operator of the automated teller machine facility, or owned or otherwise controlled by the party leasing the automated teller machine facility site to the operator. The term does not include any parking area which is not open or regularly used for parking by the users of the automated teller machine who are conducting automated teller machine transactions during nighttime hours. A parking area is not open if it is physically closed to access or if conspicuous signs indicate that it is closed.
- J. "Nighttime hours" shall mean the period of time beginning at sunset, and ending at sunrise.

- K. "Candlefoot power" shall mean the light intensity of candles on a horizontal place at thirty-six (36) inches above ground level and five (5) feet in front of the area to be measured.
- L. "Regular banking hours" shall mean the hours a branch is normally open for normal transactions of business with the banking public.

# Section 3. Security measures.

- A. A bank shall maintain the following security measures with respect to each of its automated teller machine facilities:
  - 1. a surveillance camera or cameras which shall view and record all persons entering an automated teller machine facility located within the interior of a building, or which shall view and record all activity occurring within a minimum of three (3) feet in front of an automated teller machine located on an exterior wall of a building open to the outdoor air. Such camera or cameras need not view and record banking transactions made at the automated teller machine. The recordings made by such cameras shall be preserved by the bank for at least thirty (30) days;
  - 2. entry doors equipped with locking devices which permit entry to such facility only to persons using a magnetic-strip plastic card or similar device issued by a bank for that purpose;
  - 3. adequate lighting;
  - 4. a reflective mirror or mirrors placed in a manner which permits a person entering the automated teller machine facility to view areas within such facility which are otherwise concealed from plain view; and
  - 5. a clearly visible sign, which at a minimum states:
    - a) the activity within the automated teller machine facility is being recorded by surveillance camera;
    - b) customers should close the entry door completely upon entering if the automated teller machine facility is located within the interior of a building;
    - c) customers should not permit entrance to any unknown person at any time after regular banking hours when an automated teller machine facility located within the interior of a building is available to banking customers; and
    - d) customers should place withdrawn cash securely upon their person before exiting the automated teller machine facility.

B. Subdivisions two and four of Paragraph A and subsections b and c of subdivision 5 of Paragraph A shall not apply to any automated teller machine facility located on an exterior wall of a building open to the outdoor air.

#### Section 4. List of facilities.

- A. Any bank which operates an automated teller machine facility shall file a list of such facilities with the Office of Consumer Affairs, including the street addresses, intersecting streets, hours of operation, method of security, and method of surveillance at each facility, and the telephone number of the bank's security department.
- B. Within thirty (30) days after the effective date of this Title, and each year thereafter, every bank which has an automated teller machine facility, which is in operation on such date or on such date every year thereafter, shall submit a written report to the Office of Consumer Affairs on a form prescribed by the Office, indicating that such automated teller machine facility is in compliance with the provisions of this Title.

# Section 5. Violations and penalties.

- A. A bank found to be in willful violation of any provision of Section 3 of this Title shall be subject to a civil penalty of not more than two hundred fifty dollars (\$250.00). Each such willful violation of any provision of section 3 of this Title with respect to a particular automated teller machine facility shall be considered a separate violation thereof.
- B. Any bank found to be in willful violation of any provision of section 3 of this Title shall also correct the violation within ten (10) days after such finding. Failure to correct the violation within ten (10) days after such finding shall subject the bank to an additional civil penalty of not less than five hundred dollars (\$500.00) or more than one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) for each report.
- C. Any bank found to be in willful violation of section 4 of this Title shall be liable for a civil penalty of not more than five hundred dollars (\$500.00) for each automated teller machine for which a report has not been filed. Any bank which makes a material false statement or material omission in any report filed pursuant to section 4(B) of this Title shall be liable for a civil penalty of not more than one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) for each report.
- D. A proceeding to recover any civil penalty authorized to be imposed pursuant to this law shall be commenced by the service of a notice of violation which shall be returnable to the Commissioner of the Office of Consumer Affairs, who, after due notice and an opportunity for a hearing, shall be authorized to impose the civil penalties prescribed by this Title.

Section 6. **Enforcement.** The Office of Consumer Affairs shall be authorized to enforce this Title.

Section 7. **Exemption.** The provisions of this Title shall not apply to any unenclosed automated teller machine located in any building, structure, or space whose primary purpose or function is unrelated to banking activities, including, but not limited to supermarkets, airports, and school buildings, provided that such automated teller machine shall be available for use only during the regular hours of operation of the building, structure, or space in which such machine is located.

Section 8. **Applicability.** This Title shall apply to actions occurring on or after the effective date of this Title.

Section 9. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this Title or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this Title, or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

(Title 23 added by Local Law No. 9-1994, in effect January 1, 1995.)

# TITLE 24

# NASSAU COUNTY HOTEL AND MOTEL OCCUPANCY TAX

# Section

- 1. Legislative intent
- 2. Definitions
- 3. Imposition of hotel and motel occupancy tax
- 4. Contract with tourism promotion agency
- 5. Disposition of tax revenues
- 6. Exemptions
- 7. Judicial review
- 8. Severability

Section 1. **Legislative intent.** Chapter 511 of the laws of 1994 as amended by Chapter 179 of the Laws of 2000 authorized and empowered the County of Nassau to impose a hotel and motel occupancy tax in Nassau County not to exceed three percent of the per diem rental rate for each room. The revenues resulting from the imposition of the tax shall be used to promote tourism and convention business in Nassau County as well as to provide for care, maintenance and interpretation for the general public of certain structures and areas under the jurisdiction of the Nassau County Department of Recreation and Parks for operating or program support of non-profit museums and cultural organizations in Nassau County and to fulfill the general obligations

of Nassau County. The County Legislature finds it to be in the best interest of the County of Nassau to impose the hotel and motel occupancy tax for these purposes. (Amended by Local Law No. 9-1996, in effect October 22, 1996; amended by Local Law No. 26-2000, in effect July 31, 2000.)

Section 2. **Definitions.** As used in this Title, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

- A. "Hotel" or "Motel" shall mean and include any facility providing lodging on an overnight basis and shall include those facilities designated and commonly known as "bed and breakfast", inns, cabins, cottages, campgrounds, tourist homes and convention centers.
- B. "Permanent resident" shall mean a person occupying any room or rooms in a hotel or motel for at least thirty consecutive days.

# Section 3. Imposition of hotel and motel occupancy tax.

- A. There is hereby imposed a hotel and motel occupancy tax in the County of Nassau at a rate of three percent of the per diem rental rate for each room, provided, however, that such tax shall not be applicable to a permanent resident of such hotel and motel. (Amended by Local Law No. 26-2000, in effect July 31, 2000.)
- B. Such tax shall be collected and administered by the County Treasurer by such means and in such manner as other taxes which are now collected and administered.
- Within thirty days after the effective date of this Title, or in the case of owners C. commencing business after such effective date, within ten days after such commencement or opening, every owner shall file with the County Treasurer a certificate of registration in a form prescribed by the County Treasurer. The County Treasurer shall issue to each owner a certificate of authority empowering such owner to collect the tax from the occupant thereof. The County Treasurer shall issue to each owner a duplicate certificate for each additional hotel or motel owned by such owner. Each certificate or duplicate shall state the hotel or motel to which it was applicable as well as the sales tax number for the hotel or motel. Such certificates of authority shall be prominently displayed by the owner in such manner that it may be seen and come to the notice of all occupants and persons seeking occupancy. Such certificates shall be non-assignable and nontransferable and shall be surrendered to the County Treasurer upon the cessation of business at the hotel or motel named or upon its sale or transfer. Failure to register with the County Treasurer as required by this Title shall result in the imposition of a fine of one hundred dollars for each day of non-registration for each hotel or motel not so registered.
- D. Such tax shall be paid by the person liable therefor to the owner of the hotel or motel room occupied or to the person entitled to be paid the rent or charge for the hotel or motel room occupied for and on account of the County of Nassau imposing the tax and that such owner or person entitled to be paid the rent or charge shall be liable for the

collection and payment of the tax; and that such owner or person entitled to be paid the rent or charge shall have the same right in respect to collecting the tax from the person occupying the hotel or motel room, or in respect to nonpayment of the tax by the person occupying the hotel or motel room, as if the tax were a part of the rent or charge and payable at the same time as the rent or charge.

- E. The owner of the hotel or motel room occupied or the person entitled to be paid the rent or charge for the hotel or motel room occupied shall file returns with and make payment of the tax to the County Treasurer on a quarterly basis on the first day of each February, May, August and November during the effective period of this Title. Such returns shall be made on forms provided by the County Treasurer.
- F. The owner's books and records relating to the returns as set forth in subdivision E above may be requested by the County Treasurer for auditing purposes.
- G. The imposition of the hotel and motel occupancy tax as authorized by this Title shall expire on December thirty-first, two thousand twenty-three. (Amended by Local Law No. 9-1996, in effect October 11, 1996; amended by Local Law No. 26-2000, in effect July 31, 2000; amended by Local Law 3 -2006; amended by local law No. 17-2007, in effect September 25, 2007; amended by Local Law 21-2009, in effect October 28, 2009; amended by Local Law 14, 2011, in effect December 22, 2011; amended by Local Law No 5-2013, effective August 12, 2013; amended by Local Law 5-2015, effective September 28, 2015, amended by Local Law 10-2017, effective October 19, 2017, amended by Local Law No. 11-2020, effective October 29, 2020)
- H. The County Treasurer is hereby authorized to promulgate any rules and regulations deemed necessary to effectuate the purposes and provisions of this Title and consistent therewith.

Section 4. **Contract with tourism promotion agency.** The County of Nassau shall enter into a contract with a tourism promotion agency to administer programs designed to develop, encourage, solicit and promote convention business and tourism within the county. The promotion of convention business and tourism shall include any service, function or activity, whether or not performed, sponsored or advertised by the tourism promotion agency with the intent to attract transient guests to the county.

Section 5. **Disposition of tax revenues.** All revenues resulting from the imposition of the tax payable hereunder shall be paid into the General Fund of the County of Nassau and shall be distributed as appropriated by the County Legislature pursuant to the following formula:

- A. Twenty-five percent thereof shall be distributed as follows:
  - (i) Sixty-six and two-thirds percent of such twenty-five percent of revenues collected shall be delivered to the tourism promotion agency which the County of Nassau contracts with pursuant to Section 4 of this Title.
  - (ii) Thirty-three and one-third percent of such twenty-five percent of revenues collected shall be utilized by the County of Nassau in support of cultural

programs and activities relevant to the continuation and enhancement of the tourism industry in the following manner:

- 1. Twenty-one percent of such twenty-five percent of revenues collected shall be used for the care, maintenance, and interpretation for the general public of the historic structures, sites and unique natural areas that are managed by the Nassau County Department of Recreation and Parks. All sites and activities so funded shall be opened to tourists on a regular and predictable basis.
- 2. Twelve and one-third percent of such twenty-five percent of revenues collected shall be used for ongoing operating or program support of those non-profit museums and cultural organizations in Nassau County so designated by the County Executive or by any County department, agency or office authorized by the County Executive to make such designation, subject to final approval of the County Legislature.
- 3. Schedules of availability of all historic and cultural activities and events funded from any part of these revenues shall be provided to the aforementioned tourist promotion agency which is contracted with by the County of Nassau so as to enhance tourism promotion and tourist visitation.

# B. Seventy-five percent thereof shall be distributed as follows:

a. For the fiscal year two thousand six: (i) fifty percent of such seventy-five percent of revenues from the hotel and motel occupancy tax shall be paid into the treasury of the County of Nassau and shall be dedicated to the fulfillment of the general obligations of the County, and (ii) fifty percent of such seventy-five percent of revenues shall be used by the County through the Department of Parks, Recreation and Museums to improve and advance the marketability of cultural and historical attractions; provided however that two hundred fifty thousand dollars thereof shall be used to provide assistance to the historically restored village of Old Bethpage and existing museums in Nassau County for the expenses of new program development and new exhibit development, and provided further, that such two hundred fifty thousand dollars shall be awarded pursuant to applications for assistance upon application by Old Bethpage Village or any such museum to the Department of Parks, Recreation and Museums, which shall make a determination thereon in consultation with the advisory board to such Department pursuant to subdivision C of this section. All monies paid into the treasury of the County pursuant to this clause (ii) and remaining therein at the end of the fiscal year shall continue to be used pursuant to this clause (ii) in the following fiscal year.

b. For the fiscal year two thousand seven and all subsequent fiscal years (i) twenty-five percent of such seventy-five percent of revenues shall be paid into the treasury of the County of Nassau and shall be dedicated to the fulfillment of the general

obligations of the County, and (ii) seventy-five percent of such seventy-five percent of revenues shall be used by the County through the Department of Parks, Recreation and Museums to improve and advance the marketability of cultural and historical attractions; provided however that two hundred fifty thousand dollars thereof shall be used to provide assistance to the historically restored village of Old Bethpage and existing museums in Nassau County for the expenses of new program development and new exhibit development, and provided further, that such two hundred fifty thousand dollars shall be awarded pursuant to applications for assistance upon application by Old Bethpage Village or any such museum to the Department of Parks, Recreation and Museums, which shall make a determination thereon in consultation with the advisory board to such Department pursuant to subdivision C of this section. All monies paid into the treasury of the County pursuant to this clause (ii) and remaining therein at the end of the fiscal year shall continue to be used pursuant to this clause (ii) in the following fiscal year.

(Amended by Local Law No. 9-1996, in effect October 11, 1996; amended by Local Law No. 26-2000 in effect July 31, 2000; amended by Local Law No. 3-2006 with effective date as follows: "This local law shall become effective upon the enactment by the New York State Legislature of legislation amending the Tax Law to extend the authorization of the hotel and motel occupancy tax and provide for its distribution and shall be deemed to have been in full force and effect on and after January 1, 2006"; amended by Local Law 21-2009, in effect October 28, 2009.)

C. The Department of Parks, Recreation and Museums shall, pursuant to subdivision six of section twelve hundred two-q of the Tax Law, accept applications for assistance from the two hundred fifty thousand dollars allocated pursuant to clause (ii) of paragraphs (a) and (b) of subdivision B of this section. Awards shall be made from such two hundred fifty thousand dollars by the Department of Parks, Recreation and Museums in consultation with an advisory board to such department consisting of seven members, each of whom shall serve for a term of two years. Three members shall be appointed by the County Executive, two members by the Presiding officer of the Legislature, and two members by the Minority Leader of the Legislature. The County Executive shall designate the Chair.

(Subdivision C added by Local Law No. 3-2006 with effective date as follows: "This local law shall become effective upon the enactment by the New York State Legislature of legislation amending the Tax Law to extend the authorization of the hotel and motel occupancy tax and provide for its distribution and shall be deemed to have been in full force and effect on and after January 1, 2006")

Section 6. **Exemptions.** This Title shall not authorize the imposition of the hotel and motel occupancy tax upon any transaction, by or with any of the following:

- A. The State of New York, or any public corporation (including a public corporation created pursuant to agreement or contract with another state or the dominion of Canada), improvement district or other political subdivision of the state.
- B. The United States of America, insofar as it is immune from taxation.
- C. Any corporation or association, or trust, or community chest, fund or foundation organized and operated exclusively for religious, charitable or educational purposes, or for the prevention of cruelty to children or animals, and no part of the net earnings of

which inures to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual and no substantial part of the activities of which is carrying on propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation; provided, however, that nothing in this paragraph shall include an organization operated for the primary purpose of carrying on a trade or business for profit, whether or not all of its profits are payable to one or more organizations described in this paragraph.

# Section 7. Judicial review.

- A. Any final determination of the amount of any tax payable hereunder shall be reviewable for error, illegality or unconstitutionality or any other reason whatsoever by a proceeding under article seventy-eight of the Civil Practice Law and Rules if application therefor is made to the supreme court within thirty-days after the giving of the notice of such final determination, provided, however, that any such proceeding under article seventy-eight of the Civil Practice Law and Rules shall not be instituted unless:
  - 1. The amount of any tax sought to be reviewed, with such interest and penalties thereon as may be provided for shall be first deposited and there is filed an undertaking, issued by a surety company authorized to transact business in this state and approved by the superintendent of insurance of the State of New York as to solvency and responsibility, in such amount as a justice of the supreme court shall approve to the effect that if such proceeding be dismissed or the tax confirmed, the petitioner will pay all costs and charges which may accrue in the prosecution of such proceeding; or
  - 2. At the option of the petitioner such undertaking may be in a sum sufficient to cover the taxes, interest and penalties stated in such determination plus the costs and charges which may accrue against it in the prosecution of the proceeding, in which event the petitioner shall not be required to pay such taxes, interest or penalties as a condition precedent to the application.
- B. Where any tax imposed hereunder shall have been erroneously, illegally or unconstitutionally collected and application for the refund thereof duly made to the County Treasurer, and the County Treasurer shall have made a determination denying such refund, such determination shall be reviewable by a proceeding under article seventy-
- eight of the Civil Practice Law and Rules, provided, however, that such proceeding is instituted within thirty days after the giving of the notice of such denial, that a final determination of tax due was not previously made, and that an undertaking is filed with the County Treasurer in such amount and with such sureties as a justice of the supreme court shall approve to the effect that if such proceeding be dismissed or the tax

confirmed, the petitioner will pay all costs and charges which may accrue in the prosecution of such proceeding.

- C. Except of the case of willfully false or fraudulent return with intent to evade the tax, no assessment of additional tax shall be made after the expiration of more than three years from the date of the filing of a return, provided, however, that where no return has been filed as provided by law the tax may be assessed at any time.
- D. Any person failing to file a return or to pay any tax to the County Treasurer within the time required by this Title shall be subject to a penalty of five percentum of the amount of the tax due; plus interest at the rate of one percentum of such tax for each month or fraction thereof of delay commencing the first month after such return was required to be filed or such tax became due. Such penalties and interest shall be paid and disposed of in the same manner as other revenues pursuant to this Title.

Section 8. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this Title or its application to any person or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this Title or its application to the person or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment or ordered shall be rendered.

(Title 24 added by Local Law No. 12-1994, in effect November 1, 1994.)

#### TITLE 25

# SALE OF CERTAIN DIETARY SUPPLEMENTS AND OTHER PRODUCTS CONTAINING EPHEDRINE

Section

- 1. Legislative intent
- 2. Definitions of terms
- 3. Sale of certain dietary supplements and other products containing Ephedrine
- 4. Penalty for violation
- 5. Severability

Section 1. **Legislative intent.** The Legislature hereby finds that certain ephedrine-containing products pose significant health risks and that consumers should be protected from the sale of such products within Nassau County. The Legislature further finds that possible adverse effects of ephedrine include, but are not limited to, heart attacks, strokes, seizures, psychosis and death, and also include clinically less significant effects that may indicate the potential for more serious effects, such as dizziness, headaches, gastrointestinal distress and heart palpitations. As a result, the Legislature finds that the sale, labeling, and promotion of ephedrine-containing products should be registered and, in addition, ephedrine-containing products should not be sold to those under the age of 18. The Legislature hereby enacts this law in furtherance of

its responsibility to protect the health and welfare of its residents.

#### Section 2. **Definitions of terms.**

- A. "Dietary supplement" or "drug" means a dietary supplement or drug as defined in 21 U.S.C. section 321.
- B. "Ephedrine" means ephedrine and any natural or botanical or synthetic form of ephedrine including but not limited to Ephedra, Ephedra Sinica, Ma Huang and Epitonin, or any extract thereof.
- C. "Person" means a human being, and where appropriate, a public or private corporation and unincorporated association or a partnership.

# Section 3. Sale of certain dietary supplements and other products containing ephedrine.

- A. No person shall sell or cause to be sold any product containing ephedrine unless such product:
  - (i) is an FDA-approved drug product; or
  - (ii) is an over-the-counter drug product which is in compliance with an FDA-issued proposed monograph, tentative final monograph or final monograph; or
  - (iii) is a dietary supplement of food which:
    - (a) is intended and labeled for use as a weight loss aid or sports nutrition product.
    - (b) is labeled for sale to and use by only those 18 years of age or over.
- B. No ephedrine-containing products shall be sold to people under 18 years of age.
- C. No ephedrine-containing product shall be labeled for sale or distribution with labels that claim or imply that such ephedrine-containing products produce such effects as euphoria, increased sexual sensations, heightened awareness, increased energy, legal "highs" and other similar effects.

Section 4. **Penalty for violation.** Any person who violates section three of this Title shall be guilty of a class A misdemeanor punishable by a fine not to exceed \$1000 or imprisonment not to exceed one year, or both.

Section 5. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this Title or its application to any person or circumstances shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause,

sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this Title or its application to the person or circumstances directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment or order shall be rendered.

(Added by Local Law No. 3-1996, in effect May 16, 1996.)

# TITLE 26<sup>25</sup>

# AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU AND THE METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY, THE LONG ISLAND RAIL ROAD COMPANY AND THE METROPOLITAN SUBURBAN BUS AUTHORITY

Section 1. **Findings** 

> 2. Mass transportation agreements

Section 1. **Findings.** The County Legislature of the County of Nassau (the "County") hereby finds and declares that a sound mass transportation infrastructure system, and the provision of mass transportation services to the public at adequate levels and reasonable cost, are essential to the County's economy and the well-being of its residents. The County Legislature further finds that: the mass transportation services provided by the Metropolitan Transportation Authority (the "Authority"), Long Island Rail Road Company ("LIRR") and Metropolitan Suburban Bus Authority ("LI Bus") are an integral part of the County's mass transportation system; the county is situated within the metropolitan transportation district served by the Authority; the LIRR, which is a subsidiary of the Authority, operates an extensive commuter railroad network throughout Long Island, with approximately 65% of its riders boarding in the County; and LI Bus, which is also a subsidiary of the Authority, operates, maintains and repairs omnibus facilities in the furnishing of omnibus fixed-route and paratransit service to the people of the County under a lease with the County, pursuant to which the County makes annual financial contributions to LI Bus for certain operating and capital costs.

The County further hereby finds and declares that a commitment on the part of the County to jointly undertake various mass transportation capital projects (as that term is defined in General Municipal Law section 119-q) with the Authority, LIRR and LI Bus will help ensure that the people of the County continue to be provided with necessary and convenient mass transportation services. In this regard, General Municipal Law, section 119-r expressly authorizes the County, inter alia, to adopt local laws authorizing (i) the acquisition, construction, reconstruction, improvement, equipment, maintenance or operation of one or more mass transportation projects; and (ii) the making of contracts with a public authority, including the authority, LIRR, and LI Bus, for the equipment, maintenance or operation of a mass transportation facility owned, acquired, constructed, reconstructed or improved by it. The County Legislature, therefore, hereby determines that it is in the best interests of the people of the County to adopt this local law pursuant to section 119-r of the General Municipal Law authorizing the joint undertaking of certain mass transportation capital projects with the Authority, LIRR and LI Bus and providing for the use and operation of those projects by the Authority, LIRR and LI Bus for the benefit of the residents of the County.

Section 2. Mass transportation agreements. Pursuant to the Authority conferred upon

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> There are two Titles 26

the County by section 119-r of the General Municipal Law, the County is hereby authorized from time to time to enter into one or more agreements, and amendments thereto, and amendments to existing agreements, with the Authority, LIRR and/or LI Bus, or any or all of them, or any other public authority, with respect to mass transportation facilities or capital projects. (Added by Local Law No. 15-1996, in effect December 18, 1996.)

## TITLE 26<sup>26</sup>

# BOX CUTTERS – PROHIBITION ON SALE TO MINORS, OPEN DISPLAYS AND POSSESSION ON SCHOOL PREMISES

Section

- 1. Legislative intent.
- 2. Definitions.
- 3. Sale to minors.
- 4. Open display.
- 5. Possession on school premises.
- 6. Penalties.
- 7. Separability.

Section 1. **Legislative intent.** This local law is intended to promote the health and welfare of Nassau County residents, and protect the safety of our young people and our school environment. This new Title 26 prohibits the sale or transfer of "box cutters" to minors and prohibits the possession of box cutters on school grounds by those 21 years of age except under certain circumstances.

The law also regulates the display of "box cutters" for sale.

The Nassau County Legislature finds that while box cutters are valuable tools if used as intended, they have become weapons in the hands of those young people that act outside the law. The very features that make them practical tools also make them extremely dangerous if misused. Box cutters, which usually consist of a razor blade or sharp metal edge contained in a protective casing, are compact and easily concealed. Moreover, with their small size and packaging, they are prone to shoplifting when offered for sale in an open display.

## Section 2. **Definitions.** For purposes of this Title:

- a. "Box cutter" means any knife consisting of a razor blade, retractable, non-retractable, or detachable in segments, attached to or contained within a plastic or metal housing, including, but not limited to, utility knives, snap-off knives, sheet rock knives, and box cart cutters.
- b. "Person" means any individual, corporation, partnership, association,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> There are two Titles 26

organization, or other legal entity. "Person" does not mean an adult parent or guardian of a minor, who gives to, or provides such minor with, a "box cutter" for home improvement or other such work.

- c. "School premises" means the buildings, grounds, or facilities owned, occupied, or under the control or custody of public or private institutions for the primary purpose of providing educational instruction to students at or below the twelfth grade level or its equivalent. The term shall also include any vehicles used for the transportation of students or personnel of the institutions:
  - i. owned, operated, or leased by such educational institutions; or
  - ii. owned, operated, or leased by a person contracted to provide transportation of students for such educational institutions.

#### Section 3. Sale to minors.

- a. It shall be unlawful for any person to sell, offer to sell, give and/or provide, or cause another person to sell, offer to sell, give, and/or provide a box cutter to any individual who has not yet attained eighteen (18) years of age.
- b. Nothing in this section shall preclude an employer from temporarily providing a minor employee with a box cutter, so long as the instrument is used during said minor's course of employment, and such instrument is used only under the supervision of the employer, or said employer's agent.

Section 4. **Open display.** Any person who sells or offers box cutters for sale, shall place such box cutters on display only if such items are: (a) contained within a sealed and locked case; (b) located behind the service counter with access limited to the seller or his or her agents or employees; or, (c) stored in any other manner which restricts access to box cutters by customers and/or the general public.

# Section 5. **Possession on school premises.**

- a. It shall be unlawful for any individual who has not yet attained twenty-one (21) years of age to possess a box cutter while on school premises.
- b. Nothing in this section shall preclude the temporary transfer to, and/or use by, an individual, who has not yet attained twenty-one (21) years of age, of a box cutter on school premises for a valid school-related purpose, where such instrument is used only under the supervision of a school staff person.
- c. Nothing in this section shall preclude the possession and/or use of a box cutter on school premises by an individual, who has not yet attained twenty-one (21) years of age, so long as such individual is performing work on such premises during the course or his or her employment, and such instrument is used only under the supervision of his or her employer, said employer's agent, or a school staff person.

Section 6. **Penalties.** Any person who violates any provision of this title shall, for a first offense, be guilty of a violation punishable by a fine of not more than two hundred fifty dollars. A second or subsequent offense shall be a Class B misdemeanor punishable by a fine of not more than five hundred dollars or three months imprisonment, or both.

Section 7. **Separability.** If any part or provision of this local law or the application thereof to any person, entity or circumstances be adjudged invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, such judgment shall be confined in its operation to the part of or provision of or the application directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered and shall not affect or impair the validity of the remainder of this local law or the application thereof to other persons, entities, or circumstances. (Added by Local Law No. 1-1997, in effect May 6, 1997.)

#### TITLE 28

#### **SMOKING LAW**

## I. Legislative intent.

- A. The Nassau County Legislature finds that significant health risks have been determined to be attributable to exposure to environmental tobacco smoke ("ETS"). According to the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), environmental tobacco smoke is a known carcinogen, which belongs in the category of group A (known human) carcinogens, and is responsible for 3000 lung cancer deaths each year in non-smoking adults. The EPA also concludes that ETS causes other significant health problems in adults and that exposure to ETS can pose substantial health risks to children. The EPA has concluded that exposure to ETS increases the risks of respiratory and middle ear diseases in children, contributing to between 150,000 and 300,000 cases of bronchitis and pneumonia in infants and young children each year, significantly worsens the condition of 200,000 to 1,000,000 asthmatic children, and contributes to new cases of asthma in once-healthy children.
- B. The Nassau County Legislature supports the national health objective to reduce the incidence of adult smoking from the current prevalence of approximately 25 percent, to a level of 15 percent by the year 2000.
- C. The Nassau County Legislature further finds that any regulation of smoking invokes significant nonhealth related concerns based solely on economic and social considerations.
- D. It is the intent and purpose of this Law to decrease residents' exposure to environmental tobacco smoke by increasing restrictions on smoking in public places within the County of Nassau and limiting the access of minors to cigarettes and tobacco products while striking a balance among the imposition of regulatory burdens on

business, the rights of smokers and the health needs of non-smoking individuals.

# II. Declaration of policy.

A. It is declared to be the policy of the Nassau County Legislature to discourage smoking in Nassau County and protect non-smokers from the known harmful effects of second-hand smoke.

## III. Definitions.

A. A "bar" or "tavern" shall mean a business establishment that is devoted to the selling and serving of alcoholic beverages for consumption by patrons on the premises and in which the service of food is incidental to the business of the facility. Service of food shall be considered incidental if the food service generates less than twenty percent (20%) of total annual gross sales. Any bar that generates twenty percent (20%) or more of total annual gross sales from the sale of food for on-premises consumption shall be considered a restaurant.

(Amended by Local Law No. 15-2002, in effect November 6, 2002.)

- B. An "exempt organization" includes any volunteer fire department, any lodge of Free and Accepted Masons; any lodge of the Knights of Pythias; any lodge of the Benevolent and Protective Order of Elks; any council of the Knights of Columbus; the Catholic Daughters of America; any commandery of the Knights of Malta; any chapter of the American Legion; any lodge of the Order Sons of Italy in America; the Ancient Order of Hibernians; any post of the Jewish War Veterans of the United States, Inc.; any post or counties council of the Veterans of Foreign Wars of the United States, Inc.; any chapter, county, committee or department organization of the Disabled American Veterans; any Kiwanis Club; any Rotary Club; any Lions Club or any other similar organization.
- C. A "place of employment shall be considered to have an insignificant portion of its work force composed of people under the age of eighteen years" if two percent or less of its work force is under the age of eighteen years. Workforce shall include but not be limited to employees, independent contractors, volunteers, interns and other similar positions whether paid or unpaid.
- D. "Private social functions" shall mean any wedding, parties, testimonial dinners, meetings or other similar gatherings in which the seating arrangements are under the control of the organizer or sponsor of the event and not the person who owns, manages, operates or otherwise controls the use of the location in which the function is held.
- E. "Public means of mass transportation" shall mean public buses, trains, vans, taxicabs and limousines and ticketing or boarding areas.
- F. A "Restaurant bar area" shall mean a contiguous area of a restaurant containing a counter in which the service and consumption of food in this area is incidental to the service and consumption of alcoholic beverages. Service of food shall be considered incidental if the food service generates less than 40% of the total annual gross sales.
- G. "School grounds" shall mean any building, structure and surrounding outdoor grounds contained within a public or private pre-school's, nursery school's, elementary school's, high school's, vocational learning center's, child care facility's or children's

institution's legally defined property boundaries as registered in the County Clerk's Office or any vehicles being used in a school capacity to transport children or school personnel.

- H. A "smoking room" shall mean a room provided to allow smoking. It must be located so that nonsmoking patrons would not be required to enter the room and it must be served by a properly operating and properly maintained filter system that recirculates clean air back into the building atmosphere or by a properly operating and properly maintained ventilation system exhausted to the outside of the building in such a way as to prevent the reintroduction of tainted air into the building atmosphere. The room must be provided with self closing floor to ceiling doors, which doors shall remain closed except to the extent necessary to permit ingress and egress to such room or the room must be negatively pressurized in such a way as to prevent the escape of smoke to the smoke free areas of the location. The smoking room shall not be the sole location of vending machines, waiting areas or the area of payment for services. Minors under the age of eighteen (18) years shall not be permitted access to the smoking room unless accompanied by a parent or legal guardian. If a smoking room is provided, then the nonsmoking area of a location containing a smoking room shall be sufficient to meet customer demand and a determination may not be made that no such demand exists. If 75% of the location's capacity is designated as a no smoking area, then customer demand will be deemed to have been met.
- I. "Smoking" shall mean the burning or combustion of tobacco-containing products or the carrying of ignited tobacco-containing products.
- J. "Sports arenas and recreational areas" shall mean any indoor or outdoor sports pavilions, stadiums, gymnasiums, health spas, boxing arenas, swimming pools, roller or ice skating rinks or similar areas.
- K. "Concourse area of a bowling center" is the area directly behind and immediately contiguous to the bowler settee area.
- L. A "tobacco business" shall mean a sole proprietorship, corporation, partnership or other entity in which the primary activity is the sale, manufacture or promotion of tobacco, tobacco products and accessories either at wholesale or retail and in which the sale, manufacture or promotion of other products generates less than 10 percent of total annual gross sales.
- M. "Herbal cigarette" shall mean any product made primarily of an herb or combination of herbs, and intended to be smoked in any of the methods that tobacco is smoked, including, but not limited to, as a cigarette, cigar or pipe filler. (Subdivision M added by Local Law No. 16-2000, in effect June 14, 2000.)

## IV. Regulation of smoking.

- A. Except as otherwise provided in this Law, smoking shall not be permitted and no person shall smoke in the following locations:
  - 1. In or on any public means of mass transportation;

- 2. Health care facilities, medical diagnostic centers, and school grounds;
- 3. Public areas of indoor facilities and indoor areas used by the public including, but not limited to: arenas, banks, stores, offices, convention and trade centers, clubhouses, common areas of multiple dwellings, courthouses, galleries, hotel, motel and theater lobbies, any auditorium, elevator, public areas of food stores, jury rooms, lecture halls, libraries, movie houses, museums, public hearing rooms, conference rooms, meeting rooms, locations of public assembly, any area in which public business is conducted and which requires or allows direct participation or observation by the general public, public restrooms, public waiting rooms, retail or wholesale premises or malls, service areas, theaters and areas of any municipal buildings and zoos; except that
  - a) Smoking shall be permitted in a smoking room.
- 4. A restaurant with an indoor seating capacity of more than 50 patrons, including any seating in the restaurant bar area that is not used exclusively for seating at the bar; except that
  - a) Smoking shall be permitted in a smoking room.
- 5. A restaurant with an indoor seating capacity of 50 patrons or less, including any seating in the restaurant bar area that is not used exclusively for seating at the bar; except that
  - a) Effective March 1, 2003, smoking shall be prohibited in all restaurants, including all outdoor dining areas (Amended by Local Law No. 15-2002, in effect November 6, 2002.)
- 6. Restaurant bar area; except that
  - a) If the perimeter of the restaurant bar area is located at least 6 feet from the perimeter of any indoor dining area of such restaurant, smoking shall be permitted in the restaurant bar area if such bar area is equipped with a properly operating and properly maintained filter system that recirculates clean air back into the building atmosphere or by a properly operating and properly maintained ventilation system exhausted to the outside of the building in such a way as to prevent the reintroduction of the tainted air into the building atmosphere.
  - b) [Repealed] (Repealed by Local Law No. 15-2002, in effect November 6, 2002.)

- 7. Place of employment: except that
  - a) Effective March 1, 2003, smoking shall be prohibited in all enclosed facilities within a place of employment, except within a place of employment that derives at least 90% of its revenue from tobacco retail sales, and a private home which may serve as an office workplace.

    (Amended by Local Law No. 15-2002, in effect November 6, 2002.)
  - b) Smoking shall be permitted in a smoking room located in a cafeteria.
- 8. Bowling centers; except that
  - a) Smoking shall be permitted at all times in a smoking room;
  - b) [Repealed] (Repealed by Local Law No. 15-2002, in effect November 6, 2002.)
- 9. Seating sections and aisles of outdoor areas of public places providing seating and offering open-air motion picture presentations, open-air concert, stage, dance, lecture or recital presentations or other similar open-air presentations or performances; except that
  - a) Smoking shall be permitted in parking lots of such locations.
  - b) Smoking may be permitted in a non-seating section designated for smoking as long as this area is separated from the seating area and aisles and does not constitute the sole location of vending machines, waiting or service areas, rest rooms or areas of payment for services. There shall also be designated a separate non-smoking area sufficient to meet customer demand and a determination may not be made that no such demand exists. If 75% of the non-seating area in the facility open to the public is designated as a non-smoking area, then customer demand will be deemed to have been met.
- 10. Seating sections and aisles of outdoor areas of sports arenas and recreational areas; except that
  - a) Smoking shall be permitted in parking lots of such sports arenas and recreational areas.
  - b) Smoking may be permitted in a non-seating section designated for smoking as long as this area is separated from the seating area and aisles and does not constitute the sole location of vending

machines, waiting or service areas, rest rooms or areas of payment for services. There shall also be designated a separate non-smoking area sufficient to meet customer demand and a determination may not be made that no such demand exists. If 75% of the non-seating area in the facility open to the public is designated as a non-smoking area, then customer demand will be deemed to have been met.

- 11. Outdoor dining area of restaurants; except that
  - a) Smoking shall be permitted in a single designated portion of an outdoor dining area which may include up to 25% of the outdoor dining area's seating capacity.
- 12. Added. Effective March 1, 2003, smoking shall be prohibited in all bars and taverns.

(Added by Local Law No. 15-2002, in effect November 6, 2002.)

- 13. Added. Effective January 1, 2004, smoking shall be prohibited in bingo halls and all other public indoor places where bingo shall take place. (Amended by Local Law No. 15-2002, in effect November 6, 2002.)
- B. No area may be designated for smoking where prohibited by the Nassau County Fire Prevention Ordinance or by regulation of another agency having jurisdiction.
- C. Smoking restrictions in this Law will not apply to those locations equipped with a properly operating and properly maintained filter system that recirculates clean air back into the building atmosphere or by a properly operating and properly maintained ventilation system exhausted to the outside of the building in such a way as to prevent the reintroduction of tainted air into the building atmosphere when private social functions are being held.
- D. Smoking restrictions in this Law will not apply to bars or taverns if prominent notice is posted at the doors or entrances that smoking is permitted throughout the facility.
- E. Smoking restrictions in this Law will not apply to tobacco businesses.
- F. Smoking restrictions in this Law will not apply to any location owned or operated by an exempt organization when such location is being used by an exempt organization.

#### V. Tobacco Distribution to Minors.

A. No person, firm, partnership, company, corporation or facility whose business includes the sale or distribution of tobacco products or herbal cigarettes shall sell, vend, distribute or otherwise supply or allow the distribution for remuneration or free of charge of any cigarette or tobacco product or herbal cigarettes to any person under the age of 18

years. The possession of a driver's license or other photographic identification card issued by a government agency or educational institution indicating that an individual is at least 18 years of age shall be required as proof of age from any person who reasonably appears to be under the age of 27 and requests the purchase of cigarettes or other tobacco products or herbal cigarettes.

B. Any person operating a place of business wherein tobacco products or herbal cigarettes are sold or offered for sale shall post in a conspicuous place the following statement:

"SALE OF CIGARETTES, CIGARS, CHEWING TOBACCO, POWDERED TOBACCO, OTHER TOBACCO PRODUCTS OR HERBAL PRODUCTS THAT ARE SMOKED IN A MANNER SIMILAR OR IDENTICAL TO TOBACCO PRODUCTS TO A PERSON UNDER EIGHTEEN YEARS OF AGE IS PROHIBITED BY LAW." (Subdivision V amended by Local Law No. 16-2000, in effect June 14, 2000.)

# VI. Vending Machines.

- A. No person, firm, partnership, company, corporation or facility shall operate a vending machine that dispenses tobacco products or herbal cigarettes, unless such machine is located:
  - 1. In a bar, tavern, or Restaurant Bar Area with a valid, on premises, full liquor license.
  - 2. In a private club.
  - 3. In a tobacco business.
  - 4. In a place of employment that has an insignificant portion of its regular work force composed of people under the age of eighteen years and only in such locations that are not accessible to the general public, or
  - 5. In a smoking room.
- B. Wherever tobacco product vending machines or vending machines that dispense herbal cigarettes are provided, they must be under the direct and full time visual supervision of the person in charge of the location or his or her designated agent or employee.

(Subdivision VI amended by Local Law No. 16-2000, in effect June 14, 2000.)

# VII. Posting of Signs.

A. SMOKING IS PROHIBITED or NO SMOKING signs, using the international NO SMOKING symbol - (i.e., a pictorial representation of a burning cigarette enclosed in a red circle with a red bar across it) shall be prominently and conspicuously posted in every location where smoking is prohibited by this Law or prohibited by the owner, operator or manager of such location. These signs shall be posted by the owner, by the operator, manager or other person having control of such place. SMOKING IS

PERMITTED signs, (i.e., pictorial representation of a burning cigarette enclosed in a green circle with no bar) shall be posted where the conditions established in this Law allowing smoking have been met. Such signs shall be prominently and conspicuously posted at doors and entranceways to all areas in locations where smoking is permitted. Signs shall be protected from tampering, damage, removal or concealment and shall be at least 10 inches by 14 inches in size.

B. In Movie Houses, the message "SMOKING IS PROHIBITED" or equivalent thereof shall be shown on the screen for a period of not less than 5 seconds, in conjunction with each showing of the feature presentation.

# VIII. Additional Responsibilities of Management.

- A. The person in charge of any location where smoking is regulated by this Law shall also be responsible to:
  - 1. Provide ashtrays and smoking receptacles where smoking is permitted by this Law and maintain locations where smoking is prohibited free of ashtrays or smoking receptacles.
  - 2. Enforce this Law by requesting compliance from patrons verbally or by presenting a Commissioner's Message Card as promulgated by the Nassau County Department of Health and by prohibiting employees from smoking, except in accordance with this law.

# IX. Inspection and Enforcement.

- A. The Nassau County Department of Health shall enforce this Law.
- B. The Nassau County Health Commissioner or the Commissioner's designees shall be authorized to serve official notices of violation of this Law.
- C. A waiver suspending enforcement of this Law through December 31, 1998 shall be automatically granted to any individual or business seeking to construct a smoking room in accordance with this Law. Application for such a waiver shall be made, in writing by certified mail to the Commissioner of the Nassau County Department of Health, 240 Old Country Road, Mineola, New York, 11501, prior to July 1, 1998.

## X. Violations.

A. Any violation of or noncompliance with any provision of this Law shall be punishable by a fine not exceeding one thousand two hundred and fifty (\$1250.00) dollars. Each day or part of day on which a violation continues shall constitute a separate violation.

(Amended by Local Law No. 16-2000, in effect June 14, 2000.)

# XI. Waivers.

The Commissioner of Health, or a person specifically designated by the A. Commissioner, shall have the authority to grant a waiver from a specific provision of this Law, in a particular case, subject to appropriate conditions, taking into account public welfare and necessity, where the issuance of such waiver will not harm the health, safety and general welfare of the people of the County. Every waiver granted shall be subject to such conditions or restrictions as may be necessary to minimize the adverse effects of the waiver upon persons subject to an involuntary exposure to second-hand smoke and to ensure that the waiver is consistent with the general purpose of this law. For example, a waiver may be granted allowing smoking in a portion of a public area where smoking is otherwise prohibited by this Law if ventilation and/or air filtration equipment is provided which effectively eliminates the hazards of environmental tobacco smoke to an extent acceptable to the Commissioner of Health. Waivers shall be valid for not more than 24 months but can be re-issued by the Department at the Department's discretion. The Commissioner or the Commissioner's designees may revoke a waiver at any time in the interest of protecting public health.

#### XII. No Private Cause of Action.

- A. Nothing in this law shall be construed to create, impair, alter, limit, modify, enlarge, abrogate or restrict any theory of liability upon which any person may be held liable to any other person for exposure to smoke.
- B. An employer, administrator, manager, owner or operator of any location regulated by this law who fails to comply with the provisions of this law shall not be subject to any legal liability or action solely as a result of such compliance or non compliance except as provided in this law.

#### XIII. General Provisions.

- A. Nothing in this law shall be construed to deny the owner, operator or manager of a location covered by this law the right to designate the entire location, or part thereof, as a non-smoking area.
- B. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, smoking may not be permitted where prohibited by any other law, rule, or regulation of any Federal Agency, any State agency or any political subdivision of the Federal or State government.

Section 2. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, section, part or provision of this Law shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such judgment/decree/order shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, section, part or provision thereof directly involved in the controversy in which the judgment/decree/order shall have been rendered.

Section 4. Added. **Enforcement.** The Nassau County Health Department shall be responsible for the enforcement of this local law. (Added by Local Law No. 15-2002, in effect November 6, 2002.)

(Title 28 added by Local Law No. 7-1997, became a law January 8, 1998, in effect July 1, 1998; amended by Local Law No. 15-2002, in effect November 6, 2002. Enforcement of Local Law No. 15-2002 was enjoined. See *Pankos Diner Corp. v. Nassau County Legislature*, 321 F.Supp. 2d 520 (2003)).

#### TITLE 29

# REAL PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION FOR SENIORS AND VETERANS IN COOPERATIVE HOUSING

Section

- 1. Legislative Intent.
- 2. Real Property Tax Exemption for Tenant-Stockholders sixty-five years and older in cooperative apartment corporations.
- 3. Veteran's Real Property Exemption for Tenant-Stockholders in Cooperative Apartments.

Section 1. **Legislative Intent.** Chapter 406 of the Laws of 1995 enables a municipality to extend the senior citizen's real property tax exemption to seniors who reside as tenant-stockholder's in property owned by a cooperative apartment corporation. A new subdivision 3-a was added to §467 of the Real Property Tax Law qualifying such tenant-stockholders to apply for a senior citizen's real property tax exemption. Chapter 171 of the Laws of 1997 enables a municipality to extend the Veteran's real property tax exemption to veterans who reside as tenant-stockholders in housing owned by cooperative apartment corporations. §458 and §458-a of the Real Property Tax Law of the State of New York have been amended to include cooperative apartments. These laws provide that the qualifying tenant-stockholder be credited by the cooperative apartment corporation with the appropriate reduction in real property taxes, otherwise chargeable to the tenantstockholder. In order for these benefits to be extended to senior and/or veteran tenant-stockholders, the State law requires that local legislation be adopted to include these provisions.

Section 2. Real Property Tax Exemption for Tenant-Stockholders sixty-five years of age or older in cooperative apartment corporations. The senior citizens tax exemption as set forth in §6-2.2 of the Nassau County Administrative Code and §467 of the Real Property Tax Law of the State of New York shall be extended to tenant-stockholders residing in property owned by cooperative apartment corporations.

Section 3. **Veteran's Real Property Exemption for Tenant-Stockholders in Cooperative Housing.** The Veteran's real property tax exemption is hereby extended to tenant-stockholders living in cooperative housing within the County of Nassau. The provisions of §458

and §458-a of the Real Property Tax Law of the State of New York shall apply. Veterans residing in a dwelling subject to the provisions of either article two, four, five or eleven of the Private Housing Finance Law are not eligible for this exemption. (Added by Local Law No. 5-1997, in effect November 5, 1997.)

# TITLE 30<sup>27</sup>

# EXTENSION OF TIME PERIOD FOR FILING APPLICATIONS FOR THE SCHOOL TAX RELIEF (STAR) EXEMPTION WITH RESPECT TO THE 1998-99 SCHOOL TAXES

Section

- 1. Legislative Intent
- 2. Extended Filing Date for STAR Applications
- 3. Review of STAR Applications
- 4. Review of Complaints for Denials of STAR Applications
- 5. Entering STAR Exemptions on the Final Roll
- 6. Eligibility Date for STAR Exemption
- 7. Severability

Section 1. **Legislative Intent.** Chapter 6 of the Laws of 1998 enables the County of Nassau to extend the time for the filing of School Tax Relief (STAR) exemption applications. The Legislature of the County of Nassau desires to extend the benefits of any available tax relief programs to its seniors. As the STAR program was a new state program initiated by Governor Pataki, there may be some seniors who were unable to file or unaware of the need to file applications. This legislation will assist those seniors by giving them an additional time period to qualify for school tax relief.

Section 2. **Extended Filing date for STAR Applications.** The Board of Assessors, shall accept applications for the School Tax Relief (STAR) exemption for 1998-99 school taxes until March 2, 1998.

Section 3. **Review of STAR Applications.** The Board of Assessors shall act on all STAR Applications no later than March 13, 1998.

Section 4. **Review of Complaints for Denial of STAR Applications.** For purposes of review of all complaints for denial of STAR applications timely filed pursuant to this law the Board of Assessment Review shall meet on April 13, 1998. The Board of Assessment Review shall notify the Board of Assessors of their determination. For purposes of this section, all denials of STAR applications shall be reviewed by the Board of Assessment Review.

Section 5. **Entering STAR Exemptions on the Final Roll.** Any duly granted STAR exemptions not already entered on the final 1998 assessment roll shall be entered on the 1998 assessment roll no later than May 1, 1998.

Section 6. **Eligibility Date for STAR Exemption.** Eligibility for the STAR exemption on the final assessment roll shall be based on the condition and ownership of the property as of January 2, 1998.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> There are two titles 30

Section 7. **Severability.** If any part or provision of this local law or the application thereof to any person, entity, or circumstances be adjudged invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, such judgment shall be confined in its operation to the part of or provision of or the application directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered and shall not affect or impair the validity of the remainder of this local law or the application thereof to other persons, entities or circumstances.

(Added by Local Law No. 1-1998, in effect January 15, 1998.)

## TITLE $30^{28}$

# LINKED DEPOSIT PROGRAM

Section

- 1. Legislative Intent
- 2. Definitions
- 3. Establishment and purpose, linked deposit program authorization
- 4. Responsibilities of Commissioner of Commerce and Industry; County Treasurer
- 5. Term of program
- 6. Linked loans
- 7. Interest rate for linked loan
- 8. Application procedure
- 9. Renewal of linked deposit
- 10. Liability; early repayment and withdrawal
- 11. Monitoring and annual report
- 12. Promotion of program
- 13. Expiration
- 14. Severability

Section 1. **Legislative Intent.** The County Legislature hereby finds that the economy of Long island is undergoing fundamental change. International competition has dramatically intensified with the adoption, on a global scale, of advanced technologies and modern production methods and is eroding the competitive position of Long island manufacturers and other businesses in the global economy and threatening their profitability, employment and future prospects. The end of the cold war and the consequent reduction in the nation's defense spending has made it imperative that defense industry manufacturers restructure themselves by changing or diversifying production to take advantage of commercial markets.

This County Legislature further finds that a vibrant high technology manufacturing sector is essential to sustain economic growth, and to continue the region's economic health and its

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> There are two title 30.

ability to generate permanent private sector jobs. Improving industrial productivity, promoting quality products and services, encouraging high performance work organizations, facilitating defense industry conversion, enhancing the County's overall ability to compete in the production of manufactured goods and increasing international exports of Nassau County products and services are essential goals of the region's economic development policy. These goals require joint public and private cooperation to encourage improvements in manufacturing, exporting capability, and market access by individual manufacturers and other businesses. The County Legislature further finds that financial incentives are needed to help reduce the risks to manufacturers and other businesses inherent in undertaking new investments in modernization, productivity and quality improvements, conversion from defense to commercial production, accessing new markets, and export trade. The cost of financing, combined with the current shortage of bank credit for business, frequently discourages many manufacturers and other businesses, especially small and medium sized firms, from undertaking such projects.

Accordingly, the County Legislature hereby finds that the competitiveness of Long island's job intensive manufacturing economy and the health of the region's export trade will be enhanced and the public interest served by creating a linked deposit program, administered by the Department of Commerce and Industry, in which the County Treasurer is authorized to deposit County funds with participating banks at a reduced rate of return when such banks make lower cost loans, on the basis of such linked deposits, to qualifying businesses to improve productivity, competitiveness, access to new markets, and exporting capabilities.

Section 2. **Definitions.** As used in this title, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

- a. "Eligible business" means a business located in Nassau County which meets the following criteria:
  - (1) which employs 100 or fewer employees within the County on a full-time basis:
  - (2) meets the definition of a manufacturing firm as set forth in section 2(g) hereof;
  - (3) is seeking financing through the program for an export project;
  - (4) is a technical service-based firm, or
  - (5) whose proposed project has a positive economic impact on the local economy as determined by the advisory committee.

"Eligible business" shall not mean retail businesses or any business that delivers a service rendered at a facility personally by an individual for an individual, directly, without the intervention of a third party, or a professional service business such as health, legal, accounting, engineering, or architectural services.

b. "Eligible projects" means:

- (1) export projects designed to increase a firm's export activities; or
- (2) for manufacturing and service firms, projects which involve the preparation of strategic plans for improving productivity and competitiveness; the introduction of modern equipment and/or an expansion of facilities as part of a modernization plan; the introduction of advanced technologies to improve productivity and quality; improvements in production processes and operations; introduction of computerized information, reporting and control systems; reorganization or improvement of work place systems and the introduction of total quality and employee participation programs; development and introduction of new products; identification and development of new markets, including entry into foreign markets; financial restructuring for purposes of enabling modernization activities; buyouts of viable companies by employees or local owners residing in Suffolk or Nassau County; and the provision of working capital for other modernization activities that will improve the competitiveness and productivity of a firm and result in the creation or retention of jobs.
- c. "Lender" means any bank or trust company as defined in Sections 10 and 11 of the General Municipal Law which is or shall become an approved depository of County funds and which agrees to participate in the program.
- d. "Linked deposit" means a deposit placed with a lender by the County Treasurer for a period of two years at the linked deposit interest rate, provided the lender agrees to:
  - (1) lend the equivalent value of such deposit to an eligible business at the linked deposit interest rate provided in Section (2)(e) hereof, and
  - (2) permit the deposit to be comprised of a series of ninety day deposits each bearing an interest rate equal to the linked deposit interest rate fixed at the time the original deposit is placed.
- e. "Linked deposit interest rate" means for a linked deposit made in connection with any linked loan, a fixed rate of interest which is two hundred basis points below the lender's posted two year certificate of deposit rate, or if the lender does not offer a two year certificate of deposit, is two hundred basis points below the average statewide rate for two year certificates of deposit as determined by the County Treasurer.
- f. "Linked loan" means a loan for purposes of an eligible project, in an amount equal to a linked deposit and bearing interest as set forth in Section 7 hereof.
- g. "Manufacturing firm" means a firm involved with extracting, smelting, recovering, developing, preparing, compounding, converting, assembling or producing in any manner, minerals, raw materials, products or substances of any kind or nature, and shall include facilities related thereto for storage, warehousing or distribution, for

research and development or for the discovery of new, and the refinement of known, substances, processes, and products.

h. "Program" means the Nassau County Linked Deposit Program.

Section 3. **Establishment and purpose, linked deposit program authorization.** The Nassau County Linked Deposit Program is hereby created. The purpose of the program is to encourage and assist eligible businesses within the County to undertake eligible projects that will materially contribute to improving their performance and competitiveness. The County Treasurer is hereby authorized to use any monies of the County that the County Treasurer is authorized to invest, as linked deposits for the program, except as is otherwise prohibited by law. Not more than two million dollars of such moneys shall be on deposit pursuant to the program at any given time.

# Section 4. Responsibilities of Commissioner of Commerce and Industry; County Treasurer.

a. The Commissioner of Commerce and Industry shall administer the program created by this title and market and promote the program. The Commissioner, pursuant to a vote by a majority of the linked deposit advisory committee, shall make all determinations with respect to the application, use and implementation of the program for eligible projects. The advisory committee shall consist of the following members:

The Commissioner of Commerce and Industry as chair

The County Treasurer or his/her representative

The County Comptroller or his/her representative

A representative of the County Executive

Three (3) representatives of the County Legislature as selected by the Presiding Officer

One (1) representative of the County Legislature as selected by the Minority Leader

A representative of the Long Island Association, or any successor organization

b. The County Treasurer is authorized to invest County funds, in the manner authorized by and pursuant to the provisions of Sections 10 and 11 of the General Municipal Law, the County's investment policy, and otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the laws of the County and the State of New York, with lenders in linked deposits.

Section 5. **Term of program.** The program shall exist for a term which expires on the date this title expires. Linked loans may be made only during the term of the program and linked deposits shall mature no later than two years after the expiration of the term of the program.

Section 6. **Linked loans.** Linked loans shall be made by lenders pursuant to the program

only to eligible businesses in connection with eligible projects. Linked loans shall be limited to a maximum amount of five hundred thousand dollars. The credit decision for making a linked loan shall be made solely by the lender. Notwithstanding the length of the term of a linked loan, the linked deposit relating to the linked loan shall be for a period of not more than two years, except as provided in Section 9 of this title. In the event that the lender and the borrower agree to a term for longer than two years for the loan, the interest rate charged for the period of the loan beyond the initial two-year period shall be agreed to by the lender and the borrower without restriction by this title. No eligible business may receive more than one linked loan during the term of the program.

Section 7. **Interest rate for linked loan.** Lenders who make loans pursuant to the program shall not be entitled to charge any discount, points, origination fees, handling fees, service charges, refinancing fees or penalties or any charge other than those normally charged and in such amounts normally charged by the lender for loans of the type being made without regard to the program. The interest rate charged shall be two hundred basis points below the interest rate charged to a similarly situated business outside of the program. The lender shall certify to the Commissioner of Commerce and Industry that its interest rate meets the criteria set forth in this program.

# Section 8. Application procedure.

- a. The Commissioner of Commerce and Industry, pursuant to a vote by a majority of the linked deposit advisory committee, shall establish procedures and other requirements for participation in the program, and shall provide a simplified application form to the participating lenders for linked deposits. Such form shall reflect the qualifying information required by this title for eligible businesses and shall contain a statement by the applicant that inability to obtain the reduced interest rate provided by the program would impede the ability of the applicant to undertake the eligible project. Upon completion of an application for a linked deposit, the lender shall send the application, together with the interest rate certification required, to the Commissioner of Commerce and Industry who shall, pursuant to a vote by a majority of the linked deposit advisory committee, either approve or reject the application within twenty-eight days. The Commissioner of Commerce and Industry and the advisory committee shall evaluate each application based upon the following criteria:
  - (1) the significance of the eligible project for improving the competitive position and profitability of the eligible business;
  - (2) the materiality of a reduced cost of borrowing through the linked loan to the ability of the eligible business to undertake the eligible project;
  - (3) the number of jobs likely to be created or retained, or other substantial economic benefits likely to be achieved as a result of the linked loan; and
  - (4) such other criteria as the Commissioner of Commerce and Industry,

pursuant to a vote by a majority of the linked deposit advisory committee, determines relevant.

b. If the linked deposit application is approved by the Commissioner of Commerce and Industry, pursuant to a vote by a majority of the linked deposit advisory committee, the Commissioner shall notify the County Treasurer that the Commissioner, pursuant to a vote by a majority of the linked deposit advisory committee, has determined that the application satisfies the requirements of this title, and the Commissioner shall request that the County Treasurer deposit funds with the lender, to the extent available, in accordance with Sections 10 and 11 of the General Municipal Law and the County's investment policy. Such deposits shall be secured in accordance with the provisions of Sections 10 and 11 of the General Municipal Law, and lenders receiving such deposits shall satisfy, in the sole judgment of the County Treasurer, all collateral and other requirements generally applied by the County Treasurer to funds invested by such office. The County Treasurer and the lender shall enter into a written deposit agreement in accordance with the County's investment policy. In no event shall any defect in any such agreement be asserted as a defense by a borrower on a linked loan made pursuant to the program. If in the objective opinion of the County Treasurer the financial position of the County would be adversely affected by the making of a linked deposit, the County Treasurer will be under no obligation to do so. The failure to make a linked deposit shall not give rise to a private cause of action.

Section 9. Renewal of linked deposit. A lender may, on behalf of a borrower, apply to the Commissioner of Commerce and Industry to request renewal of the linked deposit for an additional two-year period to coincide with a second two-year period of a borrower's linked loan. The Commissioner may grant such application if the Commissioner, pursuant to a majority vote of the linked deposit advisory committee, determines that the borrower, during the second two-year period of the linked loan, will create additional industrial modernization benefits or create additional export trade benefits or create additional jobs. If the Commissioner of Commerce and Industry, pursuant to a vote by a majority of the linked deposit advisory committee, grants such application, the Commissioner shall notify the County Treasurer that the Commissioner, pursuant to a vote by a majority of the linked deposit advisory committee, has determined that the application satisfies the requirements of this title and shall request the County Treasurer to continue the linked deposit with the lender for an additional two-year period in accordance with the provisions of Sections 10 and 11 of the General Municipal Law and the County's investment policy. Such linked deposit shall continue to be secured in accordance with Sections 10 and 11 of the General Municipal Law and the County's investment policy. The fixed interest rate on the continued linked deposit shall be the linked deposit interest rate in effect on the first day of the continuation of the linked deposit or such other rate agreed to by the County Treasurer and the lender. The County Treasurer and the lender shall enter into a written deposit agreement governing the continuation of the linked deposit in accordance with the County's investment policy. If in the objective opinion of the County Treasurer the financial position of

the County would be adversely affected by the renewal of a linked deposit, the County Treasurer will be under no obligation to do so. The failure to renew a linked deposit shall not give rise to a private cause of action.

Section 10. **Liability; early repayment and withdrawal.** Nothing contained in this title shall impose liability on the County or any of its departments or employees for payment or delays in payments of the principal of or interest on a linked loan. Any delay in payments or any default on a linked loan shall in no way affect the linked deposit agreement between the lender and the County Treasurer. However, in the event the interest rate of the linked loan shall be increased as a consequence of default or renegotiation, or the loan shall be charged off, the lender shall give the County Treasurer prompt notice of such event, and the County Treasurer shall thereafter withdraw the linked deposit upon not less than seven day's prior written notice to the lender. Upon early repayment of a linked loan, the lender shall within thirty days give the County Treasurer notice of such early repayment and the County Treasurer shall thereafter withdraw the linked deposit upon not less than seven days' prior written notice to the lender, and the interest rate payable on the linked deposit from the date of early repayment of the linked loan to the date of withdrawal of the linked deposit shall be the interest rate upon which the linked deposit interest rate was calculated without regard to the two hundred basis point reduction.

# Section 11. Monitoring and annual report.

- a. The Commissioner of Commerce and Industry shall monitor the activities of participating lenders and businesses and may require periodic reports or other information as the Commissioner of Commerce and Industry, deems necessary from participating lenders and businesses on the status of the linked loans and the projects to ensure compliance with the provisions and the intent of this title.
- b. On or before February first nineteen hundred ninety-nine, the Commissioner of Commerce and Industry shall submit to the County Executive and the County Legislature a report regarding the activities of the program. Such report shall contain a statement of the cost of the program to the County because of reduced rates on funds invested in linked deposits. Such report shall also include, but shall not be limited to, the number and type of linked loans under the program and the amount thereof, the number and types of lenders making linked loans and of firms receiving linked loans; the geographic distribution of such lenders and firms, the approximate number of jobs created or retained as the Commissioner determines useful in evaluating the economic benefits of the program.

Section 12. **Promotion of program.** The Department of Commerce and Industry shall actively market and promote awareness of the program in all geographical areas of the County among banks, banking organizations, manufacturing firms, manufacturing organizations, and regional and local economic development agencies.

Section 13. **Expiration.** This title shall expire five years from its effective date.

Section 14. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this title or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity or circumstance shall be ordered or adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this title, or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity or circumstance, directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

(Added by Local Law No. 3-1998, in effect April 14, 1998.)

#### TITLE 32

# EXTENSION OF TIME PERIOD FOR FILING APPLICATIONS FOR THE SCHOOL TAX RELIEF (STAR) EXEMPTION WITH RESPECT TO THE 1999-2000 SCHOOL TAXES

Section

- 1. Legislative Intent
- 2. Extended Filing Date for STAR Applications
- 3. Review of STAR Applications
- 4. Review of Complaints for Denials of STAR Applications
- 5. Entering STAR Exemptions on the Final Roll
- 6. Eligibility Date for STAR Exemption
- 7. Severability

## Section 1. Legislative Intent.

a) Chapter 627 of the Laws of 1998 enables the County of Nassau to extend the time for the filing of School Tax Relief (STAR) exemption applications. The Legislature of the County of Nassau desires to extend the filing time for filing tax STAR exemption applications so that more residents of Nassau County can avail themselves of the benefits of available tax relief programs. This legislation will assist residents of Nassau County by giving them an additional time period to qualify for school tax relief.

# Section 2. Extended Filing date for STAR Applications.

a) The Board of Assessors, shall accept applications for the School Tax Relief (STAR) exemption for 1999-2000 school taxes until March 1, 1999.

# Section 3. Review of STAR Applications.

a) The Board of Assessors shall act on all STAR Applications no later than March

12, 1999.

# Section 4. Review of Complaints for Denial of STAR Applications.

a) For purposes of review of all complaints for denial of STAR applications timely filed pursuant to this law the Board of Assessment Review shall meet on April 13, 1999. The Board of Assessment Review shall notify the Board of Assessors of their determination. For purposes of this section, all denials of STAR applications shall be reviewed by the Board of Assessment Review.

# Section 5. Entering STAR Exemptions on the Final Roll.

a) Any duly granted STAR exemptions not already entered on the final 1999 assessment roll shall be entered on the 1999 assessment roll no later than May 1, 1999.

## Section 6. Eligibility Date for STAR Exemption.

a) Eligibility for the STAR exemption on the final assessment roll shall be based on the condition and ownership of the property as of January 2, 1999.

# Section 7. Severability.

a) If any part or provision of this local law or the application thereof to any person, entity, or circumstances be adjudged invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, such judgment shall be confined in its operation to the part of or provision of or the application directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered and shall not affect or impair the validity of the remainder of this local law or the application thereof to other persons, entities or circumstances.

(Added by Local Law No. 9-1998, in effect December 21, 1998.)

#### TITLE 33

#### LOCAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Section

- 1. Legislature Intent
- 2. Local Development Corporation
- 3. Directors
- 4. Limitation on Purpose

# Section 1. **Legislative Intent.** The Legislature hereby finds that:

- A. The County of Nassau is expected to become entitled to receive payments under the Master Settlement Agreement (hereinafter, the "MSA") and the Consent Decree and Final Judgment of the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York, dated December 23, 1998 (hereinafter, as the same may be amended or modified, the "Decree") in the class action entitled State of New York et al. v. Philip Morris Incorporation et. al. (Index No. 400361/97); and
- B. In order to secure to present generations a portion of the benefits intended to be conferred by the MSA and the Decree it is necessary or desirable for the County to sell or transfer its rights, title and interest in and to all or a portion of the moneys to become payable to the County under the MSA and the Decree (hereinafter, the "Tobacco Settlement Revenues") to a local development corporation to be created by the County pursuant to the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law of the State of New York.

Section 2. **Local Development Corporation.** The County Executive and/or his designee(s) are hereby authorized to take all actions necessary to create a corporation pursuant to the New York Not-For-Profit Corporation Law §4411 (hereinafter, the "Corporation"). The Corporation shall be granted all powers as may be deemed necessary by the County Executive and his designee(s), which powers shall include, but not be limited to, the power to acquire from the County its right, title and interest in and to all or a portion of the Tobacco Settlement Revenues, to issue bonds, notes and other evidence of indebtedness and to incur other obligations, to create and transfer assets of the Corporation to a business trust or other entity, and to take all other actions as may be necessary, convenient or desirable in furtherance of its corporate purposes and powers.

Section 3. **Directors.** The Corporation shall have three directors. One director shall be appointed by the majority vote of the County Legislature who shall serve for a term of three (3) years. One director shall be appointed by the County Executive, and shall be the County Treasurer, ex officio, who shall serve for a term of three (3) years. The third director shall be appointed jointly by the other two directors, and shall not be an officer, employee or agent of the County, who shall serve for a term of three (3) years. Directors shall be indemnified, defended, and held harmless by the County against any and all liabilities, losses, costs, expenses and damages (including, without limitation, attorney's fees) arising out of or in connection with any acts or omissions by said directors that are performed within the scope of their duties as directors. No director shall be removed except for cause. (Amended by Local Law No. 5-2000, in effect January 13, 2000.)

Section 4. **Limitation on Purpose.** It is the specific intention of the Legislature that the purpose and scope of the Corporation be limited to the transactions contemplated by this local law including the purchase of Tobacco Settlement Revenues from the County, the securitization thereof and relation transactions.

(Added by Local Law No. 5-1999, in effect July 28, 1999.)

# TITLE 34

## Section

- 1. Repealed
- 2. Repealed
- 3. Repealed
- 4. Repealed
- 5. Repealed
- 6. Repealed
- 7. Repealed
- 8. Repealed
- 9. Repealed
- 10. Repealed
- 11. Repealed
- 12. Repealed
- 13. Repealed
- 14. Repealed
- 15. Repealed16. Repealed
- Section 1. **Definitions.** Repealed.
- Section 2. **Imposition of Tax.** Repealed.
- Section 3. **Payment of Tax.** Repealed.
- Section 4. Liability for Tax. Repealed.
- Section 5. Exemptions. Repealed.
- Section 6. **Credit.** Repealed.
- Section 7. Cooperative housing corporation transfers. Repealed.
- Section 8. **Designation of Agents.** Repealed.
- Section 9. **Liability of Recording Officer.** Repealed.
- Section 10. **Refunds.** Repealed.
- Section 11. **Deposit and disposition of revenue.** Repealed.
- Section 12. **Judicial Review.** Repealed.

- Section 13. **Apportionment.** Repealed.
- Section 14. **Miscellaneous.** Repealed.
- Section 15. **Returns to be secret.** Repealed.
- Section 16. Severability. Repealed

(Added by Local Law No. 6-1999, in effect August 10, 1999; amended to repeal all sections by Local Law No. 19-1999.)

#### TITLE 35

#### SALE OF TOBACCO LITIGATION SETTLEMENT PAYMENTS

#### Section

- 1. Legislative Intent
- 2. Pledge and Agreement
- 3. Authorization to take all actions necessary to effect a sale or transfer and to benefit from the consideration to be received from such sale or transfer

# Section 1. **Legislative Intent.** The Legislature hereby finds that:

- A. The County of Nassau is expected to become entitled to receive payments under the Master Settlement Agreement (hereinafter, the "MSA") and the Consent Decree and Final Judgment of the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York, dated December 23, 1998 (hereinafter, as the same may be amended or modified, the "Decree") in the class action entitled State of New York et al. v. Philip Morris Incorporated. et. al. (Index No. 400361/97); and
- B. In order to secure to present generations a portion of the benefits intended to be conferred by the MSA and the Decree it is necessary or desirable for the County to sell or transfer its rights, title and interest in and to all or a portion of the moneys to become payable to the County under the MSA and the Decree (hereinafter, the "Tobacco Settlement Revenues").

Section 2. Authorization to take all actions necessary to effect a sale or transfer and to benefit from the consideration to be received from such sale or transfer. The County is hereby authorized in one or more transactions to sell or transfer, and to take any and all actions necessary or desirable to effect a sale or transfer of, the County's rights, title and interest in and to all or a portion of the Tobacco Settlement Revenues and to take any and all actions necessary or desirable to enable the County to benefit from the consideration to be received from any such sales or transfers. The Legislature may, by ordinance or resolution, approve the terms and

conditions of any such transaction and the form and substance of any agreement of sales or transfer or other document necessary or desirable to effect any such transaction and may delegate to the County Executive or his designee(s) the power to execute and deliver any such agreement or other document as may be approved by the person executing the same and to take any and all other actions necessary or desirable to enter into, facilitate or consummate such transaction.

Section 3. **Pledge and Agreement.** The County is hereby authorized to pledge to and agree with each person (hereinafter, a "Purchaser") agreeing to acquire Tobacco Settlement Revenues in a transaction contemplated by this Title and the holders of any bonds, notes and other obligations (hereinafter the "Bonds') of any Purchaser that the County will not limit or alter the rights of such Purchaser to fulfill the terms of its agreements with the holders of the Bonds or in any way impair the rights and remedies of such holders or the security for the Bonds until the Bonds, together with the interest thereon and all costs and expenses in connection with any action or proceeding by or on behalf of such holders, are fully paid and discharged. The Legislature, by ordinance or resolution, may make such a pledge to and agreement with a Purchaser and the holders of its Bonds and may, by ordinance or resolution, delegate to the County Executive or his designee(s) the power to make such a pledge to and agreement with a Purchaser and the holders of its Bonds and to take any and all actions necessary or desirable to cause such pledge to and agreement with a Purchaser and the holders of its Bonds to be made or enforced. Each Purchaser is hereby authorized to include in any agreement with or for the benefit of the holders of its Bonds any pledge or agreement made by the County pursuant to this section.

(Added by Local Law No. 13-1999, in effect August 10, 1999.)

### TITLE 36

PRESCRIPTION OF CERTAIN HEALTH RELATED FACILITIES AND HOSPITAL FACILITIES FOR THE PREVENTION, DIAGNOSIS OR TREATMENT OF HUMAN DISEASE, PAIN, INJURY, DISABILITY, DEFORMITY OR PHYSICAL CONDITION AND CERTAIN FACILITIES INCIDENTAL OR APPURTENANT THERETO AND AUTHORIZATION OF REGULATORY AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU AND THE NASSAU HEALTH CARE CORPORATION

Section

- 1. Findings
- 2. Prescription of Facilities
- 3. Regulatory Agreement
- 4. Severability

Section 1. **Findings.** The County Legislature of the County of Nassau (the "County") hereby finds and declares that the transfer to the Nassau Health Care Corporation (the "Corporation"), of certain healthcare facilities and operations of the County (the "Healthcare Assets") by agreement between the County and the Corporation the "Acquisition Agreement"), is

essential to the provision of healthcare services and health facilities for the benefit of the residents of the State of New York and the County, including to persons in need of healthcare services without the ability to pay as required by law.

The County further hereby finds and declares that the Corporation intends to finance the purchase of the Healthcare Assets with the issuance of its Health System Revenue Bonds, Series 1999 (Nassau County (NY) Guaranteed) (the "Corporation Bonds"), pursuant to a general resolution of the Corporation and a series resolution relating thereto (collectively, the "Resolution"), and in accordance with a bond purchase agreement (the "Bond Purchase Agreement"), by and between the Corporation and the underwriters with respect to the Corporation Bonds (the "Underwriters").

The County further hereby finds and declares that the Underwriters require, as a condition and as an inducement for them to enter into the transactions contemplated by the Bond Purchase Agreement, that the County provide its guaranty with respect to the Corporation Bonds (the "Guaranty").

The County further finds and declares that Chapter 9 of the Laws of 1997 (the "Act") authorizes the County, pursuant to Section Seven of Article Seventeen of the New York State Constitution, to lend its money or credit to or in aid of the Corporation or any subsidiary thereof for the purpose of providing health related facilities or hospital facilities for the prevention, diagnosis or treatment of human disease, pain, injury, disability, deformity or physical condition, and for facilities incidental or appurtenant thereto as may be prescribed by local law.

The County further finds and declares that the Act requires, as a condition to any such loan of money or credit to the Corporation or such subsidiary thereof, the County shall authorize, also by local law, and enter into, a regulatory agreement with the Corporation as to the Corporation's charges, profits, dividends and disposition of its property or franchises.

The County further finds and declares that the Act permits the County to elect in such regulatory agreement to refrain from exercising all or any portion of its authority to so regulate such charges, profits, dividends and disposition of property and franchises to the extent such charges, profits, dividends and disposition of property or franchise are regulated by the State of New York or any agency thereof.

Section 2. **Prescription of Facilities.** Pursuant to the authority conferred upon the County in the Act, the County hereby specifies the following health related facilities and hospital facilities for the prevention, diagnosis or treatment of human disease, pain, injury, disability, deformity or physical condition and certain facilities incidental or appurtenant thereto to constitute the Healthcare Assets to be provided by the Corporation with funds derived from the issuance of the Corporation Bonds which will be guaranteed by the Guaranty:

- a. Nassau County Medical Center,
- b. A. Holly Patterson Geriatric Center,
- c. Elmont Community Health Center,
- d. Freeport-Roosevelt Health Center,
- e. Inwood-Lawrence Health Center,

- f. Long Beach Health Center,
- g. Hempstead Health Center,
- h. New Cassel/Westbury Health Center,
- i. Nassau County Department of Health Office of Home Care,
- j. HealthFirst, Inc. and its affiliates,
- k. Meadowbrook Medical Education and Research Foundation, Inc.,
- 1. Nassau County Medical Center Practice Plan, and
- m. any other facility constituting an Asset as defined in the Acquisition Agreement.

Section 3. **Regulatory Agreement.** Pursuant to the authority conferred upon the County by the Act, the County Executive is hereby authorized to execute and deliver a regulatory agreement (the "Agreement"), the form and contents of which are hereby approved, on behalf of the County, substantially in the form presented. The County Executive prior to such execution, may make any changes in the Agreement from the form thereof submitted to the meeting at which this title was adopted which are deemed necessary or advisable by him and which are approved by Bond Counsel to the County as deemed necessary or advisable for the purposes of curing or correcting any ambiguity, omission or manifest error or inconsistency therein or which in the opinion of Bond Counsel to the County are not inconsistent with the tenor and substance of the Agreement in the form thereof submitted. The County Executive's execution and delivery of the Agreement shall be presumptive evidence of his approval of any such changes or other terms or conditions. The County Executive is hereby further authorized to execute and deliver, on behalf of the County, such other agreements, contracts, documents, instruments or authorizations as may be contemplated by, or necessary or advisable to consummate or otherwise give full effect to, the Agreement and to this title, and which are deemed necessary or advisable by Bond Counsel to the County to effectuate the transactions contemplated by the Agreement, and to perform all acts and do all things required or contemplated to be performed or done by the Agreement or by this title or by any agreement, contract, document, instrument or authorization approved, contemplated or authorized hereby.

Section 4. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this title or its application to any person or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this title or its application to the person or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment or order shall be rendered.

(Added by Local Law No. 10-1999, in effect September 2, 1999.)

TITLE 37

PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES

January 1, 2022

(Added by Local Law No. 20-1999, in effect December 15, 1999; repealed by Local Law No. 22-2002, in effect November 20, 2002.)

# TITLE 38 TOBACCO ADVERTISING

Section 1. Legislative intent

- 2. Definitions
- 3. Limitations and restrictions
- 4. Penalties
- 5. Severability
- 6. Effective date

Section 1. **Legislative intent.** The purpose of this law is to limit access to age restricted products by Nassau County's children and youth and to protect children and young people against the dangers of smoking and inhaling or ingesting aerosol produced by an electronic aerosol delivery system encouraged by tobacco and electronic aerosol delivery system related marketing. In addition, this Legislature finds that candy products that mimic the packaging of tobacco brands and the likeness of tobacco products promote smoking among young people, and that candy cigarettes effectively serve to advertise smoking and tobacco brands to future smokers. This law therefore also seeks to limit access by Nassau County's children to candy products that mimic tobacco products in order to discourage them from smoking.

#### Section 2. **Definitions.**

- 1. "Point of sale advertising" shall mean all printed and/or graphic materials bearing brand name, logo, symbol, motto, selling message or any other identifiable description of the product which when used for its intended purpose can reasonably be anticipated to be seen by customers at a location at which tobacco products are offered for sale.
- 2. "Tobacco business" shall mean a sole proprietorship, corporation, partnership or other entity in which the primary activity is the sale, manufacture or promotion of tobacco, tobacco products and accessories either at wholesale or retail and in which, the sale, manufacture or promotion of other products is merely incidental.
- 3. "Candy cigarettes" shall mean a facsimile cigarette, cigar or pipe, made of chocolate, a sugar confection containing chocolate, a sugar confection, or bubblegum or a similar confection meant for chewing but not ingesting, or any combination thereof.
- 4. "Accessory" shall mean any product that is intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product; does not contain tobacco and is not made or derived from tobacco; and meets either of the following: (1) is not intended or reasonably

expected to affect or alter the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product; or (2)) is intended or reasonably expected to affect or maintain the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product, but solely controls moisture and/or temperature of a stored tobacco product; or solely provides an external heat source to initiate but not maintain combustion of a tobacco product. Accessory includes, but is not limited to, carrying cases, lanyards, and holsters.

- 5. "Advertisement" shall mean any written word, picture, logo, symbol, motto, selling message, poster, placard, sign, photograph, device, graphic display or visual image of any kind, recognizable color or pattern of colors or any other indicia of product identification identical or similar to, or identifiable with, those used for any brand of agerestricted product as defined in this Chapter, or any combination thereof, the purpose or effect of which is to promote the use, sale or distribution of an age-restricted product through such means as, but not limited to, the identification of a brand of an age-restricted product, a trademark of an age-restricted product or a trade name associated exclusively with an age-restricted product.
- 6. "Age-restricted products" shall mean (i) Tobacco products, shisha, herbal cigarettes, tobacco water, bidis, gutka, electronic aerosol delivery systems, and smoking paraphernalia, and (ii) all other products prohibited from being sold to minors by New York State Public Health Law Article 13-F, as the same maybe amended from time to time.
- 7. "Bidis": A product containing tobacco that is wrapped in temburni leaf (diospyrosmelanoxylon) or tendra leaf (diospyros exculpra), or any other product offered to consumers as "beedies" or "bidis."
- 8. "Child Day-Care Center" shall include the following: (1) any child-care arrangement, public, private or parochial child-care center, school-age child-care program, day nursery school, kindergarten, play school or other similar school or service operating pursuant to authorization, license or permit of New York State; (2) any facility that provides child-care services as defined in section 410-p of the New York State Social Services Law; or (3) any child day-care center as defined in section 390 of the New York State Social Services Law.
- 9. "Component or Part": Any software or assembly of materials intended or reasonably expected (1) to alter or affect the tobacco product's performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics; or (2) to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product. Component or part excludes anything that is an accessory of a tobacco product and includes, but is not limited to e-liguids, cartridges, certain batteries, heating coils, programmable software and flavorings for Electronic Aerosol Delivery Systems.
- 10. "Electronic aerosol delivery system": An electronic device that, when activated, products an aerosol that may be inhaled, whether or not such aerosol contains nicotine. Electronic aerosol delivery system includes any component or part but not

accessory, and any liquid or other substance to be aerosolized, whether or not separately sold. Electronic aerosol delivery system does not include drugs, devices, or combination products authorized for sale by the state or U.S. Food and Drug Administration, as those terms are defined in the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act.

- 11. "Gutka": a product containing lime paste, spices, areca and tobacco.
- 12. "Herbal Cigarette": any product made primarily of an herb or combination of herbs, and intended to be smoked in any of the methods that tobacco is smoked, including but limited to, as a cigarette, cigar or pipe filler.
  - **13.** "Nicotine Water": Water that is laced with nicotine.
- 14. "Park" shall include the following: active and passive public lands designated for park purposes by the County of Nassau, State of New York, United States of America or any other subdivision of government.

## **15.** "Protected zone" shall include:

- i. any outdoor area within one thousand feet, in any direction, of a school, park, playground, or duly licensed child daycare center; and
- ii. The interior of a building or structure which is within one thousand feet, in any direction, of a school, park, playground, or duly licensed child daycare center to the extent such interior is within five feet of any exterior window or public entryway.
- 16. "School" shall include the following: buildings, structures, premises or places, together with the grounds thereof, which are used primarily for public or private educational facilities as recognized and defined by the New York State Department of Education, including but not limited to preschools; kindergartens; nursery, elementary, primary, intermediate, junior high, middle, secondary, high, vocational and special schools; colleges and universities.
- 17. "Shisha": Any product made primarily of tobacco or other leaf or herbs, or any combination thereof, smoked or intended to be smoked in a hookah or water pipe.
- **18.** "Smoking Paraphernalia": Any pipe, water pipe, hookah, rolling papers, vaporizer or any other device, equipment or apparatus designed for the inhalation of tobacco.
- 19. "Tobacco Product": Any product made or derived from tobacco or which contains nicotine marketed or sold for human consumption, whether consumption occurs through inhalation or oral or dermal adsorption, including cigarettes, cigars, chewing tobacco, powdered tobacco, bidis, gutka, other tobacco products, or nicotine water. Tobacco product does not include drugs, devices, or combination products authorized for sale by the state or

U.S. Food and Drug Administration, as those terms are defined in the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act.

#### Section 3. Limitations and restrictions.

- a) i. Age-restricted products for over-the-counter sale at establishments within the County of Nassau, other than establishments where access is restricted to adults 21 years of age or older or in a tobacco business, shall be stored for sale 1) behind the counter in an area accessible only to establishment personnel or 2) under lock and key or other security device (e.g. buzzer system) by which access to such products or accessories is restricted and controlled by establishment personnel.
- ii. Candy cigarettes for over-the-counter sale at establishments within the County of Nassau, other than establishments where access is restricted to adults twenty one (21) years of age or older or a tobacco business, shall be stored for sale behind the counter in an area accessible only to establishment personnel.
- b) Any establishment selling cigarettes, cigars, chewing tobacco, powdered tobacco, or any age-restricted products within the County of Nassau, excluding adults-only facilities or a tobacco business, shall not engage in point of sale advertising of age-restricted products except in an area greater than two (2) feet from any fixture upon or within which candy, trading cards, or toys are displayed for sale.
- c) Audio and visual formats for age-restricted products otherwise permitted under the Federal Food and Drug Administration (FDA) may be distributed to adult consumers at the point of sale, but may not be played or shown at the point of sale (i.e. no "static video displays") except in establishments where access is restricted to adults 21 years of age or older or in a tobacco business.

Section 4. Advertising Restrictions of Age-Restricted Products in Certain Outdoor and Indoor Areas.

- a) No person shall place, caused to be placed, maintain or cause to be maintained any advertisement for an age-restricted product, as defined in this Title, in a protected zone.
- b) Anything to the contrary in this section notwithstanding, the restrictions set fort in section 4(a) of this Title shall not apply to:
  - i. an advertisement that is five by eight inches or less in size, and in black, white, and grayscale; or
  - ii. an advertisement placed or maintained in the interior of any premises where such advertisement is not visible from windows or public entryways and faces inward.

- c) Nothing in this section shall prevent an age-restricted product manufacturer distributor or retailer from placing, causing to be placed, maintaining or causing to be maintained, its corporate or other business name on a building or structure, in any location, where such building or structure or a portion thereof is owned, operated, or leased by such manufacturer, distributor or retailer .; provided, however, the corporate or other business name must be registered or filed in the United States and/or such manufacturer, distributor or retailer is duly authorized to do business in New York State and said corporate or business name does not include any advertisement, as defined in this section.
- d) Nothing contained in this section shall be construed to authorize the placement of any age-restricted product advertisement, as defined in this section, in a location where such placement is otherwise prohibited by the County of Nassau or other applicable law.
- e) The owner, operator, and/or lessee of any location or premises containing agerestricted product advertisements shall have thirty days from the effective date of this restriction to remove any noncompliant age-restricted product advertisements.

#### Section 5. Enforcement and Penalties.

- a) This law shall be enforced by the Nassau County Department of Health and the Nassau County Department of Consumer Affairs.
- b) Any violation of any provision of this Law shall be punishable by a fine not exceeding one thousand five hundred dollars; except that a violation of subparagraph ii of paragraph a of section three if this law shall be punishable by a fine not exceeding two hundred fifty dollars. Each day or part of day in which any such violation continues shall constitute a separate violation.
- c) Any revenues generated in excess of the administrative costs attributed to the enforcement of this law shall be used for the Nassau County Department of Health anti-smoking education efforts.
- Section 5. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance shall be adjudged by any cowl of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this law, or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.
- Section 6. **SEQRA.** This legislature, being the State Environmental Quality Review Act (SEQRA) lead agency, hereby finds and determines that this action is an unlisted action under the provisions of Title 6 NYCRR Part 617, and that based on an evaluation of the environmental criteria set forth in §617.7(c) that are considered to be indicia of significant

adverse environmental impacts, along with the recommendation of the Nassau County Planning Commission acting in its advisory capacity to the legislature, that such action will not have significant adverse impacts on the environment, and that no additional environmental review or action is necessary.

§ 7. Effective Date. This local law shall take effect one hundred twenty days after it shall have become a law.

(Added by Local Law No. 4-2000, in effect January 13, 2000; amended by Local Law No. 23-2000, in effect June 19, 2000; amended by Local Law 4-2009, became a law on February 25, 2009, in effect 120 days thereafter.; amended by Local Law No. 12-2018,in effect July 16, 2018; amended by Local Law No. 25-2019, in effect on November 12, 2019, 20 days after final adoption per Mun. Home Rule Law §27([4]).

# TITLE 39 ADULT MATERIAL

Section

- 1. Legislative intent
- 2. Definitions
- 3. Display of Adult Material
- 4. Enforcement & Penalties
- 5. Severability
- 6. Effective date

# Section 1. Legislative Intent.

- a) It is the findings and declaration of this Legislature that children, by reason of not possessing well developed intellectual and emotional maturity, are susceptible to being negatively influenced by graphic depiction of sexual and violent images commonly found in adult materials.
- b) It is the further finding that exposure to the graphic depiction of sexual and violent images commonly found in adult materials has a deleterious and destructive effect upon children.
- c) It is the further finding of this Legislature that regulating the display, sale renting and other distribution of adult material is a public purpose properly within the province of County Government in accordance with the New York State Constitution, the Statute of Local Governments and the Municipal Home Rule Law.

# Section 2. **Definitions.**

a) "Adult Materials" - cartoons, drawings, books, magazines, periodicals, films, audio recordings, slides, videotapes, games, toys, devices or other materials that may not be sold to minors pursuant to New York State Law.

# Section 3. Display of Adult Material.

- a) Adult materials shall not be displayed in the same casement as materials which are permitted to be sold to patrons of all ages.
- b) A casement displaying adult materials shall be enclosed and not displayed in a manner visible to all patrons.
- c) A casement displaying adult materials shall be clearly identified as an adult display which is not to be viewed by minors.

# Section 4. Enforcement & Penalties.

- a) This law shall be jointly enforced by the Nassau County Commissioner of the Nassau County Department of Health or his/her designee and the Nassau County Commissioner of Consumer Affairs or his/her designee.
- b) Any violation of <sup>29</sup> noncompliance with any provisions of this law shall be punishable by a fine not exceeding two-hundred fifty (\$250.00) dollars. Each day or part of day in which a violation continues shall constitute a separate violation.

# Section 5. Severability.

a) If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation. firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this law, or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

(Added by Local Law No. 6-2000, in effect January 13, 2000.)

#### TITLE 40

#### NASSAU COUNTY VEHICLE CONTROL ACT

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> So in original

Section

- 1. County Insignia Requirements Section
- 2. Prohibited Uses of Vehicles
- 3. Exceptions
- 4. Enforcement
- 5. Separability

Section 1. **County Insignia Requirements.** All county vehicles, other than those which are used in undercover public safety related activities or to which the application of this section would jeopardize the safety or security of the county employee in the course of performing his or her job, shall have affixed, in a size and manner clearly visible to the public, the Nassau County insignia on both the passenger and driver's side of the vehicle.

Section 2. No county vehicles shall be used by a county employee for transportation to or from work unless:

- a) the position to which that employee is assigned requires that employee be on twenty-four hour call as part of the job description of that position, and
- b) in fact, on a regular basis, that employee is likely to be required to use the vehicle for county purposes during times other than the normal work period of the employee.

Section 3. Section 2 of this act shall not apply in those situations in which the use of the vehicle by the county employee is covered by a collective bargaining agreement or in which such employee, who is covered by a collective bargaining agreement, is entitled to the use of such vehicle as a past practice, or in which the use of such vehicle by a county employee is required by state or federal mandates or use required for the county to qualify for reimbursements from the state or federal government that are at least equal in value to the cost to the county of maintaining such vehicle.

Section 4. Determinations with regard to Section 2 shall be made by the department heads and shall be subject to the review of the County Legislature as part of its enforcement of the Fiscal Control Act of 1999.

Section 5. **Separability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, section or part of this title shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, section or part thereof directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.

(Added by Local Law No. 8-2000, in effect February 28, 2000.)

TITLE 41

# NASSAU COUNTY EDUCATIONAL RESOURCE CENTER

Section 1. Legislative Intent

- 2. Establishment of the Educational Resource Center
- 3. Responsibilities of the Educational Resource Center
- 4. Protections Against Teacher Displacement
- 5. Sunset

Section 1. Legislative Intent. The County Legislature finds that the residents of Nassau County, who are among the most highly educated in the United States, can provide a valuable resource to supplement, on a voluntary basis, the work of teachers in the public schools of Nassau County. The County Legislature further finds that the occupational and life experiences of the residents of Nassau County when shared with the students of the public schools of Nassau County can provide an effective way to broaden and elevate the career goals of the students. The County Legislature further finds that these occupational and life experiences can provide a credible motivational link for students between the courses taught in the public schools and the post-graduation occupations that assume the knowledge and educational credentials gained as a result of having successfully completed these courses. The County Legislature further finds that there is currently not a forum on a county-wide basis that could make available to all public school districts information regarding the rich diversity of talents and experience that the residents of Nassau County are capable of offering to all the public school students of Nassau County. The County Legislature further finds that such a forum could be established without threatening the displacement of public school teachers by these volunteers since these volunteers will only supplement the educational resources currently available to the public school students of Nassau County and since it is possible to provide for additional protections against such displacement. The County Legislature further finds that upgrading the educational performance of the students of the public schools in Nassau County is crucial to maintaining a highly skilled workforce in Nassau County, which, in turn, is crucial to the economic development and growth of Nassau County. As a result, the County Legislature finds that it is in the best interests of the students, the parents, the teachers, the business community and all residents of Nassau County to establish a Nassau County Educational Resource Center (hereafter referred to as the "Center"). The Center will provide a forum in which to exchange information between the teachers in the public schools of Nassau County and the residents of Nassau County who wish to share with students the benefits of their occupational and life experiences. The intent of the Center would be to facilitate the match-up of volunteers from the community with teachers in the public schools who are interested in utilizing the knowledge and experience that the volunteers are offering to convey to the students of the public schools of Nassau County.

Section 2. **Establishment of the Nassau County Educational Resource Center.** There is hereby established the Nassau County Educational Resource Center. The Center shall be an independent agency, the director of which shall be appointed by the County Legislature. Prior to

the appointment of the director, County Legislature shall appoint an interim coordinator, who shall serve without compensation and who shall seek to secure non-governmental sponsorship of the Center as the means of financing the operation of the Center. The interim coordinator shall not subsequently be eligible to serve as the director of the Center. Upon the securing of commitments of sponsors equaling \$200,000 (two hundred thousand) for the immediate twenty-four month period, the interim coordinator shall report such findings to the County Executive and the County Legislature. Upon the approval of a resolution by the County Legislature and the County Executive, affirming the findings of the interim coordinator regarding sponsorship, the County Legislature shall appoint the director of the Center. The functions of the Center shall be administered by a staff that is not to exceed two (2) individuals, one of whom shall be the director appointed by the County Legislature and one (1) of whom shall be appointed according to the civil service rules and regulations, unless a larger staff is approved by the County Legislature. The Center is authorized to accept from the private sector other donations, including donations of office space, equipment and supplies.

Section 3. **Responsibilities of the Nassau County Educational Resource Center.** The responsibilities of the Nassau County Educational Resource Center shall include:

- a) Developing and implementing an outreach program to make teachers and potential volunteers aware of the Center, its objectives and its services. This outreach effort shall include making information available to each public school district, to each public library, to civic associations and to senior citizens associations in Nassau County regarding the Center, its objectives and its services. This outreach effort shall also include involvement with the business community of Nassau County, including seeking to utilize the communications network of the business community and seeking its material support.
- b) Matching offers to volunteer with requests for volunteers from public school teachers of Nassau County.
- c) Providing information to school districts listing the names of volunteers and their areas of expertise, and facilitating the interviewing of volunteers by teachers, provided, however, that volunteers shall be allowed to participate in classroom presentations only with the approval of the teacher in whose class the presentation will be made and in a manner that conforms with the procedures of the respective school districts. In addition, the Center shall, upon request, also provide names of volunteers and their area of expertise to not-for-profit organizations that provide services to school districts consistent with the intent of this title as expressed in section 1 of this title, provided, however, that such organizations agree to abide by section 3(c) and section 4 of this title, and, further provided that any volunteer who does not wish to have his or her name transferred to such organizations may so designate that preference, and it shall be adhered to by the Center. In addition, such organizations shall not sell or otherwise transfer names of volunteers and their areas of expertise to any other person or organization for a fee or any other form of remuneration.

- d) Making the necessary and appropriate inquiries to verify the credentials of volunteers.
- Consulting with the Nassau County Police Department to determine, based on e) information available to the Police Department, the suitability of the volunteers to be present in a school environment As part of meeting this responsibility, the Center shall provide prospective volunteers with release forms consenting to the Police Department's making such inquiries as are necessary and appropriate for any findings to be included in a Letter of Good Conduct. It shall be the responsibility of the prospective volunteer to request such Letter of Good Conduct. Such Letter of Good Conduct shall be transmitted to the prospective volunteer, with a copy forwarded to the Center on a confidential basis, and the Center shall use the findings in the Letter of Good Conduct in its determination as to the suitability of volunteers to be present in a school environment. The Letter of Good Conduct shall be deemed by the Center to be valid for twenty-four months from the date of issuance. Volunteers shall also make available to the Center all information requested by the Center and all information of their own knowledge necessary to the Center's making this determination. The Center shall have the right, based on the information made available to it through this subsection, to exclude volunteers from participating in the activities of the Center, provided, however, that the Center shall not publicly disclose its reasons for such determination to exclude a volunteer from participation without the consent of the excluded volunteer, unless the excluded volunteer publicly disputes the determination.
- f) Receiving assessments from teachers regarding the performance of the volunteers and the usefulness of the presentation of the volunteers to students. As part of this process, a member of the faculty or administration shall be present throughout the presentation of the volunteers. These assessment forms shall be available on a confidential basis to other teachers who seek to participate in this program.
- g) Soliciting sponsorship and funding from non-governmental entities, as well as funding from other levels of government.
- h) Reporting to the County Legislature and the County Executive in February and July of each year regarding the activities of the Center, including the number of teachers, volunteers and school districts participating, an assessment of the effectiveness of the Center in meeting the objectives specified in section 1 of this Title, the reactions of the participants in the activities facilitated by the Center, the prospects for the procuring of funding from other levels of government, and any recommendations regarding improvements that could be made in the Center and whether the operations of the Center should be continued.

Section 4. **Protections Against Teacher Displacement.** The participation of volunteers in the activities facilitated by the Educational Resource Center shall not displace teachers or other school related personnel in the public schools of Nassau County. In furtherance of this objective, no volunteer shall participate in more than one presentation per month per course per public school district.

Section 5. **Sunset.** The Center shall be terminated on January 1, 2003 unless specifically reauthorized by an act of the Legislature.

Section 6. **Separability.** If any part of or provision of this title or the application thereof to any person or circumstance be adjudged invalid by any Court of competent jurisdiction, such judgment shall be confined in its operation to the part of or the provision of or application directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered and shall not affect or impair the validity of the remainder of the title or the application thereof to other persons or circumstances.

(Added by Local Law No. 13-2000, in effect April 10, 2000.)

TITLE 42

# ADVANCE NOTIFICATION OF AERIAL AND GROUND SPRAYING OF PESTICIDES FOR ADULT MOSQUITO CONTROL

# Section 1. Legislative Intent.

- a) Due to possible evidence showing a causal connection between mosquito infestation and the increase of incidents of West Nile Virus, encephalitis and similar diseases on Long Island, it may be necessary for the government of the County of Nassau to commence aerial and ground spraying of pesticides for adult mosquito control to prevent the incidence of the aforementioned diseases. It is of utmost importance for the residents of Nassau County to be given advance notice of any decision of authorized county officials to commence aerial and ground spraying. This law will require the Nassau County Department of Health on behalf of any other county office or agency involved in the application of pesticides for adult mosquito control through aerial spraying or ground spraying to give public notice at least 24 hours prior to commencing aerial or ground spraying.
- b) The County of Nassau has entered into a contract with Swiftreach Networks, Inc. (the "Swiftreach Program") to provide high-speed automated communications for emergency and routine notification to Nassau County residents. This geographically based notification system is capable of notifying residents within defined geographical areas telephonically. It is the intent of this legislation to expand the use of the Swiftreach Program to include the telephonic notification of the application of pesticides for adult mosquito control through aerial or ground spraying.

Section 2. a. The Nassau County Department of Health, acting on behalf of any county office or agency involved in the application of pesticides for adult mosquito control through aerial spraying or ground spraying shall notify, on a confidential basis, the members of the

County Legislature upon submission to the Commissioner of the New York State Department of Health of a request for a declaration of a public health threat to conduct pesticide application in the County of Nassau.

- b. The Nassau County Department of Health, acting on behalf of any county office or agency involved in the application of pesticides for adult mosquito control through aerial spraying or ground spraying, shall give at least twenty four (24) hours prior notice of such application to the members of the County Legislature, the major news media, one (1) newspaper publication with county wide circulation and shall post such notification at least twenty four (24) hours prior to said application on the Nassau County Department of Health and Nassau County websites.
- c. The Nassau County Department of Health shall establish and maintain a mosquito spraying hotline to provide detailed information during said application.
- d. In the event that an application of pesticides for adult mosquito control through aerial spraying or ground spraying is postponed or canceled, notice of said postponement or cancellation shall be posted on the Nassau County Department of Health and Nassau County websites as soon as practicable. Any rescheduling of said application shall not be conducted prior to giving a new notification at least twenty four (24) hours in advance in the manner prescribed by subsection b of this section.
- e. The Nassau County Office of Emergency Management shall, at least twenty four (24) hours prior to the application of pesticides for adult mosquito control through aerial or ground spraying, provide for the telephonic notification of said application to Nassau County residents domiciled within the geographic area to which the pesticides are to be applied. Such notification shall include the following information:
- a) the date and time at which aerial or ground spraying of any pesticide for adult mosquito control shall commence;
  - b) the duration of the aerial or ground spraying
- c) the location, with the maximum specificity that is reasonably possible, of the aerial or ground spraying;
- d) the appropriate phone number(s) of the Mosquito Spraying Hotline and instruction as to how to access additional information contained on the Nassau County Department of Health and Nassau County Websites.

Section 3. The notice required by section 2(b) of this title shall include the following information:

- a) The date and time at which aerial or ground spraying of any pesticide for adult mosquito control shall commence;
  - b) The duration of the aerial or ground spraying;
- c) The location, with the maximum specificity that is reasonably possible, of the aerial or ground spraying;
- d) The name of the pesticide being applied by aerial or ground spraying and the posting of the **Material Safety Data Sheet for such pesticide upon the** Nassau County Department of Health **website**;

- e) Any health concerns related to the application of the pesticide;
- f) Advice to residents as to safety precautions recommended by knowledgeable health personnel;
  - g) The method of spraying;
- h) The appropriate phone number(s) of the Mosquito Spraying Hotline and the Nassau County Department of Health and Nassau County website addresses;
  - i) Any other information deemed relevant by the Nassau County Department of Health.

# Section 4. Severability.

a) If any part or provision of this local law or the application thereof to any person, entity, or circumstances be adjudged invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, such judgment shall be confined in its operation to the part of or provision of or the application directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered and shall not affect or impair the validity of the remainder of this local law or the application thereof to other persons, entities or circumstances.

(Added by Local Law No. 30-2000, in effect August 23, 2000; sections 2 and 3 amended by Local Law 10-2009, in effect June 1, 2009, as amended by Local Law 10-2012, effective June 29, 2012)

#### TITLE 43

# ADOPTING COUNTYWIDE NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS FOR COMMERCIAL AND RESIDENTIAL LAWN PESTICIDE APPLICATIONS

Section

- 1. Legislative Intent
- 2. Definitions
- 3. Special Requirements for Commercial and Residential Lawn Applications
- 4. Enforcement
- 5. Separability

Section 1. **Legislative Intent.** This Legislature finds that individuals and their personal property are, or can be, unwittingly exposed to pesticides applied on their neighbor's property. This Legislature further finds and declares that pesticides may pose serious health and safety risks to people, particularly children, pregnant women, the elderly and infirm, and that citizens have the right to know about pesticides to which they may be exposed from applications to neighboring properties so that they can take steps to minimize such exposure to themselves, their families, pets, crops, livestock, backyard wildlife and property.

Section 2. **Definitions.** All terms used herein shall be as defined in section 33-0101 of the New York State environmental conservation law as amended.

# Section 3. **Special Requirements for Commercial and Residential Lawn Applications.**

- a. All retail establishments that sell general use pesticides for commercial or residential lawn application shall display a sign meeting standards, established by the Commissioner of the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation pursuant to subdivision one of section 33-1005 of the New York State Environmental Conservation Law, in a conspicuous place, and such sign shall be placed as close as possible to the place where such pesticides are displayed.
- b. At least forty-eight hours prior to any commercial lawn application of a (i) pesticide, the person or business making such application shall supply written notice, as defined in subdivision three of section 33-1005 of the New York State Environmental Conservation Law, to occupants of all dwellings, as defined in paragraph d of subdivision five of section 33-0905 of the New York State Environmental Conservation Law, on abutting property with a boundary that is within one hundred fifty feet of the site of such application; and to owners, owners' agents, or other persons in a position of authority for all other types of premises, as defined in paragraph d of subdivision five of section 33-0905 of the New York State Environmental Conservation Law, that are on abutting property with a boundary that is within one hundred fifty feet of the site of such application. Owners or owners' agents of multiple family dwellings shall supply such written notice to the occupants of such multiple family dwellings and for all other types of premises, owners, owners' agents or other persons in a position of authority shall post such written notice in a manner specified by the Commissioner of the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation.
  - (ii) The prior notification provisions of this paragraph shall not apply to the following:
    - A. the application of anti-microbial pesticides and anti-microbial products as defined by the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act (FIFRA) in 7 U.S.C. Section 136 (mm) and 136 q (h) (2);
    - B. the use of an aerosol product with a directed spray, in containers of eighteen fluid ounces or less, when used to protect individuals from an imminent threat from stinging and biting insects, including venomous spiders, bees, wasps and hornets. This section shall not exempt from notification the use of any fogger product or aerosol product that discharges to a wide area;

- C. the use of non-volatile insect or rodent bait in a tamper resistant container;
- D. the application of a pesticide classified by the United States Environmental Protection Agency as an exempt material under 40 CFR Part 152.25;
- E. the application of a pesticide which the United States Environmental Protection Agency has determined satisfies its reduced risk criteria, including a biopesticide;
- F. the use of boric acid and disodium octaborate tetrahydrate;
- G. the use of horticultural soap and oils that do not contain synthetic pesticides or synergists;
- H. the application of a granular pesticide, where granular pesticide means any ground applied solid pesticide that is not a dust or powder,
- I. the application of a pesticide by direct injection into a plant or the ground;
- J. the spot application of a pesticide, where spot application means the application of pesticide in a manually pressurized or non-pressurized container of thirty-two fluid ounces or less to an area of ground less than nine square feet;
- K. the application of a pesticide to the ground or turf of any cemetery; and
- L. an emergency application of a pesticide when necessary to protect against an imminent threat to human health, provided, however, that prior to any such emergency application, the person providing such application shall make a good faith effort to supply the written notice required pursuant to this title. Upon making an emergency application, the person making such application shall notify the State Commissioner of Health, using a form developed by such commissioner for such purposes that shall include minimally the name of the person making such application, the pesticide business registration number or certified applicator number of the person making such application, the location of such application, the date of such application, the product name and United States Environmental Protection Agency registration number of the pesticide applied and the reason for such application.
- c. (i) All persons performing residential lawn applications treating an area more than one hundred square feet shall affix markers to be placed within or along the perimeter of the area where pesticides will be applied. Markers are to be placed so as to be clearly visible to persons immediately outside

- the perimeter of such property. Such markers shall be posted at east twelve inches above the ground and shall be at least four inches by five inches in size.
- (ii) The markers required pursuant to this paragraph shall be in place on the day during which the pesticide is being applied and shall instruct persons not to enter the property and not to remove the signs for a period of at least twenty-four hours. Such instruction shall be printed boldly in letters at least three-eighths of an inch in height.

Section 4. **Enforcement.** This law will be enforced concurrently by the Nassau County Department of Health and the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation, pursuant to subdivision two of section 33-1004 of the New York State Environmental Conservation Law.

Section 5. **Separability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law, or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

(Added by Local Law No. 41-2000, in effect December 28, 2000.) (See Matter of Nature's Trees v. County of Nassau, 293 A.D.2d 544 (2002).

#### TITLE 44

# AID TO VILLAGES WITHIN NASSAU COUNTY

Section

- 1. Legislative Intent.
- 2. Aid to Villages within Nassau County.
- 3. Separability.
- 4. Effective Date.

Section 1. **Legislative Intent.** Pursuant to New York State Law Ch. 407, Pt. LL, Sec. 12 of 1999, The County of Nassau, by local law, is empowered to enact and establish a local government assistance program for the villages within Nassau County to assist such villages to minimize real property taxes; defray the cost and expense of the treatment, collection, management, disposal and transportation of municipal solid waste; and defray the cost of maintaining conservation and environmental control programs.

Section 2. **Aid to villages within Nassau County.** Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, each of the below listed villages, each within Nassau County, shall be

paid and distributed a portion of the sales and use tax on a per capita basis using the population figures in the latest decennial federal census the cumulative total of such aid equaling .00261 (one divided by three hundred-eighty-three) of the revenues received from the imposition of three-quarters percent sales and use tax that are remaining after the towns and cities have received their funding pursuant to the provisions of subdivision one of this section.

| 1                | <b>.</b>        | D 111             |
|------------------|-----------------|-------------------|
| Atlantic Beach   | Baxter Estates  | Bayville          |
| Bellerose        | Brookville      | Cedarhurst        |
| Centre Island    | Cove Neck       | East Hills        |
| East Rockaway    | East Williston  | Farmingdale       |
| Floral Park      | Flower Hill     | Freeport          |
| Garden City      | Great Neck      | Great Neck Est.   |
| Great Neck Plaza | Hempstead       | Hewlett Bay. Park |
| Hewlett Harbor   | Hewlett Neck    | Island Park       |
| Kensington       | Kings Point     | Lake Success      |
| Lattingtown      | Laurel Hollow   | Lawrence          |
| Lynbrook         | Malverne        | Manorhaven        |
| Massapequa Park  | Matinecock      | Mill Neck         |
| Mineola          | Munsey Park     | Muttontown        |
| New Hyde Park    | North Hills     | Old Brookville    |
| Old Westbury     | Oyster Bay Cove | Plandome          |
| Plandome Hts.    | Plandome Manor  | Pt. Washington    |
| Rockville Centre | Roslyn          | Roslyn Estates    |
| Roslyn Harbor    | Russell Gardens | Saddle Rock       |
| Sands Point      | Sea Cliff       | S. Floral Park    |
| Stewart Manor    | Thomaston       | Upper Brookville  |
| Valley Stream    | Westbury        | Williston Park    |
| Woodsburgh       | -               |                   |

Section 3. **Separability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law, or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

(Added by Local Law No. 39-2000, in effect December 20, 2000. Effective from January 1, 2001 to December 31, 2001.)

#### TITLE 45

CHILD HELMET SAFETY LAW

# Section 1. Legislative findings.

a) The legislature of Nassau County hereby finds that young persons riding or operating bicycles, motorized bicycles, foot powered scooters or skateboards on public and private roads, on sidewalks, and in other places are at risk of sustaining serious injury due to falls occurring while the operator is riding at high speed; and that incidence of serious injuries are reduced by the wearing of safety helmets and other safety equipment; and that a law requiring young persons to protect themselves by using safety equipment including safety helmets is in the public interest.

# Section 2. Helmet requirements.

- a) No person under age eighteen years shall operate a bicycle, motorized bicycle, foot powered scooter or skateboards or ride as a passenger on a foot powered scooter unless such operator or passenger is wearing a helmet meeting the standards of the American National Standards Institute (Ansi Z 90.4 bicycle helmet standards) or of the Snell Memorial Foundation 1984 Standard for Protective Headgear for Use in Bicycling or by the United States Consumer Product Safety Commission, as last revised by said organizations, or meeting the requirements as set forth in New York Vehicle and Traffic Law §1238(5-a), or successor standards set by the Commissioner of the New York State Department of Motor Vehicles.
- b) For the purposes of this law, "wearing a helmet," means having a helmet of good fit fastened securely upon the head with the helmet straps.

#### Section 3. Enforcement.

- a) The Nassau County Police Department shall take any and all actions to enforce this law in any court of competent jurisdiction.
- b) A police officer shall only issue an appearance ticket or summons and local criminal court accusatory instrument, as those terms are defined in the Criminal Procedure Law, for a violation of section 2 of this Law by a person less than sixteen years of age to the parent or guardian of such person if the violation by such person occurs in the presence of such person's parent or guardian and where such parent or guardian is eighteen years of age or more. Such appearance ticket or summons and local criminal court accusatory instrument shall only be issued to such parent or guardian, and shall not be issued to the person less than sixteen years of age.

# Section 4. Civil Penalty.

a) Any person who receives an appearance ticket or summons and local criminal court accusatory instrument under Section 3 (b) of this Act shall pay a civil fine not to exceed \$50.

#### Section 5. Waiver of fine.

- a) The court may waive any fine for which a person who violates the provisions of section 2 of this law if such person supplies the court with proof that between the date of violation and the appearance date for such violation such person purchased a helmet. Such waiver of said fine shall not apply to a second subsequent conviction under Section 2 of this law.
- b) The court may waive any fine for which a person who violates the provisions of section 2 of this law if the court finds that due to reasons of economic hardship such person was unable to purchase a helmet.

# Section 6. No effect upon personal injury or wrongful death lawsuit.

a) The failure of any person to comply with the provisions of this law shall not constitute contributory negligence or assumption of risk, and shall not in any way bar, preclude or foreclose an action for personal injury or wrongful death by or on behalf of such person, nor in any way diminish or reduce the damages recoverable in any such action.

# Section 7. Severability.

a) If any part or provision of this local law or the application thereof to any person, entity, or circumstances be adjudged invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, such judgment shall be confined in its operation to the part of or provision of or the application directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered and shall not affect or impair the validity of the remainder of this local law or the application thereof to other persons, entities or circumstances.

(Added by Local Law No. 5-2001, in effect April 17, 2001; amended by Local Law No. 17-2019, in effect October 23, 2019.)

# TITLE 45-A

# A LAW TO REQUIRE THE SAFE OPERATION OF BICYCLES

Section 1. **Legislative Intent.** The Legislature of Nassau County hereby finds that bicyclists that do not obey the rules of the road or ride their bicycles in a manner that presents a danger to themselves or others present a danger to themselves and other motorists, pedestrians and bicyclists. Such dangerous riding activities on roadways include weaving between

automobiles, riding in between lanes, and performing tricks and stunts, or operating phones, cameras, or other devices while riding. It is the intent of this Local Law to curb these behaviors by empowering the Nassau County Police Department, in addition to police powers granted to it under the New York State Vehicle and Traffic Law and any other Law, to impound the bicycles of riders that operate their bicycles in a manner that present a danger to both themselves and the public.

# §2. Reckless or uncontrolled operation of a bicycle.

In addition to the requirements of any applicable law or rule, no person shall operate a bicycle on a roadway or sidewalk:

- A. Without due regard for personal safety or the safety and rights of pedestrians and drivers and occupants of all other vehicles, and so as to endanger the life, limb or property or any person while in the lawful use of the streets or sidewalks or any other public or private property. Violations of this law include the riding of a bicycle:
  - i. between road lanes or in-between vehicles;
  - ii. while performing tricks and stunts within two feet of an automobile or pedestrian;
  - iii. by weaving or swerving into road lanes or sidewalks with the intent of distracting or disturbing other motorists, pedestrians or bicycle riders;
- B. Without exercising reasonable and ordinary control over such bicycle or operating in a manner that is reckless without due regard for personal safety or the safety of the public.
- C. For the purposes of this Local Law, the term "bicycle" shall include bicycles, motorized bicycles, scooters, and motorized scooters.

# §3. Penalties

Any person over the age of twelve (12) years that violates §2 of this Local Law shall be guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by a fine of not more than one hundred (\$100) dollars.

# §4. Impounding

In addition to any fine or penalty that may be imposed by law, whenever a person operates a bicycle in violation of this Local Law, the bicycle may be seized by any member of the Nassau County Police Department and impounded. A bicycle so impounded shall be surrendered to the owner, or if the owner is a minor, to the parents or guardians of such minor, only upon final disposition of any charges or the payment of any fines levied for all violations of this Local Law.

(Added by Local Law No. 18-2019, in effect October 23, 2019).

#### TITLE 46

#### REGULATION OF THE USE OF MOBILE TELEPHONES

Section

- 1. Legislative Intent.
- 2. Definitions.
- 3. Prohibitions.
- 4. Penalties.
- 5. Separability.

Section 1. **Legislative Intent.** The extensive growth in the wireless communications industry over the last ten years has been accompanied by growing concern for the potential hazards of drivers using wireless communications devices from moving vehicles projected to reach 80 million cellular telephone users in the United States by the end of 2000. The operations of motor vehicles on public roadways while using hand-held mobile telephones may cause the operator to maintain less than full-time attention to the operation of said motor vehicle so requiring regulation of the use of mobile telephones while operating motor vehicles within the County of Nassau, so as to enhance the safety of motor vehicles operators, passengers in the vehicles and pedestrians.

Section 2. **Definitions.** As used in this Title, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:

- A) "Use" shall mean talking or listening or dialing on a mobile telephone.
- B) "Hands-Free Device" shall mean an internal device, attachment, add-on, or addition to a mobile telephone, whether or not permanently installed in the motor vehicle, that when used allows the operator of a motor vehicle to maintain both hands (or prosthetic device or aid in the case of a physically handicapped person) on the applicable steering device.
- C) "Mobile Telephone" shall mean, including, but not limited to, cellular, analog, wireless and digital telephones capable of sending or receiving telephone communications with an access line for service.
- D) "Authorized emergency vehicle" shall mean every ambulance, police vehicle or bicycle, correction vehicle, fire vehicle, civil defense emergency vehicle, emergency ambulance service vehicle, environmental emergency response vehicle, sanitation patrol vehicle, hazardous materials emergency vehicle and ordinance disposal vehicle of the armed forces of the United States.

(Subdivision D added by Local Law No. 8-2001, in effect June 21, 2001.)

#### Section 3. **Prohibition.**

- A) No person shall use a mobile telephone while operating a motor vehicle on any public street or public highway within the County of Nassau, while the motor vehicles is in motion on such public street or public highway, unless such mobile telephone is equipped and used with a hands-free device provided, however, that the operator of an authorized emergency vehicle, when using a mobile telephone in furtherance of their sworn duties, shall be exempt from the provisions of this title; provided, further, that it shall not be prohibited for an individual, who is otherwise using a hands-free device as defined in this title, to turn the mobile phone on or off while operating a motor vehicle; provided, further, in the case of an emergency phone call, it shall be an affirmative defense for an individual to produce documentary evidence that the phone call which represents the alleged violation was made for the sole purpose of contacting:
  - 1. a 911 emergency telephone number or any successor emergency number thereto;
  - 2. a hospital;
  - 3. an ambulance company or corps;
  - 4. a fire department, fire district or fire company;
  - 5. a health clinic.
  - 6. a medical doctor's office;
  - 7. a first aid squad; or
  - 8. a police department.

(Subdivision A amended by Local Law No. 8-2001, in effect June 21, 2001.)

# Section 4. Penalties.

- A) Any violation of any provision of Section 3 of this law shall constitute an offense and be punishable by a fine not to exceed \$100 (one hundred dollars) for each violation. Each such violation shall constitute a separate and distinct offense.
- B) This law shall be enforced by the Nassau County Police Department, the County Sheriff's Department and sworn officers, as defined in Section 1.20(34) of the New York State Criminal Procedure Law, of an authorized Police Department or force of a town or of a village within the geographic boundaries of Nassau County.
- C) This law may be enforced anywhere within the geographic boundaries of Nassau County.

Section 5. **Separability.** Any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or any part of this title or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance shall be judged by any court of competent jurisdiction .to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, division, section or part of this law, or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

#### TITLE 47

# NASSAU COUNTY OPEN SPACE AND PARKS ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Section

- 1. Legislative Intent.
- 2. Establishment of the Nassau County Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee, or OSPAC.
- Powers and Duties of OSPAC.
- 4. Criteria for Review and Evaluation of Open Space, Parks and Areas of Recreational, Cultural, Archeological, Habitat or Historic Significance or of an Otherwise Environmentally Sensitive Nature.

Section 1. **Legislative Intent.** Nassau County's open space, parks, and areas of recreational, cultural, archeological, habitat or historic significance or of an otherwise environmentally sensitive nature are valuable resources that should be the subject of thorough and on-going review, evaluation, and, where appropriate, recommendations with respect to the issues of acquisition, preservation, protection, restoration or enhancement. Such review, evaluation, and, where appropriate, recommendations would benefit from having a specific entity that would provide advice regarding options with respect to these valuable resources. A Nassau County Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee is the appropriate entity to carry out these responsibilities with respect to these resources.

# Section 2. Establishment of the Nassau County Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee.

a) There is hereby established a Nassau County Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee (hereafter referred to as "OSPAC") that shall provide advice to the Nassau County Planning Commission on preserving, protecting, restoring and enhancing open space, parks, and areas of recreational, cultural, archeological, habitat or historic significance or of an otherwise environmentally sensitive nature in Nassau County. OSPAC shall be comprised of nine members. The Presiding Officer of the County Legislature shall have four appointees, the Minority Leader of the County Legislature shall have two appointees, and the County Executive shall have two appointees and the Nassau County Planning Commission shall have one appointee, all of whom shall have experience in or be a representative from an organization dedicated to at least one of the following areas of interest: environment, open space; land use planning; land conservation; habitat preservation; archeology; historic, cultural or park preservation, protection, restoration and enhancement; or municipal financing.

- b) The terms of two of the appointees of the Presiding Officer shall be for three years from the date of appointment. The initial term of one of the appointees of the Minority Leader shall be for three years from the date of appointment. The initial term of one of the appointees of the County Executive shall be for three years from the date of appointment. The initial term of the appointee of the Nassau County Planning Commission shall be for three years from the date of appointment. The initial terms of all other members of OSPAC shall be for two years from the date of appointment. All subsequent terms of all members of OSPAC shall be for two years from the date of the expiration of the term of the position being filled. All of the initial appointments shall be made not later than one month after this title is enacted into law. The chair of OSPAC shall be chosen by a vote of at least five members of OSPAC.
- c) If any member of OSPAC attends less than thirty percent (30%) of the meetings of OSPAC conducted during a twelve-month period, then the position of the term of which said member had been occupying shall be deemed vacant.
- d) No members of OSPAC shall receive any compensation or salary for service on OSPAC.
- e) OSPAC shall conduct its initial meeting within thirty (30) days of the initial appointment of at least five (5) of its members.

Section 3. **Powers and Duties of OSPAC.** The powers and duties of OSPAC in connection with providing advice to the Nassau County Planning Commission shall include the following:

- a) developing any appropriate criteria, in addition to those listed in section 4 of this title, to assist in identifying and prioritizing open space, parks, and areas of recreational, cultural, archeological, habitat or historic significance or of an otherwise environmentally sensitive nature for the purpose of considering their acquisition, preservation, protection, restoration or enhancement. As part of the development of these criteria, OSPAC shall refer to and consider utilizing the criteria articulated in the Nassau County Open Space Plan of March 2001 for identifying and prioritizing these areas.
- b) utilizing the criteria referred to in Section 3 a) of this title, to assist in identifying and prioritizing open space, parks, and areas of recreational, cultural, archeological, habitat or historic significance or of an otherwise environmentally sensitive nature for the purpose of considering their acquisition, preservation, protection, restoration or enhancement.
- c) (i) Identifying financing mechanisms, including mechanisms involving assistance from other levels of government, to fund the acquisition, preservation, protection, restoration or enhancement of open space, parks, and areas of recreational, cultural archeological, habitat or historic significance or of an otherwise environmentally sensitive nature that have been identified and prioritized utilizing the criteria listed in this title or authorized by it to be developed. As part of identifying these mechanisms,

- OSPAC shall refer to and consider utilizing the mechanisms and criteria articulated in the Master Plan as developed pursuant to section sixteen hundred and four-a of the Charter to fund the acquisition, preservation, protection, restoration or enhancement of these areas. Such mechanisms shall include, but not be limited to: private funding; federal grant and funding programs; state programs and grants; the submission to the state legislature or to the voters of measures to authorize taxes or obligations to fund open space purposes; and potential local funding sources such as, to the extent permitted by law, fines or penalties imposed by the Planning Department and Fire Marshall for violations of county environmental laws, ordinances or regulations.
- (ii) The Planning Department and the Fire Commission shall each prepare an annual report analyzing the ways which, to the extent permitted by law, the fines or penalties imposed by such departments for land use development and environmental violations can be used for the purposes of open space acquisition. Such report shall be submitted before the first day of January each year to OSPAC, the Committee on Planning, Development and the Environment of the Legislature and the Office of the County Attorney.
- (iii) OSPAC shall submit a report pursuant to this subdivision to the County Executive, the County Attorney, the Committee on Planning, Development and the Environment of the Legislature and the Planning Commission at least twice each year, in the months of January and July. Such reports shall: (a) contain recommendations for the funding of open space acquisition; (b) describe and update the research by OSPAC required pursuant to paragraph (i) of this subdivision into such funding sources and the status of its efforts to obtain such funding; and shall (c) include, but not be limited to, a description of existing, new and potential funding sources, including the potential sources identified by the Fire Department and the Planning Department pursuant to paragraph (ii) of this subdivision.

(Subdivision c amended by Local Law No. 7-2003 § 4, in effect May 28, 2003.)

- d) identifying other mechanisms, including the transfer or purchase of development rights, the establishment of conservation easements, or the establishment of public/private partnerships with the goal of acquiring, preserving, protecting, restoring or enhancing open space, parks, and areas of recreational, cultural or historic significance or of an environmentally sensitive nature. As part of identifying these mechanisms, OSPAC shall refer to and consider utilizing the mechanisms articulated in the Nassau County Open Space Plan of March 2001 to acquire, preserve, protect, restore or enhance these areas.
- e) reviewing all leases of county land to non-governmental entities and all long-term use and occupancy permits of county land and to make recommendations to the Nassau County Planning Commission with respect thereto regarding the acquisition, reservation,

protection, restoration or enhancement of open space, parks, and areas of recreational, cultural, archeological, habitat, or historic significance or of an otherwise environmentally sensitive nature.

- f) requesting through the Nassau County Planning Commission and receiving the cooperation of any department, division, board, bureau, commission or any other agency f the county as may be necessary to for OSPAC to carry out the intent of this title.
- g) reporting to the Nassau County Planning Commission by June 30 and December 31 of each year as to the dates and subject matter of any public or private meetings conducted by it during the previous six months or since its inception, and as to any analyses or findings by it during the previous six months or since its inception.
- h) making recommendations to the Nassau County Planning Commission based upon the powers and duties authorized by this title, with respect to the acquisition, preservation, protection, restoration or enhancement of open space, parks, and areas of recreational, cultural, archeological, habitat or historic significance or of an otherwise environmentally sensitive nature. Copies of these recommendations shall be forwarded by the Nassau County Planning Commission to the Nassau County Legislature and the County Executive. Not later than six months after receiving the recommendations from OSPAC, the Nassau County Planning Commission shall issue a report commenting in detail on said recommendations.

Section 4. Criteria for the Review and Evaluation of Open Space, Parks, and Areas of Recreational, Cultural or Historic Significance or of an Environmentally Sensitive Nature. The following criteria, in addition to those that section 3 of this title authorizes OSPAC to adopt, shall be utilized by OSPAC to fulfill its duties and responsibilities as set forth in section 3 of this title for the acquisition, preservation, protection, restoration or enhancement of open space, parks, and areas of recreational, cultural, archeological, habitat or historic significance or of an otherwise environmentally sensitive nature:

- a) the project will further the goals and requirements contained in the New York State Open Space Conservation Plan, the Nassau County Open Space Plan, the State Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan, the New York State Waterfront Revitalization and Coastal Resources Act, the Nassau County Comprehensive Plan, the New York Natural Heritage Program, the Comprehensive Conservation and Management Plan for Long Island Sound, the South Shore Estuary Reserve Comprehensive Management Plan, the County Groundwater Study, the State Environmental Quality Review Act, the State Coastal Zone Management Act, and the State Special Groundwater Protection Area Management Plan, or other federal, state, county, town or city plans or programs related to open space, parks, and areas of recreational, cultural, archeological, habitat or historic significance or of an otherwise environmentally sensitive nature.
- b) the project will preserve, protect, restore and enhance environmentally sensitive areas or new or existing recreation lands, including open space, parks, cultural resources,

historic and archeological properties, coastal and habitat areas, beaches, waterfronts, waterways, wetlands, and marinas.

c) the project will preserve, protect, restore and enhance important natural areas of environmental significance or with rare or unique features or an environmental, cultural, archeological, habitat or historic nature.

(Added by Local Law No. 9-2001, in effect June 29, 2001.)

#### TITLE 48

# BODY-PIERCING AND TATTOOING LAW

# Section 1. Legislative Intent.

- a) The County Legislature of the County of Nassau hereby finds that:
  - i) tattoo and body piercing operations and procedures are becoming more and more common among minor residents of the County of Nassau;
  - ii) there exists a very real and distinct possibility of the transmission of serious infectious diseases from the tattooing or body piercing of a person if a tattoo artist or body piercer is not sufficiently skilled and knowledgeable of the dangers associated with said activity and
  - iii) the reasonable regulation of tattoo and body piercing operations and procedures is in the best interest of the residents of the County of Nassau.

# Section 2. **Definitions.**

- a) "Tattoo" means any indelible design, letter, scroll, figure, symbol, or other mark placed with the aid of needles or other instruments; or any design, letter, scroll, figure, or symbol done by scarring upon or under the skin.
- b) "Apply a tattoo" means any modification, cutting, scarification, piercing or branding of the mucous membranes or the skin through which needles or other items are inserted or applied for temporary or permanent placement of a tattoo upon a person.
- c) "Body Piercing" means the perforation of any human body part other than the ear lobe for the purpose of inserting jewelry or other decoration or for some other non medical purpose.
- d) "Entity" means any individual, association, corporation, joint stock company, estate, general partnership (including any registered limited liability partnership or foreign limited liability partnership), limited association, limited liability company (including a professional service limited liability company), foreign limited liability company (including a foreign professional service limited liability company), joint

venture, limited partnership, real estate investment trust, business trust or other trust, custodian, nominee or any other similar organization or individual in its own or any representative capacity.

- e) "Department" means the Nassau County Department of Health.
- f) "Minor" means a person under the age of eighteen (18) years.

# Section 3. License Required.

a) No entity shall apply a tattoo or be engaged in body piercing unless such entity is licensed to do the same by the Department.

# Section 4. Prohibition.

- a) In accordance with §260.21 of the New York State Penal Law, no entity shall knowingly apply a tattoo to a minor.
- b) No entity shall perform body piercing upon the body of any person without first obtaining the signed written consent of such person, or in the case of a minor, the notarized written consent of such minor's parent or legal guardian. Such written consent shall be kept on file be every entity performing body piercing and include, but not be limited to the following warning and consent language:

# **Body Piercing Risks**

Body piercing is an invasive procedure and carries with it risks and healing periods. Risks associated with body piercing may include

- Infection and potential for permanent scarring and/or disfigurement
- Allergic Reaction
- Nerve Damage
- Excessive Bleeding
- Risk of Cross-Contamination from a virus or other blood-borne pathogen
- Keloids (toughened knots of scar tissue that look like cysts that sometimes form at the site of a piercings
- Dental risks from oral piercing

I have received and read the above warning and understand what it means before undergoing any body piercing.

| Signature of body piercing establishment |
|--|
| Signature of consumer                    |

| Print name of consumer |
|------------------------|
|                        |
| Date                   |

# Section 5. Penalties.

a) Any entity or person who knowingly and willfully violates this law shall be fined in the sum of not more than \$750 for the first violation, and in the sum of not less than \$500 and not more than \$1,500 for the second violation, and in the sum of not less than \$1,000 and not more than \$3,000 for third and subsequent violations.

# Section 6. Injunctive Relief and Availability of Temporary Restraining Order.

a) Nothing herein shall be deemed to limit the availability of a temporary restraining order, temporary injunction or permanent injunction in accordance with the laws of New York State.

# Section 7. **Department to Promulgate Regulations.**

a) The Department shall, within ninety (90) days after the effective date of this section of this law, promulgate regulations to establish qualifications for licensing and enforcement thereof in accordance with this law.

# Section 8. Severability.

a) If any part or provision of this local law or the application thereof to any person, entity, or circumstances be adjudged invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, such judgment shall be confined in its operation to the part of or provision of or the application directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered and shall not affect or impair the validity of the remainder of this local law or the application thereof to other persons, entities or circumstances.

(Added by Local Law No. 10-2001, in effect July 3, 2001; section 2 and section 4 amended by Local Law 11-2007, signed by the County Executive on June 4, 2007 and effective "sixty days after it shall have become a law.")

# TITLE 49

# CARBON DIOXIDE EMISSIONS REGULATION

Section 1. Legislative Intent

- 2. Definitions
- 3. Requirements
- 4. Penalties
- 5. Severability
- 6. Applicability

Section 1. **Legislative Intent.** This Legislature hereby finds and determines that the growing economy and the use of new electrical devices by Nassau County customers has dramatically driven up demand for electricity, potentially beyond the availability of our current power supply; that without comparable increases in power generation to meet the demand or increased emphasis on energy conservation, the county will face brownouts and blackouts as well as price spikes; and that energy experts have recommended several measures to address the potential power crisis, including the construction of new generating plants.

This Legislature further finds and determines that these concerns are occurring while the utility industry is being deregulated, e.g., in April 1996, The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") ordered utilities that own, control or operate facilities used for transmitting electric power to let other companies buy and sell power over their distribution systems and in May 1996, the New York State Public Service Commission ("PSC") issued an initial restructuring plan that permitted competition for the production and sale of electricity to begin in 1998. As a result, the production and sale of electricity is beginning to open to competition so that customers can decide from which company they will purchase electricity.

This Legislature further determines that deregulation of the industry and the high market demand for electricity by county consumers has resulted in a surge of entities applying for permits to build new generating plants within the county or to expand the output of existing ones, the proposed construction of which raises environmental concerns.

This Legislature also determines that many of the applicants seeking to run the proposed plants will continue to operate older less efficient, less environmentally sound plants in tandem with newer, more efficient, less polluting plants; that the cumulative impact of emissions from the clustering of plants is unknown; and that the amount of harmful emissions which new power plants will emit, in particular, the impact of - emissions such as carbon dioxide ("CO2"), responsible for such environmental hazards as global warning is of concern.

This Legislature finds that companies proposing the construction of new power plants or increased generation make numerous assurances that the new technologies will be utilized for new power plants, which will not only increase overall efficiency but will also reduce harmful emissions, even though many of these companies intend to continue to utilize older, less efficient polluting facilities.

This Legislature also determines that the need for expanding energy sources requires the implementation of a strategy that takes into account the protection of the environment as well as energy needs.

This Legislature finds that, over time, CO2 emissions rates will decrease, as more efficient power plants are installed and older power plants incorporate more efficient processes for generating greater levels of electricity without increasing the use of fossil fuels, the end result of which will be a cleaner, healthier environment for the county's citizens, without a sacrifice in energy demands.

Therefore, the purpose of this law is to encourage owners of existing power plants and steam generating facilities, as well as newcomers to the Nassau County electric and steam generating power industry, to maximize efficiency by incorporating technological advances in energy production that increase electricity generation through the establishment of a rate of allowable carbon dioxide emissions per megawatt-hour, or equivalent megawatt-hour of generated electricity, for all power plants and steam generating units located in the county to protect the health, safety, and well-being of Nassau County residents. This law would not require an increase in fossil fuel consumption, and, thus, do not increase carbon dioxide emissions.

Section 2. **Definitions.** As used in this law, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:

- A.) "Electric Generating Unit" shall mean any fossil fuel fired combustion unit or a combination of units at a single facility located in the County of Nassau with a single or aggregate nameplate capacity of more than 25 megawatts that serves as a generator which produces electricity for use or sale or any fossil fuel fired combustion unit located in the County of Nassau that produces steam for sale.
- B.) "Steam Generating Unit" shall mean any fossil fuel fired combustion unit or a combination of units at a single facility located in the County of Nassau with a capacity of more than 25 megawatts that serves as a generator that produces electricity for use or sale or any fossil fuel fired combustion unit located in the County of Nassau that produces steam for sale.

# Section 3. **Requirements.**

- A.) The provisions of this section shall apply to every electric generating unit and steam generating unit located within the County of Nassau.
- B.) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the County Department of Health ("Department"), shall develop standards for reductions in emissions of carbon dioxide by electric generating units and steam generating units in accordance with the provisions of this section. The Department shall promulgate rules, including, but not limited to, a quarterly reporting requirement, no later than May 1, 2002, in relation to reducing such emissions of carbon dioxide. The Department shall require all electric generating units

and steam generating units to comply with an emission standard expressed in pounds of carbon dioxide emitted per megawatt-hour of electricity generated.

- 1.) No later than July 1, 2002, the Department shall set an emissions rate for carbon dioxide emissions for all electric generating units and steam generating units at a level of one thousand eight hundred (1,800) pounds of carbon dioxide per gross megawatt-hour (MWh) or equivalent MWh of electricity generated. Equivalent MWh is defined as one hundred percent of the gross electrical energy produced by a unit plus one half the gross useful thermal output energy of the unit converted to MWh according to the following equation: total gross MWh + (0.5)(gross thermal output mmBtu)/(3.413 mmBtu/MWh)=equivalent MWh. On July 1, 2002 and every July 1st thereafter, the allowable County-wide emissions rate for carbon dioxide shall be reduced by one percent (1%) for every one hundred megawatts of electric generating capacity installed within the County of Nassau during the previous year until such time as the allowable emissions rate for carbon dioxide has been reduced by twenty percent (20%). Any new capacity above the baseline emission rate shall be excluded for the purpose of setting a lower emission rate. However, all new electric generating capacity shall be required to meet the lower emission rate. Generating facilities that could normally comply through a strategy of burning natural gas fuel shall not be subject to non-compliance enforcement for MWhs produced when they are compelled by established electric system reliability rules to bum fuel oil.
- The Department shall establish a carbon dioxide emission credit trading 2.) mechanism to be approved by the Nassau County Legislature and allow the operators of all electric generating units and steam generating units subject to this section to achieve compliance through the purchase of carbon dioxide emission credits through established carbon dioxide trading market or by acquiring the equivalent value of such carbon dioxide credits by investments it, or the electric distribution company to which it sells energy, makes in energy conservation, energy efficiency, research and development of alternative energy sources including, but not limited to, solar, wind, fuel cells, and other strategies that reduce carbon dioxide emissions. In addition, after approval by the Nassau County Legislature via duly enacted resolution of the County of Nassau, the Department may allow the operators of electric generating units and steam generating units (or the electric distribution company to which it sells energy) subject to this section to achieve compliance through donation of penalties to community environmental organizations for implementation of strategies that reduce carbon dioxide emissions in Nassau County. Credit shall be

- allowed for equivalent energy reductions made through investments since 2002.
- 3.) The emission standards for carbon dioxide required by this section shall not be construed to supersede more stringent emission standards, limitations, and/or practices that are applicable to electric generating units on the effective date of this law or may be applicable after such effective date.

#### Section 4. Penalties.

- A.) Operators of electric generating units or steam generating units who fail to meet the obligations and requirements of Section 3 of this law shall be subject to civil fines after a due process hearing as follows:
  - 1.) an amount equal to two dollars (\$2.00) for each ton of carbon dioxide emissions in the first year above the requirements set forth in this section.
  - 2.) an additional one dollar (\$1.00) for each ton of carbon dioxide emissions above the requirements set forth in this section shall be imposed for each consecutive year thereafter that the electric generating unit or steam generating unit fails to meet its obligations pursuant to the requirements of this law.
  - 3.) such amounts shall be collected by the appropriate agency designated by the Department.
  - 4.) the Department shall submit an annual report (July 31 of each year) to the County Executive and the County Legislature and the County Comptroller regarding the amount of the fines collected pursuant to this section.

Section 5. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law, or in its application to the person, individual, partnership, entity, or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

Section 6. **Applicability.** This law shall apply to all actions occurring on or after the effective date in accordance with the phased in schedule set forth in Section 3 of this law. (Added by Local Law No. 3-2002, in effect April 22, 2002.)

#### TITLE 50

# LOCAL LAW REQUIRING CLERGY TO REPORT INCIDENCES OF SEXUAL ABUSE OR OTHER UNLAWFUL CONDUCT AGAINST MINORS TO THE NASSAU COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY

Section

- 1. Findings and Purpose.
- 2. Definitions.
- 3. Persons and officials required to report cases of suspected sexual abuse or other unlawful conduct against minors.
- 4. Confidential communication to clergy.
- 5. Penalties for failure to report.
- 6. Sunset.
- 7. Severability.

Section 1. **Findings and purpose.** In view of the reports of sexual abuse of minors involving clergy, and in addition, reports that this abuse has occurred over a period of time and was not reported to the proper law enforcement agency, it is the purpose of this Local Law to require clergy to report cases of sexual abuse or other unlawful conduct against minors to the Nassau County District Attorney's office. Minors who are the victims of sexual abuse or other unlawful conduct by Clergy in Nassau County are in urgent need of protection to prevent them from suffering further injury and impairment.

Section 2. **Definitions.** When used in this local law and unless the specific context indicates otherwise:

- 1. The term "Clergy" includes a duly authorized bishop, pastor, rector, priest, rabbi, minister, imam, nun, or a person regularly practicing such profession within the County of Nassau, and having authority from, or in accordance with, the rules and regulations of the governing ecclesiastical body of the denomination or order, if any, to which the church belongs, or otherwise from the church, synagogue, mosque, temple, or other religious entity in connection with the spiritual affairs of the church, synagogue, mosque, temple, or other religious entity.
- 2. The term "minor" means anyone under the age of seventeen.
- 3. The term "sexual abuse or other unlawful conduct " shall include stalking, sexual misconduct, rape, sodomy, forcible touching, persistent sexual abuse, sexual abuse, aggravated sexual abuse, course of sexual conduct against a child, facilitating a sex offense with a controlled substance, coercion, harassment, aggravated harassment, endangering the welfare of a child, endangering the welfare of an incompetent or physically disabled person, use of a child in a sexual performance, promoting an obscene sexual performance by a child, possessing an obscene sexual performance by a child,

promoting a sexual performance by a child, and possessing a sexual performance by a child, occurring within the County of Nassau, all as defined in the New York State Penal Law.

- Section 3. Persons and officials required to report cases of suspected sexual abuse or other unlawful conduct against minors. All clergy, as defined in this Local Law, shall be required to report or cause a report to be made, within three (3) business days, to the Nassau County District Attorney when they have reasonable cause to suspect that a minor is or has been the victim of sexual abuse or other unlawful conduct.
- Section 4. **Confidential communication to clergy.** No provision of this Local Law is intended to affect any privilege pursuant to the Civil Practice Law and Rules § 4505.
- Section 5. **Penalties for failure to report.** Every person required by this Local Law to report a case of sexual abuse or other unlawful conduct against minors who fails to do so shall be guilty of a class A misdemeanor.
- Section 6. **Sunset.** This local law shall terminate upon the effective date of a law enacted by the New York State legislature that requires Clergy to report incidences of sexual victimization of minors.
- Section 7. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, section or part of this local law shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, section or part of this local law directly involved in the controversy in which the judgment shall have been rendered. (Added by Local Law No. 5-2002, in effect May 29, 2002.)

#### TITLE 51

#### APPRENTICESHIP TRAINING PROGRAMS FOR COUNTY CONTRACTS

Section

- 1. Legislative Intent.
- 2. Definitions.
- 3. Requirements and Exceptions.
- 4. Enforcement.
- 5. Severability.
- 6. Applicability
- 1. **Legislative intent and purpose.** The County of Nassau hereby establishes a policy to promote apprenticeship training as authorized by Section 816-b of the NEW YORK LABOR LAW.

- 2. **Definitions.** As used in this local law, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:
  - A. "Certificate of Completion" shall mean a certificate issued by the New York State Department of Labor which recognizes an employee's successful completion of an apprenticeship program.
  - B. "Construction contract" shall mean any contract to which the County of Nassau shall be a signatory which involves the construction, reconstruction, improvement, rehabilitation, installation, alteration, renovation, demolition or otherwise providing for any building, facility of physical structure of any kind with a value in excess of \$500,000.
  - C. "Contractor or subcontractor" shall mean a contractor or subcontractor which directly employs labor under a construction contract for which an apprenticeship program has been approved by the New York State Commissioner of Labor in accordance with Article 23 of the NEW YORK LABOR LAW.
  - D. "Sponsor" shall mean any organization or entity operating an apprenticeship program with the New York State Department of Labor and in whose name the program is registered.

# 3. Requirements and Exceptions.

- A. The County of Nassau hereby requires any contractor, prior to entering into a construction contract with the County of Nassau, or any subcontractor entering into a contract with a contractor who has a construction contract with the County of Nassau, to have apprenticeship agreements appropriate for the type and scope of work to be performed, which have been registered with, and approved by the New York State Commissioner of Labor in accordance with Article 23 of the NEW YORK LABOR LAW, as evidenced by valid Certificates of Completion which are specifically identified as pertaining to the trade(s) and/or job title(s) called for within the construction contract, anything in Section 103 of the NEW YORK GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW to the contrary notwithstanding.
- B. Prior to entering a construction agreement with the County of Nassau, a contractor must submit to the County, Certificates of Completion showing that they, or their sponsor, graduated at least on apprentice from a state approved and registered apprenticeship program, in the trade and/or job title called for within the construction contract, within a time period immediately preceding the bid date of such project, the length of said time period to be calculated by adding twenty-four months to the specific trade's program length as set forth in the New York State Prevailing Wage Schedule, subject to the exception found in paragraph (H) of this section. If a contractor is a signatory to a sponsor, the contractor must submit to the County a letter from the sponsor verifying its signatory status.
- C. It shall be a contractor's responsibility to submit the required Certificates of Completion as part of any bid submitted in connection with a construction contract

- and to provide to the County department or agency administering the construction contract the identity of apprentices who have graduated from their apprenticeship program.
- D. If a contractor utilizes a subcontractor on a construction contract, the contractor shall submit Certificates of Completion showing that the subcontractor or the subcontractor's sponsor graduated at least one apprentice from a state approved and registered apprenticeship program, in the trade and/or job title called for within the construction contract, within a time period immediately preceding the bid date of such project, the length of said time period to be calculated by adding twenty-four months to the specific trade's program length as set forth in the New York State Prevailing Wage Schedule, subject to the exception found in paragraph (H) of this section. The contractor must submit these certificates at a time designated by the department or agency administering the construction contract, but in any event, these forms must be received by the County prior to subcontractor beginning work under the contract. If the subcontractor is a signatory to a sponsor, the contractor must submit to the County a letter from the sponsor verifying the signatory status.
- E. It shall be the responsibility of the County department or agency administering a construction contract to verify that a contractor or subcontractor is a participant in a state approved and registered apprenticeship program and to include the submitted Certificates of Completion as an attachment to the final contract, work order or other document memorializing the award of work to the contractor.
- F. It shall be the responsibility of the County department of agency administering a construction contract to designate an individual within that department or agency who shall be responsible for specifically identifying within a construction contract the trade(s) and/or job title(s) necessary to perform the construction contract and verifying the validity of Certificates of Completion and including same as an attachment to the final contract, work order or other document memorializing the award of work to the contractor or subcontractor.
- G. In the event a County department or agency other than the Department of Public Works is administering a construction contract, that department or agency shall notify the Department of Public Works of said contract and the Department of Public Works will assist the department or agency to achieve compliance with the apprenticeship requirements set forth in this chapter.
- H. For the purpose of this title only, the length of program for the trade of laborer shall be two years.
- 4. **Enforcement.** The County Department of Public Works is hereby authorized, empowered and directed to promulgate such rules and regulations that are lawful, necessary and appropriate for the implementation and enforcement of any provisions of this local law.
- 5. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this local law or the application thereof, to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership,

entity or circumstance, shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this local law or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance, directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment or order shall be rendered.

6. **Applicability.** This local law shall apply to construction contracts advertised for bids on or after the effective date.

(Added by Local Law No. 9-2002, in effect August 8, 2002, amended Local Law No. 3-2013 and Local Law 3-2015 effective June 19, 2015.)

#### TITLE 52

# GOOD SPORTSMANSHIP OF PARTICIPANTS, THEIR PARENTS AND COACHES IN SPORTS AND RECREATIONAL ACTIVITIES ON NASSAU COUNTY PROPERTY.

Section

- 1. Legislative Intent.
- 2. Definitions.
- 3. Requirements.
- 4. Enforcement.
- 5. Severability.
- 6. Applicability.
- 1. **Legislative Intent and purpose.** The Legislature determines that it is important for the County to lead by example, by promoting good sportsmanship among all participants, their parents and coaches in sports and recreational activities on Nassau County property.

# 2. **Definitions.**

- A). As used in this Local Law, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated: "Fair Play Agreement" is an agreement, to be developed by the Department of Parks and Recreations in accordance with the minimum standards set forth in the attachment hereto, that sets forth certain criteria to be followed by participants and their parents, to encourage good sportsmanship in sports and recreational activities on Nassau County property.
- B). "Fair Play Coordinator" shall mean a volunteer who shall be selected by the organization, who shall attend at least one annual training session sponsored by the Nassau County Sports Commission, and shall be otherwise involved with Organizations who use Nassau County property.
- C). "Organization" shall mean any partnership, corporation, joint venture, business, not-for-profit organization, nonprofit organization, community group, civic association,

athletic league, society club, sports league group, or other organization which uses any Nassau County real property, whether owned, licensed or leased by the County of Nassau, for sports and recreational activities for youth (eighteen years old and younger) within the County of Nassau.

3. **Requirements.** The Fair Play Coordinator shall attend at least one annual training session sponsored by the Nassau County Sports Commission. One Fair Play Coordinator shall be assigned to each Organization that uses Nassau County property for sports or recreational activities.

A Fair Play Agreement shall be signed by each participant, and if the participant is under 17 years of age, also by their parent or legal guardian, that states that the signatories support the goal of good sportsmanship. Any participant who does not sign the agreement, and if the participant is under 17 years of age, whose parent or legal guardian also does not sign such agreement, shall not be permitted to participate in a sports or recreational activity that uses Nassau County property.

All coaches shall be urged to appoint a parent representative to attend all games. It is recommended that the parent representative shall have a suggestion form for the parents of participants to fill out to register any complaints regarding the sports or recreational activity which they are attending.

- 4. **Enforcement.** The County Department of Parks and Recreation is hereby authorized to promulgate such rules and regulations as are lawful, necessary and appropriate to implement the provisions of this law.
- 5. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this local law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance, shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this local law, or in its application to the person individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance, directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment or order shall be rendered.
- 6. **Applicability.** This law shall apply to any use of Nassau County owned, leased or licensed real property used for sports or recreational activities. (Added by Local Law No. 13-2002, in effect October 21, 2002.)

#### TITLE 53

PARTICIPATION BY MINORITY GROUP MEMBERS AND WOMEN IN NASSAU COUNTY CONTRACTS

# Section 101. Definitions.

- 102. Office of Minority Affairs.
- 103. Equal employment opportunities for minority group members and women.
- 104. Contracting agency requirements.
- 105. Rules for utilization of subcontractors.
- 106. Disparity Study.
- 107. Countywide certification program.
- 108. Responsibilities of contracting agencies.
- 109. Enforcement.
- 110. Severability.

Section 101. **Definitions.** As used in this local law, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

- 1. "Certified business" shall mean a business verified as a minority or women owned business enterprise pursuant to section one hundred seven of this title.
- 2. "Contracting agency" shall mean a county agency which is party or proposed party to a county contract.
- 3. "Contractor" shall mean an individual, a business enterprise, including a sole proprietorship, a partnership, a corporation, a not-for-profit corporation, or any other party to a county contract, or a bidder in conjunction with the award of a county contract or a proposed party to a county contract.
- 4. "County" shall mean Nassau County.
- 5. "County agency" shall mean
  - (a) any county department, or
  - (b) any division, board, commission or bureau of any county department, or
  - (c) Nassau Community College, or
  - (d) a board, a majority of whose members are appointed by the County Executive or who serve by virtue of being county officers or employees;
  - (e) Any of the following:

**Assessment Review Commission** 

Civil Service Commission

Commissioner of Accounts

Comptroller

**Consumer Affairs** 

Coordinating Agency for Spanish Americans

County Attorney

County Clerk

County Executive

County Legislature

Department of Assessment

**District Attorney** 

Drug & Alcohol

Fire Commission

Health

**Human Resources** 

**Human Rights Commission** 

**IDA** 

Medical Examiner

Mental Health

**Minority Affairs** 

Nassau Community College

Office of Housing and Intergovernmental Affairs

Office of Budget & Management

Office of the Physically Challenged

Planning

Police Department.

Probation

Public Administrator

**Public Works** 

Purchasing & Contracts

Recreation Parks & Support Services

**Sheriff and Correction Officers** 

**Social Services** 

Senior Citizen Affairs

Traffic & Parking Violations

Traffic Safety Board

Treasurer Veterans Services Youth Board

- 6. "County contract" shall mean: (a) a written agreement or purchase order instrument, providing for a total expenditure in excess of twenty-five thousand dollars, whereby a contracting agency is committed to expend or does expend funds in return for labor, services, supplies, equipment, materials or any combination of the foregoing, to be preformed for, or rendered or furnished to the contracting agency on the county's behalf; or (b) a written agreement in excess of one hundred thousand dollars whereby a contracting agency is committed to expend or does expend funds for the acquisition, construction, demolition, replacement, major repair or renovation of real property and improvements thereon. For the purpose of this section, the term "services" shall not include banking relationships, the issuance of insurance policies or contracts, or contracts with a contracting agency for the sale of bonds, notes or other securities.
- 7. "Director" shall mean the director of the Nassau County Office of Minority Affairs.

- 8. "Disparity study" shall mean a study of the utilization of minority and womenowned business enterprises as subcontractors on county contracts compared with the availability of such firms to perform such work. A disparity study shall separately assess the availability and utilization of each minority group and of women-owned business enterprises and shall include an analysis of the data, including conclusions as to whether there has been utilization. A disparity study shall also include the gathering of anecdotal evidence of discrimination.
- 9. "Minority-owned business enterprise" shall mean a business enterprise including a sole proprietorship, partnership or corporation that is:
  - (a) at least fifty-one percent owned by one or more minority group members; and
  - (b) an enterprise in which such minority ownership is real, substantial and continuing; and
  - (c) an enterprise in which such minority ownership has and exercises the authority to control independently the day- to- day business decisions of the enterprise; and
  - (d) an enterprise authorized to do business in this state and is independently owned and operated.
- 10. "Minority group member" shall mean a United States citizen or permanent resident alien who is and can demonstrate membership in one of the following groups:
  - (a) Black persons having origins in any of the Black African racial groups;
  - (b) Hispanic persons of Mexican, Puerto Rican, Dominican, Cuban, Central or South American of either Indian or Hispanic origin, regardless of race;
  - (c) Native American or Alaskan native persons having origin in any of the original peoples of North America; or
  - (d) Asian and Pacific Islander persons having origin in any of the Far East countries, South East Asia, the Indian subcontinent, or the Pacific Islands.
- 11. "Office" shall mean the Nassau County Office of Minority Affairs.
- 12. "Subcontract" shall mean an agreement providing for a total expenditure in excess of twenty-five thousand dollars for the construction, demolition, replacement, major repair, renovation, planning or design of real property and improvements thereon between a contractor and any individual or business enterprise, including a sole proprietorship, partnership, corporation, or not-for profit corporation, in which a portion of a contractor's obligation under a county contract is undertaken or assumed, but shall not include any construction, demolition, replacement, major repair, renovation, planning

or design of real property or improvements thereon for the beneficial use of the contractor.

- 13. "Utilization plan" shall mean a plan prepared by a contractor and submitted in connection with a proposed county contract. The utilization plan shall identify certified minority or women owned business enterprises, if known, that have committed to perform work in connection with the proposed county contract, as well as any such enterprises, if known, which the contractor intends to use in connection with the contractor's performance of the proposed county contract. The plan shall specifically contain a list, including the name, address and telephone number, of each certified enterprise with which the contractor intends to subcontract.
- 14. "Women owned business enterprise" shall mean a business enterprise, including sole proprietorship, partnership or corporation that is:
  - (a) at least fifty-one percent owned by one or more United States citizens or permanent resident aliens who are women; and
  - (b) an enterprise in which the ownership interest of such women is real, substantial and continuing; and
  - (c) an enterprise in which such women ownership has and exercises the authority to control independently the day-to-day business decisions of the enterprise; and
  - (d) an enterprise authorized to do business in this state and is independently owned and operated.

# Section 102. Office of Minority Affairs.

- 1. The Director may appoint such deputies, assistants, and other employees as may be needed for the performance of the duties prescribed herein subject to the provisions of the civil service law and the rules and regulations of the civil service commission, as well as the County Government Law of Nassau County, and the Nassau County Administrative Code. The director may request and shall receive from any department, division, board, bureau, commission or agency of the county such assistance as can be provided to carry out the provisions of this local law.
- 2. The Director shall have the following powers and duties:
  - (a) to encourage and assist contracting agencies in their efforts to increase participation by minority and women-owned business enterprises on county contracts and subcontracts so as to facilitate the award of a fair share of such contracts to them;

- (b) to develop standardized forms and reporting documents necessary to implement this local law;
- (c) to conduct educational programs consistent with the purposes of this local law;
- (d) to review periodically the practices and procedures of contracting agencies with respect to compliance with the provisions of this local law, and to require them to file periodic reports;
- (e) on January first of each year report to the County Legislature on the activities of the office and efforts by contracting agencies to promote employment of minority group members and women, and to promote and increase participation by certified businesses with respect to county contracts and subcontracts so as to facilitate the award of a fair share of county contracts to such businesses. Such report may recommend new activities and programs to effectuate the purposes of this local law;
- (f) to prepare and update periodically a directory of certified minority and women-owned businesses enterprises which shall, wherever practicable, be divided into categories of labor, services, supplies, equipment, materials and recognized construction trades, and
- (g) to appoint independent hearing officers who by contract or terms of employment shall preside over adjudicatory hearings pursuant to this law for the office and who are assigned no other work by the office.
- 3. The Director may provide assistance to certified businesses as well as applicants to ensure that such businesses benefit, as needed, from technical, managerial and financial assistance and other business development programs. In addition, the Director, either independently or in conjunction with other county agencies shall:
- (a) develop a clearinghouse of information on programs and services provided by entities that may assist such businesses; and
- (b) review bonding and paperwork requirements imposed by contracting agencies that may unnecessarily impede the ability of such businesses to compete.

# Section 103. Equal employment opportunities for minority group members and women.

- 1. All county contracts and all documents soliciting bids or proposals for county contracts shall contain or make reference to the following provisions:
  - (a) The contractor will not discriminate against employees or applicants for employment because of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disability or marital status, and will undertake or continue existing programs of affirmative action to ensure that minority group members and

- women are afforded equal employment opportunities without discrimination. For purposes of this local law affirmative action shall mean recruitment, employment, job assignments, promotion, upgrading, demotion, transfer, layoff; or termination and rates of pay or other forms of compensation.
- (b) At the request of the contracting agency, the contractor shall request each employment agency, labor union, or authorized representative of workers with which it has a collective bargaining or other agreement or understanding, to furnish a written statement that such employment agency, labor union, or representative will not discriminate on the basis of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disability, or marital status and that such union or representative will affirmatively cooperate in the implementation of the contractor's obligations herein.
- (c) The contractor shall state, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees, that, in the performance of the county contract, all qualified applicants will be afforded equal employment opportunities without discrimination because of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disability or marital status.
- 2. The contractor will include the provisions of subdivision one of this section in every subcontract in such a manner that the provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor as to work in connection with the county contract.
- 3. The provisions of this section shall not be binding upon contracting or subcontractors in the performance of work or the provision of services or any other activity that are unrelated, separate, or distinct from the county contract as expressed by its terms.
- 4. In the implementation of this section, the contracting agency shall consider compliance by a contractor or subcontractor with the requirements of any federal and state law concerning equal employment opportunity which effectuates the purposes of this section. The contracting agency shall determine whether the imposition of the requirements of the provisions hereof duplicate or conflict with any such law and if such duplication or conflict exist, the contracting agency shall waive the applicability of this section to the extent such duplication or conflict.
- 5. The requirements of this section shall not apply to any employment outside this county or application for employment outside this county or solicitations or advertisements therefore or any existing programs of affirmative action regarding employment outside this county and the effect of contract provisions required by subdivision one of this section shall be so limited.

Section 104. Contracting agency requirements.

- 1. The Director shall promulgate rules and regulations that provide measures and procedures to ensure that certified businesses shall be given the opportunity for meaningful participation in the performance of county contracts. Such rules shall require contracting agencies to identify those county contracts for which certified businesses are most likely to be available and may set forth additional requirements for outreach to minority businesses particularly with regard to such contracts. Nothing in the provisions of this local law shall be construed to limit the ability of any certified business to bid on any contract.
- 2. Contracting agencies shall include or require to be included with respect to county contracts for the acquisition, construction, demolition, replacement, major repair or renovation of real property and improvements thereon, requests for proposals ("RFP"), and any other applicable county contracts, such provisions as may be necessary to effectuate the provisions of this local law including, but not limited to: (a) provisions requiring contractors to make its best efforts to solicit active participation by enterprises identified in the directory of certified businesses provided to the contracting agency by the office; and (b) requiring the parties to agree as a condition of entering into such contract, to be bound by the provisions of section one hundred nine of this local law. Provided, however, that no such provisions shall be binding upon contractors or in the performance of work or the provision of services that are unrelated, separate or distinct from the county contract as expressed by its terms, and nothing in this section shall authorize the Director or any contracting agency to impose any requirement on a contractor except with respect to a county contract.
- 3. In the implementation of this section, the contracting agency shall consider compliance with the requirements of any federal or state law concerning opportunities for minority and women-owned business enterprises which effectuates the purpose of this section. The contracting agency shall determine whether the imposition of the requirements of any such law duplicate or conflict with the provisions hereof and if such duplication or conflict exists, the contracting agency may waive the applicability of this local law to the extent of such duplication or conflict.

## Section 105. Rules for utilization of subcontractors.

- 1. The Director shall promulgate rules and regulations requiring that all contractors use best efforts to achieve participation in subcontracting by minority-owned business enterprises and women-owned business enterprises in accordance with percentages set by the Director to reflect the percentage of minority and women-owned businesses available to perform such work. Such percentages shall be based on the findings and conclusions of the disparity study.
- 2. Contracting agencies shall administer the rules and regulations promulgated by the Director to ensure compliance with the provisions of this section. Such rules and regulations shall require a contractor to submit a utilization plan after bids are opened, when bids are required; or in a contractor's response to a RFP; but in all cases prior to the

award of a county contract, shall require the contracting agency to review the utilization plan submitted by the contractor within a reasonable period of time as established by the Director; shall require the contracting agency to notify the contractor in writing within a period of time specified by the Director as to any deficiencies contained in the contractor's utilization plan; shall require remedy thereof within a period of time specified by the Director; may require the contractor to submit periodic compliance reports relating to the operation and implementation of any utilization plan; shall allow a contractor to apply for a partial or total waiver of the minority and women-owned business enterprise participation requirements pursuant to subdivisions five and six of this section; shall allow a contractor to file a complaint with the Director pursuant to subdivision seven of this section in the event a contracting agency has failed or refused to issue a waiver of the minority and women-owned business enterprises participation requirements or has denied such request for a waiver; and shall allow a contracting agency to file a complaint with the Director in the event a contractor is failing or has failed to comply with the minority and women-owned business enterprise participation requirements set forth in the county contract where no waiver has been granted.

- 3. The rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to this subdivision regarding a utilization plan shall provide that where enterprises have been identified within a utilization plan, a contractor shall make its best efforts to utilize such enterprise at least to the extent indicated. A contracting agency may require a contractor to indicate within a utilization plan, what measures and procedures he or she intends to take to comply with the provisions of this local law, but may not require, as a condition of award of, or compliance with, a contract that a contractor utilize a particular enterprise in performance of the contract.
- 4. Without limiting other grounds for the disqualification of bids or proposals on the basis of non-responsibility, a contracting agency may disqualify the bid or proposal of a contractor as being non-responsible for failure to remedy notified deficiencies in the contractor's utilization plan within a period of time specified in regulations promulgated by the Director after receiving notification of such deficiencies from the contracting agency. Where failure to remedy any notified deficiency in the utilization plan is a ground for disqualification, that issue and all other grounds for disqualification shall be stated in writing by the contracting agency. Where the contracting agency states that a failure to remedy any notified deficiency in the utilization plan is a ground for disqualification the contractor shall be entitled to an administrative hearing, on a record, involving all grounds stated by the contracting agency. Such hearing shall be conducted by the appropriate authority of the contracting agency to review the determination of disqualification. A final administrative determination made following such hearing shall be reviewable in accordance with law.
- 5. Where it appears that a contractor, after making its best efforts, cannot comply with the minority and women-owned business enterprise participation requirements set forth in a particular county contract, a contractor may file a written application with the contracting agency requesting a partial or total waiver of such requirements setting forth

the reasons for such contractor's inability to meet any or all of the participation requirements together with an explanation of the efforts undertaken by the contractor to obtain the required minority and women-owned business enterprise participation. In implementing the provisions of this section, the contracting agency shall consider the number and types of minority and women-owned business enterprises located in the county, the total dollar value of the county contract, the scope of work to be performed and the project size and term. It based on such considerations, the contracting agency determines there is not a reasonable availability of contractors on the list of certified business to furnish services for the project, it shall issue a waiver of compliance to the contractor. In making such determination, the contracting agency shall first consider the availability of other business enterprises located in the county and shall thereafter consider the financial ability of minority and women-owned businesses located in the county to perform the county contract.

- 6. For purposes of determining if a contractor has made its best efforts to comply with the requirements of this section or to be entitled to a waiver, the contracting agency shall consider:
  - a. whether the contractor has advertised in general circulation media, trade association publications, and minority-focus and women-focus media and, in such event.
    - i. whether or not certified minority or women-owned businesses which have been solicited by the contractor exhibited interest in submitting proposals for a particular project by attending a pre-bid conference; and
    - ii. whether certified businesses which have been solicited by the contractor have responded in a timely fashion to the contractor's solicitations for timely competitive bid quotations prior to the contracting agency's bid date; and
  - b. whether there has been written notification to appropriate certified businesses that appear in the directory of certified businesses prepared pursuant to paragraph (f) of subdivision two of section one hundred two of this local law; and
  - c. whether the contractor can reasonably structure the amount of work to be performed under subcontracts in order to increase the likelihood of participation by certified businesses.
- 7. In the event that a contracting agency fails or refuses to issue a waiver to a contractor as requested within twenty days after having made application therefore pursuant to subdivision five of this section or if the contracting agency denies such application, in whole or in part, the contractor may file a complaint with the Director

pursuant to section one hundred nine of this local law setting forth the facts and circumstances giving rise to the contractor's complaint together with a demand for relief. The contractor shall serve a copy of such complaint upon the contracting agency by personal service or by certified mail, return receipt requested. The contracting agency shall be afforded an opportunity to respond to such in writing.

8. If, after the review of a contractor's minority and women-owned business utilization plan or review of a periodic compliance report and after such contractor has been afforded an opportunity to respond to a notice of deficiency issued by the contracting agency in connection therewith, it appears that a contractor is failing or refusing to comply with the minority and women-owned business participation requirements as set forth in the county contract and where no waiver from such requirements has been granted, the contracting agency may file a written complaint with the Director pursuant to section one hundred nine of this local law setting forth the facts and circumstances giving rise to the contracting agency's complaint together with a demand for relief. The contracting agency shall serve a copy of such complaint upon the contractor by personal service or by certified mail, return receipt requested. The contractor shall be afforded an opportunity to respond to such complaint in writing.

Section 106. **Disparity Study.** The County shall enter into a contract for a disparity study to be completed prior to February 1, 2003.

# Section 107. Countywide certification program.

- 1. The Director shall promulgate rules and regulations providing for the establishment of a countywide certification program including rules and regulations governing the approval, denial or revocation of any such certification. Such rules and regulations shall include, but not be limited to, such matters as may be required to ensure that the established procedures thereunder shall at least be in compliance with the code of fair procedure set forth in section seventy-three of the civil rights law.
- 2. For the purposes of this local law, the office shall be responsible for verifying businesses as being owned, operated, and controlled by minority group members or women and for certifying such verified businesses. The Director shall prepare a directory of certified business for use by contracting agencies and contractors in carrying out the provisions of this article. The Director shall periodically update the directory.
- 3. Following application for certification pursuant to this section, the Director shall provide the applicant with written notice of the status of the application, including notice of any outstanding deficiencies, within thirty days. Within sixty days of submission of a final completed application, the Director shall provide the applicant with written notice of a determination by the office approving or denying such certification and, in the event of a denial a statement setting forth the reasons for such denial. Upon a determination denying or revoking certification, the business enterprise for which certification has been so denied or revoked shall, upon written request made within thirty days from receipt of

notice of such determination, be entitled to a hearing before an independent hearing officer designated for such purpose by the Director. In the event that a request for a hearing is not made within such thirty-day period, such determination shall be deemed to be final. The independent hearing officer shall conduct a hearing and upon the conclusion of such hearing, issue a written recommendation to the Director to affirm, reverse or modify such determination of the Director. Such written recommendation shall be issued to the parties. The Director, within thirty days shall, by order, accept, reject or modify such recommendation of the hearing officer and set forth in writing the reasons therefor. The Director shall serve a copy of such order and reasons therefore upon the business enterprise by personal service or by certified mail return receipt requested.

# Section 108. Responsibilities of contracting agencies.

- 1. Each contracting agency shall be responsible for monitoring county contracts under its jurisdiction, and recommending matters to the office respecting non-compliance with the provisions of this local law so that the office may take such action as is appropriate to insure compliance with the provisions of this local law, the rules and regulations of the Director issued hereunder and contractual provisions required of this local law, the rules and regulations of the Director issued hereunder and the contractual provisions required pursuant to this local law. All contracting agencies shall comply with the rules and regulations of the office and are directed to cooperate with the office and to furnish to the office such information and assistance as may be required in the performance of its functions under this local law.
- 2. Each contracting agency shall provide to prospective bidders a current copy of the directory of certified businesses, and a copy of the regulations required pursuant to sections one hundred three and one hundred four of this local law at the time bids or proposals are solicited.
- 3. Each contracting agency shall report to the Director with respect to activities undertaken to promote employment of minority group members and women and promote and increase participation by certified businesses with respect to county contracts and subcontracts. Such reports shall be submitted periodically as required by the Director.

Section 109. **Enforcement.** Upon receipt by the director of a complaint by a contracting agency that a contractor has violated the provisions of a county contract which have been included to comply with the provisions of this local law or of a contractor that a contracting agency has violated such provisions or has failed or refused to issue a waiver where one has been applied for pursuant to subdivision five of section one hundred five of this local law or has denied such application, the Director shall attempt to resolve the matter giving rise to such complaint. If efforts to resolve such matter to the satisfaction of all parties are unsuccessful, the Director shall refer the matter, within thirty days of the receipt of the complaint, to the American Arbitration Association for proceeding thereon. Upon conclusion of the arbitration proceedings, the arbitrator shall submit to the Director his or her award regarding the alleged violation of the contract and recommendations regarding the imposition of sanctions, fines or penalties. The Director shall either: (a) adopt the recommendation of the arbitrator; or (b) determine that no sanctions, fines or penalties should be imposed; or (c) modify the recommendation of the arbitrator, provided that such modification shall not expand upon any sanction recommended or impose any new sanction, or increase the amount of any recommended fine or penalty. The Director, within ten days of receipt of the arbitrator's award and recommendations, shall file a determination of such matter and shall cause a copy of such determination along with a copy of this local law to be served upon the respondent by personal service or by certified mail return receipt requested. The award of the arbitrator shall be final and may only be vacated or modified as provided in the civil practice law and rules. The determination of the Director as to the

imposition of any fines, sanctions, or penalties shall be reviewable pursuant to the civil practice law and rules.

Section 110. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, section or part of this local law shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, section or part of this local law directly involved in the controversy in which the judgment shall have been rendered.

(Added by Local Law No. 14-2002, in effect October 9, 2002. Section 2 of Local Law. No. 14-2002 provides: This local law shall take effect immediately; provided that section 105 of Title 53, as added by Section 1 of this law, shall take effect on April 1, 2003 contingent on a disparity study, as required by this law, being completed prior to that date, which study demonstrates that there is underutilization of minority and/or women-owned business enterprises on County subcontracts as a result of discriminatory practices or a discriminatory system in which the County has participated. The Office of Minority Affairs shall receive and review such disparity study and shall file a report with the County Legislature prior to April 1, 2003.)

#### TITLE 54

# LEAVE ALLOWED BY COUNTY TO EMPLOYEES FOR ORGAN OR BONE MARROW DONATION

#### 1. Allowable Leave

Subject to negotiation to the extent required by law, an employee of Nassau County shall be allowed up to (7) seven days paid leave to undergo a medical procedure to donate bone marrow and up to (30) thirty days paid leave to serve as an organ donor, provided, that the employee shall provide his or her direct supervisor with not less than fourteen days prior written notice of an intention to utilize such leave, unless there exists a medical emergency, attested to by a physician, which would require the employee to participate in the medical procedure or organ donation within the fourteen day notification period. Such leave shall be in addition to any other sick or annual leave allowed, and any other leave granted by law. The County may require verification of the donation from a physician before the employee is credited with the applicable leave.

## 2. Employee Defined

An "employee" for purposes of this Title is a person who performs services for hire for Nassau County, for an average of twenty or more hours per week, but shall not include an independent contractor.

(Added by Local Law No. 9-2003, in effect June 12, 2003.)

## TITLE 55

# PROHIBITION AGAINST THE SALE OF LIGHTERS, MATCHES AND LIGHTER FLUID TO MINORS

1. **Legislative Intent.** The Nassau County Legislature finds that lighters, matches and lighter fluid ("lighter devices") pose a serious health risk to our children and property when these devices are obtained and used by minors. The unregulated sale and dispensing of lighter devices may cause serious injury to our county residents and their property. As such, the Legislature finds that the sale of lighter devices should not be sold to those under the age of eighteen (18) years. The Legislature hereby enacts this law in furtherance of its responsibility to protect the health and welfare of its residents.

#### 2. Definitions.

- A. "Lighters" mean cigarette and cigar lighters, pocket lighters, butane lighters, pen lighters, flint lighters and any other mechanical device in which its main purpose is for igniting an object.
- B. "Match" or "matches" means a narrow strip of wood, cardboard or wax, coated on one end with a compound that ignites by friction.
- C. "Lighter fluid" means a fluid designed to cause an object to be ignited more easily, generally containing butane or naphtha. Lighter fluid shall not include gasoline.
- 3. Sale of Lighters, Matches and Lighter Fluid. No person shall sell or cause to be sold a lighter, matches or lighter fluid to a person under the age of eighteen (18) years of age.
- 4. **Penalties.** Any person who violates section three of this Title shall be guilty of a violation punishable by a fine not to exceed \$250.
- 5. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this Title or its application to any person or circumstances shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this Title or its application to the person or circumstances directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment or order shall be rendered.

(Added by Local Law No. 13-2003.)

#### TITLE 56

# COLLECTIVE BARGAINING ACTIVITIES OF UNIONS IN NASSAU COUNTY

§ 1. **Legislative Intent.** This Legislature hereby finds and determines that funds appropriated by the County Legislature for the purchase of necessary goods and services should ultimately be expended solely for the purpose for which they were appropriated and should not be used to deter, or promote union organizing.

This Legislature also finds that the use of County funds and property to assist, deter or promote union organizing causes conflicts and work interruptions which waste scarce County resources on issues of secondary importance.

This Legislature further finds and determines that where the County expends significant resources for the purchase of goods or the delivery of needed human services, the County's financial interests is advanced by the promotion of non-confrontational procedures which limit the economic and social disruptions associated with collective bargaining disputes.

This Legislature also determines that the State of New York has recently enacted amendments to the New York Finance Law to restrict the use of State funds in assisting, deterring or promoting union organizing.

Therefore, the purpose of this law is to protect the County's financial interests in connection with its commitment of economic resources by prohibiting funding of certain forms of labor/management conflict and is not intended to provide an advantage to either labor or management during the conduct of union organization campaigns, nor to express any generally applicable policy regarding labor/management relations.

- § 2. **Definitions.** As used in this law, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:
- A.) "Assist, Promote or Deter Union Organizing" shall mean any attempt by an employer to influence the decision of its employees in the County of Nassau or those of its subcontractors regarding either of the following:
  - 1.) whether to support or oppose a labor organization that represents or seeks to represent those employees; and
  - 2.) whether to become a member of any labor organization.
- B.) "Binding Arbitration Agreements" shall mean a written agreement to submit any dispute arising out of the efforts of a labor organization to represent the employees of a County contractor to final and binding arbitration.
- C.) "County Contractor" shall mean any employer that receives more than Fifty Thousand (\$50,000) Dollars in County finds for supplying goods or services pursuant to a written contract

with the County of Nassau or any of its agencies; pursuant to a Nassau County grant; pursuant to a Nassau County program; pursuant to a Nassau County reimbursement for services provided in any calendar year; or pursuant to a sub-contract with any of the above.

- D.) "County Funds" shall mean any monies- appropriated by the Nassau County Legislature.
- E.) "County Property" shall mean any property or facility owned or leased to or by the County of Nassau or any Nassau County agency or authority.
- F.) "Employee" shall mean any person employed by an employer other than a person employed in a supervisory, managerial or confidential position as defined by applicable law.
- G.) "Employer" shall mean any individual, corporation, unincorporated association, partnership, government agency or authority, or another legal entity, whether a for profit entity, a not-for-profit entity or a public entity that employs more than one person in the County of Nassau.
- H.) "Fair Communication Agreements" shall mean a written agreement requiring the parties to such agreement to refrain from providing employees with false and misleading information regarding the circumstances surrounding their employment.
- I.) Human Services Contract" shall mean a County contract, grant or reimbursement of over Fifty Thousand (\$50,000) Dollars for the provision of health, mental health, residential or day treatment services to the mentally ill and developmentally disabled, social services and other care and treatment services of the County.
- J.) "Labor Disputes" shall mean any concerted action concerning wages, hours and conditions of employment or concerning the representation of person in negotiating, maintaining changing or seeking to arrange wages, hours and conditions of employment.
- K.) "Labor Organization" shall mean an organization of any kind in which employees participate and which exists for the purpose, in whole or in part, or representing employees concerning wages, rates for pay, benefit, grievances, labor disputes, hours of employment, working conditions or other matters incidental to the employment relationship, and shall include the parent, national or international organization of a local labor organization.
- L.) "Majority Authorization Card Agreement" shall mean a written agreement authorizing the recognition of a labor organization as the exclusive bargaining agent for a bargaining unit based on the presentation of a majority of authorizing cards.
- M.) "Neutrality Agreement" shall mean a written agreement by a County contractor not to participate in or request or otherwise seek to influence, either in writing or orally, the decision of its employees as to whether or not to be represented by a labor organization.
- N.) "Non-intimidation Agreements" shall mean a written agreement prohibiting the parties from coercing or intimidating employees explicitly or implicitly in selecting or not selecting a bargaining representative.
- O.) "Reasonable Access Agreement" shall mean a written agreement granting a labor organization reasonable access to employees and information necessary to be communicated therewith.

# § 3. Prohibitions.

- A.) A County contractor shall not use any of County funds to assist, promote or deter union organizing.
- B.) No County funds shall be used to reimburse a County contractor for any costs incurred to assist, promote or deter union organizing.
- C.) The County of Nassau shall not use County funds to assist, promote or deter union organizing.
- D.) All County contracts, grant applications, program guidelines and any other relevant documents shall contain the text of the prohibitions in this section.
- E.) No employer shall use County property to hold a meeting with employees or supervisors if the purpose of such meeting is to assist, promote or deter union organizing.
- F.) Prior to the award of a County contract or grant, and/or prior to authorization to participate in a County program, the potential awardee, recipient, and or program participant, as the case may be, shall provide a certification, subscribed by such awardee, recipient and or program participant and affirmed by said person as true under the penalties of perjury to the County agency or authority involved that none of the funds shall be used to assist, promote or deter union organizing.
- G.) Every request for payment of County funds by a County contractor shall include a certification, subscribed to by such person seeking reimbursement and affirmed by said person as true under the penalties of perjury, that the contractor is not seeking reimbursement for costs incurred to assist, promote or deter union organizing.
- H.) Every County Department, Agency, Authority or Office shall require those seeking County contracts, grants, awards, program participation and for County reimbursement to certify and affirm as true under the penalty of perjury that such entities will take all action necessary to ensure that County funds are not used to assist, promote or deter union organizing.
- I.) Any County contractor who makes expenditures or incurs costs to assist, promote or deter union organizing shall maintain records sufficient to show that no County funds were used for those expenditures and, as applicable, that no reimbursement from County funds has been sought for such costs. Such records shall be made available to the pertinent County agency or authority, the County Comptroller, or the County Attorney, upon request.
- § 4. **Accounting.** Each County contractor shall account for funds spent on assisting, deterring or promoting union organizing activities as follows:
  - A. County funds designated by the County for use for a specific expenditure of the recipient shall be accounted for as allocated to the expenditure.
  - B. County funds that are not designated as described in paragraph (A) of this section shall be allocated on a pro rata basis to all expenditures by the recipient that support the program for which the grant is awarded.

- C. If County funds and other funds are commingled, and the contractor fails to keep records sufficient to satisfy the requirements of paragraphs (A) or (B) of this section, any expenditure to assist, promote or deter union organizing shall be allocated between the County funds and other funds on the pro rata basis derived from the interplay of paragraphs (A) and (B) of this section.
- D. Any expense, including legal and consulting fees and salaries of supervisor and employees, incurred for research for, or preparation, planning or coordination of, carrying out, an activity to assist, promote or deter union organizing shall be treated as paid or incurred for that activity.

# § 5. Applicability.

- A. This law shall apply to any contracts awarded on or after the effective date of this law.
- B. This law shall not apply to an activity performed or to an expense incurred in connection with any of the following:
  - 1.) addressing a grievance or negotiating or administering a collective bargaining agreement;
  - 2.) allowing a labor organization or its representative's access to the employer's facility or property;
  - 3.) performing an activity required by Federal or State law or by a collective bargaining agreement; and
  - 4.) negotiating, entering into or carrying out a voluntary recognition agreement with a labor organization.
- § 6. **Implementation.** Every Nassau County Department, Agency; Authority or Office shall:
  - 1.) Include in all bid documents, County grant applications, County program guidelines and County reimbursement documents, a statement informing potential and actual County contractors that the efficient, timely and non-disruptive provision of goods and services sought by such Department, Agency, Authority or Office is a paramount financial interest of the County of Nassau and as such the County expects the potential County contractor to protect the County's financial interest by adopting non-confrontational procedures for the orderly resolution of labor disputes. The statement shall also inform the potential and actual County contractors that such non-confrontational procedures may include, but are not limited to, neutrality agreements, majority authorization card agreements, binding arbitration agreements, fair communication agreements, non-intimidation agreements and reasonable access agreements.

- 2.) Require County contractors and those seeking County contracts, to certify and affirm as true under the penalty of perjury:
  - a.) that such contractor will not express to employees any false or misleading information that is intended to influence the determination of employee preferences regarding union representation;
  - b.) that such contractor will not coerce or intimidate employees, explicitly or implicitly, in selecting or not selecting a bargaining representative;
  - c.) that such contractor will not require an employee, individually or in a group, to attend a meeting or an event that is intended to influence his or her decision in selecting or not selecting a bargaining representative;
  - d.) that such contractor understands its obligation to limit disruptions caused by pre-recognition labor disputes through the adoption of non-confrontational procedures for the resolution of pre-recognition labor disputes with employees engaged in the production of goods or the rendering of services for the County; and
  - e.) that such contractor has and will adopt any or all of the above-referenced procedures, or their functional equivalent, to ensure the efficient, timely and quality provision of goods and services to the County. The contractor shall include a list of said procedures in such certification.
- 3.) Ensure that every County contract for the provision of services, when such services will be performed on County property, include as a condition of award, grant receipt or reimbursement, as the case may be, a requirement that such County contractor adopt a reasonable access agreement, a neutrality agreement, fair communication agreement, non-intimidation agreement, and a majority authorization card agreement.
- 4.) Ensure that every County contract for the provision of human services, when such services are not to be performed on County property, include as a condition of award, grant receipt or reimbursement, as the case may be, a requirement that such County contractor adopt, at the least, a neutrality agreement.

#### § 7. Penalties.

- A.) A County contractor who expends funds and/or obtains reimbursement for funds spent in violation in Section 3 or 4 of this law shall be liable for any funds so expended plus a civil penalty equal to twice the amount of those funds. Such penalty shall not be paid by the contactor from any other County funds. In addition, said County contractor shall be prohibited form bidding on County contracts for a period of five (5) years from the final determination of a violation, either by administrative action or judicial action.
- B.) An employer that violates Section 3 of this law, shall also be liable for a civil penalty equal to One Thousand (\$1,000) Dollars per employee per meeting. Such penalty shall not be paid by the employer from any other County funds.

C.) Any public official who knowingly authorizes the use of County funds in violation of Section 3 of this law, shall be liable to the County for those funds.

#### Section 8. Enforcement.

- A.) A civil action for a violation of this law may be brought by the County Attorney's office for injunctive relief, damages, civil penalties and other appropriate equitable relief.
- B.) All damages and civil penalties collected pursuant to this law shall be paid to the general fund of the county;
- C.) Any Labor Organization may file a complaint with the Nassau County Department of Labor or the Nassau County Attorney's office alleging violations of this law. Said complaint shall be promptly investigated and a written response shall be issued to the complaining Labor Organization.
- § 9. **Rules and Regulations.** The Department of Labor shall promulgate such rules and regulations as it deems necessary and appropriate for the implementation and enforcement of any provision of this law.
- § 10. **Severability.** If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this law or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

(Added by Local Law No. 19-2003, in effect March 1, 2004.)

#### **TITLE 57**

## NASSAU COUNTY LIVING WAGE LAW

#### Section 1. Short title

This law shall be known as the Nassau County Living Wage Law, which shall appear in the miscellaneous laws as title 57.

# § 2. **Definitions**

For purposes of this law, the following terms shall have the following meanings: "Benefits" means payment by an entity subject to the provisions of this law to its employees or on their behalf of an amount no less than one dollar and fifty cents per hour

worked towards the provision of health benefits or child care benefits for employees and/or their dependents. For purposes of this law, benefits shall also be paid in the above amount for every hour an employee receives as compensated time off.

"Benefits supplement rate" means one dollar and fifty cents per hour, which may be paid to an employee in lieu of benefits. Such supplement rate shall be upwardly adjusted in proportion to any increase during the preceding twelve months of the consumer price index for medical care for the New York-Northern New Jersey-Long Island metropolitan statistical area. "Building services" means any work providing custodial, janitorial, grounds-keeping, or security guard services.

"Building services employee" means an employee of an entity performing building services.

"Child care" means care for a child on a regular basis provided away from the child's residence for less than 24 hours per day by someone other than the parent, step-parent, guardian or relative within the third degree of consanguinity of the parents or step-parents of such child. "County" means the county of Nassau.

"County service contract" means (1) a contract let to a contractor by the county for the furnishing of services to or for the county and that involves an expenditure equal to or greater than twenty-five thousand dollars, except contracts where services are incidental to the delivery of products, equipment or commodities. A contract for the purchase or lease of goods, products, equipment, supplies or other personal property is not a "service contract" for the purposes of this definition. This definition shall not include contracts awarded pursuant to the county's emergency procurement procedure as set forth in section twenty-two hundred six of the county charter, inter-governmental agreements, agreements with state or local public authorities or agreements with local development corporations incorporated pursuant to section 1411 of the not-for-profit corporations law.

"County contractor" means any entity or person that enters into a county service contract with the county.

"County financial assistance" shall mean any grant, loan, tax incentive or abatement, bond financing, subsidy or other form of assistance of more than fifty thousand dollars which is realized by or provided to an entity having at least ten employees by or through the authority or approval of the county. For purposes of this law, county financial assistance shall not include industrial development bonds, community development block grant loans, and enterprise-zone related incentives.

"County financial assistance recipient," or "CFAR" means any entity that receives financial assistance from the county. In addition, any tenant or leaseholder of a CFAR who occupies property or uses equipment or property that is improved or developed as a result of the assistance awarded to the CFAR and who employs at least twenty employees for each working day in each of twenty or more calendar weeks in the twelve months after occupying or using such property, shall be considered a CFAR for the purposes of this chapter and shall be covered for the same period as the CFAR of which they are a tenant or leaseholder.

"County lease" means any lease, concession agreement, or other agreement authorizing any party to occupy, use, control or do business at property owned or controlled by the county.

"County lessee" means any entity leasing property from the county pursuant to a county lease.

"County subcontractor" means any entity or person that is engaged by a county contractor to assist in performing any of the services to be rendered pursuant to a county service contract. This definition does not include any entity that merely provides goods relating to a county service contract or that provides services of a general nature (such as relating to general office operations) to a county service contractor which do not relate directly to performing the services to be rendered pursuant to the county service contract. An entity shall be deemed a county subcontractor for the duration of the period during which it assists a county contractor in performing the county service contract.

"Employee" means any person who is employed (1) by the County, except student interns; or by Nassau Community College, except for student workers (2) as a service employee of a contractor or subcontractor pursuant to one or more service contracts and who expends any of his or her time thereon. Such employees shall include but not be limited to: hotel employees, restaurant, food service or banquet employees; janitorial employees; security guards; parking attendants; health care employees; gardeners; waste management employees; and clerical employees; (3) by a CFAR and who expends at least half of his or her time on the funded project/program or property which is the subject of county financial assistance; (4) by a service contractor of a CFAR and who expends at least half of his or her time on the premises of the CFAR and is directly involved with the funded project/program or property which is the subject of county financial assistance; or (5) as a service employee of a county lessee or by a service contractor of a county lessee and who expends at least half of his or her time on the leased premises. Any person who is a managerial, supervisory or professional employee shall not be considered an employee for purposes of this definition.

"Employer" means the county and any entity or person who is a CFAR or a service contractor of a CFAR, county contractor or subcontractor, county lessee, or a building services contractor or subcontractor of a county lessee, except that Medicaid funded assisted living program facilities that were providing services within Nassau County prior to 2006 and who continue to provide such services shall not be considered an employer for purposes of this law. "Entity" or "person" means any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, association, joint venture, limited liability company, corporation or any other form of doing business. "Inter-governmental agreement" means any agreement or contract between the county and a) any municipal corporation located in the county; b) any school district located in the county; or c) any special district located in the county.

"Living wage" means an hourly wage rate of twelve dollars and fifty cents (\$12.50) per hour phased in as provided below; provided, however, that for homecare services under the personal care services program, the wage rates below shall only apply as long as the state and federal government maintain their combined aggregate proportionate share of funding and approved rates for homecare services in effect as of the date of the enactment of this law:

- (1) from the effective date of this law through the thirty-first day of July, two thousand eight, nine dollars and fifty cents per hour;
- (2) from the first day of August, two thousand eight, through the thirty-first day of July,

two thousand nine, ten dollars and fifty cents per hour;

- (3) from the first day of August, two thousand nine, through the thirty-first day of July, two thousand ten, eleven dollars and fifty cents per hour;
- (4) from the first day of August, two thousand ten, and through the thirty-first day of July, two thousand eleven, twelve dollars and fifty cents per hour.

Beginning on the first day of August, two thousand eleven, and on the first day of August every year thereafter, the living wage shall be adjusted upward by a percentage equal to the change in the New York Metropolitan Area All Urban Index (NY CPI-U) as promulgated by the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor (CPI) for the period of June of the preceding year to June of the current year. In no event shall such wage increase be greater than three and one-half percent.

"Student interns" means persons who are currently enrolled in a secondary or post-secondary educational institution, whether on a part-time or full-time basis, and are employed in a temporary position with the County. "Student workers" means persons who are currently Nassau Community College students, and are employed at Nassau Community College.

# §3. Minimum Compensation

# a. Wages

Employers shall pay their employees no less than the living wage for each hour they perform County work and either provide them benefits or supplement their hourly wage rate by an amount no less than the benefits supplement rate; provided, however, that:
i. employers who provide building services shall pay their employees no less than the living wage, as required by this section, or the prevailing wage, whichever is greater; and ii. where an employee is covered by a bona fide collective bargaining agreement which provides benefits, his or her employer shall not be required to provide benefits pursuant to this subdivision.

## b. Compensated days off

Employers shall provide their employees no fewer than twelve paid days off per year for sick leave, vacation or personal necessity at the employee's request. Paid days off must be compensated at no less than the living wage rate plus the benefits supplement rate; except that if the employer provides benefits or subsection 3(a)(ii) applies, then the health benefits supplement need not be paid for compensated days off. Full-time employees shall accrue such leave at a rate of one day per month of full-time employment. Part-time employees who work twenty or more hours per week shall accrue such leave in increments proportional to the rate of accrual for full-time employees. Any employee shall be eligible to begin using such accrued leave six months following his or her start date of employment, or consistent with company policy, whichever is sooner. Paid holidays, consistent with established employer policy, may be counted toward provision of the required twelve compensated days off. Compensated days off shall not be forfeited upon separation from service; such days shall be paid out to the employee upon such separation at the living wage rate at the time of separation.

c. Exemption for minors and employment programs, the disabled, child care This law shall not apply to:

- 1) any employee who is:
- (A) under the age of eighteen who is claimed as a dependent for federal income tax purposes and is employed as an after-school or summer employee; or
- (B) employed as a trainee in a bona fide training program consistent with federal and state law where the training program has the goal that the employee advances into a permanent position; provided, however, that this exemption shall apply only when the trainee does not replace, displace or lower the wages or benefits of any employee, and the training does not exceed two years; and
- 2) any disabled employee, where such disabled employee:
- (A) is covered by a current sub-minimum wage certificate issued to the employer by the United States department of labor; or
- (B) would be covered by such a certificate but for the fact that the employer is paying a wage equal to or higher than the federal minimum wage.
- 3) any county service contract or county financial assistance in relation to the furnishing of child care services; sleep away camp services for the disabled; pre-school services provided pursuant to section forty-four hundred ten of the New York State Education Law; and early intervention services, as defined in section twenty-five hundred forty-one of the New York State Public Health Law.
- 4) any county service contract or county financial assistance where the application of this law in a particular case would violate any specific state or federal statutory, regulatory, or constitutional provision.
- d. No effect on county wage pattern Nothing in this law shall be construed to establish a wage or benefit pattern for county employees.

# § 4. Duration

- a. For CFARs, assistance given by the county in an amount equal to or greater than fifty thousand dollars in any twelve month period shall require compliance with this chapter for the life of the contract in the case of assistance given to fund a program, or for five years in the case of assistance given for the purchase of real property or personal property to construct facilities, including but not limited to materials, equipment, fixtures, merchandise, and machinery.
- b. A service contractor and subcontractor shall be required to comply with this chapter for the term of the county service contract.

# § 5. Obligations of Employers

- a. Certification of Compliance. 1) Prior to the award of a county service contract, county financial assistance or county lease, any employer seeking such contract, financial assistance or lease shall provide the county with a certification containing the following information:
- (A) the name, address, and telephone number of the chief executive officer of the employer;
- (B) a statement that, if the county service contract, county financial assistance or county lease is awarded, the employer agrees to comply with the requirements of this law, and with all applicable federal, state and local laws;
- (C) a record of any instances during the preceding five years in which the employer has been

found by a court or government agency to have violated federal, state or local laws regulating payment of wages or benefits, labor relations or occupational safety and health, or where any government body initiated a judicial action, administrative proceeding or investigation of the applicant in regard to such laws; and

2) A county contractor shall each year throughout the term of the county service contract submit to the county an updated certification whenever there have been material changes to information contained in the current certification.

# b. Payroll records.

Every employer shall maintain original payroll records for each of its employees reflecting the days and hours worked on contracts, projects or assignments that are subject to the requirements of this law, and the wages paid and benefits provided for such hours worked, for a period of four years after completion of the term of the county service contract or receipt of county financial assistance. Upon request by the comptroller, a covered employer shall grant county employees access to worksites and produce, for inspection and copying, its payroll records and any other data that may be required by the comptroller from time to time for any or all of its covered employees for the prior four-year period. Failure to maintain such records as required shall create a rebuttable presumption that the covered employer did not pay its covered employees the wages and benefits required under the law.

# § 6. Implementation by county

- a. The county shall comply with and enforce the requirements of this law, which shall be a term and condition of any county service contract, county financial assistance or county lease. The county shall not expend county funds in connection with any county service contract, county financial assistance, or county lease in contravention of the provisions of this law.
- b. Every county service contract, county financial assistance agreement, or county lease shall have annexed to it the following materials which shall form a part of the specifications for and terms of such contract or agreement:
- (A) a provision obligating the employer to comply with all applicable requirements under this law, as well as a provision providing that: (i) failure to comply with the requirements of this law may constitute a material breach by the employer; (ii) such failure shall be determined by the county; and (iii) if, within thirty days after such employer receives written notice of such a breach, the employer fails to cure such breach, the county shall have the right to pursue any rights or remedies available under the terms of such county service contract, county financial assistance, or county lease or under applicable law, including termination of such contract or assistance;
  - (B) the certification required under subdivision a of section five of this law.

# § 7. Monitoring and enforcement

- a. The comptroller shall have the authority to monitor, investigate, and audit compliance by all contracting agencies and may contract with non-governmental agencies to investigate possible violations.
- b. The county executive or his or her designee may promulgate rules to implement the provisions of this law and may delegate such authority to the comptroller.
- c. The comptroller shall submit an annual report to the county executive and the county

legislature summarizing and assessing the implementation of and compliance with this law during the preceding year.

- d. Where an employer has been determined to have violated any provision of this title, such employer shall be given written notice thereof by the county. If, within thirty days after such employer receives such notice, he or she fails to cure such breach, the county shall have the right to pursue any rights or remedies available under the terms of its contract or CFAR agreement with such employer, or under applicable law, including, but not limited to:
- (i) suspension and termination of such contract or financial assistance;
- (ii) payback of any or all of the contract or financial assistance awarded by the county;
- (iii) declare the employer ineligible for future county service contracts, county financial assistance and county leases until all penalties and restitution have been paid in full;
- (iv) imposition of a fine payable to the County as follows:
- 1. upon the issuance of the first written notice of a violation of this title an employer shall be fined in the amount of \$500 each week for each employee found not to have been paid in accordance with this title;
- 2. if within thirty days after such employer receives the first written notice of violation, such employer fails to cure such breach, such employer shall receive a second notice of such violation and shall be fined in the amount of \$1,000 each week thereafter for each employee found not to have been paid in accordance with this title;
- 3. if within thirty days after such employer receives a second written notice of violation, such employer fails to cure such breach, such employer shall receive a third notice of such violation and shall be fined in the amount of \$2,000 each week thereafter for each employee found not to have been paid in accordance with this title;
- (v) wage restitution plus 9% simple interest for each such employee.

# § 8. Private Right of Action

- a. An employee may, in addition to any other remedy provided by this law, institute an action in any court of competent jurisdiction against the employer alleged to have violated this law. For failure to pay wages or provide benefits required under this law, such court may award any of the remedies provided under section one hundred ninety eight of the New York state labor law. For failure to comply with other requirements of this law, including protections against retaliation and discrimination, the court may award any appropriate remedy at law or equity, including but not limited to back pay, payment for wrongly denied benefits, interest, other equitable or make-whole relief, reinstatement, injunctive relief and/or compensatory damages. The court shall award reasonable attorney's fees and costs to any complaining party who prevails in any such enforcement action.
- b. Notwithstanding any inconsistent provision of this law or of any other general, special or local law, ordinance, county charter or administrative code, an employee affected by this law shall not be barred from the right to recover the difference between the amount paid to the employee and the amount which should have been paid to the employee under the provisions of this law because of the prior receipt by the employee without protest of wages or benefits paid, or on account of the employee's failure to state orally or in writing upon any payroll or receipt

which the employee is required to sign that the wages or benefits received by the employee are received under protest, or on account of the employee's failure to indicate a protest against the amount, or that the amount so paid does not constitute payment in full of wages or benefits due the employee for the period covered by such payment.

- c. An action pursuant to this section must be commenced within three years of the date of the alleged violation, or within three years of the final disposition of any administrative complaint or action concerning the alleged violation or, if such a disposition is reviewed in a proceeding pursuant to article seventy-eight of the New York state civil practice law and rules, within three years of the termination of such review proceedings. No procedure or remedy set forth in this law is intended to be exclusive or a prerequisite for asserting a claim for relief to enforce any rights hereunder in a court of law. This law shall not be construed to limit an employee's right to bring a common law cause of action for wrongful termination.
- d. This section shall not be construed to authorize an action against the county or any of its officers or employees relating to either the enforcement or implementation of this title.

# § 9. Waiver

- a. Any county contractor may request a waiver of the requirements of this law by submitting an application therefor to the county executive, or his or her designee, who shall establish such rules, regulations, procedures and forms as he or she may deem necessary to carry out the provisions of this section, as well as the eligibility criteria for such waiver, which shall include, but not be limited to the following:
- (i) The highest paid officer or employee of such contractor earns a salary and/or receives fringe benefits that the Comptroller, in its discretion, may determine a method for valuing such benefits, including but not limited to dividends, a car and health insurance which cumulatively, when calculated on an hourly basis, is less than six times the lowest wage or salary paid by the contractor; or
- (ii) Compliance with the requirements of this law will directly increase a contractor's expected total annual budget in an amount greater than ten percent of the prior fiscal year's budget
- b. The name and address of any county contractor that applies for a waiver pursuant to this section shall be listed on the Nassau County\_web site at least 45 days prior to any decision on the granting of said waiver. Any interested party shall have 15 days from the posting of said contractor to provide written comments on the application and a decision shall issue within 30 days of the closing of the comment period.

# § 10. Other provisions

a. Except where expressly provided otherwise in this law, the requirements of this law shall apply to county service contracts and county leases entered into, and county financial assistance awarded after the effective date of this law, and shall not apply to any existing county service contract or county lease entered into or county financial assistance awarded prior to that date. Where a county service contract, a county lease or county financial assistance is renewed or extended after the effective date of this law, such renewal or extension shall be deemed a new county service contract, a new county lease, or new county financial assistance, as the case may

be, subject to the requirements of this law, as applicable.

- b. Nothing in this law shall be construed as prohibiting or conflicting with any other obligation or law, including any collective bargaining agreement that mandates the provision of higher or superior wages, benefits, or protections to covered employees, unless the requirements in subsection c of this section are fulfilled. No requirement or provision of this law shall be construed as applying to any person or circumstance where such coverage would be preempted by federal or state law. However, in such circumstances, only those specific applications or provisions of this law for which coverage would be pre-empted shall be construed as not applying.
- c. The requirements of this law may be waived by the written terms of a bona fide collective bargaining agreement, provided that this local law is expressly referenced in the agreement, and that the agreement sets forth in clear and unambiguous terms the desire of all parties to waive some or all of the requirements of this local law. Unilateral implementation of terms and conditions of employment by either party to a collective bargaining relationship shall not constitute a waiver of any of the requirements of this Section.
- d. Not-for-profit corporations shall be eligible for financial assistance from the Nassau County Living Wage Contingency Fund, or any successor fund thereto, upon funding availability, in order to meet increased payroll expenses incurred due the operation of this law, upon filing a request for such assistance with the county executive or his or her designee, who shall establish such rules, regulations, procedures and forms as he or she may deem necessary to carry out the provisions of this subdivision.

## § 11. Retaliation and Discrimination Barred

It shall be unlawful for any employer to retaliate, discharge, demote, suspend, take adverse employment action in the terms and conditions of employment or otherwise discriminate against any employee for reporting or asserting a violation of this law, for seeking or communicating information regarding rights conferred by this law, for exercising any other rights protected under this law, or for participating in any investigatory or court proceeding relating to this law. This protection shall also apply to any employee or his or her representative who in good faith alleges a violation of this law, or who seeks or communicates information regarding rights conferred by this law in circumstances where he or she in good faith believes this law applies. Taking adverse employment action against a covered employee(s) or his or her representative within sixty days of the covered employee engaging in any of the aforementioned activities shall raise a rebuttable presumption of having done so in retaliation for those activities. Any covered employee subjected to any action that violates this subsection may pursue administrative remedies or bring a civil action pursuant to section 5 of this law in a court of competent jurisdiction.

# § 12. Protection against displacement of building services workers

- a. It is the purpose of this provision to ensure continuity in living wage employment for building services employees and minimize disruption when building services that were previously performed by employees of an entity subject to the provisions of this title are continued by a new entity.
  - b. In the event that an employer that provides building services sells, transfers, assigns, or

otherwise conveys its interest in county real property, the county shall require any subsequent employer assuming such interest to retain and employ such building service employees as were employed by the original county contractor.

# § 13. Severability

If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this local law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, effect or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this law or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

# § 14. Effective date. This local law shall take effect January 1, 2007.

(Added by Local Law No. 1-2006, passed by the Legislature on Dec. 19, 2005 and signed by the County Executive on January 16, 2006; section 2, subdivisions a and c of section 3, section 5, subdivision b of section 6, and subdivision a of section 7 amended by Local Law No. 19-2006; sections 2,3,7,9 and 10 amended by local law 1-2010 passed by the Legislature on December 21, 2009 and singed by the County Executive on January 21, 2010)

#### TITLE 58

## NASSAU COUNTY BB GUN LAW

Section 1. Short title

This law shall be known as the Nassau County BB Gun Law, which shall appear in the miscellaneous laws as title 58.

Section 2. Legislative Intent

This Legislature finds that air guns, including but not limited to, BB guns and pellet guns, threaten the health, safety and well-being of the residents of Nassau County when they are obtained and used by minors. These guns can kill a person. High velocity guns can increase the risk. The U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission ("CPSC") has reports of approximately four deaths per year caused by BB guns or pellet rifles. Studies have shown that , at close range, BBs and pellets fired from these air powered guns can cause tissue damage and potentially severe penetrating injuries especially those to the abdomen, chest, eye and head of children. Recently, two Long Island youngsters were hospitalized after being shot, in the eye and abdomen respectively, by BB gun pellets wielded by minors. There has also been a series of recent incidents in the County involving multiple car windows being shot out with BB guns. There are no federal laws regulating the transfer, possession or use of air guns. This title protects the public safety by establishing safeguards to control the sale of these products to individuals under the age of eighteen. This legislature finds that by controlling the sale of these products to such individuals, severe or lethal injuries can be significantly reduced.

# Section 3. Definitions

As used in this title:

- a. "Person" shall mean a person, firm, company, corporation, partnership, sole proprietor, limited partnership, limited liability partnership, limited liability corporation or association.
- b. "Air guns" shall mean any air rifle, air pistol, spring gun, spring pistol, B-B gun, paint ball gun, pellet gun or any implement, instrument or weapon that is not a firearm, which propels ammunition in the form of a pellet constructed of hard steel, lead, plastic, elastic containing paint or ceramic or other hard materials with a force that is reasonably expected to cause bodily harm.

Section 4. Sale of air guns to individuals under the age of eighteen (18) prohibited.

- a. It shall be unlawful for any person, whose business includes the sale of air guns, to sell or offer to sell give and /or provide, or cause another person to sell, offer to sell, give and/or provide an air gun or ammunition therefore to any individual under the age of eighteen (18) in the County of Nassau.
- b. Any person operating a place of business where air guns are sold or offered for sale shall post in a conspicuous place the following statement: "SALE OF AIR GUNS OR AMMUNITION THEREFOR TO INDIVIDUALS UNDER THE AGE OF EIGHTEEN (18) IS PROHIBITED BY LAW"
- c. Any person who sells or offers air guns for sale, shall place such air guns and ammunition therefore on display only if such items are; (i) contained in a sealed and locked case: (ii) located behind the service counter with access limited to the seller or his agents or employees; or, (iii) stored in any other manner which restricts access to air guns by customers and/or the general public.

## Section 5. Penalties

a. Any person who violates any provision of this title shall, for a first offense, be guilty of a violation punishable by a fine of not more than two hundred fifty dollars. A second or subsequent violation shall be a Class B misdemeanor punishable by a fine of not more than five hundred dollars or three months imprisonment, or both.

## Section 6. Severability

If any clause, sentence, paragraph of subdivision or part of this Article or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance, shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, or part of this Article, or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such judgment shall be rendered.

## c. Effective date.

This local law shall take effect 120 days after it shall have become a law. (Added by Local Law 6-2006, signed by the County Executive on May 4, 2006.)

## TITLE 59<sup>30</sup>

# NASSAU COUNTY POET LAUREATE LAW

Section 1. This law shall be known as the Nassau County Poet Laureate Law, which shall appear in the miscellaneous laws as Title 59.

Section 2. Legislative Intent

This Legislature finds that the culture and the sense of peace that poetry can bring to the very hectic lives led by the residents of this county are an important element of the well being and enrichment of our lives. Poetry is literary expression in which language is used in a concentrated blend of sound and imagery to create an emotional response. It is as old as the chants first sung around the tribal fires of primitive peoples. The chant/song/poem is what heals the heart and soul. Poetry celebrates the individual word, the sound of language and the rhythm of language.

Section 3.

The Nassau County Legislature shall biennially designate a poet laureate for Nassau County, to be honored at the first meeting in April of every two years, and who shall be known as the Nassau County Poet Laureate for the period of April 1st through March 30th of the

second year following to be selected from a panel to be named by the legislature consisting of the following individuals:

- a. a Nassau County educator who teaches poetry selected by the Nassau County Council of School Superintendents;
- b. an active member of the poetry community named by the County Executive's office;
- c. an active member of the poetry community named by the Presiding Officer of the Nassau County Legislature;
- d. an active member of the poetry community named by the Minority Leader of the Nassau County Legislature;
- e. the Vice President of Academic Affairs of the Nassau County Community College, or his or her designee; and
- f. a member of the Nassau County Library Association designated by said Library Association.

## Section 4.

The Nassau County Poet Laureate Panel shall, no later than March 1 of the year the poet laureate is to be designated, issue a written report to the Chairperson of the Government Services Committee and to the Clerk of the Nassau County Legislature, identifying the individual chosen by the panel as the poet laureate, and shall include in said report the criteria used in the selection process.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> There are two titles 59

Section 5. The poet laureate shall promote and encourage poetry within the county and shall give two public readings within the county each year.

Section 6. This law shall take effect 60 days after the date it is signed. (Added by Local Law 7-2006, signed by the County Executive on May 4, 2006.)

#### TITLE 59<sup>31</sup>

#### **ENVIRONMENTAL PROGRAM**

Section 1. This law shall appear in the miscellaneous laws as title 59. § 2. Legislative Intent.

The legislature finds that there continues to be a compelling and urgent need to preserve the County's remaining open space, to provide adequate and diverse kinds of parklands and park facilities for County residents for both active and passive recreation, to protect the County's precious water resources whether above or underground, such as aquifers, recharge areas, ponds, streams, estuaries and other bodies of water, and to provide for the cleanup of brownfields within the County.

Development pressure is threatening open space in the County. The County Legislature finds that the preservation of open space is essential to protect the quality of life of County residents, provide a buffer against sprawl, maintain groundwater recharge areas to ensure the quality and quantity of future drinking water supplies, protect natural habitat and sensitive environmental areas, and provide access for residents to woodlands, coastal waterfronts, trails and other natural areas.

The County Legislature finds, further that many parks, recreational and historic facilities within the County are in need of renovation, restoration, and capital improvement, and that it is a county purpose to improve the quality of County parks in order to provide increased recreational opportunities, enhance property values and improve the quality of life for County residents.

Storm water runoff pollution is a threat to the quality of water resources of the County's north and south shores. This condition has been documented by the south shore estuary comprehensive management plan and the comprehensive conservation and management plan for Long Island Sound, which found that non-point source pollution is the primary water quality concern in the south shore estuary reserve and Long Island Sound and its estuaries. In addition, the County is required by the Clean Water Act to develop a strategy for mitigating storm water runoff pollution. This Legislature declares that funding necessary storm water projects, which may include pond rehabilitation and/or dredging projects, and assisting the county in preparing for the new federal regulatory requirements are County purposes and, in addition, constitute purposes contemplated by the New York State and County legislatures when they created the county sewer and storm water resources district in two thousand three.

Surface and coastal waters are also a vital element of the County's quality of life, its environmental resources, and appeal to residents and tourists. This Legislature finds that both the quantity and quality of the County's water resources are threatened by increased usage and

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> There are two titles 59

contamination as a result of past and foreseeable future development, so that the protection of the County's water resources is a county purpose necessary for the wellbeing of residents, the health of the environment, and the vitality of the economy.

Pollution and toxic waste have despoiled many parcels of land in the County and made them unfit for development and other use. This Legislature finds that it is the role of municipalities to fund, where practicable, the clean up of the brownfield areas.

This Legislature finds therefore, that it continues to be necessary to fund a rational and fiscally prudent program to further the purposes of preserving open space; acquiring and improving parks, athletic fields and other recreational facilities; restoring and improving park, recreational, and historic assets; mitigating storm water runoff pollution; protecting and improving the County's water resources, including any projects to accomplish such goal and the goal of mitigation of storm water runoff pollution, and remediating brownfields. In connection with each of the above purposes, the County should, to the extent practicable, partner with any other municipality within the County, and the state and federal governments.

# § 3. Definitions.

For purposes of this section, the following words shall have the following meanings: "Active parkland" shall mean parkland that is used for primarily for sports, exercise, entertainment or active play.

"County" shall mean the County of Nassau.

"District" shall mean the Nassau county Sewer and storm Water Resources District, established pursuant to chapter six hundred eighty-five of the laws of two thousand three.

"Environmental bond issue" or "bond issue" shall mean the serial bonds issued by the county or the Finance Authority for the purpose of establishing an environmental program pursuant to this law.

"Environmental program" or "program" shall mean projects funded by serial bonds in any amounts up to a total of one hundred million dollars issued for the purposes set forth in section six of this law. "Environmental program" shall not refer to projects funded by any moneys other than the environmental bond issue.

"Finance authority" shall mean the Nassau County Interim Finance Authority established pursuant to chapter eighty-four of the laws of two thousand or the Nassau County Sewer and Storm Water Finance Authority established pursuant to chapter six hundred eighty-five of the laws of two thousand three, as appropriate.

"Improvement" shall mean an addition made to parkland or an amelioration of the condition of parkland or an amelioration of the condition of an improvement on parkland amounting to more than routine maintenance.

"Natural or scenic resources" shall mean open areas and shall include but not be limited to, agricultural lands, including lands employed for the raising of livestock, defined as open lands actually used in bona fide agricultural production.

"Open space," "open land," or "open area" shall, as set forth in the section two hundred seventy-four of the General Municipal Law, mean any space or area characterized by natural scenic beauty; or where the existing openness, natural condition, or present state of use, if retained, would enhance the present or potential value of abutting or surrounding urban development, or

would maintain or enhance the conservation of natural or scenic resources.

"Open space purposes" shall mean purposes or projects that involve one or more of the following: (a) the creation or establishment of parks, nature preserves, or recreation areas; (b) the creation or preservation of open space, including agricultural lands and lands used for livestock, animal husbandry, grazing, or care of animals; (c) preservation of lands of exceptional scenic value; (d) preservation of fresh and saltwater marshes or other wetlands; (e) preservation of aquifer recharge areas; (f) preservation of undeveloped beachlands or shoreline; (g) creation or establishment of wildlife refuges for the purpose of maintaining native animal species, including the protection of habitat essential to the recovery of rare, threatened or endangered species; (h) preservation of unique or threatened ecological areas; (i) creation or preservation of forested land; (j) preservation of public access to lands for public use including stream rights and waterways; and (k) undertaking any of the aforementioned in furtherance of the establishment of a greenbelt.

"OSPAC" shall mean the Nassau County Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee. "Planning Commission" shall mean the Nassau County Planning Commission.

§ 4. Establishment of environmental program.

Nassau County or the Finance Authority are hereby authorized to issue, appropriate and expend one hundred million dollars in serial bonds of the County of Nassau by means of bonds issued pursuant to duly enacted bond ordinances of the County of Nassau, and all moneys raised pursuant to such bond issues shall be used to implement the environmental program pursuant to this law.

- a. The County Legislature may vote on a bond ordinance and corresponding resolution(s) for a project or group of projects in accordance with section seven of this local law.
- b. The Treasurer shall deposit the proceeds of all such bonds into one or more accounts designated as environmental program funds, which shall be used only for the purposes, and in the manner, set forth in this Local Law. Such funds may include additional moneys from other sources, including but not limited to, dedicated fees, grants, or any other moneys allowed by law; provided, however that such additional moneys shall not be subject to the limitations set forth in this section.
  - § 5. Dedicated tax and special revenue fund for payment of debt service.

A special revenue fund is hereby established, to commence in the first fiscal year in which debt service must be paid for bonds issued pursuant to the program, for the purpose of payment of debt service for projects authorized pursuant to the program. The county budget for the fiscal year in which debt service is payable on bonds issued pursuant to the program shall include a tax levy dedicated to the payment of debt service for County projects funded by such bond issue, provided that clean water projects pursuant to the program shall be funded by the district and the budget for the district commencing in fiscal year two thousand ten shall include a tax levy to pay the debt service for such clean water projects. The taxes assessed pursuant to this section shall appear as a separate item on the tax bill submitted to property owners. Moneys raised through the tax levies authorized by this subdivision shall be placed in the special revenue fund and shall be used only for payment of such debt service. The County may, in its discretion, and as legally permissible, deposit other revenues into such fund; provided, however, that such

other revenues shall not be subject to the limitation contained in this subdivision.

- § 6. Expenditures of the proceeds of the environmental bond issue. The net proceeds raised through the environmental program bond issue may be expended as set forth in this section:
- a. Open space preservation. A portion of the net proceeds from the environmental program bond issue shall be expended for the acquisition of real property rights.
- (i) All real property purchased in fee under the environmental program pursuant to this subdivision may be limited by deed restriction to future use for only park, recreation, agricultural or open space purposes and may be dedicated as perpetual preservation lands under county law.
- (ii) Parcels of land from which development rights or other interests are acquired may remain preserved in perpetuity via a permanent conservation easement or other means that similarly preserves the open space, ecological, water recharge, or scenic value of the parcel, or the agricultural character of the parcel of land.
- (iii) The County may enter into agreements with other municipalities within the county, the state, or other entities, as permitted by law, to purchase development rights, conservation easements or other rights or interests in land for the purposes set forth in this law; provided, however, that the county contribution shall not exceed fifty percent of the total cost of such purchases.
- b. Parks expansion and improvement. A portion of the net proceeds from the environmental program bond issue shall be expended for park expansion and improvement, as follows:
- (i) Acquisition and improvement of active parkland. A portion of the net proceeds from the environmental program bond issue shall be expended for the acquisition or improvement of land for use as active parklands, except golf courses. In addition to such acquisition or improvement by the County, for purposes of this subparagraph, such acquisition or improvement may also be accomplished through written agreements with municipalities within the County or with a duly incorporated or organized not-for-profit entities to improve the properties for additional space for playgrounds, athletic fields, outdoor concerts, horseback riding or other equine activities, or other community recreational needs; provided, however, that all such agreements shall provide for continued public access to such property; at a minimum allowing free access to all County residents as spectators at sporting events, and providing in lease agreements a mechanism for County residents to maintain reasonable access to facilities when such facilities are not in active use by the contracting municipality or organization. The County may enter into agreements with municipalities within the County to acquire or improve parcels of land pursuant to this subparagraph, or may make grants to such municipalities; provided, however, that the county contribution cannot exceed fifty percent of the total cost of such acquisition or improvement.
- (ii) Park renovation and improvement. A portion of the net proceeds from the environmental program bond issue shall be expended for improvements to county park, recreational, museum and historical facilities, and construction of facilities, amenities and other capital improvements to such park, recreational, museum and historical facilities; provided, however, that no moneys from the environmental bond issue shall be expended for the

replacement, repair or maintenance of existing park structures or facilities.

- c. Clean water projects. A portion of the net proceeds from the environmental program bond issue shall be expended for capital projects of the district that will contain, abate or mitigate storm water carried pollutants that otherwise would impair the quality of the County's north and south shore estuaries. Projects may include, but shall not be limited to, sediment collection basins, storm drain catch basins, drainage swales, and end-of-pipe treatment units, such as swirl-type collectors, and water body rehabilitation, dredging and improvement projects.
- d. Brownfield clean-up projects. A portion of the net proceeds from the environmental program bond issue shall be expended for capital projects that will remediate brownfield sites. For the purposes of this provision, "brownfield site" shall have the meaning set forth in section 27-1405 of the New York State Environmental Conservation Law.
- e. Preliminary and incidental costs. A portion of the net proceeds from the environmental program bond issue may be used, consistent with the Local Finance Law, for preliminary and incidental costs of the capital projects financed under the environmental program; provided, however, that the County shall only expend the minimum amount necessary for such costs.
  - § 7. Procedure for proposals under the Environmental Program
- a. Proposals in furtherance of this program shall be made by the County Executive; provided, however, that such proposals shall not be limited to any proposal or proposals generated in furtherance of any previous environmental program of the County.
- b. Any such proposal may be made at any time and shall be transmitted in writing to the Planning Commission and OSPAC for review, evaluation and recommendation. OSPAC shall, within thirty days of receipt of a proposal, complete and transmit its report and recommendations to the Planning Commission.
- c. Not later than seventy-five days following receipt of a proposal from the Environmental Program Advisory Committee, the Planning Commission, shall complete and transmit the findings of such review and evaluation, together with any report and recommendation from OSPAC to the County Executive. The County Executive may introduce the proposal for consideration by the legislature, along with the findings of the Planning Commission and OSPAC; provided, however, that failure by either the Planning Commission or OSPAC to provide such report and recommendations within the time period set forth in this section, shall be deemed to constitute neutral findings and the County Executive may proceed for consideration by the Legislature.
- d. Each such proposal and each corresponding bond ordinance shall be subject to the approval of thirteen members of the County Legislature.
- § 8. Annual report. No later than the first day of September of each year in which there are existing funds raised through such bond issue, the County Executive shall report to the County Legislature in writing, detailing the expenditures of such funds, the balance of funds remaining, and the balance of authorized expenditures during the prior year and recommendations for future years.
- § 9. SEQRA Determination. It is hereby determined, based on the recommendation of the Nassau County Planning Commission acting in an advisory capacity to the Nassau County Legislature, the lead agency, and pursuant to the provisions of the State Environmental Quality

Review Act ("SEQRA"), 8 NYECL section 0101 et seq. and its implementing regulations, Part 617 of 6 NYCRR, and Section 1611 of the County Government Law of Nassau County, that this Local Law will not have a significant impact on the environment and that no further environmental review or action is required. A record of the Planning Commission's recommendation of negative declaration for this action shall be maintained in a file, readily accessible to the public, at the office of the Planning Commission.

- § 10. Severability. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this local law or the application thereof to any person, entity, or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this law or in its application to the person, entity or circumstance involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.
  - § 11. Construction with other laws.
- a. This local law shall in no way be construed to limit or restrict the use of funds, or the extent of the environmental program under Local Law No. 14-2004.
- b. The proceeds from the environmental program bonds issued pursuant to this Local Law shall not be encumbered unless and until at least ninety percent of the proceeds from the environmental program bonds issued pursuant to Local Law no. 14-2004 have been allocated.
- § 12. Effective date. This local law shall take effect immediately upon the certification by the Nassau County Board of Elections of an affirmative vote by referendum to be held at the general election to be held in November two thousand six, as required by section one hundred fifty-five of the County Government Law of Nassau County. (Added by Local Law No. 10-2006.)

#### TITLE 61

MARK SATTLER LAW RESTRICTING THE USE OF MOTORIZED SCOOTERS, ALL-TERRAIN VEHICLES, AND OTHER OFF-ROAD VEHICLES AND REQUIRING TRUTH-IN SELLING

Section 1. Short title.

This law shall be known as the Mark Sattler Law, which shall appear in the miscellaneous laws as title sixty-one.

Section 2. Legislative Intent.

This Legislature finds that the operation in the County of all-terrain vehicles ("ATVs"), motorized scooters, and other off-highway vehicles poses an unacceptable risk of serious injury and death for County residents and causes economic and environmental damage to public parks, sports facilities, recreation areas, natural habitats and nature preserves. It is the intent of this law to protect the health, safety and welfare of County residents by imposing stricter limits on the use and operation of such vehicles.

This Legislature further finds that consumers frequently are unaware of the legal restrictions on the use and operation of such vehicles when they purchase them, and they may

first learn of the rules governing the operation of these vehicles only after encountering efforts by law enforcement to enforce such laws. This law, therefore, requires that consumers be notified at the time of purchase of the laws and regulations restricting the use and operation of ATVs, motorized scooters, and other off-highway vehicles.

Section 3. Definitions.

For purposes of this law, the following terms shall have the following meanings: "All Terrain Vehicle" or "ATV" means an all terrain vehicle or ATV as defined by section twenty-two hundred eighty-one of the New York State Vehicle and Traffic Law. "County" means the County of Nassau.

"Highway" means any public way, as set forth in New York State Vehicle and Traffic Law section one hundred thirty-four and as defined by New York State Vehicle and Traffic Law section one hundred eighteen.

"Motorized Scooter" shall mean any wheeled device that has handlebars that is designed to be stood or sat upon by the operator, is powered by an electric motor or by a gasoline motor that is capable of propelling the device without human power and is not capable of being registered with the New York State Department of Motor Vehicles . For the purposes of this section, the term motorized scooter shall not include wheelchairs or other mobility aids designed for use by disabled persons, electric powered devices not capable of exceeding fifteen miles per hour or "electric personal assistive mobility devices" defined as self-balancing, two non-tandem wheeled devices designed to transport one person by means of an electric propulsion system.

"Off-highway motorcycle" shall mean a motorcycle which is not equipped in conformity with the provisions of section three hundred eighty-one of the New York State Vehicle and Traffic Law, would not, if properly equipped, qualify as a limited use motorcycle and which is manufactured and sold for operation primarily on off-highway trails or in off-highway competitions and only incidentally operated on public highways.

"Operate" means to ride in or on, other than as a passenger, or use or control the operation of an Off-Highway Vehicle, Motorized Scooter or ATV in any manner regardless of whether or not the Off-Highway Vehicle, Motorized Scooter or ATV is in motion.

"Operator" means every person who operates or is in actual physical control of an Off-Highway Vehicle, Motorized Scooter or ATV.

"Parking area of a shopping center" shall include those areas defined by New York State Vehicle and Traffic Law section one hundred twenty-nine-a.

"Parking lot" shall include those areas defined by New York State Vehicle and Traffic Law section one hundred twenty-nine-b.

"Person" shall mean an individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability partnership, limited liability company, or any other business entity.

"Pocket bike" shall mean a motor vehicle having a seat or saddle for the use of the rider and designed to travel on not more than three wheels in contact with the ground, having an engine no larger than forty-nine cubic centimeters and with a total vehicle weight of not more than one hundred pounds.

"Point of Sale" shall mean a location in a business dedicated to the sale of Off-Highway Vehicles, Motorized Scooters or ATVs.

"Property" shall mean any real property, land, parkland, preserve or sump owned by the County of Nassau.

"Sidewalk" shall include those areas defined by New York State Vehicle and Traffic Law section one hundred forty-four.

Section 4. Prohibitions

- a. All Terrain Vehicles.
- 1. No person shall operate an ATV or an off-road motorcycle upon any property of the County of Nassau.
- 2. No person shall operate an ATV or off-road motorcycle upon private land other than his or her own unless the owner of such land has given written consent to such operator, which written consent the operator must have in his possession while operating such ATV or off-road motorcycle and must produce to any duly sworn peace or police officer, or other law enforcement officer, upon request of such officer.
- b. Motorized Scooters.
- 1. No person shall operate a motorized scooter or pocket bike upon any property of the County.
- 2. No person shall operate a motorized scooter upon any highway, parking area of a shopping center, parking lot, sidewalk, street, or any other public area within the County. Section 5. Sales Disclosure and Advertising.

Any business organization, including, but not limited to any individual, corporation, unincorporated association, proprietorship, firm, partnership, joint venture, joint stock association, or other entity of any kind that sells or offers for sale an ATV, motorized scooter, pocket bike, or off-highway motorcycle to any person within the County of Nassau for compensation, shall provide to each buyer a copy of this local law, and in the case of the sale of an ATV, a copy of Article forty-eight-c of the New York State Vehicle and Traffic Law containing the rules for the operation of ATVs, and shall conspicuously post at the point of sale in letters not less than two inches in height on a contrasting background, a statement of the legal restrictions on the operation of such ATV, motorized scooter, pocket bike, or off-highway motorcycle in the County, including but not limited to the words "The operation of All Terrain Vehicles, motorized scooters, off-highway motorcycles, and pocket bikes is prohibited on Nassau County property." Any buyer of an ATV, motorized scooter, off-highway motorcycle or pocket bike shall sign an acknowledgement that he or she received such information at the time of purchase, which acknowledgement shall be maintained and kept on file by such business organization for a period of five years from the date of sale. Business organizations advertising in the printed media the sale of any ATV, motorized scooter, off-highway motorcycle or pocket bike or any other vehicle covered by this Law shall include in any such printed advertising the following statement: "New York State and Nassau County prohibit use of ATVs, motorized scooters, pocket bikes and other off-highway motorcycles on County property"

Section 6. Penalties.

a. A violation of subdivision a of section four of this local law shall be punishable by a fine of not less than five hundred fifty dollars nor more than fifteen hundred dollars. A second violation of such subdivision occurring within five years of the date of a first violation shall be

punishable by a fine of not less than fifteen hundred dollars nor more than three thousand dollars. A third and any subsequent violation of such subdivision occurring within such five -year period shall be punishable by a fine of not less than five thousand dollars.

- b. A violation of subdivision b of section four of this local law shall be punishable by a fine of not less than one hundred fifty dollars nor more than three hundred dollars. A second violation of such subdivision occurring within five years of the date of a first violation shall be punishable by a fine of not less than two hundred dollars nor more than five hundred dollars. A third and any subsequent violation of such subdivision occurring within such five -year period shall be punishable by a fine of not less than five hundred dollars nor more than seven hundred dollars.
- c. A violation of section five of this local law shall be punishable by a fine of up to fifteen hundred dollars, which may be recovered following notice and an opportunity to be heard in a proceeding before the Commissioner of Consumer Affairs.

## Section 7. Impoundment and Seizure

- a. Upon reasonable cause to be believe that the operation of an ATV, off-road motorcycle, motorized scooter or pocket bike is in violation of section four of this law, such vehicle shall be subject to immediate seizure and impoundment by a duly sworn peace or police officer, acting pursuant to his or her official duties.
- b. Any ATV, off-road motorcycle, motorized scooter or pocket bike seized pursuant to this law shall be impounded and stored for safekeeping by the law enforcement agency affecting the seizure. That agency may assess an administrative processing fee of two-hundred and fifty dollars (\$250) and a storage fee of five dollars (\$5) per day thereafter.
- c. Any ATV, off-road motorcycle, motorized scooter or pocket bike seized and impounded pursuant to this law may be claimed by either the owner of such vehicle, who is at least 18 (eighteen) years of age or a parent or legal guardian of any such owner who is under eighteen (18) years of age.
- d. The law enforcement agency affecting a seizure under this law shall notify the owner or his or her parent or legal guardian of such seizure, by first class mail, within 72 hours of the seizure. e. Law enforcement agencies effecting seizures and impoundments made pursuant to this law shall promulgate regulations regarding the storage and release of any such vehicles.

## Section 8. Applicability.

- a. Nothing in this article or Law shall apply to any Moped, defined by the NY State Vehicle and Traffic Law as a limited use motorcycle containing two or three wheels and designed to travel at a low speed, provided such Moped complies with the requirements of the NY State Vehicle and Traffic Law for lawful use within New York State.
- b. This law shall apply to all actions occurring on or after the effective date of this law.

Section 9. Severability.

If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm partnership, entity, or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision,

section, or part of this law, or in its application t the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

## Section 10. Reverse Preemption

This law shall be null and void on the day that state or federal legislation goes into effect, incorporating either the same or substantially similar provisions as are contained in this law. The County Legislature may determine via resolution whether or not identical or substantially similar state or federal legislation has been enacted for the purposes of triggering the provisions of this section.

## Section 11. SEQRA Determination.

This Legislature, being the State Environmental Quality Review Act (SEQRA) lead agency, hereby, finds and determines that this law constitutes a Type II action pursuant to Section 617.5(c)(21) of Title 6 of the NEW YORK CODE OF RULES AND REGULATIONS (6 NYCRR) and within the meaning of Section 8-0109(2) OF the NEW YORK ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION LAW as a promulgation of regulations, rules, policies, procedures, and legislative decisions in connection with continuing agency administration, management and information collection. The Nassau County Council on Environmental Quality is hereby directed to circulate any appropriate SEQRA notices of determination of non-applicability or non-significance in accordance with this law.

Section 12. Effective Date.

This law shall take effect ninety days after it shall become a law.

# TITLE 62 ULTRA LOW SULFUR DIESEL FUEL LAW

Section 1. This law shall be known as the Ultra Low Sulfur Diesel Fuel Law and shall appear in the miscellaneous laws as title sixty-two.

#### § 2. Definitions.

As used in this local law, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

"Best available retrofit technology" means technology, verified by the EPA for reducing the emission of pollutants that achieves reductions in particulate matter emissions at the highest classification level for diesel emission control strategies, as set forth in section five of this local law, which is applicable to the particular engine and application. Such technology shall also, at a reasonable cost, achieve the greatest reduction in emissions of nitrogen oxides at such particulate matter reduction levels and shall in no event result in a net increase in the emissions of either particulate matter or nitrogen oxides.

"Commissioner" shall mean the Commissioner of the Department of Public Works.

"County contractor" means any person who enters into an agreement or contract with the County valued at more than one hundred fifty thousand dollars to perform County work or any person who enters into an agreement or contract with such person to perform County work.

"County department" means any department of County government that uses diesel-powered vehicles in any capacity.

"County" means County of Nassau.

"County work" means to provide labor, services, material and/or equipment which traditionally has been provided by the government of the County through County employees or contractors, except that it shall not mean labor, services, materials and equipment provided by a common carrier; a utility company; a shipping company (including overnight delivery companies); or a manufacturer or delivery company which delivers materials or equipment to County government. "EPA" means the United States Environmental Protection Agency.

"Gross vehicle weight rating" means the value specified by the manufacturer of a motor vehicle model as the maximum design loaded weight of a singer vehicle of that model. "Motor vehicle" means a vehicle owned by the County and operated or driven upon a public highway which is propelled by any power other than muscular power, except electrically-driven mobility assistance devices operated or driven by a person with a disability, provided, however, that this term shall not include vehicles that are specially equipped for emergency response by the fire commission, the department of emergency management, or the sheriff's department. "Non-road diesel vehicle" means a motor vehicle powered by a diesel engine fifty horsepower or greater, including but not limited to excavators, backhoes, cranes, compressors, bulldozers, and similar equipment, but not including a vehicle used for competition.

"On-road diesel vehicle" means a motor vehicle powered by a diesel engine that is used to transport persons or property on a street or highway.

"Person" means any individual, partnership, firm, company, association, joint stock association, corporation or other like organization.

"Reasonable cost means that such technology does not cost greater than thirty percent more than other technology applicable to the particular engine and application that falls within the same classification level for diesel emission control strategies, as set forth in section five of this local law, when considering the cost of the strategies, themselves, and the cost of installation. "Specially equipped vehicle" means a motor vehicle defined as specially equipped pursuant to rules and regulations developed and approved by an appropriate department of county government designated by the county executive, and adopted by the County legislature. "Ultra low sulfur diesel fuel" means diesel fuel that has a sulfur content of no more than fifteen parts per million.

§ 3. Use of ultra low sulfur diesel fuel required.

a. All on-road diesel vehicles and non-road diesel vehicles owned, leased, or operated by the County, and all such vehicles used by a County contractor to do County work shall be powered by ultra low sulfur diesel fuel.

b. All on-road diesel vehicles and non-road diesel vehicles owned, leased, or operated by the County, and all such vehicles used by a County contractor to do County work and have a gross vehicle weight rating of more than eight thousand five hundred pounds shall utilize the best available retrofit technology or be equipped with an engine certified to the applicable two thousand seven EPA standard for particulate matter as set forth in section 86.007-11 of title forty

of the code of federal regulations or to any subsequent EPA standard for such pollutant that is at least as stringent by January 1, 2015.

- § 4. County executive discretion regarding technology.
- a. The county executive shall make determinations, and shall publish a list containing such determination, as to the best available retrofit technology to be used for each type of diesel fuel-powered motor vehicle to which this section applies. Each such determination shall be reviewed and revised, as needed, on a regular basis, but in no event less often than annually.
- b. The county executive may determine that a technology, whether or not it has been verified by the EPA, may be appropriate to test, on an experimental basis, on a particular type of diesel fuel-powered motor vehicle owned or operated by a county department. The county executive may authorize such technology to be installed on up to three of such type of motor vehicle. Any motor vehicle on which such technology is installed may be counted for the purpose of meeting the requirements of subdivision b of section three of this local law. Such technology shall not be required to be installed on other motor vehicles of the same type and shall be subject to the provisions of paragraph d of this section.
- c. Any solicitation for a public works contract and any contract entered into as a result of such solicitation shall include a specification that all contractors in the performance of such contract shall utilize the best available technology for reducing the emission of pollutants for diesel powered on-road vehicles and non-road vehicles and all contractors in the performance of such contract shall comply with such specification.
- d. No county department or county contractor shall be required to replace best available retrofit technology or experimental technology utilized for a diesel fuel-powered motor vehicle in accordance with the provisions of this section within three years of having first utilized such technology for such vehicle, except that technology that falls within level four as set forth in section five of this law, shall not be required to be replaced until it has reached the end of its useful life.
  - § 5. Classification of diesel emission control strategies.

The classification levels for diesel emission control strategies are as follows, with level four being the highest classification level:

Level Four – strategy reduces diesel particulate matter emissions by eighty-five percent or greater or reduces engine emissions to less than or equal to .01 grams diesel particulate matter per brake horsepower-hour;

Level Three – strategy reduces diesel particulate matter emissions by between fifty and eighty-four percent;

Level Two - strategy reduces diesel particulate matter emissions by between twenty-five and forty-nine percent;

Level One - strategy reduces diesel particulate matter emissions by between twenty and twenty-four percent.

#### § 6. Contractor violations.

The Commissioner is authorized to enforce the provisions of this section.

- a. Any contractor who violates any provision of this section shall be liable for a civil penalty between the amounts of one thousand and ten thousand dollars, in addition to twice the amount of money saved by such contractor for failure to comply with this section.
- b. No contractor shall make a false claim with respect to the provisions of this section to any county agency. Where a contractor has been found to have done so, such contractor shall be liable for a civil penalty of twenty thousand dollars, in addition to twice the amount of money saved by such contractor in association with having made such false claim.
  - § 7. Procedure when ultra-low sulfur diesel fuel is unavailable.

The county executive shall issue a written determination that permits the use of diesel fuel that has a sulfur content of no more than thirty parts per million to fulfill the requirements of this law if ultra low sulfur diesel fuel is not available to meet the needs of county departments to fulfill the requirements of this law. Such determination shall expire after six months if such lack of availability persists, but in no event shall be in effect after January first, two thousand eight

§ 8. Waiver.

The county executive may issue a waiver for the use of ultra low sulfur diesel fuel where a county department makes a written finding, approved in writing by the county executive, that a sufficient quantity of ultra law sulfur diesel fuel, or diesel fuel that has a sulfur content of no more than thirty parts per million where a determination is in effect pursuant to section seven of this law, is not available to meet the requirements of this law, provided that such department, to the extent practicable, shall use whatever quantity of ultra low sulfur diesel fuel or diesel fuel that has a sulfur content of no more than thirty parts per million is available for its diesel fuel-powered motor vehicles. Any waiver issued pursuant to this section shall expire after two months, unless the county department renews the finding, in writing, and the county executive approves such renewal, in writing.

§ 9. Report to county executive and legislature.

a. Not later than January first, two thousand eight, and not later than January first of each year thereafter, the appropriate department or departments of county government, as determined by the county executive, shall submit a report to the county executive and legislature of Nassau county regarding, among other things, the use of ultra low sulfur diesel fuel and the use of the best available retrofit technology by diesel fuel-powered motor vehicles owned operated by county departments during the immediately preceding calendar year. The information contained in this report shall include, but not be limited to, for each county department: (i) the total number of diesel fuel-powered motor vehicles owned or operated by such department; (ii) the number of such motor vehicles that were powered by ultra low sulfur diesel fuel; (iii) the total number of diesel fuel-powered motor vehicles owner or operated by such department having a gross vehicle weight rating of more than eight thousand five hundred pounds; (iv) the number of such motor vehicles that utilized the best available retrofit technology, including a breakdown by motor vehicle model, engine year, and the type of technology used for each vehicle; (v) the number of such motor vehicles that are equipped with an engine certified to the applicable two thousand seven EPA standard for particulate matters as set forth in section 86-007-11 of title forty of the code of federal regulations or to any subsequent EPA standard for particulate matter that is at least as stringent; (vi) the number of such motor vehicles that utilized technology in accordance

with paragraph two of subdivision c of this section and the results and analysis regarding the testing off such technology; and (vii) all waivers, findings, and renewals of such findings, issued pursuant to sections seven and eight of this law that, for each waiver, shall include, but not be limited to, the quantity of diesel fuel needed to power diesel fuel-powered motor vehicles owned or operated by such department; specific information concerning the availability of ultra low sulfur diesel fuel or diesel fuel that has a sulfur content of no more than thirty parts per million where a determination is in effect pursuant to section seven of this law; and detailed information concerning the department's efforts to obtain ultra low sulfur diesel fuel or diesel fuel that has a sulfur content of no more than thirty parts per million where a determination is in effect pursuant to sections seven or eight of this law

- b. Where a determination is in effect pursuant to section seven or eight of this law, information regarding diesel fuel that has a sulfur content of no more than thirty parts per million shall be reported wherever information is request for ultra low sulfur diesel fuel pursuant to paragraph on e of this section.
- c. the report due January first, two thousand eight in accordance with paragraph a of this section shall only include the information required pursuant to subparagraphs (i), (ii), and (vii) of such paragraph.
  - §10. Inapplicability.

This law shall not apply:

- a. when federal or state funding precludes the county from imposing the requirement of this law; or
- b. to purchases that are emergency procurements pursuant to the County charter or any local law allowing for such emergency procurements.
- c. where such applicability would interfere with the purchase, lease or operation of emergency response vehicles operated by the Department of Emergency Management or the Nassau County Police Department.
- d. to a diesel powered non-road vehicle where: 1) the commissioner certifies that the best available technology for reducing the emission of pollutants as required herein is unavailable for such vehicle, in which case such agency or contractor shall use whatever technology is available and appropriate for such vehicle that the commissioner approves for reducing the emission of pollutants; or 2) the vehicle is used for fewer than five calendar days per contract; or 3) the commissioner issues a written waiver based upon a finding that the use of the best available technology for reducing the emission of pollutants may present a hazard or threat to the safety of the operator, other workers or members of the public.
  - § 11. Severability.

If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this local law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, effect or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this law or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

## § 12. SEQRA Determination

It is hereby determined, based on the recommendation of the Nassau County Planning Commission acting in an advisory capacity to the Nassau County Legislature, the lead agency, and pursuant to the provisions of the State Environmental Quality Review Act ("SEQRA"), 8 NYECL section 0101 et seq. and its implementing regulations, Part 617 of 6 NYCRR, and Section 1611 of the County Government Law of Nassau County, that this Local Law will not have a significant impact on the environment and that no further environmental review or action is required. A record of the Planning Commission's recommendation of negative declaration for this action shall be maintained in a file, readily accessible to the public, at the office of the Planning Commission.

§ 13. Effective date.

This local law shall take effect immediately.

(Subdivision b of section 3 amended by Local Law No. 8-2009, in effect May 5, 2009.)

# TITLE 63 MIGRATORY WATERFOWL LAW

Section 1. This law shall be known as the Migratory Waterfowl Law and shall appear in the miscellaneous laws as title sixty-three.

- § 2. Definitions. Unless otherwise expressly stated in this local law, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
- "Migratory Waterfowl" shall mean those species of birds commonly known as swans, geese and ducks and any other waterfowl falling under the jurisdiction of the United States Fish and Wildlife Service.
- "Feed" shall mean to give, place, expose, deposit, distribute or scatter any edible material with the intention of feeding, attracting or enticing migratory waterfowl.
- "County property" shall mean any land which is owned, maintained, leased or managed by Nassau County for any purpose whatsoever, including but not limited to parks, preserves, beaches and drains thereon, including all property at Mitchel Field and Nassau Community College.
- "Person" shall mean any individual, company, partnership, corporation, limited partnership, joint venture or other legal entity.
- § 3. Prohibition. No person shall feed or provide food for any migratory waterfowl on County property at any time of year.
- § 4. Enforcement. In addition to such powers granted pursuant to other provisions of law, security personnel of the Department of Parks, Recreation and Museums and the Nassau Community College Security Force are hereby authorized to issue appearance tickets for any violations of this law; provided, however, that for the first year after the effective date of this law, such personnel shall only issue warnings for violations of this law. The provisions of this law may also be enforced by all other County personnel authorized to issue appearance tickets and such provisions shall not be construed to affect or limit the powers of arrest or issuance of an appearance ticket by a police officer or peace officer under the Criminal Procedure Law

- § 5. Penalties. A violation of section three of this law shall be punishable by a fine of not less than one hundred dollars nor more than five hundred dollars. Any subsequent violation occurring within five years of the date of such first violation shall be punishable by a fine of not less than two hundred fifty dollars nor more than seven hundred fifty dollars.
- § 6. Applicability. The provisions of this law shall not apply to property owned by or under the jurisdiction of other municipal authorities, the State of New York and any agency thereof, or the government of the United States of America.
- §7. Effective date. This local law shall become effective immediately after it shall have become a law; provided, however, that no appearance ticket shall be issued pursuant to section five of this local law until one year from such effective date.
- § 8. SEQRA determination. It is hereby determined pursuant to the provisions of SEQRA, Part 617 of 6 N.Y.C.R.R. and Section 1611 of the County Government Law of Nassau County that this legislative action is "Unlisted"; and further, that upon review of the Environmental Assessment Form ("EAF") for the action, the recommendation of negative declaration from the Nassau County Planning Commission acting in an advisory capacity to the Nassau County Legislature, and supporting documentation, such action is determined not to have a significant effect on the environment and does not require further environmental review. A record of such determination shall be maintained in a file, readily accessible to the public, at the office of the Clerk of the Legislature.

(Title 63 added by Local Law 7-2007, signed into law on May 11, 2007)

# TITLE 64 SOCIAL HOST LAW

Section 1. Short title. This law shall be known as the Social Host Law and shall appear in the miscellaneous laws as title sixty-four.

- §2. Legislative intent. This legislature finds that underage drinking, drug use, and opioid addiction are societal problems that have generated widespread concern in Nassau County. Although the New York State Legislature has acted to proscribe the unlawful giving, selling and possessing of alcohol in relation to minors, and prohibited allowing children less than eighteen years old to enter or remain where controlled substances or marihuana activity is being maintained or conducted, it has not regulated the situations where a person over the age of eighteen knowingly permits the consumption of alcohol and/or drugs by a minor in his or her home. The underage consumption of alcohol and/or drugs, whether at a party or a smaller gathering, poses an immediate threat to the public health, safety and welfare of the residents of Nassau County, often leading to alcohol and/or drug abuse by minors, physical altercations, accidental injuries, neighborhood vandalism, excessive noise disturbances requiring the intervention of local law enforcement and the commission of violent crimes including sexual offenses and serious assaults. Additionally, within the past few years, the number of young people addicted to opioids throughout Nassau County and the United States has increased exponentially. Opioid-related overdoses and deaths have become commonplace occurrences, devastating countless addicted individuals, families, friends, and communities. This local law will serve to deter the consumption of alcoholic beverages and drugs by minors by holding those over the age of eighteen responsible when they permit the consumption of alcoholic beverages and drugs by minors at their residences.
- §3. Definitions. For the purposes of this local law the following terms shall be defined as follows:
- a. "Alcohol" shall mean ethyl alcohol, hydrated oxide of ethyl or spirits of wine, from whatever source or by whatever means produced.
- b. "Alcoholic beverage" shall mean any liquor, wine, beer, spirits, cider or other liquid, or solid, patented or not, composed of, or containing, alcohol or spirits, whether or not brewed, fermented or distilled, and capable of being consumed by a person, except that confectionary containing alcohol as provided by subdivision twelve of section two hundred of the New York State Agriculture and Markets Law shall not be regarded as an alcoholic beverage within the meaning of this section.
- c. "Knowingly" shall mean aware of, or having reason to be aware of, the consumption of alcohol by a minor.
- d. "Drugs" shall mean any substance listed in schedule I, II, III, and IV of the New York State Public Health Law § 3306, including but not limited to heroin, hydrocodone, oxycodone, fentanyl, anabolic steroids, and cocaine. "Drugs" shall also mean cannabis and concentrated cannibas as those terms are defined by §222.00 of the New York State Penal Law.
- e. "Minor" shall mean any person under the age of twenty-one.
- f. "Practitioner" shall mean a physician, dentist, podiatrist, or other person licensed, or otherwise permitted to dispense or administer a controlled substance in the course of a licensed professional practice pursuant to Article 33 of the New York State Public Health Law. Such person shall be deemed a "practitioner" only as to such substances, or conduct relating to such substances, as is permitted by his license, permit or otherwise permitted by law.
- g. "Residence" shall mean any home, apartment, condominium, co-operative unit or other dwelling unit of any kind, including yards and open areas adjacent thereto.
  - §4. Unlawful consumption of alcohol and/or drugs by minor at a residence.
- a. It shall be unlawful for any person over the age of eighteen who owns, rents, or otherwise controls a private residence, to knowingly allow the consumption of alcohol, alcoholic beverages, and/or drugs by any minor on such premises or to fail to take reasonable corrective action upon learning of the consumption of alcohol, alcoholic beverages, and/or drugs by any minor on such

- premises. Reasonable corrective action shall include, but not be limited to: 1) making a prompt demand that such minor either forfeit and refrain from further consumption of the alcoholic beverages and/or drugs or depart from the premises; and 2) if such minor does not comply with such request, either promptly reporting such underage consumption of alcohol and/or drug use i) to the local law enforcement agency or ii) to any other person having a greater degree of authority over the conduct of such minor.
- b. The provisions of subdivision a of this section shall not apply to: i) the consumption of alcohol or alcoholic beverages by a minor whose parent or guardian is present and has expressly permitted such consumption; ii) the use and consumption of alcohol or alcoholic beverages by a minor for religious purposes; or iii) the consumption of a drug by a minor that has been prescribed by a practitioner pursuant to the New York State Public Health Law and all other applicable rules and regulations, and is consumed as directed by the prescription. §5. Penalties. A violation of section four of this local law shall constitute an unclassified misdemeanor. Each first offense, and subsequent offense, shall be punished as follows:
- a. First offense. Any person who violates section 4 of this Local Law shall be punished by a fine of two hundred and fifty dollars, where such violation constitutes the person's first offense in violation of this provision.
- b. Second offense. Any person who violates section 4 of this Local Law shall be punished by a fine of five hundred dollars, where such violation constitutes the person's second offense in violation of this provision.
- c. Third and subsequent offenses. Any person who violates section 4 of this Local Law shall be punished by either a fine of one thousand dollars, a term of imprisonment not to exceed one year, or both a fine of one thousand dollars and a term of imprisonment not to exceed one year.
- §6. Effect on other laws. The provisions of section four of this local law shall not in any way affect the application of any other law, where appropriate, including but not limited to New York Penal Law section 260.10 (endangering the welfare of a minor) and section 260.20(2) (unlawfully dealing with a child).
- §7. Severability. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, or section of this local law shall be held invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, or the application of this local law to any person or set of circumstances shall be held invalid, such invalidity or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, section, or operation of this local law directly involved in the controversy in which the judgment shall have been rendered. To further this end, the provisions of this local law are hereby declared to be severable.
- §8. Effective date. This local law shall take effect immediately after it shall have become a law.
- (Title 64 added by local law 13-2007, signed into law on July 17, 2007; amended by Local Law 3-2018, effective April 2, 2018. Section 3(d) amended by Local Law No. 7-2021, signed by the County Executive on April 30, 2021)

# TITLE 65 ALEC'S LAW

Section 1. Short title

This law shall be known as Alec's Law and shall appear in the miscellaneous laws as title sixty-five.

# §2. Legislative findings and intent

This legislature finds that at least four hundred seventy-five children were killed in the United States between the years two thousand two and two thousand six when vehicles backed over them, as reported by KIDS AND CARS, a not-for-profit group that documents non-traffic incidents involving children. Among the many children on Long Island badly injured and/or killed by vehicles backing into them were Alec Nelson and Cameron Gulbransen, two toddlers who were killed in their own driveways because of poor rearward visibility. A recently passed federal bill calls for the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration to document non-traffic related incidents such as back-overs and to study devices designed to prevent vehicles from accidentally backing over children. Until such time as a rear visibility performance standard is set by the federal government, the County of Nassau can take measures to help protect Nassau's children by disseminating information concerning the dangers.

# §3. Requirements

- a. The Nassau County Traffic Safety Board shall establish and maintain a web page promoting child safety and accident prevention for vehicle owners. Such web page shall include but not be limited to current information and statistical data relative to the prevention of non-traffic related incidents such as back-overs; rearward visibility performance standards; information concerning drivers' visibility in "blind zones"; general vehicle safety; and, a list of the names and addresses of all businesses authorized to sell new and used vehicles in Nassau County, which shall be updated at least once every twelve months. Such web page link shall be contained on the Nassau County Executive's Homepage and shall be available through the Nassau County Office of Consumer Affairs and the Nassau County Traffic and Parking Violations Agency web pages.
- b. The Nassau County Traffic Safety Board shall distribute to all new and used car dealers in the County of Nassau information relative to promoting child safety and accident prevention for vehicle owners, including but not limited to brochures and/or pamphlets concerning vehicle non-traffic incident prevention pamphlets which focus on vehicle safety and children and shall direct the dealers to distribute them to purchasers and/or customers who lease vehicles.
- §4. Nothing in this title shall be deemed to impose any civil or criminal liability upon or to give rise to a cause of action against any official, employee or agency of Nassau County for failing to disseminate information as provided in this title.
  - §5. Effective date

This local law shall take effect ninety days after it shall have become a law.

(Title 65 added by local law 14-2007, signed into law on July 17,2007.)

# TITLE 66 GREEN BUILDING STANDARDS LAW

Section 1. Short Title.

This law shall be known and may be cited as the "Green Building Standards Law" and shall appear in the miscellaneous laws as Title 66.

## §2. Legislative Intent.

The Legislature hereby finds it important to ensure that, to the greatest extent practicable, new construction and development are planned, designed, and managed to minimize adverse environmental impacts. The use of sustainable design practices will significantly reduce operations and maintenance costs, while decreasing the negative impacts of new construction and development on the environment. The United States Green Building Council has emerged as the leading standard for sustainable planning, design and management of the nation's greenest buildings, through the Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) green building system. It is the intent of this legislature to apply this system to new development, construction, rehabilitation and maintenance undertaken by the County, to promote better environmental standards for the construction, rehabilitation, and maintenance of buildings in the state; improve energy efficiency and increase generation of energy through renewable and clean energy technologies; increase the demand for environmentally preferable building materials, finishes, and furnishings; improve the environment by decreasing the discharge of pollutants from buildings; create industry and public awareness of new technologies that can improve the quality of life for building occupants; and improve the health and productivity of building occupants by meeting advanced criteria for indoor environmental quality.

#### § 3. Definitions.

As used in this local law:

"Capital project" means a construction project which the county funds at least thirty three and one third percent of the costs of construction from the county capital fund.

"County" means Nassau County and its agencies of government.

"Construction work" means any work or operations necessary or incidental to the erection, demolition, assembling, alteration, installing, or equipping of any building.

"Green building standards" means design guidelines, a rating system or rules for constructing buildings that ensure site planning, water efficiency, energy efficiency and renewable energy, conservation of materials and resources and indoor environmental quality.

"Inflation" means the annual twelve month average of the consumer price index (CPI) published by the United States Department of Labor.

"LEED green building rating system" means an approved version of the Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) building rating system published by the United States Green Building Council, including a standard developed by or for the County consisting of practices and technologies derived from the LEED rating system that are reasonable and appropriate for building in Nassau County.

"Life-cycle cost" means the cost of a building, as determined by the methodology identified in the National Institute of Standards and Technology's special publication 544 and interagency report 80-2040, available as set forth in the Code of Federal Regulations, Title 15, Part 230, including the initial cost of its construction or renovation, the marginal cost of future energy capacity, the cost of the energy consumed by the facility over its expected useful life or, in the case of a leased building, over the remaining term of the lease, and the cost of operating and maintaining the facility as such cost affects energy consumption.

"Rehabilitation" shall mean any restoration, replacement or repair of any materials, systems and/or components.

"Selected green building rating system" means the most current and most appropriate building rating system published by the United States Green Building Council; provided, however, at the County executive's discretion, the term "selected green building rating system"

shall mean New Commercial Construction and Major Renovation Project (LEED NC), Existing Buildings (LEED EB), Commercial Interiors (LEED CI), Core and Shell (LEED CS) or other appropriate approved LEED Standard.

"Silver rating" means the rating in compliance with, or exceeding, the third highest rating awarded by the USGBC LEED certification process.

"Substantial reconstruction" means a capital project in which the scope of work includes rehabilitation work in at least two of the three major systems, electrical, HVAC (heating, ventilating and air conditioning) and plumbing, of a building and construction work affects at least fifty percent of the building's floor area.

## § 4. Green building requirements.

- a. Any capital project involving greater than five thousand square feet and with an estimated construction cost of one million dollars or more involving the
- (i) the construction of any new building, (ii) any addition to any existing building, or
- (iii) the substantial reconstruction of any existing building shall be designed and constructed in a manner that shall comply with green building standards not less stringent than the standards prescribed for buildings designed in accordance with the LEED green building rating system to achieve a LEED silver or higher rating as relates to energy efficiency, water efficiency, material and resources, energy and atmosphere and/or indoor environmental quality.
- b. Any capital project involving the installation or replacement or rehabilitation of any HVAC system or lighting system in any building at an estimated construction cost of one million dollars or more, or involving the installation or replacement or rehabilitation of plumbing systems in any building at an estimated construction cost for of five hundred thousand dollars or more must comply with the USGBC LEED Green Building Rating System to the maximum extent practicable such that the cost of compliance does not exceed the building's life-cycle cost savings.

# §5.Green building standards

The County Executive may use green building standards other than the LEED green building rating system, provided, however, that he or she publishes findings demonstrating that such other green building standards are not less stringent than the standards prescribed for buildings designed in accordance with the LEED green building rating system. Any standards other than the LEEDS standards shall be reviewed and updated no less often than once every three years.

# §6. Exemptions.

- a. The County Executive may grant an exemption from the requirements of this local law:
  i. To capital projects accounting for up to five percent of the capital dollars budgeted in each
  fiscal year. In determining whether an exemption shall be granted the factors to be considered by
  the County Executive should include, but not be limited to the following: the nature and cost of
  the project; the overall financial resources involved in the project; the number of persons
  employed at the site; the effect on expenses and resources, or the impact otherwise upon the
  operation of the site; the overall size of the site with respect to the number of its employees; and
  the type of operation or operations conducted at the site, including the composition, structure, and
  functions of the workforce at such site.
- ii. To capital projects for which the cost of compliance with these requirements exceeds the building's life-cycle cost savings;
- iii. To capital projects for which compliance with these requirements would result in a conflict with state or federal requirement;

- iv. To capital projects for which compliance with these requirements would result in a ten percent increase for a project with a cost of over one hundred million dollars in the overall project budget, a fifteen percent increase for a project with a cost of over fifty million dollars and under one hundred million dollars in the overall project budget, a twenty percent increase for a project with a cost of over ten million dollars and under fifty million dollars in the overall project budget and a twenty five percent increase for a project with a cost of over one million dollars in the overall project budget;
- v. To capital projects for which the project's purpose is historic preservation of historic and/or cultural places or property as such terms are defined in Section 119-bb of the General Municipal Law
- vi. To capital projects undertaken in the case of a public emergency arising out of an accident or other unforeseen circumstances affecting public buildings, public property or the life, health, safety or property of the County of Nassau.
- b. Any project that is granted an exemption under this section must comply with the USGBC LEED Green Building Rating System to the maximum extent practicable.

## §7. Adjustment for inflation

The costs listed in section four of this local law shall be indexed to the Regional CPI inflation index.

§8. All Requests for Proposals to which this law applies, shall contain a request for an offer that meets the minimum specifications.

### §9. Annual reporting.

An annual report shall be prepared no later than the first day of September of each year. Such report shall include, but shall not be limited to, a list of any capital project subject to section four of this local law, completed during the preceding calendar year; the estimated level of LEED certification such capital projects have achieved as determined by the design agency in accordance with the LEED rating system or, if applicable, the level achieved, as certified by the United States Green Building Council; additional costs attributable to complying with the LEED green building rating system or any other green building standard; an assessment of the health, environmental and energy-related benefits achieved in comparison with a base-case code compliant project (including projected energy savings and reductions in peak load, reductions in emissions, reductions in storm water runoff and potable water use); and a list and description of, and the total value of, the capital allocations in each fiscal year, by the county, of projects subject to, and exempted by the major from, each of subdivisions this local law. The first such report shall be completed on or prior to September 1, 2008.

#### §10. Effective Date.

This local law shall take effect on January 1, 2008 and shall apply to all projects added to the capital plan subsequent to that date, except that prior to such effective date the County Executive shall take all actions necessary for the timely implementation of this local law, including the promulgation of rules, and shall take all practicable steps to implement this local immediately.

§11. SEQRA determination. It is hereby determined pursuant to the provisions of SEQRA, Part 617 of 6 N.Y.C.R.R. and Section 1611 of the County Government Law of Nassau County that this legislative action is "Unlisted"; and further, that upon review of the Environmental Assessment Form ("EAF") for the action, the recommendation of negative

declaration from the Nassau County Planning Commission acting in an advisory capacity to the Nassau County Legislature, and supporting documentation, such action is determined not to have a significant effect on the environment and does not require further environmental review. A record of such determination shall be maintained in a file, readily accessible to the public, at the office of the Clerk of the Legislature.

(Title 66 added by local law 16-2007, signed into law on October 2, 2007 with an effective date of January 1, 2008)

# TITLE 67 DXM LAW

Section 1. Short Title.

This law shall be known and may be cited as the "DXM Law" and shall appear in the miscellaneous laws as Title 67.

### § 2. Legislative Intent.

This Legislature finds that non-prescription cough and cold medicine containing Dextromethorphan, also known as DXM, is increasingly being used by adolescents in a manner inconsistent with its labeling, often as a recreational drug, to induce intoxication when taken in large doses. Such abuse may cause serious medical injuries, including seizures, psychosis, hallucinations, brain damage, irregular heartbeat, respiratory distress, coma, and even death. This law seeks to prevent abuse of DXM by prohibiting the sale to minors of cough and cold medicines that contain that substance.

- §3. Definitions. Unless otherwise expressly stated in this local law, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
  - "Commissioner" shall mean the commissioner of the Nassau County Police Department.
- "Dextromethorphan," or "DXM," shall mean dextrorotatory isomer of methoxy-n-methylmorphinan and its salts.
  - "Minor" shall mean any person under the age of eighteen years of age.
- "Person" shall mean any individual, company, partnership, corporation, limited partnership, joint venture or other legal entity.
- "Retail distributor" means a grocery store, general merchandise store, drug store, or other entity or person whose activities as a distributor relating to dextromethorphan products are limited almost exclusively to sales for personal use, both in number of sales and volume of sales, either directly to walk-in customers or in face-to-face transactions by direct sales, except that such term does not include an employee or agent of such distributor.
- § 4. Prohibition. No retail distributor located within the County of Nassau shall knowingly sell or offer to sell any over-the-counter cold medicine or cough suppressant that contains Dextromethorphan to any minor, or knowingly sell or offer for sale any cold medicine or cough suppressant that contains Dextromethorphan to any minor making the purchase from within the County of Nassau.

- § 5. Penalties. Each first offense and subsequent offenses shall be punished as follows:
- a. First offense. Any retail distributor who violates section four of this Local Law shall be punished by a fine of not more than two hundred and fifty dollars, where such violation constitutes the person's first offense in violation of this provision.
- b. Second offense. Any retail distributor who violates section four of this Local Law shall be punished by a fine of not more than five hundred dollars, where such violation constitutes the person's second offense in violation of this provision within thirty-six months.
- c. Third and subsequent offenses. Any retail distributor who violates section four of this Local Law shall be punished by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars, where such violation constitutes the person's third or subsequent offense in violation of this provision within thirty-six months.
- § 6. Rules. The commissioner shall promulgate such rules as are necessary to effectuate the provisions of this title.
- § 7. Severability. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law, or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.
- § 8. Effective date. This local law shall become effective one hundred twenty days after it becomes law.

(Title 67 added by local law 20-2007)

# TITLE 68 PLASTIC BAG REDUCTION AND RECYCLING LAW

Section 1. Short title. This local law shall be known as the "Plastic Bag Reduction and Recycling Law" and shall appear in the Miscellaneous Laws as title 68.

- § 2. Legislative intent. The Legislature finds the widespread provision of plastic carryout bags to consumers creates significant problems relating to their disposal and effect on the environment. Plastic carryout bags litter the County's beaches and streets, clog sewer systems, and may be lethal to marine animals that ingest or become entangled in them in the County's coastal waters. It is the intent of the Legislature to encourage the use of reusable bags and the recycling of plastic carryout bags by consumers and retailers in order to minimize the impact of plastic bags on the health and environment of the County.
- $\S 3^{32}$  Definitions. For the purposes of this law, the following words shall have the following meanings:

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> There are two sections 3

"Carryout bag" means a carryout bag that is provided by a store to a customer at the point of sale.

"Commissioner" means the Nassau County Commissioner of Consumer Affairs.

"Chain of stores" means five or more stores located within the County of Nassau that are engaged in the same general field of business and (1) conduct business under the same business name or (2) operate under common ownership or management or pursuant to a franchise agreement with the same franchisor.

"Film Plastic" means uncontaminated non-rigid film plastic packaging products composed of plastic resins that include, but are not limited to, newspaper bags, dry cleaning bags and shrink-wrap.

"Food service establishment" means any establishment where the primary business is providing food for individual portion service directly to the consumer, whether consumption of such food occurs on or off the premises or such service is provided in a premises or from a pushcart, stand or vehicle.

"Operator" means a person, firm or corporation that owns or is in control of, or has responsibility for, the daily operation of a store.

"Person" means an individual, trust, firm, joint stock company, corporation, cooperative, partnership, or association.

"Plastic carryout bag" means a plastic bag provided by a store to a consumer at the point of sale that is not a reusable bag.

"Recyclable" means material that can be sorted, cleansed, and reconstituted for the purpose of using the altered form in the manufacture of a new product. Recycling does not include burning, incinerating, converting, or otherwise thermally destroying solid waste.

"Recyclable paper Bag" means a paper bag that meets all of the following requirements; (1) contains no old growth fiber, (2) is 100% recyclable overall and contains a minimum of 40% post-consumer recycled content, and (3) displays the words "Reusable" and "Recyclable" in a highly visible manner on the outside of the bag.

"Reusable Bag" means a bag with handles that is specifically designed and manufactured for multiple reuse and is either (1) made of cloth or other machine washable fabric, and/or (2) made of durable plastic that is a least 2.25 millimeters thick.

"Store" means a retail or wholesale establishment within the geographical limits of the County of Nassau other than a food service establishment, that sells products and provides carryout bags to consumers in which to place these products and 1) has over five thousand square feet of retail or wholesale space or 2) is one of a chain of stores.

§ 3.<sup>33</sup> Provision of carryout bags; mandatory recycling of plastic bags.

Every operator of a store within the County shall:

- a. provide only the following as carryout bags to customers: (1) recyclable paper bags or (2) reusable bags that are available for sale to customers; or
- b. if providing plastic carryout bags to customers, establish an at-store recycling program that shall include, but need not be limited to the following:
- 1. Every plastic carryout bag provided by a store shall have printed or displayed on the outside face of the bag (i) the words "PLEASE REUSE OR RECYCLE AT A PARTICIPATING STORE" using letters at least one-half inch in height or (ii) a similar message encouraging the reuse or recycling of plastic carryout bags that is no less than one inch in height and uses letters at least one quarter inch in height; provided, however, that such store shall be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> There are two sections 3

allowed, for six months from the effective date of this local law, to use its existing stock of plastic carryout bags and may apply to the commissioner for a waiver, based on economic hardship, to extend such six-month period;

- 2. A bin for the collection of plastic carryout bags and other film plastic shall be placed in a visible location that is easily accessible to the consumer, and clearly marked as available for the purpose of collecting plastic carryout bags and other film plastic for recycling; and
- 3. All plastic carryout bags and other film plastic returned to a store shall be collected, transported and recycled in a manner consistent with all applicable laws.
  - § 4. Enforcement and penalties.
- a. The provisions of this local law shall be enforced by the commissioner, who may adopt and enforce such rules as may be reasonable and necessary for the general enforcement of this local law.
  - b. Any operator who violates section three of this local law shall:
- i) for the first offense, be subject to a warning and shall have thirty days to comply with the provisions of this law;
- ii) for the second offense, be subject to a civil penalty of not more than three hundred dollars and shall have thirty days to comply with the provisions of this law;
- iii) for the third offense, be subject to a civil penalty of not more than five hundred dollars and shall have ten days to comply with the provisions of this law; and
- iv) for the fourth and any subsequent offense, be subject to a civil penalty of not more than seven hundred fifty dollars and shall have ten days to comply with the provisions of this law. For each such offense, such penalties may be imposed following notice and an opportunity to be heard in a proceeding before the commissioner.
- § 5. Severability. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law, or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.
- § 6. SEQRA determination. This Legislature, being the State Environmental Quality Review Act (SEQRA) lead agency, hereby finds and determines that this action is an unlisted action under the provisions of Title 6 NYCRR Part 617, and that based on an evaluation of the environmental criteria set forth in §617.7(c) that are considered to be indicia of significant adverse environmental impacts, along with the recommendation of the Nassau County Planning Commission acting in its advisory capacity to the legislature, that such action will not have significant adverse impacts on the environment, and that no additional environmental review or action is necessary.
  - §7. Effective date. This law shall take effect six months after it shall have become a law.

(Title 68 added by Local Law No. 4- 2008, signed by the County Executive on May 27, 2008; Took effect November 27, 2008.)

# TITLE 69<sup>34</sup> DECEPTIVELY COLORED HANDGUN LAW

Section 1. Short Title.

This law shall be known and may be cited as the "Deceptively Colored Handgun Law" and shall appear in the miscellaneous laws as Title 69.

## § 2. Legislative Intent.

The Legislature of Nassau County hereby finds that deceptively colored handguns pose a danger to law enforcement personnel and the general public. These real guns, when painted with non-traditional handgun colors, resemble toy guns, and can confuse police officers and the general public. Law enforcement officers who sometimes must make split second decisions on the use of force could perceive a deceptively colored real handgun to be a toy and be seriously injured or killed. A child may mistakenly attempt to play with a brightly colored real handgun and seriously injure themselves or others. As such, the legislature declares that the purpose of this local law is to safeguard the public from the unreasonable risk of death and injury that may result when real handguns are mistaken for toys by banning the distribution and possession in Nassau County of deceptively colored handguns.

#### § 3. Definitions.

- a) The term handgun shall include:
- (1) any weapon or device from which a shot can be discharged through the energy of an explosive and which may be fired by the use of a single hand; and
- (2) any combination of parts from which a weapon or device described in paragraph (1) of this subdivision can be assembled.
- b) The term "deceptively colored handgun" shall include any handgun which has a substantial portion of its exterior surface colored any color other than black, brown, grey, silver, steel, nickel or army green. A substantial portion of the exterior surface of a handgun shall be considered to be colored any color other than black, brown, grey, silver, steel, nickel, or army green if such other color is used either alone or as the predominant color in combination with other colors in any pattern; provided, however, that a handgun shall not be deemed to be a deceptively colored handgun merely because (1) a substantial portion of its exterior surface is plated with gold; or (2) a substantial portion of its exterior surface is a shade of blue resulting from the process of "bluing," designed to provide limited resistance to rust and corrosion; or (3) its handle is composed of ivory, colored so as to appear to be composed of ivory, composed of wood, or colored so as to appear to be composed of wood.
- c) The term "substantial portion of the exterior surface of a handgun" shall mean: (1) at least twenty five percent of the entire exterior surface area of a handgun; or (2) the exterior surface of either the receiver or the slide of a handgun.
- d) The term "deceptive coloring product" shall mean and include any equipment, product, or material that is designed for use in modifying any handgun so as to make it a deceptively colored handgun. Any equipment, product, or material that is held out, offered for sale, or otherwise disposed of based on its utility, alone or in combination with other equipment, products, or materials, in modifying any handgun so as to make it a deceptively colored handgun shall be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Title 69 was declared preempted by state statute. See Chwick v. Mulvey, 81 A.D.3d 161 (2d Dept. 2010)

deemed a deceptive coloring product. Any combination of equipment, products, or materials that are jointly held out, offered for sale, or otherwise disposed of based on their utility, jointly or in combination with other equipment, products, or materials, in modifying any handgun so as to make it a deceptively colored handgun shall be deemed a deceptive coloring product.

## § 4. Violations.

- a) It shall be unlawful for any person to dispose of a deceptively colored handgun except as authorized by section 6 of this title. It shall be unlawful for any person to modify, attempt to modify, or offer to modify any handgun so as to make it a deceptively colored handgun except as authorized by section 6 of this title.
- b) It shall be unlawful for any person to possess a deceptively colored handgun or a deceptive coloring product except as authorized by section 6 of this title or for any person to attempt to possess a deceptively colored handgun or a deceptive coloring product except as authorized by section 6 of this title.
- § 5. Penalties. Any person who violates any provision of this title or of any regulations issued pursuant to it shall be guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars or imprisonment of not more than one year or both.

# § 6. Exceptions.

- a) This title shall not prohibit possession of any deceptively colored handgun by any person who possesses it on the effective date of the local law enacting this title, or by any person who acquires it by inheritance or operation of law after the effective date of this title, provided that, within thirty (30) days, such person either (i) surrenders such deceptively colored handgun to the Commissioner of Police for disposal in accordance with the provisions of section 400.05 of the penal law; or (ii) modifies such handgun to be in conformance with this title. This title shall not prohibit the possession of any deceptive coloring product by any person who possesses it on the effective date of the local law enacting this title, or by any person who acquires it through inheritance or by operation of law after the effective date of the local law enacting this title, provided that within thirty (30) days such person surrenders such deceptive coloring product to the Commissioner of Police for disposal.
- b) This title shall not prohibit the possession, modification, use, or disposal of any handgun or deceptive coloring product that is purchased for the use of, sold or shipped to, or issued for the use of, the United States or any department or agency thereof, or any state or any department, agency, or political subdivision thereof when possessed, modified, used or disposed of by an employee or agent of such entity, or by a peace officer or police officer, acting within the scope of his or her duties.
- c) This title shall not prohibit possession of any handgun which falls within the definition of "antique firearm" in New York State Penal Law Section 265.00 as such provision may be amended or modified from time to time.
- § 7. Enforcement. The Commissioner of Police may make and promulgate rules and regulations consistent with the provisions of this title.
- § 8. Severability. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, section or part of any section of this title shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, section or part thereof directly involved in the controversy and in

which such judgment shall have been rendered.

§ 9. Effective Date. This local law shall take effect immediately.

(Title 69 enacted by Local Law No.5 -2008, signed by the County Executive on June 25, 2008; § 3(b) and 7 amended and § 6(c) added by Local Law 9-2008)

#### TITLE 70

#### PROVIDING PRICES OF RESTAURANT SPECIALS

Section 1. This law shall appear in the miscellaneous laws as title 70.

#### § 2. Definitions.

"Commissioner" means the Commissioner of the Nassau County Office of Consumer Affairs.

"Person" means an individual, corporation, partnership, firm, company, joint venture, business entity or other like organization.

"Restaurant" means any public eating place, including but not limited to a restaurant, lunch counter, eating house, hotel, motel, buffet, saloon, barroom, inn, tavern, road house, place of public entertainment or any other place where prepared or cooked food is offered for sale to the public for consumption on the premises. When a hotel or other establishment operates more than one public eating place, each such place shall be deemed to be a separate public eating place. For purposes of this law, all other similar establishments operated for profit even though restricted to a certain age, or other distinctive group, are public eating places; provided, however, that religious, charitable or private camps shall not be included.

"Restaurant specials" means special offers of food, meals, desserts and drinks which do not appear on the menu or are not commonly offered by such an establishment.

- § 3. Notice to customers. Every restaurant shall provide written notice of the prices of all restaurant specials offered to its customers. Such notice shall be clearly visible and legible so that it can be easily viewed and understood by customers and provided in any one of the following forms:
- i. a sign listing the restaurant's specials and their prices shall be placed on each table in the restaurant;
- ii. a written list of the restaurant's specials and their prices shall be presented along with the restaurant's regular menu; or
- iii. a prominently displayed posting in the restaurant, such as on a blackboard or whiteboard, listing the restaurant's specials and their prices.

#### § 4. Penalties

Any restaurant found to be in violation of any provision of this title shall be subject to a civil penalty of up to one hundred dollars for the first violation, and not more than two hundred fifty dollars for the second violation and each violation thereafter, which may be recovered following notice and an opportunity to be heard in a proceeding before the Commissioner.

§ 5. Severability. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this

local law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, effect or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this law or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

- §6. SEQRA Determination. This legislature, being the State Environmental Quality Review Act (SEQRA) lead agency, hereby finds and determines that this action is an unlisted action under the provisions of Title 6 NYCRR Part 617, and that based on an evaluation of the environmental criteria set forth in §617.7(c) that are considered to be indicia of significant adverse environmental impacts, along with the recommendation of the Nassau County Planning Commission acting in its advisory capacity to the legislature, that such action will not have significant adverse impacts on the environment, and that no additional environmental review or action is necessary.
- § 7. Effective date. This local law shall take effect thirty days after it shall have become a law.

(Added by Local Law No 3-2009, signed by the County Executive on January 15, 2009, effective February 15, 2009.)

#### **TITLE 71**

#### **TEXT MESSAGING**

Section 1. This law shall appear in the miscellaneous laws as Title 71.

#### § 2. Legislative Intent.

The legislature finds that the popularity of text messaging has created a new distraction for drivers, especially young drivers, and has led to numerous accidents, many of them fatal, nationwide. Text messaging while driving inevitably decreases driver awareness and safety on the roads, affecting reaction time and attention to the surrounding environment and roadways. In order to protect the health, safety, and well-being of persons within the County of Nassau and to insure that individuals are not distracted while driving, this local law seeks to prohibit text messaging while driving.

# § 3. Definitions.

As used in this title, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated: "Authorized emergency vehicle" shall mean every ambulance, police vehicle or bicycle, correction vehicle, fire vehicle, civil defense emergency vehicle, emergency ambulance service vehicle and environmental emergency response vehicle.

"Text Message" also referred to as Short Messaging Service (SMS), shall mean the process by which users send or receive messages on wireless handsets. For the purposes of this local law, an e-mail shall also be considered a "text message."

"Use" or "using' means holding a wireless handset while operating a motor vehicle on any public street or public highway within this county and activating, deactivating or initiating functions or

keys on a wireless handset in order to send or receive text messages on a wireless handset. "Voice recognition" shall mean the capability by which wireless handsets can be activated and controlled by voice commands.

"Wireless handset" shall mean a portable computing device, including cellular telephones, handheld mobile telephones and personal digital assistants capable of transmitting data in the form of an e-mail or text message.

#### § 4. Prohibition.

No person shall use a wireless handset to compose or send a text message while operating a motor vehicle on any public street or public highway within the County of Nassau; provided, however, that the operator of an authorized emergency vehicle, when using such wireless handset in furtherance of their sworn duties, shall be exempt from the provisions of this title. This prohibition shall not apply to text messages composed via any voice recognition technology.

### § 5. Enforcement.

This law shall be enforced by the Nassau County Police Department and sworn officers, as defined in Section 1.20(34) of the New York State Criminal Procedure Law, of an authorized Police Department or force of a town or of a village within the geographic boundaries of Nassau County. This law may be enforced anywhere within the geographic boundaries of Nassau County.

- § 6. Penalties. Any violation of section four of this local law shall constitute an offense and be punishable by a fine not to exceed one hundred and fifty dollars for each violation. Each such violation shall constitute a separate and distinct offense.
- § 7. Severability. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law, or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.
- § 8. Effective date. This local law shall become effective sixty days after it shall have become a law.

(Added by Local Law No 11-2008, signed by the County Executive on October 29, 2008 to become effective sixty days after it shall have become a law.)

# TITLE 72<sup>35</sup>

#### NASSAU COUNTY FERTILIZER LAW

Section 1. Short title

This law shall be known as the "Nassau County Fertilizer Law" and shall appear in the Miscellaneous Laws as Title 72.

§ 2 Legislative Intent. This legislature finds that the use of fertilizer during the cold

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> There are two titles 72

weather months results in nitrogen run-off and leaching which leads to contaminated drinking water, storm water, ground water as well as the pollution of waterways, wetlands and estuaries. It is the purpose of this law to reduce the amount of nitrogen released into the environment by prohibiting the application of fertilizer to any real property in the County between November 15<sup>th</sup> and April 1<sup>st</sup> every year.

§ 3. Definitions. As used in this law, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:

"Agricultural commodity" shall mean any plant or part thereof, or animal, or animal product, produced by a person (including farmers, ranchers, vineyardists, plant propagators, Christmas tree growers, aquaculturists, floriculturists, orchardists, foresters or other comparable persons) primarily for the sale, consumption, propagation or other use by man or animals.

"Commissioner" shall mean the Commissioner of the Nassau County Department of Health.

"Department" shall mean the Nassau County Department of Health.

"Fertilizer" shall mean any organic or inorganic material of natural or synthetic origin which is added to soil and or soil mixtures or solutions to supplement nutrients and is claimed to contain one or more essential plant nutrients. The term "fertilizer" shall not include unmanipulated animal manure, un-manipulated vegetable manure, compost, mulch, compost tea and agricultural liming materials used to reduce soil acidity.

"Person" shall mean any individual, business, firm, partnership, limited liability partnership, corporation, company, limited liability company, society, association, or any organized group of persons whether incorporated or not.

"Turf" shall mean any area of earth principally vegetated by grass, but shall not include areas used for the purpose of producing an agricultural commodity as defined by Environmental Conservation Law Section 33-0101 and this section.

- § 4. Prohibition. No person shall apply fertilizer to any turf on any real property within the County of Nassau between November 15<sup>th</sup> and April 1st of every year.
- § 5. Penalties. Any person who violates section four of this local law shall be subject to a civil penalty of not greater than two hundred and fifty (\$250) dollars for the first offense, not greater than five hundred (\$500) dollars for the second offense and not greater than one thousand (\$1,000) for every offense thereafter, which may be recovered following notice and an opportunity to be heard in a proceeding before the Commissioner or his or her designee.
- § 6. Rules. The Commissioner shall promulgate such rules as are necessary to effectuate the provisions of this title.
- § 7. Severability. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law, or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.
- § 8. SEQRA Determination. This legislature, being the State Environmental Quality Review Act (SEQRA) lead agency, hereby finds and determines that this action is an unlisted action under the provisions of Title 6 NYCRR Part 617, and that based on an evaluation of the environmental criteria set forth in §617.7(c) that are considered to be indicia of significant adverse environmental impacts, along with the recommendation of the Nassau County Planning Commission acting in its advisory capacity to the legislature, that such action will not have

significant adverse impacts on the environment, and that no additional environmental review or action is necessary.

The proposal does not appear to significantly threaten any unique or highly valuable environmental or cultural resources as identified in or regulated by the Environmental Conservation Law of the State of New York or the Nassau County Charter and Code; and the action will have significant beneficial impacts by minimizing nitrogen leachate to groundwater and surface waters, which will minimize hazards to drinking water and human health, while alleviating cultural eutrophication stresses to surface waters.

§ 9. Effective Date. This law shall take effect sixty (60) days after becoming a law. (Added by Local Law 11-2009, signed by the County Executive on June 16, 2009, took effect August 15, 2009.)

## TITLE 72<sup>36</sup>

# VEHICLE OWNER LIABILITY FOR FAILURE OF OPERATOR TO COMPLY WITH TRAFFIC-CONTROL INDICATIONS

## § 1. Program Established.

- a. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, Nassau County is hereby authorized and empowered to establish a demonstration program imposing monetary liability on the owner of a vehicle for failure of an operator thereof to comply with traffic-control indications in accordance with the provisions of this title. The Department of Public Works, for purposes of implementation of such program, shall be authorized to install traffic-control signal photo violation-monitoring devices and to operate such devices at no more than one hundred intersections within and under the jurisdiction of the County at any one time.
- b. Such demonstration program shall utilize necessary technologies to ensure, to the extent practicable, that photographs produced by such traffic-control signal photo violation-monitoring systems shall not include images that identify the driver, the passengers, or the contents of the vehicle. Notwithstanding this requirement, however, no notice of liability issued pursuant to this title shall be dismissed solely because a photograph or photographs allow for the identification of the contents of a vehicle, provided that the County has made a reasonable effort to comply with the provisions of this paragraph.
- c. All funds collected pursuant to this local law shall be deposited into the County's General Fund.

## § 2. **Definitions.**

- a. For purposes of this title, "owner" shall have the same meaning as provided in article 2-B of the Vehicle and Traffic Law.
- b. For purposes of this title, "traffic-control signal photo violation-monitoring system" shall mean a vehicle sensor installed to work in conjunction with a traffic-control signal which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> There are two titles 72

automatically produces two or more photographs, two or more microphotographs, a videotape or other recorded images of each vehicle at the time it is used or operated in violation of subdivision (d) of section eleven hundred eleven of the Vehicle and Traffic Law.

# § 3. Owner Liability.

- a. The owner of a vehicle shall be liable for a penalty imposed pursuant to this title if such vehicle was used or operated with the permission of the owner, express or implied, in violation of subdivision (d) of section eleven hundred eleven of the Vehicle and Traffic Law, and such violation is evidenced by information obtained from a traffic-control signal photo violation-monitoring system; provided, however, that no owner of a vehicle shall be liable for a penalty imposed pursuant to this title where the operator of such vehicle has been convicted of the underlying violation of subdivision (d) of section eleven hundred eleven of the Vehicle and Traffic Law.
- b. A certificate, sworn to or affirmed by a technician employed by Nassau County, or a facsimile thereof, based upon inspection of photographs, microphotographs, videotape or other recorded images produced by a traffic-control signal photo violation-monitoring system, shall be prima facie evidence of the facts contained therein. Any photographs, microphotographs, videotape or other recorded images evidencing such a violation shall be available for inspection in any proceeding to adjudicate the liability for such violation imposed pursuant to this title.
- c. An imposition of liability under this title shall not be deemed a conviction as an operator and shall not be made part of the operating record of the person upon whom such liability is imposed nor shall it be used for insurance purposes in the provision of motor vehicle insurance coverage.
- d. If an owner receives a notice of liability pursuant to this title for any time period during which the vehicle was reported to the police department as having been stolen, it shall be a valid defense to an allegation of liability for a violation of subdivision (d) of section eleven hundred eleven of the Vehicle and Traffic Law pursuant to this title that the vehicle had been reported to the police as stolen prior to the time the violation occurred and had not been recovered by such time. For purposes of asserting the defense provided by this subdivision it shall be sufficient that a certified copy of the police report on the stolen vehicle be sent by first class mail to the Nassau County Traffic and Parking Violations Agency, as the branch of the District Court of Nassau County that shall adjudicate liability of owners pursuant to section six of this title.
- e. An owner who is a lessor of a vehicle to which a notice of liability was issued pursuant to section five of this title shall not be liable for the violation of subdivision (d) of section eleven hundred eleven of the Vehicle and Traffic Law provided that he or she sends to the Nassau County Traffic and Parking Violations Agency a copy of the rental, lease or other such contract document covering such vehicle on the date of the violation, with the name and address of the lessee clearly legible, within thirty-seven days after receiving notice from the Traffic and Parking Violations Agency of the date and time of such violation, together with the other information contained in the original notice of liability. Failure to send such information within such thirty-seven day time period shall render the lessor liable for the penalty prescribed by this title. Where the lessor complies with the provisions of this paragraph, the lessee of such vehicle on the date of such violation shall be deemed to be the owner of such vehicle for purposes of this title, shall be

subject to liability for the violation of subdivision (d) of section eleven hundred eleven of the Vehicle and Traffic Law pursuant to this title and shall be sent a notice of liability pursuant to section five of this title.

- f. (1). If the owner liable for a violation of subdivision (d) of section eleven hundred eleven of the Vehicle and Traffic Law pursuant to this title was not the operator of the vehicle at the time of the violation, the owner may maintain an action for indemnification against the operator.
- (2) Notwithstanding any other provision of this title, no owner of a vehicle shall be subject to a monetary fine imposed pursuant to this title if the operator of such vehicle was operating such vehicle without the consent of the owner at the time such operator failed to obey a traffic-control indication. For purposes of this paragraph, there shall be a rebuttable presumption that the operator of such vehicle was operating such vehicle with the consent of the owner at the time such operator failed to obey a traffic-control indication.
- g. Nothing in this title shall be construed to limit the liability of an operator of a vehicle for any violation of subdivision (d) of section eleven hundred eleven of the Vehicle and Traffic Law.
- h. It shall be a defense to any prosecution for a violation of subdivision (d) of section eleven hundred eleven of the Vehicle and Traffic Law pursuant to this title that such traffic-control indications were malfunctioning at the time of the alleged violation.

#### § 4. **Fines**

- a. An owner liable for a violation of subdivision (d) of section eleven hundred eleven of the Vehicle and Traffic Law pursuant to this title shall be liable for a fine in the amount of fifty dollars for each violation. An additional penalty of twenty-five dollars for each violation shall be imposed for the failure to respond to a notice of liability within forty-two days after the mailing of the notice of liability.
- b. All fines and penalties collected under this title shall be deposited with the county treasurer within the first ten days of the month following collection.

## § 5. Notice of Liability

- a. A notice of liability shall be sent by first class mail to each person alleged to be liable as an owner for a violation of subdivision (d) of section eleven hundred eleven of the Vehicle and Traffic Law pursuant to this title. Personal delivery on the owner shall not be required. A manual or automatic record of mailing prepared in the ordinary course of business shall be prima facie evidence of the facts contained therein.
- b. A notice of liability shall contain the name and address of the person alleged to be liable as an owner for a violation of subdivision (d) of section eleven hundred eleven of the Vehicle and Traffic Law pursuant to this title, the registration number of the vehicle involved in such violation, the location where such violation took place, the date and time of such violation and the identification number of the camera which recorded the violation or other document locator

number.

- c. The notice of liability shall contain information advising the person charged of the manner and the time in which he or she may contest the liability alleged in the notice. Such notice of liability shall also contain a warning to advise the persons charged that failure to contest in the manner and time provided shall be deemed an admission of liability and that a default judgment may be entered thereon.
- d. The notice of liability shall be prepared and mailed by the Nassau County Traffic and Parking Violations Agency or its designee.

## §6. Required Signage

- a. All intersections with a traffic-control signal photo violation-monitoring system must have signage posted within a reasonable distance of the intersection where such system is operating indicating the system's presence, as determined by a traffic engineer rendering services on behalf of Nassau County. Such signage shall be visible to traffic approaching from all directions in which the traffic-control signal photo violation- monitoring system is being utilized to issue a penalty to the driver and or owner of a vehicle. There is no requirement to post a signage visible to traffic approaching the intersection from directions not subject to the automated traffic enforcement system. Notwithstanding this requirement, no notice of liability issued pursuant to this Title shall be dismissed solely because a sign is missing, provided that the County has made a reasonable effort to install and maintain such sign.
- b. All intersections with traffic-control signal photo violation-monitoring systems where vehicles facing a steady circular red signal are authorized to make a right turn after a complete stop at a clearly marked stop line must have signage posted to indicate where the vehicle must stop, unless the vehicle is authorized to make such other movement as is permitted by other indications shown at the same time. Notwithstanding this requirement, no notice of liability issued pursuant to this Title shall be dismissed solely because a sign is missing, provided that the County has made a reasonable effort to install and maintain such sign.
- c. The Executive Director of the Nassau County Traffic & Parking Violations Agency shall file with the Clerk of the County Legislature on July 15 and December 15 every year a certification that the signage mandated pursuant to this law has been installed and maintained to the best of their knowledge. This Certification shall create a rebuttal presumption in any trial, administrative hearing or any other quasi-judicial proceeding that the signage mandated pursuant to this law has been installed and is being maintained.
- d. Such signs shall be installed by March 1 2019.
- § 7. **Adjudication of Liability**. Adjudication of the liability imposed upon owners by this title shall be by the Nassau County Traffic and Parking Violations Agency, as a branch of the District Court of Nassau County.
- § 8. **Report.** The County shall submit an annual report on the results of the use of a traffic-control signal photo violation-monitoring system to the governor, the temporary president of the

senate and the speaker of the assembly on or before June first, two thousand ten and on the same date in each succeeding year in which the demonstration program is operable. Such report shall include, but not be limited to:

- a. a description of the locations where traffic-control signal photo violation-monitoring systems were used;
- b. the aggregate number, type and severity of accidents reported at intersections where a traffic-control signal photo violation-monitoring system is used for the year preceding the installation of such system, to the extent the information is maintained by the department of motor vehicles of New York State;
- c. the aggregate number, type and severity of accidents reported at intersections where a traffic-control signal photo violation-monitoring system is used, to the extent the information is maintained by the department of motor vehicles of New York State;
- d. the number of violations recorded at each intersection where a traffic-control signal photo violation-monitoring system is used and in the aggregate on a daily, weekly and monthly basis;
- e. the total number of notices of liability issued for violations recorded by such systems;
- f. the number of fines and total amount of fines paid after first notice of liability;
- g. the number of violations adjudicated and results of such adjudications including breakdowns of disposition made for violations recorded by such systems;
- h. the total amount of revenue realized by the County;
- i. expenses incurred by the County in connection with the program; and
- j. quality of the adjudication process and its results.
- §9. **Effectiveness of Title.** In the event of any renumbering of the titles contained within the Miscellaneous Laws of Nassau County by the County Attorney's Office or any other agency of government, no further legislative action shall be necessary to maintain the effectiveness of this title.

(Added by Local Law No 12-2009, in effect June 18, 2009, amended by Local Law No 7-2012 effective June 18, 2012 Sections 6, 7, and 8 of this title renamed to 7.8 and 9, respectively; Section 6 of this title added by Local Law 19-2018, in effect December 20, 2018.)

#### TITLE 72-b

# VEHICLE OWNER LIABILITY FOR FAILURE OF OPERATOR TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN POSTED MAXIMUM SPEED LIMITS

§1. Program Established. Repealed.

- §2. Definitions. Repealed.
- §3. Liability. Repealed
- §4. Notice of Liability. Repealed.
- §5. Signage. Repealed.
- §6. Report. Repealed.

(Added by Local Law 9-2014; amended by Local Law 10-2014; repealed by Local Law No 19-2014, effective December 18, 2014.)

#### TITLE 73

# REGULATION OF PRIVATE FIRE HYDRANTS WITHIN RESIDENTIAL PRIVATE COMMUNITIES

Section 1. This law shall appear in the miscellaneous laws as title 73.

§ 2. Legislative Intent. This Legislature hereby finds and determines that ensuring the proper functioning of fire safety equipment in Nassau County is essential to protecting public safety.

This Legislature further finds and determines that firefighters experienced a difficult time containing a recent fire in Suffolk County due to the inadequate water flow coming from a fire hydrant located within a private co-operative community.

This Legislature further finds and determines that certain fire hydrants within Nassau County are not maintained by municipalities, but are instead the responsibility of private residential communities and pursuant to the Title 19 (NYCRR), Part 1225 Fire Code of New York State, Section 508 Fire Protection Water Supplies, such fire hydrants are to be tested for operation and flow each year.

This Legislature finds it be in the best interest of the County for the Nassau County Fire Commission to play a role in making certain that fire departments and all necessary parties have the information they need to fight fires as safely and efficiently as possible. Therefore, the purpose of this law is to require the person or entity responsible for testing the fire hydrants within private residential communities to annually file a certification with the Nassau County Fire Commission that they have performed the required annual test of their fire hydrants and have provided the results of those tests to their local fire department.

- § 3. Definitions. As used in this law, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:
  - "Commission" shall mean the Nassau County Fire Commission.
- "Fire Hydrant" shall mean a private fire hydrant that is not owned or maintained by a municipal entity.

"Private Residential Community" shall mean a residential community consisting of apartments, condominiums, townhouses, co-operative housing, or one or two family homes which utilizes private fire hydrants, and which is required to annually inspect and test fire hydrants

pursuant to Title 19 (NYCRR), Part 1225 Fire Code of New York State, Section 508 Fire Protection Water Supplies.

"Responsible Person or Entity" shall mean any individual, business, firm, partnership, limited liability partnership, corporation, company, limited liability company, society, association, or any organized group of persons whether incorporated or not, responsible for ensuring that the annual fire hydrant testing within a private residential community is performed pursuant to Title 19 (NYCRR), part 1225 Code of New York State, Section 508 Fire Protection Water Supplies.

- § 4. Requirements. (a) The responsible person or entity shall submit a copy of the report generated following the annual fire hydrant testing within the private residential community from its annual fire hydrant testing performed pursuant to Title 19 (NYCRR), Part 1225 Fire Code of New York State, Section 508 Fire Protection Water Supplies to the local fire department responsible for providing fire protection services to the private residential community within thirty (30) days of the date in which the testing was required to be performed. The aforementioned report shall include, but not be limited to, the water pressure level coming out of each hydrant as measured by pounds per square inch (psi) and a calculation of the number of gallons of water per minute from each hydrant based on a reading of twenty (20) psi of flowing pressure.
- (b) The responsible person or entity shall submit a completed sworn affidavit with the Commission. The form of said affidavit shall be established by the Commission and shall state that:
- (i) The responsible person or entity has caused the fire hydrant to be tested within the private residential community which is required annually under Title 19 (NYCRR), Part 1225 Fire Code of New York State, Section 508 Fire Protection Water Supplies; and
- (ii) the responsible person or entity has filed a report containing the information described in Subsection (a) with its local fire department.

  This affidavit shall be filed with the Commission within fifteen (15) days after the report described in Subsection (a) is filed with the local fire department.
- § 5. Penalties. (a) Any responsible person or entity other than a corporation violating any provision of this title, or failing to comply therewith, shall upon conviction be guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by a fine not exceeding five thousand dollars (\$5,000) or, by imprisonment for not more than one (1) year or both, for each and every offense. A corporation violating any provision of this title, or failing to comply therewith, or violating or failing to comply with any order or regulation made thereunder, shall upon conviction be guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by a fine not exceeding five thousand dollars (\$5,000) for each and every offense. The imposition of the penalty for any violation of this title shall not excuse the violation or permit it to continue, and each fifteen (15) days thereafter that the responsible person or entity fails to comply shall constitute a separate offense.
- (b) Where a responsible person or entity has not previously been subject to a penalty imposed under this title, the penalties described in subdivision (a) of this section shall be imposed only after the responsible person or entity receives notice of the violation and fails to comply with the provisions of this title within thirty days.
- (c) It shall be a defense to an action brought pursuant to this Title that the person who is the subject of the action is not a responsible person as defined in section three of this local law.
- § 6. Enforcement. The Commission shall promulgate such rules and regulations as it deems necessary for the implementation and enforcement of any provisions of this chapter.

- § 7. Applicability. This law shall apply to all fire hydrant operability tests within a private residential community required to be performed pursuant to Title 19 (NYCRR), Part 1225 Fire Code of new York State, Section 508 Fire Protection Water Supplies after the effective date of this local law.
- § 8. Severability. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law, or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

(Added by Local Law No 24-2009, signed by the County Executive on October 26, 2009 took effect February 23, 2010).

#### **TITLE 74**

#### **DROP-OFF BINS**

- §.0 Short Title. This law shall be known as "Drop-off Bins."
- § 1 Legislative Intent. This Legislature finds and determines that unidentified drop off bins needs to be regulated. The Legislature further finds that residents are easily misled to think that items dropped in an unmarked bin are going to charity, when, in fact, that is not the case, and oftentimes, bins are set up by for-profit enterprises that take the discarded clothing and resell it for profit. Therefore, the primary purpose of this law is to provide transparency to the residents of the County regarding their donations.
- § 2. Definitions. As used in this law, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:

"Drop off bin" means any enclosed receptacle or container made of metal, steel or a similar product designed or intended for the donation and the temporary storage of clothing, toys or other items.

"Owner" means the person or entity having legal title to the property and/or the person shown as the owner of the property on the current assessment rolls of the County.

"Person" means any individual, business, firm, partnership, limited liability partnership, corporation, company, limited liability company, society, association, or any organized group of persons whether incorporated or not.

- § 3. Prohibition, regulation and duty to maintain.
- A. No Person shall place a drop off bin on any County property or property maintained by the County, or on any other public sidewalk, roadway, or right-of-way.
- B. No person shall place a drop off bin on private property without first filing with the Nassau County Department of Consumer Affairs written authorization from the owner and a statement indicating what organization the proceeds will benefit.
- C. No person shall place, use or employ a drop off bin that does not display the following information:

- 1. the name, location of the principal place of business and the telephone number of the person placing, using or employing a drop off bin; and
- 2. the charity registration number assigned by the Charities Bureau of the Office of the New York State Attorney General to the person placing, using or employing a drop off bin.
- D. No drop off bin shall be used for advertising or promotional purposes other than the name, location of the principal place of business and the telephone number of the person placing, using or employing a drop off bin.
- E. The drop off bin shall be placed on a paved surface.
- F. No drop off bin shall be larger than six (6) feet high by six (6) feet wide by five (5) feet deep.
- G. The drop off bin must be of a neutral color, or closely compatible with the color of surrounding structures so as to make the bin as visually unobtrusive as possible.
- H. The drop off bin shall be of the type that is enclosed by use of a receiving door and locked so that the contents of the bin may not be accessed by anyone other than those responsible for the retrieval of the contents.
- I. Any Person, Owner, tenant, lessee and/or agent having a legal interest in the subject property, who has upon his/her property a drop off bin, or whose name appears upon a drop off bin, shall maintain the drop off bin and its surrounding area in a clean and neat condition, including but not limited to, the following:
  - 1. any graffiti placed on the drop off bin must be removed within seventy-two hours following notice of its existence;
  - 2. if a drop off bin becomes damaged or vandalized, it shall be repaired, replaced or removed within five (5) days of receipt of notice of such vandalism, unless the damage is such as to constitute a danger to persons or property in which case it shall be made safe within twenty-four (24) hours of notice of said condition:
  - 3. each drop off bin must be regularly emptied of its contents so that it does not overflow, resulting in clothing or other material being strewn about the surrounding area.

## § 4. Display Requirements.

The information required by Section 3(C) of this law shall at all times be conspicuously displayed on the exterior of all planes forming the perimeter sides of every drop off bin in upper case type size of no less than three (3) inches and in a color that contrasts with the color of the drop off bin. In no event shall any other such lettering displayed on a drop off bin be larger than the lettering required by Sections 3(C) and 5(A) of this law.

# § 5. Exception.

A. In the event that a person placing, using or employing a drop off bin does not have a charity registration number, such person shall display, or shall cause to be displayed, in the same manner as required by Section 4 of the law, the following statements:

- i. "This is a FOR-PROFIT Drop Off Bin"; and
- ii. "Proceeds will go to the benefit of [insert the name of the organization(s)]."
- B. Information required by Section 5 of this local law shall be in upper case type size of no less than four (4) inches and in a color that contrasts with the color of the drop off bin. In no event

| shall any other such lettering displayed on a drop off bin be larger than the lettering required by Sections $3(C)$ and $5(A)$ of this law. |  |
|---|--|
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
| January 1, 2022   |  |

#### § 6. Penalties.

The Commissioner of the Nassau County Office of Consumer Affairs shall have the power to impose a fine not to exceed \$750 for a first violation and \$1,500 for any subsequent violation of this law or any rule or regulation promulgated thereunder.

§ 7. Promulgation of Rules.

The Commissioner of the Nassau County Office of Consumer Affairs is hereby authorized and empowered to promulgate such rules and regulations as it deems necessary for the implementation and enforcement of the provisions of this law.

§ 8. Applicability.

This law shall apply to all actions occurring on or after the effective date of this law.

§ 9. Severability.

If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder hereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law, or in its application to the person or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

(Added by Local Law No 3-2010 passed by the County Legislature on December 21, 2009, became a local law on February 5, 2010)

#### **TITLE 75**

#### **DROP-SIDE CRIBS**

- §.0 Short Title. This law shall be known as "Drop-side cribs."
- § 1. Legislative Intent. This Legislature hereby finds and determines that drop-side cribs are manufactured With three immovable sides and one side that is able to slide up and down to allow for easier access to infants inside the crib.

This Legislature also finds and determines that drop-side cribs have more moving parts than cribs with four fixed sides, leading to an increased risk of separation of one side of the crib front the others and higher rates of other crib malfunctions.

This Legislature further finds and determines that frequently patents are unaware that their drop-side crib has become unsafe because the crib's hardware malfunctions in a way that cannot be readily detected.

This Legislature finds that the Consumer Product Safety Commission has reported that drop-side cribs have caused approximately 90 deaths and 11,000 injuries throughout the United States between 2005 and 2008.

This Legislature determines that the injuries and deaths resulting from the use of drop-side cribs have resulted in increased investigations and five recalls by the Federal Consumer Product Safety Commission involving more than three million cribs.

This Legislature also finds that, in response to these concerns, the crib making industry has been guided by the recommendation of the industry safety standards organization, ASTM International, that the manufacture and sale of drop-side cribs should be discontinued.

This Legislature intends to ensure the protection of the youngest and most vulnerable residents of Nassau County from the dangers associated with drop-side crib malfunctions.

Therefore, the purpose of this law is to ban the sale of drop-side cribs in Nassau County. § 2. Definitions. As used in this law, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:

- "Drop-side crib" shall mean any infant crib that has three immovable sides; with a fourth side that moves up and down. This term shall not include drop-gate cribs or any other crib that has four immovable sides with a portion of one side capable of being folded down.
- "Person" shall mean any natural person, individual corporation, unincorporated association, proprietorship, firm, partnership, join [sic] venture, joint stock association or other business entity of any kind.
- § 3. Prohibitions. No person shall sell or offer for sale drop-side cribs within the County of Nassau.
- § 4. Enforcement. This law shall be enforced by the Nassau County Department of Consumer Affairs. The Commissioner of the Nassau County Department of Consumer Affairs shall promulgate such rules and regulations as it deems necessary for the implementation and enforcement of any provisions of this title.
- § 5. Penalties. Any person who knowingly violates the provisions of this law shall he subject to a civil penalty of five hundred dollars (\$500) for an initial violation of the law and a penalty of one thousand dollars (\$1,000) for each subsequent violation.
- § 6. Applicability. This law apply to all actions occurring on or a after the effective date of this law.
- § 7. Severability. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law, or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

(Added by Local Law 2-2010 passed by the County Legislature on December 21, 2009, became a Local Law on February 5, 2010)

# **TITLE 76**

# SEX OFFENDER IDENTIFICATION AND DISCLOSURE LAW

- §1. Short Title. This law shall be known as the "Sex Offender Identification and Disclosure Law" and shall appear in the Miscellaneous Laws of Nassau County as Title 76
- §2. Legislative Intent. This Legislature finds that the New York State Sex Offender Registration Act ("SORA") provides for the registration of convicted sex offenders and has established a Sec Offender Registry whereby the public may inquire about the registration status of any individual. This service is provided as a public benefit by New York State, and may be accessed free of charge.

This Legislature further finds that this Sex Offender Registry is a cost-free method of communication by which the public may identify a sex offender at any risk level as provided by SORA

This Legislature further finds that sex offenders have a high rate of recidivism and therefore pose a serious risk to youth when entrusted with their care or supervision. As such, parents and guardians of children have an interest in ascertaining whether any principal, employee, volunteer or independent contractor employed by the youth agency is a registered sex offender pursuant to

#### SORA.

This Legislature further finds that a person that submits an inquiry to the Sex Offender Registry, including a parent or guardian of a child, will be informed of an individual's sex offender status only if the person calling can provide that an individual's name and one of four identifiers for that person (date of birth, social security number, driver license number or exact address).

This Legislature further finds that a youth agency would more likely have access to this information and would therefore be able to obtain the sex offender status of a principal, employee, volunteer, or independent contractor and provide the same to a parent or guardian of a child upon request.

Therefore, the primary purpose of this law is to require youth agencies to inquire as to the sex offender status of all principals, employees, volunteers, and independent contractors for the calendar year by submitting an inquiry to the Sex Offender Registry and to provide, upon the written request of a parent or guardian of a child, a written statement identifying registered sex offenders employed by said agency within five (5) business days of the receipt of said request.

# §3. Definitions, As used in this title:

- e. Youth Agency: Any person, agency, or organization that serves youth under the age of eighteen (18) in any capacity.
- f. SORA: The New York State Sex Offender Registration Act.
- g. Sex Offender Registry: The registry maintained by the New York State Division of Criminal Justice Services pursuant to § 168 of the New York Sate Corrections Law.
- h. Registered Sex Offender: Any individual who is required to register with the Division of Criminal Justice Services pursuant to SORA.
- i. Sex Offender Status: The risk level of an individual as identified by the Division of Criminal Justice Services pursuant to SORA.
- j. Independent Contractor: A person or business that performs services for a Youth Agency and works directly with youth under the age of eighteen (18) under an expressed or implied agreement.
- k. Guardian of a child: Any person or business entrusted with the care and supervision of a child.
- §4. Identification of Sex Offender Status. Youth Agencies operating within the County of Nassau shall inquire as to the Sex Offender Status of all principals, employees, volunteers and independent contractors for the calendar year by submitting an inquiry to the Sex Offender Registry.
- §5. Disclosure of Sex Offender Status. A parent or guardian of a child may submit a written request to a Youth Agency to inquire as to the identities and Sex Offender Status of the Youth Agency's principals, employees, volunteers, or independent contractors. Upon receipt of this written request, the Youth Agency shall provide that a parent or guardian of a child with a written statement by a principal, officer or director of the agency or organization ("Disclosure Statement") stating the following:
  - (a) That the Youth Agency has inquired as to the Sex Offender Status of all principals, employees, volunteers, and independent contractors of the Youth Agency for the calendar year by submitting an inquiry to the Sex Offender Registry; and
  - (b) That all principals, employees, volunteers, and independent contractors subject to inquiry are not Registered Sex Offenders

- and do not have a pending risk level pursuant to SORA, or if the person(s) subject to inquiry is a Registered Sex Offender or has a pending risk level pursuant to SORA, the Youth Agency must disclose the sex offender risk level as identified by the Sex Offender Registry for that individual(s) to the requesting parent or guardian of a child; and
- (c) That the Youth Agency shall for the remainder of the calendar year inquire as to the Sex Offender Status of all principals, employees, volunteers, and independent contractors prior to the hiring or retention of all principals, employees, volunteers, and independent contractors.
- (d) That the Youth Agency shall provide another Disclosure Statement to the parent or guardian of a child within five (5) business days of the receipt of the results of the inquiry to the Sex Offender Registry for all principals, employees, volunteers, and independent contractors hired or retained after the date of the initial Disclosure Statement should the inquiry identify a Registered Sex Offender or an individual with a pending risk level pursuant to SORA.
- §6. Disclosure Statements. Disclosure Statements must be provided to the requesting parent or guardian of a child by mailing the same within five (5) business days of receipt of the written request from the parent or guardian of the child, or within five (5) business days of the receipt of the results of the inquiry to the Sex Offender Registry, whichever is sooner.
- §7. Penalties. Any Youth Agency that violates any provision of this law shall be guilty of a violation punishable by a fine of not more than two hundred and fifty dollars(\$250).
- §8. Severability. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder hereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law, or in its application to the person or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

#### §9. SEORA Determination

It is hereby determined by the Nassau County Legislature, the lead agency, and pursuant to the provisions of the State Environmental Quality Review Act, 8 N.Y.E.C.L. section 0101 et seq. and its implementing regulations, Part 617 of 6 N.Y.C.R.R., and Section 1611 of the County Government Law of Nassau County, that this Local Law will not have a significant impact on the environment and that no further environmental review or action is required.

§10. Effective Date: This law shall take effect immediately after becoming law. (Added by Local Law No. 14-2010, effective August 6, 2010.)

**TITLE 77** 

#### LAW AGAINST DISRUPTION OF FUNERAL RELATED EVENTS

- §1. Short Title. This law shall be known as the "Law Against Disruption of Funeral Related Events" and shall appear in the Miscellaneous Laws of Nassau County as Title 77
- §2. Legislative Intent. This Legislature hereby finds and determines that the loss of a family member is an emotional trauma for the decedent's surviving family members.

This Legislature further finds that surviving family members have a significant interest in quietly mourning the loss of their loved one without being disrupted by those who are not mourning that loss.

This Legislature further finds that funeral related events have been disrupted by individuals who are demonstrating within close proximity to them.

This Legislature further finds that demonstrating at funerals related events prevents grieving family members from mourning their deceased loved one in peace.

This Legislature further finds that family members of the deceased frequently suffer emotional distress when demonstrations occur during, immediately before or after funeral related events.

This Legislature further finds that a full opportunity exists under the terms and provisions of this law for the exercise of free speech and other constitutional rights at times other than the period from one hour before the start of funeral related events until one hour after the completion of the same.

Therefore, the primary purpose of this law is to protect the privacy of grieving families and prevent the disruption of funeral related events and to maintain the peaceful nature of cemeteries and funeral locations by prohibiting demonstrations during, one hour before and one hour after funeral related events in the County of Nassau while protecting the First Amendment rights of individuals.

- §3. Definitions. As used in this title:
  - a. Demonstration: Picketing and other protest conduct, including but not limited to oration and speech with or without the use of sound amplification equipment or devices, and display of signs with or without verbal accompaniment.
  - b. Funeral Related Event: Ceremonies, wakes, funerals, burials, Shiva, and other memorial services held in connection with the deceased person.
- §4. Prohibitions. No person in the County of Nassau shall engage in a demonstration within three hundred (300) feet of any church, synagogue or other place of worship, mortuary, funeral home, cemetery, or other location at which a Funeral Related Event is being held within one hour prior to the commencement of any Funeral Related Event, during any Funeral Related Event, or until one hour following the completion of any Funeral Related Event.
- §5. Enforcement: Any person who knowingly violates the provisions of this law shall be guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by a fine of up to \$1,000.00 and/or up to one year's imprisonment.

§6. Severability. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder hereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law, or in its application to the person or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

#### §7. SEQRA Determination

It is hereby determined by the Nassau County Legislature, as lead agency, and pursuant to the provisions of the State Environmental Quality Review Act ("SEQRA"), 8 NYECL section 0101 et seq. and its implementing regulations, Part 617 of 6 NYCRR, and Section 1611 of the County Government Law of Nassau County, that this Local Law will not have a significant impact on the environment and that no further environmental review or action is required.

§8. Effective Date: This law shall take effect immediately after becoming a law. (Added by Local Law No. 15-2010, effective August 6, 2010.)

# TITLE 78<sup>37</sup>

# LAW AGAINST THE APPLICATION, SALE, TREATMENT AND IMPORTATION OF NATURAL GAS WASTES AND OIL EXTRACTION WASTES

- §1. Short Title. This law shall be known as the "Law Against the Application, Sale, Treatment and Importation of Natural Gas Wastes and Oil Extraction Wastes" and shall appear in the Miscellaneous Laws of Nassau County as Title 78.
- §2. Legislative Intent. This Legislature finds that hydraulic fracturing is a mining technique used to extract fossil fuels that have collected in layers of porous rock.

This Legislature further finds that hydraulic fracturing, commonly known as "hydrofracking," involves the injection of fracturing fluids through a well into a rock formation at a force exceeding the parting pressure of the rock, which causes fractures in the rock through which oil and natural gas can be released and captured for further processing and use.

This Legislatures further finds that fracturing fluids are comprised of water and chemical additives, including, but not limited to, biocides, surfactants, viscosity-modifiers and emulsifiers, which vary in toxicity and include known carcinogens.

This Legislature further finds that once hydraulic fracturing has been completed at a well site, the fluids used to fracture the rock, commonly referred to as flowback water, return to the surface.

This Legislature further finds that the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation identified a few sewage treatment plants in Nassau County as facilities capable of handling flowback water or other wastewater from hydraulic fracturing activities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> There are three Titles 78

This Legislature further finds that tertiary wastewater treatment facilities treat water to remove nitrogen, phosphorous, and carbons, but do not treat for all of the chemical in fracturing fluid and flowback water.

This Legislature further finds that Nassau County's wastewater treatment facilities discharge treated water into waterways which feed into Long Island's sole source aquifer.

This Legislature further finds that it is not in the best interest of Nassau County or its residents to accept toxic byproducts of hydraulic fracturing into Nassau County sewage treatment facilities for processing.

This Legislature further finds that several municipalities have prohibited the use of hydraulic fracturing waster on municipal property and roadways and that several states and municipalities, including the counties of Westchester and Rockland, have enacted laws to prohibit the use or sale of hydrofracking waste within their jurisdictions.

This Legislature also finds that relatively safe extraction of oil and natural gas via vertical wells does indeed create waste and byproducts that are similar to that of hydraulic fracturing, which also contaminates our groundwater, the environment and threatens biological health.

This Legislature concludes that it is in the best interests of Nassau County residents to take additional steps at this time to ensure that the waste products generated by hydrofracking and the extraction of oil and natural gas via vertical wells will not threaten the environment of Nassau County or the health of its citizens.

Therefore, the primary purpose of this local law is to prohibit the acceptance of wastewater produced by hydraulic fracturing by sewage treatment facilities located in, owned and/or operated in or by Nassau County, as well as prohibit the use of hydraulic fracturing waste, oil extraction waste and natural gas waste on County property and roadways and the sale of hydrofracking waste, oil extraction waste, and/or natural gas waste within the jurisdiction of Nassau County.

- §3. Definitions. As used in this law, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:
- "Application" shall mean the act of placing or spreading of natural gas waste, hydrofracking waste, and/or oil extraction waste.
- "County" shall mean Nassau County.
- "Hydraulic fracturing" shall mean fracturing of a rock by man-made fluid-driven fracturing techniques for the purpose of stimulating natural gas or other subsurface hydrocarbon production.
- "Natural gas extraction activities" shall mean all geologic or geophysical activities related to the exploration for or extraction of natural gas or other subsurface hydrocarbon deposits, including but not limited to, core, rotary and vertical drilling, hydraulic fracturing and storage operations involving natural gas extraction waste.

"Natural gas waste" shall mean any waste that is generated as a result of natural gas extraction

activities, which may consist of water, chemical additives, or naturally occurring radioactive materials ("NORMS") and heavy metals. Natural gas waste includes, but is not limited to, hydraulic fracturing waste and leachate from solid wastes associated with natural gas extraction activities, including derivative materials formed by processing and/or breaking down natural gas waste.

"Oil extraction activities" shall mean all geological and geophysical activities related to the exploration or extraction of oil by way of vertical drilling, and storage operations involving oil extraction waste.

"Oil extraction waste" shall mean any waste that is generated as a result of oil extraction activities by way of vertical drilling, which waste may consist of water, chemical additives or naturally occurring radioactive materials ("NORMS") and heavy metals, including derivative materials formed by processing and/or breaking down oil extraction waste.

#### §4. Prohibition.

- a. No sewage treatment facility located in, owned, and/or operated in or by Nassau County shall accept or treat flowback water, natural gas waste, oil extraction waste or any other wastewater resulting from hydraulic fracturing activities.
- b. The sale or distribution of natural gas waste and oil extraction waste within the County is prohibited.
- c. The application of natural gas waste on any road or real property in the County is prohibited.
- d. No natural gas waste shall be permitted to enter the County.
- e. No oil extraction waste shall be permitted to enter the County.
- f. The application or distribution of oil extraction waste on any road or real property in the County is prohibited.
- g. No products with ingredients or additives that originated from natural gas waste may be sold or distributed within the County.
- h. No products with ingredients or additives that originated from oil extraction waste may be sold or distributed within the County.

#### §5. County Bids and Contracts.

- a. All County bids and contracts related to the purchase or acquisition of materials to be used to construct or maintain any roads or real property located within the County shall contain a provision stating that no materials containing natural gas waste or oil extraction waste shall be utilized in the performance of such contracts.
- b. All County bids and contracts related to the retention of services to construct or maintain any roads or real property located within the County shall include a provision stating that no materials containing natural gas waste or oil extraction waste shall be utilized in providing such a service.
- c. All County bids shall include the following statement: "We, \_\_\_\_ of the \_\_\_\_\_ hereby submit a bid for materials, equipment or labor for the \_\_\_\_\_. The bid is for bid documents titled \_\_\_\_\_. We hereby certify under penalty of perjury that no natural gas waste or oil extraction waste will be utilized by the undersigned bidder or any contractor, sub-contractor, agent or vendor thereof in connection with the bid; nor will the undersigned bidder or any sub-contractor, agent or vendor thereof apply or supply any natural gas waste or oil extraction waste to any property or road(s) of Nassau County as a

result of the submission of this bid is selected." The statement shall otherwise be sworn to under penalty of perjury in a form satisfactory to the Nassau County Attorney.

- §6. Enforcement and Promulgation of Rules. The County Board of Health and the Commissioner of the County Department of Public Works and the Commissioner of the County Office of Consumer Affairs, in consultation with one another, are hereby authorized and empowered to jointly promulgate such rules and regulations as they deem necessary for the implementation and enforcement of the provisions of this law. Furthermore, in addition to any other enforcement power conferred by this local law or other applicable law, the County Department of Health, Environment Health Division, the County Department of Public Works and the County Office of Consumer Affairs, Weights and Measures Division, shall be authorized and empowered to participate with other local, state and federal law enforcement agencies, including the Environmental Crimes Unit of the Office of the Nassau County District Attorney, in joint initiatives to enforce the provisions of this local law.
- §7. Penalties. Any violation of Section 4 of this law shall constitute an unclassified misdemeanor, punishable by a fine not to exceed §25,000 per violation and/or up to 30 days imprisonment. Each sale, distribution or application of natural gas waste or oil extraction waste shall constitute a separate and distinct violation. Each violation of Section 4 of this law shall also constitute a civil violation. The County Attorney is hereby authorized to bring and maintain a civil proceeding in a court of competent jurisdiction to recover the fines imposed under this Section, as well as to enforce the provisions of this local law through appropriate monetary and equitable relief.
- §8. Applicability. This law shall apply to all actions occurring on or after the effective date of this law.
- §9. Reverse Preemption. This law shall be null and void on the day that state or federal legislation goes into effect, incorporating either the same or substantially similar provisions as are contained in this law. The County Legislature may determine via resolution whether or not identical or substantially similar state or federal legislation has been enacted for the purpose of triggering the provisions of this section.
- §10. Severability. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this local law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this law or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership entity or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which order or judgment shall be rendered.

# §11. SEQRA Determination.

It is hereby determined, pursuant to the provisions of the State Environmental Quality Review Act, 8 N.Y.E.C.L., section 0101 et seq. and its implementing regulations, Part 617 of 6 N.Y.C.R.R., and Section 1611 of the County Government Law of Nassau County, that the adoption of this local law is an "Unlisted" Action within the meaning of 6 N.Y.C.R.R. Part 617, and has directed the preparation of an Environmental Assessment Form, and based on the information in the Environmental Assessment Form and the criteria in Section 617.7 of 6

N.Y.C.R.R. Part 617 has determined in accordance with the mandates of SEQRA that this proposed local law will not have a significant impact on the environment, and no further review is required.

§12 Effective Date. This local law shall take effect sixty (60) days after it shall have become a law

(Added by Local Law No. 3-2012, amended by Local Law No. 15, 2014, effective November 7, 2014.)

# TITLE 78<sup>38</sup>

# PROHIBITION OF THE SALE OF SYNTHETIC CANNABINOIDS IN NASSAU COUNTY

- As used in this title, "synthetic cannabinoids" means any chemical compound which reacts
  with cannabinoid receptors and has been permanently or temporarily placed on the federal
  Schedule of Controlled Substances, Schedule I, as codified at 21 C.F.R. 1308.11, or any
  other chemical compound which reacts with cannabinoid receptors which has not
  otherwise been approved or regulated for use by the United States Food and Drug
  Administration (FDA).
- 2. No person, firm, corporation, partnership, association, limited liability company, or any other entity, or agent or employee thereof, shall, in any manner, or by any means, offer for sale, charge any fee for, or otherwise distribute a product which contains one or more synthetic cannabinoids within Nassau County.
- 3. Any person, firm, corporation, partnership, association, limited liability company or other entity, or agent or employee thereof that knowingly violates the provisions of this act by selling or offering to sell, charge any fee for, or otherwise distribute any product which contains a synthetic cannabinoid, shall be guilty of an unclassified misdemeanor punishable by a fine of up to \$1,000 and/or up to one year's imprisonment.
- 4. Nothing in this title shall apply to any product or chemical compound approved or regulated by the United States Food and Drug Administration.
- 5. This title shall be null and void in the event that statewide or federal legislation is enacted which incorporates either the same or substantially similar provisions as are contained in this title or in the event that a pertinent state or federal administrative agency issues and promulgates regulations preempting the action taken herein by the County.
- 6. In the event of any renumbering of the titles contained within the Miscellaneous Laws of Nassau County by the County Attorney's Office or any other agency of government, no further legislative action shall be necessary to maintain the effectiveness of this title, notwithstanding section 5 herein.

(Added by Local Law No. 6-2012, effective June 18, 2012.)

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> There are three Titles 78

# TITLE 78<sup>39</sup> ANIMAL ABUSE REGISTRY LAW

- §1. Short Title. This law shall be known as the "Animal Abuse Registry Law" and shall appear as Title 78 of the Miscellaneous Laws of Nassau County.
- §2. Legislative Intent. This Legislature hereby finds that animal cruelty is a serious problem, resulting in the abuse of thousands of animals each year throughout the United States.

This Legislature further finds that while New York State has statutorily criminalized animal abuse, it nevertheless occurs throughout Nassau County and New York State.

This Legislature further finds that statistically, individuals who abuse animals are more likely to commit violent acts against humans than individuals who do not abuse animals.

This Legislature further finds that a strong correlation has been established linking individuals who abuse animals with incidents of domestic violence.

This Legislature further finds that as of 2013, four New York State counties had created animal abuse registries; Suffolk County, Albany County, Westchester Count and Rockland County. New York City recently passed an animal abuse registry bill in February of 2014, and several states have legislation currently pending to establish statewide registries of individuals convicted of animal abuse offenses.

This Legislature further finds that individuals who are listed on such a registry should not be eligible to purchase or adopt any animal in Nassau County, as there is a high rate of recidivism among individuals who commit animal abuse.

Therefore, the purpose of this local law is to establish an online registry for individuals residing in Nassau County who are convicted of Animal Abuse Crimes, to require individuals seeking to purchase or adopt animals to present photographic identification prior to purchase or adoption, and to prohibit pet stores, pet dealers, breeders, and animal shelters from making sales or allowing adoptions of animals to individuals appearing on the Animal Abuse Registry.

# §3. Definitions. As used in this title:

- a. Animal: Any live mammal, bird, or reptile, but shall not include feeder animals.
- b. Animal Abuse Crime: The commission of the following enumerated crimes against an animal: animal fighting, as defined in the New York State Agriculture and Markets Law (hereinafter "A.M.L.") § 351; overdriving, torturing, and injuring animals; failure to provide proper sustenance, as defined in A.M.L. § 353; aggravated cruelty to animals, as defined in A.M.L. §353-a; electrocution of fur-bearing animals, as define in A.M.L. §355; failure to provide proper food and drink to an impounded animal, as defined in A.M.L. §356; poisoning or attempting to poison animals, as defined in A.M.L. §360; interference

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> There are three titles 78

with or injury to certain domestic animals, as defined in A.M.L. §361; sexual misconduct with an animal, as defined in New York State (hereinafter "N.Y.S.") Penal Law § 130,20(3); harming an animal trained to aid a person with a disability in the first degree, as defined in N.Y.S. Penal Law §195.12; harming a service animal in the first degree, as defined in N.Y.S. Penal Code §242.15; harming a service animal in the second degree, as defined by N.Y.S. Penal Code §242.10; or an offense in any other jurisdiction which includes all the essential elements of any such crime provided for in this subdivision.

- c. Convicted of: An adjudication of guilt by any court of competent jurisdiction, whether upon a verdict of plea of guilty or nolo contendere.
- d. Animal shelter: Any public or privately owned organization in Nassau County which maintains property, buildings or structures for the purpose of harboring animals which may be stray, unwanted, lost, abandoned, or abused and seeks to find appropriate permanent homes for such animals. For the purpose of this article, the term "animal shelter" shall not apply to a facility commonly known as a "boarding kennel," where the ownership of the animal is not transferred; a facility commonly known as a "pet store," where animals are offered for sale as all or part of a business; an animal hospital owned, operated or supervised by a licensed veterinarian; or a facility where the owner or operator is licensed by the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation as a nuisance wildlife control agent or wildlife rehabilitator.
- e. Breeder: Any person who breeds nine or more animals per year.
- f. Person: Any natural individual.
- g. Pet Dealer: Any individual, firm, partnership, corporation, company or other entity who or which sells or offers for sale more than nine animals in any given calendar year. This definition shall include pet stores, as defined in this article, and breeders who sell or offer to sell directly to the consumer animals born and raised on the breeder's residential premises.
- h. Pet Store: Any facility of an individual, firm, partnership, corporation, company or other entity who or which offers animals for sale as all or part of a business.

#### §4. Creation of the Animal Abuse Registry.

A Registry is hereby created which shall contain the names and residence information of individuals living in Nassau County who are convicted of an Animal Abuse Crime. The Commissioner of the Nassau County Police Department is hereby authorized, empowered and directed to contract with the Nassau County Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals (NCSPCA) to establish and maintain this registry for individuals residing in Nassau County, which includes allowing concerned members of the public to sign up for email notifications on updates and additions to the Animal Abuse Registry. The NCSPCA shall receive all fees associated with the registration as compensation for their maintenance and administration of the registry, and shall update the registry on a quarterly basis.

### §5. Requirements

- a. All persons eighteen (18) years of age or older who reside in Nassau County and are convicted of an Animal Abuse Crime on or after the effective date or this local law must register with the Nassau County Animal Abuse Registry at the Nassau County Police Department, at a location determined by the Commissioner, within five (5) days following the effective date of this article or their release from incarceration or, if not incarcerated, from the date of the rendering judgment.
- b. Each person required to register with the Animal Abuse Registry shall submit:
  - i. His or her name;
  - ii. Any aliases he or she is known under;
  - iii. His or her residential address, and
  - iv. A photograph of his or her head and shoulders from the front.
- c. Each person registered with the Animal Abuse Registry shall update his or her registration information at the Nassau County Police Department, at a location determined by the Commissioner, each time he or she moves from one residential address to another or, if his or her residential address does not change, annually from the date of his or her first registration.
- d. Any person eighteen (18) years of age or older convicted of an animal abuse crime on or after the effective date of this local law that establishes residency in Nassau County must register with the Nassau County Animal Abuse Registry, at the Nassau County Police Department, at a location determined by the Commissioner, five (5) days following the date such residency is established.
- e. Each person required to register with Nassau County shall remain on the Animal Abuse Registry for five (5) years following his or her release from incarceration or the date judgment was rendered, whichever is later. Registered individuals who are convicted of subsequent Animal Abuse Crimes shall remain on the registry for ten (10) years following their most recent conviction. Upon notification to the Nassau County Police Department of a successful appeal of conviction of an Animal Abuse Crime by an individual that has been required to register pursuant to this local law, the registration information for that individual shall be removed from the Nassau County Animal Abuse Registry within five (5) days following notification.
- f. Any person, including persons registered with the Animal Abuse Registry seeking to purchase or adopt an animal in Nassau County shall provide an Animal Shelter or Pet Dealer with photographic identification prior to purchase, and any Animal Shelter or Pet Dealer operating in Nassau County shall check the name and likeness of any person seeking to purchase or adopt an animal against the Animal Abuse Registry.

# §6. Prohibitions.

a. No Animal Shelter or Pet Dealer operating in Nassau County shall knowingly sell, offer, deliver or provide an animal to any person registered on the Nassau County Animal Abuse Registry.

#### §7. Sharing of Registration Information.

- a. The Nassau County Police Department shall make the Animal Abuse Registry available to the Nassau County Child Protective Services and the Department of Social Services, and is authorized to make the Registry available to any state, regional or national government-operated registry of animal abusers for the purpose of sharing information.
- b. The NCSPCA may accept files from any state, regional or national registry of animal abusers.
- c. The NCSPCA is authorized to make the registry information available within a reasonable amount of time to any animal registry.

# §8. Fees.

Every person required to register with the Animal Abuse Registry must pay an annual fee of one hundred dollars (\$100.00) to the Nassau County Police Department. These funds will be used to pay the administrative costs of maintaining the registry.

# §9. Rules and Regulations.

The Commissioner of the Nassau County Police Department is hereby authorized and empowered to promulgate such rules and regulations as are necessary to implement this article.

#### §10. Penalties.

- a. Any individual required to register with the Animal Abuse Registry who fails to do so shall be charged with a Class A misdemeanor and shall be punished by incarceration in a correctional facility for not more than one (1) year and/or a fine of up to one thousand (\$1,000) dollars.
- b. Any Animal Shelter or Pet Dealer who violates this article shall be guilty of a violation and subject to a maximum fine of \$500 for any first offense. A second violation of this article shall be a violation and subject to a maximum fine of \$1,000. A third or subsequent violation of this article shall be a violation and subject to a maximum fine of \$1,500.

#### §11. Applicability.

This law shall apply to all persons convicted of Animal Abuse Crimes on or After the effective date of this law.

# §12. Severability.

If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this local law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in it operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this law or in its

application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership entity or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which order or judgment shall be rendered.

# §13. SEQRA Determination.

It is hereby determined by the Nassau County Legislature, the lead agency, and pursuant to the provisions of the State Environmental Quality Review Act ("SEQRA"), 8 NYECL Section 0101 et seq. and its implementing regulation, Part 617 of 6 NYCRR, and Section 1611 of the County Government Laws of Nassau County, that this Local Law will not have a significant impact on the environment and that no further environmental review or action is required.

#### §14. Effective Date:

This law shall take effect immediately after becoming a law. (Added by Local Law No. 4-2014, effective May 21, 2014.)

# TITLE 79<sup>40</sup> MARCHISELLI FUNDS PASS THROUGH LAW

- §1. Short Title. This law shall be known as the "Marchiselli Funds Pass Through Law" and shall appear in the Miscellaneous Laws of Nassau County as Title 79.
- §2. Legislative Intent. This Legislature finds that certain public works projects that call for the apportionment of costs to be borne at the ration of eighty (80%) percent federal funds and (20%) percent local funds are eligible for funding under Title 23 of the United States Code, as amended.

This Legislature further finds that Local Authorities can commit to funding on hundred (100%) percent of the non-federal share of costs of projects that are eligible for the funding described above.

This Legislature further finds that Nassau County enters into three-way agreements between Nassau County, Local Authorities, and the New York State Department of Transportation to further the passing through of federal-funds and/or Marchisell Funds to Local Authorities after they make the commitment to the appropriate funding.

This Legislature further finds that additionally, the passing through of Marchiselli Funds from Nassau County to a Local Authority must be in furtherance of a County purpose.

This Legislature further finds that the Nassau County Bridge Authority is a Local Authority pursuant to Title I of the Public Authorities Law.

Therefore, the primary purpose of this local law is to authorize the passing through of Marchiselli Funds from Nassau County to the Nassau County Bridge Authority by way of resolution by the Nassau County Legislature and declare that such passing through is in furtherance of a county purpose.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> There are two titles 79

#### §3. Definitions.

- a. Marchiselli Funds: New York State funds provided to municipalities to draw down Federal matching grants pursuant to the Municipal Streets and Highway Program for capital projects for bridges and highways not located on the New York State highway system.
- b. Local Authority: (i) a public authority or public benefit corporation created by or existing under the New York State Public Authorities Law or any other law of the state of New York whose members do not hold a civil office of the state, are not appointed by the governor or are appointed by the governor specifically upon the recommendation of the local government or governments; (ii) a not-for-profit corporation affiliated with sponsored by, or created by a county, city, town or village government; (iii) a local industrial developmental agency or authority or other local public benefit corporation; or (iv) an affiliation of such local authority.

§4.Power of the Legislature to Authorize the Passing Through of Marchiselli Funds and Its Declaration in Connection Thereto.

- a. The Legislature shall have power to authorize the passing through of Marchiselli funds to the Nassau County Bridge Authority, a Local Authority, after Nassau County receives the same from New York State for purposes of paying principal debt of such Authority's bonds that is entitled to Marchiselli Funds.
- b. The Legislature hereby declares that support of State Public Authorities including the distribution of Marchiselli Funds to such State Public Authorities is in furtherance of a County purpose.
- §5. Severability. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this local law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such order or judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section or part of this law or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership entity or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which order or judgment shall be rendered.

#### §6. SEQRA Determination.

It is hereby determined, based on the recommendation of the Nassau County Planning Commission action in an advisory capacity to the Nassau County Legislature, the lead agency, and pursuant to the provisions of the State Environmental Quality Review Act ("SEQRA"), 8 NYECL section 0101 et seq. and its implementing regulations, Part 617 or 6 NYCRR, and Section 1611 of the County Government Law of Nassau County, that this Local Law will not have a significant impact on the environment and that no further environmental review or action is required. A record of the Planning Commission's recommendation of negative declaration for this action shall be maintained in a file, readily accessible to the public, at the Office of the Planning Commission.

# §7. Effective Date:

This law shall take effect immediately after becoming a law. (Added by Local Law No. 4-2012, effective April 23, 2012.)

# TITLE 79<sup>41</sup> NASSAU COUNTY PET DEALERS AND PET STORES LAW

Section 1. Short Title.

This law shall be known as the "Nassau County Pet Dealers and Pet Stores Law" and shall appear in the Miscellaneous Laws of Nassau County as Title 79.

# §2. Legislative Intent.

This Legislature finds that Pet Dealers and Pet Stores located throughout Nassau County receive dogs and/or cats from breeders or brokers for the primary purpose of selling or trading those animals to individuals and families as pets.

This Legislature further finds that dog and cat breeders that provide these animals to Pet Dealers and Pet Stores vary in their treatment of them and in the manner in which they breed new litters, and that some operate substandard commercial facilities that expose dogs and cats to inhuman and unsafe living conditions.

This Legislature further finds that Pet Dealers and Pet Stores also vary significantly in their treatment of the dogs and cats that they intend to sell, trade, or give away individuals and families.

This Legislature further finds that it can be difficult for individuals and families who wish to purchase a dog or cat from a Pet Dealer or Pet Store to ascertain how the animal was cared for by that Pet Dealer and by the breeder from which it originated while in their custody.

This Legislature further finds that on March 17, 2014, New York State Agriculture and Markets Law §407 and New York State General Business Law §753-d were amended to allow municipalities to enact legislation regulating, among other things, Pet Dealers and the source of animals sold or offered for sale by Pet Dealers, so long as the legislation is no less stringent than the New York State counterpart regulating the same.

This Legislature further finds that individuals and families who wish to purchase dogs and/or cats from a Pet Dealer or Pet Store located within Nassau County would benefit from both New York State and more stringent Nassau County regulation or Pet Dealers, as the enactment of both laws would ensure that their future cat or dog was maintained in a clean, safe, and humane environment prior to purchase.

Therefore, the primary purpose of this local law is to regulate Pet Dealers and Pet Stores located throughout Nassau County.

# §3. Definitions. As used in this title:

a. Animal: Cat or dog.

- b. Breeder: Any person who breeds nine or more animals per year.
- c. Broker: Any person who imports, buys, sells, or trades cats, dogs, kittens, or puppies in wholesale channels. Brokers are not required to take physical possession of the animals to be deemed as such.
- d. Exercise Enclosure: An area of confinement, including but not limited to a cage, run, kennel, stall, or pen, where animals are provided the opportunity to exercise.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> There are two titles 79

- e. Person: An individual, corporation, unincorporated association, proprietorship, firm, partnership, joint venture, joint stock association, or other entity or business organization of any kind.
- f. Pet Dealer: Any person who engages in the sale or offering for sale or more than nine animals per year for profit within Nassau County, except for the following: (1) a breeder who sells or offers to sell directly to consumers fewer than twenty-five animals per year that were born and raised on the breeder's residential premises, and (2) duly incorporated humane societies dedicated to the care of unwanted animals that make such animals available for adoption whether or not a fee is charged for the adoption.
- g. Pet Store: A business establishment owned and/or operated by a pet dealer.
- h. Primary Enclosure: An area of confinement, including but not limited to a cage, run, kennel, stall, or pen, where an animal eats, sleeps, and in most sheltering situations spends the majority of its time.
- i. USDA: United States Department of Agriculture.

# §4. General Requirements.

- a. No animal shall be offered for sale, trade or give-away by a Pet Dealer or Pet Store unless the animal is at least eight (8) weeks old, is in good health and has been weaned from its mother.
- b. No pet dealer shall obtain animals originating from a breeder who has received and failed to cure the following violation by the deadline set by the USDA: 1) one direct violation from the USDA within the past year, 2) three or more different indirect violations, other than "no access violations" within the past year, or 3) on or more reoccurring indirect violations within the past year.
- c. No pet dealer shall obtain animals originating from a breeder who has received "no access" violations on the two most recent inspection reports from the USDA.
- d. Any animal offered for sale, trade or free adoption by a Pet Dealer or Pet Store shall have daily access to appropriate amounts of clean, fresh water and clean, fresh food.
- e. Any Pet Dealer or Pet Store offering animals for sale, trade, or give-away shall, upon request of the prospective consumer, make available a copy of the most recent inspection reports conducted by the USDA and the animal's state of origin of the breeder and/or broker from which the subject animal came if such breeder or broker is required to be licensed by the USDA. If the animal did not originate from a breeder and/or broker that is legally required to be licensed by the USDA, the Pet Dealer, upon request, shall provide the prospective customer with the name and address of the breeder and or broker where the animal originated, as well as the birth date of the animal and certificate of health from a licensed veterinarian. Pet Dealers and Pet Stores shall post the statement "USDA inspection reports and information regarding brokers and breeders are available upon request" on the bottom of signs required pursuant to New York State General Business Law §753-b and shall be subject to the same standards of readability.
- f. Any Pet Dealer or Pet Store offering animals for sale, trade, or give-away shall retain each

- invoice they receive from the broker or breeder from whom they obtain their animals for a period of a least two years. A copy of the invoice must be provided to the Office of Consumer Affairs upon the Department's request.
- g. Any Pet Dealer or Pet Store offering animals for sale, trade or give-away shall make sterilization services available to the consumers for animals sold at an age at which such procedures may be performed safely. Consumers shall be responsible for any costs associated with utilizing such services.

# §5. Primary Animal Enclosure Requirements for Pet Dealers.

- a. The required floor space for each animal in a primary animal enclosure, exclusive of food and water receptacles, shall be a least the number that results from making the following calculation: (length of the largest animal in inches measured from nose to tail +6)<sup>2</sup> divided by 144 = required floor space in square feet. For a single animal housed in an enclosure alone, the enclosure's floor space shall be a minimum of 2 square feet, provided the calculation above would result in a smaller space.
- b. The interior height of the primary enclosure must be at least six inches higher than the head of the tallest animal when it is in a normal standing position.
- c. Any enclosure made from wire must contain a resting board of sufficient size for the contained animal to lie, stretch, walk and stand without touching other animals and without touching the sides of the containment structure or wire.
- d. Animal enclosures shall be stacked no more than 2 enclosures high. The top most stacked enclosure must have a solid floor that will not permit food or debris to fall into any lower cage.
- e. Any primary animal enclosure shall have a tag with the following information about each animal who is housed therein:
  - 1. Breed of animal, if known;
  - 2. Sex of the animal;
  - 3. Color or other identifying marks;
  - 4. Date of the animal's birth:
  - 5. Date of arrival to the Pet Dealer or Pet Sore;
  - 6. The name, state and USDA license number of the breeder; and
  - 7. The name, state and USDA license number of the broker, if applicable.

However, if a microchip has been implanted into an animal and that microchip provided information set forth in §\$4(e)(1) through 4(e)(7) when scanned by a Pet Dealer or Pet Store, the tag described in this paragraph is not required for the animal with the implanted microchip.

#### §6. Exercise Enclosures

The Required space for each animal contained within an exercise enclosure is as follows:

- a. For exercise enclosures containing one animal, the size must be at least 2.5 times the required measurements for primary enclosures for that animal as set forth in sections 4(a) and 4(b) of this local law, and
- b. For exercise enclosures containing two or more animals, the size must be at least 1.5 times the required space for each of these animals if maintained separately under the minimum requirements set forth in sections 4(a) and 4(b) of this local law.

# §7. Exemption.

Pet Dealers and Pet Stores may use animal enclosures that are stacked three enclosures high if they were purchased and installed by the Pet Store or Pet Dealer prior to the effective date of this law, provided that they have solid floors between each level, but this exemption will lapse and terminate five years after this law's effective date. All other requirements associated with animal enclosures shall remain in effect.

#### §8. Euthanasia.

No animal shall be euthanized pursuant to New York State Agriculture and Markets Law §401(5)(d) without a written certification from a veterinarian stating that the animal suffers from a congenital or hereditary condition, disease, or illness that requires euthanasia.

# §9. Enforcement.

- a. This law shall be enforced by the Nassau County Office of Consumer Affairs.
- b. The Nassau County Office of Consumer Affairs shall inspect each pet store at least once annually and shall make additional inspections of any pet store should it observe or receive credible evidence of violations.
- c. NCSPCA shall be empowered to conduct inspections on behalf of the Nassau County Office of Consumer Affairs, and shall report to the Nassau County Office of Consumer Affairs any violations identified pursuant to this law.

# §10. Rules and Regulations.

The Commissioner of the Nassau County Office of Consumer Affairs is authorized to promulgate such rules and regulations as deemed necessary to implement the provisions of this local law.

#### §11. Penalties.

Any Pet Dealer or Pet Store that violates any provision of this law shall be assessed a civil fine of up to \$500 for the first violation, up to \$1,000 for the second violation, and up to \$1,500 for every violation thereafter. Each individual violation of the provision shall be considered a separate and distinct offense, and each day that a violation is committed or is permitted to continue constitutes a separate offense and is punishable as such.

#### §12. Severability.

If any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law or the application thereof to any person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or part of this law, or in its application to the person, individual, corporation, firm, partnership, entity, or circumstance directly involved in the controversy in which such order or judgment shall be rendered.

#### §13. SEQRA Determination.

This Legislature, being the State Environmental Quality Review Act (SEQRA) lead agency, hereby finds and determines that this law constitutes a Type II action pursuant to Section 617.5(c)(20), (21) and/or 27 of Title 6 of the New York Code Of Rules And Regulations (6 NYCRR) and within the meaning of Section 8-0109(2) of the New York Environmental Conservation Law as a promulgation of regulations, rules, policies, procedures, and legislative

decisions in connection with continuing agency administration, management and information collection.

### §14. Effective Date.

This law shall take effect immediately. (Added by Local Law No. 11-2014, effective August 6, 2014.)

# TITLE 79-a FEE RELIEF FOR HURRICANE/SUPER STORM SANDY VICTIM

#### §1. Legislative Intent

The effects of Hurricane/Super Storm Sandy continue to present hardships to Nassau County Residents and business owners. Nassau County Government is committed to assisting County residents in rebuilding their lives and businesses and wishes to do all that it can to facilitate the rebuilding effort. Unfortunately, some of the fees charged by the various departments of County Government for permits or other services necessary for rebuilding pose an economic hardship for County residents and business owners who are already struggling financially. In light of these difficulties, it is in the best interests of the County to provide for a waiver of certain fees for permits or other services required in connection with the rebuilding effort and to refund and fees remitted for said permits or services.

### §2. Definitions

"Applicant" shall mean (1) any individual who has been issued a Federal Emergency Management Agency ("FEMA") identification or case number in connection with damage to their property between October 29, 2012 and February 27, 2013, or any amended filing deadline for federal disaster relief in connection with Hurricane/Super Storm Sandy as set by FEMA who requests a waiver of a fee charged by a department of County Government or (2) an officer of any firm, partnership, association, LLC, corporation or other similar entity who requests a waiver of a fee charged to said entity by a department of County Government.

"Department head" shall mean any commissioner, director, or other chief officer of a department of County Government including, but not limited to, the Department of Public Works and the Department of Health.

"Private insurance policy" shall mean any insurance policy that was not procured through FEMA or any other Federal or State governmental entity.

"Services" shall include any tasks required to be performed by County employees or individuals contracted by County department including, but not limited to, inspections and certifications of work performed by an applicant or contractor.

# §3. Fee Relief for Victims of Hurricane/Super Storm Sandy

- (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the fees set forth in subsection (f) of this section shall be waived upon a showing of good cause by an applicant. Good cause shall be demonstrated by a notarized document addressed to the department head from the applicant stating that the permit or service is necessary due to the effects of Hurricane/Super Storm Sand. Applicants invoking the provisions of this section in their individual capacity for damages to private property shall include a FEMA identification or case number in their statement of good cause.
- (b) Applicants shall be entitled to refund for those fees set forth in subsection (f) of this section that were remitted for permits or services necessary for repairs or construction in

connection with the effects of Hurricane/Super Storm Sandy. Refunds shall be obtained by sending, via certified or registered mail, evidence of payment and a showing of good cause to the department head responsible for the permit or service. Evidence of payment shall be demonstrated by the presentation of a copy of a receipt issued by the department in question or a copy of a permit issued in the name of the applicant. Good cause shall be demonstrated in the manner set forth in subsection (a) of this section. Upon certification of a valid claim for a refund the department shall direct the County Treasurer to issue a refund to the applicant.

- (c) Notwithstanding the provisions of this section, no applicant shall be entitled to a refund or waiver of any fee covered by a private insurance policy or by any Federal, State, or local disaster relief assistance. Applicants shall state in their notarized document showing good cause for a waiver or refund whether they have received any reimbursement for fees paid under a private insurance policy, if their private insurance policy covers any fees that would be subject of a waiver, or if they have obtained Federal, State, or local disaster relief assistance that explicitly covers and fee subject to the provisions of this section.
- (d) Department heads are hereby authorized to promulgate rules and regulations that are necessary to carry out the provisions and purpose of this section.
- (e) The refund or waiver authorized by this Local Law shall apply to applicants so long as they show good cause as defined by §3(a), above.
- (f) Fees for the following permits or services may be waived or refunded to an applicant pursuant to this section:
  - (i) Sewer disconnection and/or reconnection permits issued by the Department of Public Works
  - (ii) Pre-demolition building inspection by the Department of Health
  - (iii) "Block" indexing and re-indexing of instruments presented to the County Clerk for recording
  - (iv) Any fee relating to the new construction of any project pursuant to New York State Private Housing Finance Law §577(1)(A) as replacement housing for any other structure damaged by Super Storm Sandy.

(Subdivision (e) amended by Local Law 2-2018, in effect February 28, 2018, and Local Law 1-2020, in effect on January 29, 2020)

- §4. This Local Law shall not apply to fees charged for permits or services which are not required or performed in connection with Hurricane/Super Storm Sandy or any fee imposed pursuant to Federal or State law.
- §5. Department heads shall keep accurate records of each fee waived and shall seek reimbursement for the waived or refunded fees to the extent provided by Federal and State law.
- §6. Any applicant that provides false information in connection with a request for a waiver or refund shall be guilty of a class A misdemeanor and subject to a fine of five thousand dollars and/or imprisonment for not more than one year in addition to any other penalty provided by law.
- §7. In the event of any renumbering of the titles contained within the Miscellaneous Laws of Nassau County by the County Attorney's Office or any other agency of government, no further legislative action shall be necessary to maintain the effectiveness of this title.
- §8. Severability. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, section or part of any section of this title

shall be adjudged by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, paragraph, section or part thereof directly involved in the controversy and in which such judgment shall have been rendered.

(Added by Local Law No. 1-2013, in effect February 28, 2013; amended & renumbered by Local Law No. 7-2016 in effect August 4, 2016; amended by Local Law No. 3-2017, in effect April 4, 2017; amended by Local Law No. 2-2018, in effect February 28, 2018.)

#### TITLE 80

#### SUPERSTORM SANDY ASSESSMENT RELIEF

# §1. Legislative Intent

This Legislature recognizes that Superstorm Sandy caused catastrophic damage to homes and business within Nassau County, and that some real property owners whose homes and businesses within Nassau County, and that some real property owners whose homes and business were destroyed or damaged by Superstorm Sandy are currently responsible for taxes on buildings that are uninhabitable and businesses that are unusable. On October 22, 2013, Governor Andrew Cuomo signed the "Superstorm Sandy Assessment Relief Act," enacted as Chapter 424 of the Laws of 2013, to provide assessment relief to individuals residing in eligible counties, including the County of Nassau, whose property was damaged as result of Superstorm Sandy. This Legislature recognizes that it is in the best interests of all County residents that individuals whose property has been damaged by entitled to a reduction in the taxable assessed value of said property, and therefore elects to opt-in to the provisions of the Superstorm Sandy Assessment Relief Act.

§2. The County of Nassau hereby adopts the provision of Chapter 424 of the Laws of 2013, entitled the "Superstorm Sandy Assessment Relief Act," in their entirety, which includes paragraph I through iv of subsection a. of section 4. Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, this Title shall be deemed to have been in full force and effect on and after October 28, 2012.

(Added by Local Law No. 6-2013, effective December 2, 2013.)

#### TITLE 81

#### NASSAU COUNTY EMERGENCY SOLUTIONS GRANT PROGRAM

- §1. Legislative Intent. It is the intent of this Legislature to provide a method for the Nassau County Office of Housing and Community Development to disburse grant funds from the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development as part of the Emergency Solutions Grant Program quickly in order to provide timely assistance to those in need of urgent housing assistance.
- §2. Notwithstanding section 403 of the Nassau County Charter, the County Treasurer is hereby authorized and directed to furnish the Office of Housing and Community Development with the sum of two hundred fifty thousand (\$250,000.00) dollars from funds heretofore appropriated for such department, for the establishment of a revolving fund checking account for the disbursement

of monies received from the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development as part of the Emergency Solutions Grant Program under Title XXIV, Part 576, of the United States Code.

- §3. The County Executive shall promulgate and file with the Clerk of the Legislature rules for the expenditure of monies from the revolving fund checking account. Such rules shall include, but not be limited to, specification of those persons authorized to withdraw monies from such fund, signatures required.
- §4. The expenditures of monies from such revolving fund checking account shall be made only for purpose permitted by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development under the Emergency Solutions Grant Program.

(Added by Local Law No. 2-2014, effective February 27, 2014.)

#### TITLE 82

#### PARTICIPATION OF SERVICE-DISABLED VETERANS IN COUNTY CONTRACTS

- §1. **Definitions.** In this Title the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:
  - 1. "State-Certified Business" shall mean a business that is a certified service-disabled veteran-owned business under the New York State Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Act.
  - 2. "Departments and Offices" shall mean
    - (a) Any County department; or
    - (b) Any division board, commission or bureau of any county department, or Nassau County Community College; or
    - (c) A board, a majority of whose members are appointed by the County Executive or who serve by virtue of being County officers or employees; or
    - (d) Any of the following:

Assessment Review Commission

Civil Service Commission

Commissioner of Accounts

Comptroller

**Consumer Affairs** 

Coordinating Agency for Spanish Americans

County Attorney

County Clerk

County Executive

County Legislature

Department of Assessment

District Attorney

Drug & Alcohol

Fire Commission

Health

**Human Resources** 

**Human Rights Commission** 

**IDA** 

Medical Examiner

Mental Health

Minority Affairs

Nassau County Community College

Office of Housing and Intergovernmental Affairs

Office of Budget & Management

Office of the Physically Challenged

Planning

Police Department

Probation

Public Administrator

**Public Works** 

Purchasing & Contracts

Recreation Parks & Support Services

**Sheriff and Correction Officers** 

**Social Services** 

Senior Citizen Affairs

Traffic & Parking Violations

Traffic Safety Board

Treasurer

**Veterans Services** 

Youth Board

- § 2. The Nassau County Office of Minority Affairs shall be responsible for outreach to State-Certified Businesses to participate in public contract bidding opportunities and for maintaining a data base of all State-Certified Businesses.
- § 3. All departments and offices of Nassau County shall make good faith efforts to ensure State-Certified Businesses have greater participation in County contracts by aiming for at least a six percent participation rate of State-Certified Businesses on County contracts.
- § 4. All departments and offices of Nassau County shall maintain documents reflecting the good faith efforts made by their department. (Added by Local Law No. 2-2016)

#### TITLE 83

#### ENERGIZE NY OPEN C-PACE FINANCING PROGRAM

#### Section

- 1. Legislative
- 2. Definitions
- 3. Establishment of an Energize NY Open C-Pace Financing Program
- 4. Procedures for Eligibility
- 5. Application Criteria
- 6. Energize NY Finance Agreement
- 7. Terms and Conditions of Repayment
- 8. Levy of Annual Installment Amount and Creation of Annual Installment Lien
- 9 Verification and Report

# **§1.** Legislative findings, intent and purpose, authority.

- A. It is the policy of both the Municipality and the State of New York (the "State") to achieve energy efficiency and renewable energy improvements, reduce greenhouse gas emissions, mitigate the effect of global climate change, and advance a clean energy economy. The Municipality finds that it can fulfill this policy by providing property assessed clean energy financing to Qualified Property Owners (as defined below) for the installation of renewable energy systems and energy efficiency measures. This local law establishes a program that will allow the Energy Improvement Corporation (as defined below, "EIC"), a local development corporation, acting on behalf of the Municipality pursuant to the municipal agreement (the "Municipal Agreement") to be entered into between the Municipality and EIC, to make funds available to Qualified Property Owners that will be repaid through charges on the real properties benefited by such funds, thereby fulfilling the purposes of this local law and accomplishing an important public purpose. This local law provides a method of implementing the public policies expressed by, and exercising the authority provided by, Article 5-L of the General Municipal Law (as defined below, the "Enabling Act").
- <u>B.</u> The Municipality is authorized to execute, deliver and perform the Municipal Agreement and otherwise to implement this Energize NY Open C-PACE Financing Program pursuant to the Constitution and laws of New York, including particularly Article IX of the Constitution, Section 10 of the Municipal Home Rule Law, the Enabling Act and this local law.
- <u>C.</u> This local law, which is adopted pursuant to Section 10 of the Municipal Home Rule Law and the Enabling Act shall be known and may be cited as the "Energize NY Open C-PACE Local Law".

# **§2.** Definitions

A. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings assigned in the Enabling Act.

B. For purposes of this local law, and unless otherwise expressly stated or unless the context requires, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:

**Annual Installment Amount** – shall have the meaning assigned in Section 8, paragraph B.

**Annual Installment Lien** – shall have the meaning assigned in Section 8 paragraph B.

**Authority** – the New York State Energy Research and Development Authority.

**Benefit Assessment Lien** – shall have the meaning assigned in Section 3, paragraph A.

**Benefited Property** – Qualified Property for which the Qualified Property Owner has entered into a Finance Agreement for a Qualified Project.

**Benefited Property Owner** – the owner of record of a Benefited Property.

**EIC** – the Energy Improvement Corporation, a local development corporation, duly organized under section 1411 of the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law of the State, authorized hereby on behalf of the Municipality to implement the Program by providing funds to Qualified Property Owners and providing for repayment of such funds from money collected by or on behalf of the Municipality as a charge to be levied on the real property.

**Eligible Costs** – costs incurred by the Benefited Property Owner in connection with a Qualified Project and the related Finance Agreement, including application fees, EIC's Program administration fee, closing costs and fees, title and appraisal fees, professionals' fees, permits, fees for design and drawings and any other related fees, expenses and costs, in each case as approved by EIC and the Financing Party under the Finance Agreement

**Enabling Act** – Article 5-L of the General Municipal Law of the State, or a successor law, as in effect from time to time.

**Finance Agreement** – the finance agreement described in Section 6A of this local law.

Financing Charges – all charges, fees and expenses related to the loan under the Finance Agreement including accrued interest, capitalized interest, prepayment premiums, and penalties as a result of a default or late payment and costs and reasonable attorneys' fees incurred by the Financing Party as a result of a foreclosure or other legal proceeding brought against the Benefited Property to enforce any delinquent Annual Installment Liens.

**Financing Parties** – Third party capital providers approved by EIC to provide financing to Qualified Property Owners or other financial support to the Program which have entered into separate agreements with EIC to administer the Program in the Municipality.

**Municipality** – the County of Nassau, a municipality of the State constituting a tax district as defined in Section 1102 of the RPTL of the State.

**Municipal Lien** – a lien on Qualified Property which secures the obligation to pay real property taxes, municipal charges, or governmentally imposed assessments in respect of services or benefits to a Qualified Property.

**Non-Municipal Lien** – a lien on Qualified Property which secures any obligation other than the obligation to pay real property taxes, municipal charges, or governmentally-imposed assessments in respect of services or benefits to a Qualified Property Owner or Qualified Property.

**Program** – the Energize NY Open C-PACE Financing Program authorized hereby.

**Qualified Project** – the acquisition, construction, reconstruction or equipping of Energy Efficiency Improvements or Renewable Energy Systems or other projects authorized under the Enabling Act on a Qualified Property, together with a related Energy Audit, Renewable Energy System Feasibility Study and/or other requirements under or pursuant to the Enabling Act, with funds provided in whole or in part by Financing Parties under the Program to achieve the purposes of the Enabling Act.

**Qualified Property** – Any real property other than a residential building containing less than three dwelling units, which is within the boundaries of the Municipality that has been determined to be eligible to participate in the Program under the procedures for eligibility set forth under this local law and the Enabling Act and has become the site of a Qualified Project.

**Qualified Property Owner** – the owner of record of Qualified Property which has been determined by EIC to meet the requirements for participation in the Program as an owner, and any transferee owner of such Qualified Property.

**RPTL** – the Real Property Tax Law of the State, as amended from time to time.

**Secured Amount** – as of any date, the aggregate amount of principal loaned to the Qualified Property Owner for a Qualified Project, together with Eligible Costs and Financing Charges, as provided herein or in the Finance Agreement, as reduced pursuant to Section 8, paragraph C.

State – the State of New York.

# §3. Establishment of an Energize NY Open C-PACE Financing Program

A. An Energize NY Open C-PACE Financing Program is hereby established by the Municipality, whereby EIC acting on its behalf pursuant to the Municipal Agreement, may arrange for the provision of funds by Financing Parties to Qualified Property Owners in accordance with the Enabling Act and the procedures set forth under this local law, to finance the acquisition, construction, reconstruction, and installation of Qualified Projects and Eligible Costs and Financing Charges approved by EIC and by the Financing Party under the Finance Agreement. EIC, on behalf of the Municipality, and with the consent of the Benefited Property Owner, will record a Benefit Assessment Lien on the Benefited Property in the Secured Amount (the "Benefit Assessment Lien") on the land records for the Municipality. Such recording shall be exempt from any charge, mortgage recording tax or other fee in the same manner as if recorded by the Municipality.

B. Before a Qualified Property Owner and a Financing Party enter into a Finance Agreement which results in a loan to finance a Qualified Project, repayment of which is secured by a Benefit Assessment Lien, a written consent from each existing mortgage holder of the Qualified Property shall be obtained, permitting the Benefit Assessment Lien and each Annual Installment Lien to take priority over all existing mortgages.

## **§4.** Procedures for eligibility

A. Any property owner in the Municipality may submit an application to EIC on such forms as have been prepared by EIC and made available to property owners on the website of EIC and at the Municipality's offices.

- B. Every application submitted by a property owner shall be reviewed by EIC, acting on behalf of the Municipality, which shall make a positive or negative determination on such application based upon the criteria enumerated in the Enabling Act and §5 of this local law. EIC may also request further information from the property owner where necessary to aid in its determination.
- C. If a positive determination on an application is made by EIC, acting on behalf of the Municipality, the property owner shall be deemed a Qualified Property Owner and shall be eligible to participate in the Program in accordance with \$60f this local law.

# §5. Application criteria

Upon the submission of an application, EIC, acting on behalf of the Municipality, shall make a positive or negative determination on such application based upon the following criteria for the making of a financing:

- A. The property owner may not be in bankruptcy and the property may not constitute property subject to any pending bankruptcy proceeding;
- B. The amount financed under the Program shall be repaid over a term not to exceed the weighted average of the useful life of Renewable Energy Systems and Energy Efficiency Improvements to be installed on the property as determined by EIC;
- C. Sufficient funds are available from Financing Parties to provide financing to the property owner:
- D. The property owner is current in payments on any existing mortgage on the Qualified Property;
- E. The property owner is current in payments on any real property taxes on the Qualified Property; and
- F. Such additional criteria, not inconsistent with the criteria set forth above, as the State, the Municipality, or EIC acting on its behalf, or other Financing Parties may set from time to time.

# §6. Energize NY Finance Agreement

- A. Qualified Property Owner may participate in the Program through the execution of a finance agreement made by and between the Qualified Property Owner and a Financing Party, to which EIC, on behalf of the Municipality, shall be a third-party beneficiary (the "Finance Agreement"). Upon execution and delivery of the Finance Agreement, the property that is the subject of the Finance Agreement shall be deemed a "Benefited Property").
- B. Upon execution and delivery of the Finance Agreement, the Benefited Property Owner shall be eligible to receive funds from the Financing Party for the acquisition, construction, and installation of a Qualified Project, together with Eligible Costs and Financing Charges approved by

EIC and by the Financing Party, provided the requirements of the Enabling Act, the Municipal Agreement and this local law have been met.

- C. The Finance Agreement shall include the terms and conditions of repayment of the Secured Amount and the Annual Installment Amounts.
- D. EIC may charge fees to offset the costs of administering the Program and such fees, if not paid by the Financing Party, shall be added to the Secured Amount.

# **§7.** Terms and conditions of repayment

The Finance Agreement shall set forth the terms and conditions of repayment in accordance with the following:

- A. The principal amount of the funds loaned to the Benefited Property Owner for the Qualified Project, together with Eligible Costs and Financing Charges approved by EIC and by the Financing Party, shall be specially assessed against the Benefited Property and will be evidenced by a Benefit Assessment Lien recorded against the Benefited Property on the land records on which liens are recorded for properties within the Municipality. The special benefit assessment shall constitute a "charge" within the meaning of the Enabling Act and shall be collected in annual installments in the amounts certified by the Financing Party in a schedule provided at closing and made part of the Benefit Assessment Lien. Said amount shall be annually levied, billed and collected by EIC, on behalf of the Municipality, and shall be paid to the Financing Party as provided in the Finance Agreement.
- B. The term of such repayment shall be determined at the time the Finance Agreement is executed by the Benefited Property Owner and the Financing Party, not to exceed the weighted average of the useful life of the systems and improvements as determined by EIC, acting on behalf of the Municipality.
- C. The rate of interest for the Secured Amount shall be fixed by the Financing Party in conjunction with EIC, acting on behalf of the Municipality, as provided in the Finance Agreement.

# §8. Levy of Annual Installment Amount and Creation of Annual Installment Lien

- A. Upon the making of the loan pursuant to the Finance Agreement, the Secured Amount shall become a special Benefit Assessment Lien on the Benefited Property in favor of the Municipality. The amount of the Benefit Assessment Lien shall be the Secured Amount. Evidence of the Benefit Assessment Lien shall be recorded by EIC, on behalf of the Municipality, in the land records for properties in the Municipality. Such recording shall be exempt from any charge, mortgage recording tax or other fee in the same manner as if recorded by the Municipality. The Benefit Assessment Lien shall not be foreclosed upon by or otherwise enforced by the Municipality.
- B. The Finance Agreement shall provide for the repayment of the Secured Amount in installments made at least annually, as provided in a schedule attached to the Benefit Assessment Lien (the "Annual Installment Amount"). The Annual Installment Amount shall be levied by EIC, on behalf of the Municipality, on the Benefited Property in the same manner as levies for municipal charges, shall become a lien on the Benefited Property as of the first day of January of the fiscal

year for which levied (the "Annual Installment Lien") and shall remain a lien until paid. The creation or any recording of the Annual Installment Lien shall be exempt from any charge, mortgage recording tax or other fee in the same manner as if recorded by the Municipality. Payment to the Financing Party shall be considered payment for this purpose. Such payment shall partly or wholly discharge the Annual Installment Lien. Delinquent Annual Installment Amounts may accrue Financing Charges as may be provided in the Finance Agreement. Any additional Financing Charges imposed by the Financing Party pursuant to the Finance Agreement shall increase the Annual Installment Amount and the Annual Installment Lien for the year in which such overdue payments were first due.

C. The Benefit Assessment Lien shall be reduced annually by the amount of each Annual Installment Lien when each Annual Installment Lien becomes a lien. Each Annual Installment Lien shall be subordinate to all Municipal Liens, whether created by Section 902 of the RPTL or by any other State or local law. No portion of a Secured Amount shall be recovered by the Municipality, EIC, or an assignee upon foreclosure, sale or other disposition of the Benefited Property unless and until all Municipal Liens are fully discharged. Each Annual Installment Lien, however, shall have priority over all Non-Municipal Liens, irrespective of when created, except as otherwise required by law.

D. Neither the Benefit Assessment Lien nor any Annual Installment Lien shall be extinguished or accelerated in the event of a default or bankruptcy of the Benefited Property Owner. Each Annual Installment Amount shall be considered a charge upon the Benefited Property and shall be collected by EIC, on behalf of the Municipality, at the same time and in the same manner as real property taxes or municipal charges. Each Annual Installment Lien shall remain a lien until paid. Amounts collected in respect of an Annual Installment Lien shall be remitted to EIC, on behalf of the Municipality, or the Financing Party, as may be provided in the Finance Agreement.

E. EIC shall act as the Municipality's agent in collection of the Annual Installment Amounts. If any Benefited Property Owner fails to pay an Annual Installment Amount, the Financing Party may redeem the Benefited Property by paying the amount of all unpaid Municipal Liens thereon, and thereafter shall have the right to collect any amounts in respect of an Annual Installment Lien by foreclosure or any other remedy available at law. Any foreclosure shall not affect any subsequent Annual Installment Liens.

F. EIC, on behalf of the Municipality, may sell or assign for consideration any and all Benefit Assessment Liens and Annual Installment Liens to Financing Parties that provide financing to Qualified Properties pursuant to Finance Agreements. The Financing Parties may sell or assign for consideration any and all Benefit Assessment Liens and Annual Installment Liens received from EIC, on behalf of the Municipality, subject to certain conditions provided in the administration agreement between EIC and the Financing Party. The assignee or assignees of such Benefit Assessment Liens and Annual Installment Liens shall have and possess the same powers and rights at law or in equity as the Municipality would have had if the Benefit Assessment Lien and the Annual Installment Liens had not been assigned with regard to the precedence and priority of such lien, the accrual of interest and the fees and expenses of collection.

# **§9.** Verification and report

EIC, on behalf of the Municipality, shall verify and report on the installation and performance of Renewable Energy Systems and Energy Efficiency Improvements financed by the Program in such form and manner as the Authority may establish. (Added by Local Law No. 9-2019, in effect on May 24, 2019)

#### TITLE 84

AMERICAN SIGN LANGUAGE INTERPRETERS AT ALL NASSAU COUNTY GOVERNMENT PRESS CONFERENCES HELD DURING EMERGENCY SITUATIONS

#### §1. Legislative Intent.

It is estimated that over forty-eight million Americans are deaf or hard of hearing. This population is especially vulnerable to the dangers and hardships associated with natural disasters and other public emergencies. According to the National Association for the Deaf, it has been well documented that this population frequently experiences the most difficulty preparing for and recovering from emergencies and disasters.

Among the many difficulties faced by the deaf and hard of hearing during times of emergency is the inability to receive potentially life-saving information from government agencies responsible for emergency management. Research by the National Council on Disability has found that access to emergency services for deaf and hard of hearing individuals is in need of significant improvement. See, *Effective Communications for People with Disabilities: Before, During and After Emergencies*. Because local jurisdictions such as Nassau County are primarily responsible for responding to emergencies and natural disasters, it is their responsibility to lead the way in initially making such improvements. Accordingly, this Legislature determines that the County should initiate steps through its Office of Emergency Management to ensure adequate emergency communication with deaf and hard of hearing individuals through the provision of American Sign Language interpreters at all press conferences held during emergency situations including natural and manmade disasters.

#### § 2. Definitions.

- 1. As used in this section, the following terms shall have the definitions:
  - (a) "Commissioner" shall mean the Commissioner of the Nassau County Office of Emergency Management.
  - (b) "Disaster" shall have the definition set forth in section 20(2) of the New York State Executive Law.
  - (c) "Emergency situation" shall mean disaster, rioting, catastrophe, severe weather, flooding, or similar event whether or not a state of emergency has been officially declared, including "emergency conditions" as defined in section 2113 of the Nassau County Charter.
  - (d) "Press conference" shall mean a meeting, organized by a County official,

- employee, or other representative of the County with one or more journalists and other representatives of the media, for the purposes of officially distributing information to the media and answering questions.
- (e) "Emergency situation press conference" shall mean a press conference relating to or involving an emergency situation.
- (f) "Qualified and certified American Sign Language Interpreter" shall mean an interpreter fluent in American Sign Language and meeting the requirements set forth in Section 390 of the Judiciary Law.

# § 3. Sign Language Interpreters at Emergency Situation Press Conferences.

- 1. It shall be the responsibility of the Commissioner to ensure that qualified and certified American Sign Language Interpreters are available to provide sign language interpretation services at all emergency situation press conferences. Such sign language interpreters shall be present and shall provide such services at each emergency situation press conference held by any officer, official, employee or agent of the County. To the maximum extent possible, the Commissioner shall ensure that the sign language interpreter shall be so physically positioned that his or her face, body, arms, and hands are visible in the video transmission of the press conference at all times.
- 2. The Commissioner shall establish protocols for securing the services of qualified and certified American Sign Language interpreters at all emergency situation press conferences.

(Title 84 added by Local Law No. 7-2018, in effect April 26, 2018).

#### TITLE 85

#### POLYSTYRENE FOAM CONTAINER BAN

- § 1. **Definition**. As used in this local law, the following terms shall have the indicated meanings:
  - a Disposable Food Service Item: Cups. containers, lids, closures, trays, plates, knives, forks, spoons, stoppers, paddles, straws, place mats, napkins, doilies wrapping materials. tooth picks, and all similar articles that are intended by the manufacturer to be used once for the purposes of eating or drinking or that are generally recognized by the public as items to be discarded after one use.
  - b. Food Service Establishment: A premises or part of a premises where food is prepared and served or given directly to the consumer whether such food is provided free of charge or sold, and whether consumption occurs on or off the premises or is provided from a pushcart, stand or vehicle. This definition shall include, but not be limited to, full-service restaurants, fast food restaurants, cafes, delicatessens, coffee shops, grocery stores, vending trucks, vending carts and cafeterias.
  - c. Manufacturer: Any natural person, firm or corporation that produces or imports either polystyrene foam or loose fill packaging,

- d Mobile Food Commissary: Any facility which provides services to food service establishments that are located in or is a pushcart, stand or vehicle. including, but not limited to access to potable water, waste water and refuse disposal, the provision of supplies for food service, storage for food and supplies, or commercial cooking facilities.
- e. Polystyrene Foam: Any blown polystyrene foam, including expanded or extruded foams (commonly referred to as Styrofoam) which are thermoplastic petrochemical materials which utilize a styrene monomer and are processed by any number of techniques, including, but not limited to fusion of polymer spheres (expandable bead polystyrene), injection molding, foam molding, and extrusion blow molding. This definition shall not include products composed of rigid polystyrene.
- f Polystyrene Loose Fill Packaging: A void-filling packaging product made of expanded polystyrene foam that is used as a packaging fill, commonly referred to as packing peanuts.
- g Rigid Polystyrene: Thermoplastic petrochemical materials which utilize a styrene monomer but are not blown polystyrene foam.
- h Store: A retail or wholesale establishment other than a food service establishment.

#### § 2. Prohibition

- No food service establishment, mobile food commissary or store shall sell or offer for use any disposable food service item that consists of polystyrene foam. This prohibition shall not apply to packaging that is used for prepackaged foods that have been filled and sealed prior to receipt by the food service establishment, mo bile food commissary, or store or to containers used to store uncooked eggs, raw meat, pork, fish, seafood or poultry sold from a butcher case or similar retail use.
- b. No manufacturer or store shall sell or offer for sale polystyrene loose fill packaging. This prohibition shall not apply to the retail sale of electronics that are packaged in polystyrene loose fill packaging prior to entering the store.

#### § 3. Enforcement

- a This law shall be enforced by the Nassau County Department of Consumer Affairs.
- b. Enforcement shall be done upon inspection by the Nassau County Department of Consumer Affairs, where applicable, or upon complaint.

#### § 4. Penalties

- a Violation of this law shall be punishable by a civil fine. First offenses shall be punishable by a fine of up to \$500. Second offenses shall be punishable by a fine of up to \$1,000. Third and subsequent offenses shall be punishable by a fine of up to \$2,500. Each violation of this law shall be considered a separate and distinct offense.
- b. No fine shall be imposed until an alleged violator has had a hearing and opportunity to be heard by the Commissioner of the Nassau County Department of Consumer Affairs, or his or her designee.
- c. A special revenue fund is hereby established, to commence concurrently with the implementation of this Local Law to which all fines collected pursuant to this Local Law shall be deposited.

d All funds collected pursuant to this Local Law shall be utilized solely to provide supplemental funding for contracts, approved by the Nassau County Legislature, for the environmental investigation and cleanup of Nassau county properties.

# § 5. Rules and Regulations

The Commissioner of the Department of Consumer Affairs is hereby authorized to promulgate rules and regulations necessary to implement and enforce this local law. (Added by Local Law No. 7-2019, adopted on June 11, 2019 and in effect on January 1, 2020)

#### **TITLE 86**

# VEHICLE OWNER LIABILITY FOR FAILURE OF OPERATOR TO STOP FOR A SCHOOL BUS DISPLAYING A RED VISUAL SIGNAL AND STOP-ARM

# § 1. Program Established.

- a. There is hereby established a demonstration program imposing monetary liability on owners of vehicles for failure of the operators thereof to comply with section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law when meeting a school bus marked and equipped as provided in subdivisions 20 and 21-c of section 375 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law in Nassau County.
- b. Under such demonstration program the County is empowered to install and operate school bus photo violation monitoring systems which may be stationary or mobile, and which may be installed, pursuant to an agreement with a school district within the County on school buses owned and operated by such school district or privately owned and operated for compensation under contract with such district. Provided, however, that:
  - i. no stationary school bus photo violation monitoring system shall be installed or operated by the County, except on roadways under the jurisdiction of the County; and
  - ii. no mobile school bus photo violation monitoring system shall be installed or operated on any such school buses unless the County and such district enter into an agreement for such installation and operation.
- c. To carry out the demonstration program, the County is authorized to enter into agreements with school districts for the installation, maintenance and use of school bus photo violation monitoring systems, for the proper handling and custody of photographs, microphotographs, videotapes, other recorded images and data produced by such systems, and for the forwarding of such photographs, microphotographs, videotapes, other recorded images and data to the County, subject to the provisions of this section and section 1174-a of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law and approval of the County Legislature, provided however, that the County shall not enter into an agreement with any city school district wholly contained within a city.

- d. Nothing in this local law shall be construed to prevent the County or school district at any time from withdrawing from or terminating an agreement for the installation, maintenance and use of school bus photo violation monitoring systems, provided, however, that the County or the school district shall provide no less than twenty days' notice to other signatories of such agreements before withdrawing.
- e. The total cost to the school district of the installation, maintenance and use of school bus photo violation monitoring systems pursuant to an agreement authorized by this local law shall be borne entirely by the County. On or before September first of each year, the school district shall determine and certify to the County the total cost to the school district for the school year ending the preceding June thirtieth of installing, maintaining and using such systems within the County, for the proper handling and custody of photographs, microphotographs, videotapes, other recorded images and data produced by such systems, and for the forwarding of such photographs, microphotographs, videotapes, other recorded images and data to the County. On or before the following December first of each year, the County shall pay to the school district such cost so certified to it on or before the preceding September first. Not later than twenty days after each such payment is submitted or is due, whichever occurs first, the school district shall submit to the County budget director and the chairpersons of the Rules and Finance Committees of the Legislature a report showing the amount of costs so certified and the amount of payments so received or due. If the County fails to make the payment required to the school district by the twentieth day after the date such payment was due, (i) the school district shall notify the County budget director and the chairpersons of the Rules and Finance Committees of the Legislature of such occurrence within twenty-four hours of such day; and (ii) the demonstration program shall be suspended within the County until such time as the County makes the payment required to the school district. The school district shall notify the County budget director and the chairpersons of the Rules and Finance Committees of the Legislature of such payment within seven business days of its receipt provided, however, that any notice of liability issued prior to such date shall not be voided.
- f. The contract between the County and the school district shall provide that any image or images captured by school bus photo violation monitoring systems shall be inadmissible in any disciplinary proceeding convened by such school district or any school bus contractor thereof, and any proceeding initiated by the New York State Department of Transportation involving licensure privileges of school bus operators. Any school bus photo violation monitoring device mounted on a school bus shall be directed outwardly from such school bus to capture images of vehicles operated in violation of section 1174 of this chapter, and images produced by such device shall not be used for any other purpose.
- g. Any school district participating in the demonstration program shall be prohibited from accessing any photographs, microphotographs, videotapes, other recorded images or data from school bus photo violation monitoring systems but shall provide, pursuant to the agreement with the County, as provided in this local law, for the proper handling and custody of such photographs, microphotographs, videotapes, other recorded images and data produced by such systems, and for the forwarding of such photographs, microphotographs, videotapes, other recorded images and data to the County for the purpose of determining whether a motor vehicle was operated in violation of subdivision (a) of section 1174 of the

New York Vehicle and Traffic Law and imposing monetary liability on the owner of such motor vehicle therefor.

- h. The agreement between the County and the school district shall provide that photographs, microphotographs, videotapes, other recorded images and data produced by school bus photo violation monitoring systems shall be destroyed (a) ninety days after the date of the alleged imposition of liability if a notice of liability is not issued for such alleged imposition of liability pursuant to this local law or (b) upon final disposition of a notice of liability issued pursuant to this local law.
- i. The County shall adopt and enforce measures to protect the privacy of drivers, passengers, pedestrians and cyclists whose identity and identifying information may be captured by a school bus photo violation monitoring device. Such measures shall include:
  - i. utilization of necessary technologies to ensure, to the extent practicable, that photographs produced by such school bus photo violation monitoring systems shall not include images that identify the driver, the passengers, the contents of the vehicle, pedestrians and cyclists provided, however, that no notice of liability issued pursuant to this section shall be dismissed solely because a photograph or photographs allow for the identification of the contents of a vehicle, provided that the County has made a reasonable effort to comply with the provisions of this paragraph;
  - ii. a prohibition on the use or dissemination of vehicles' license plate information and other information and images captured by school bus photo violation monitoring systems except: (a) as required to establish liability under this section or collect payment of penalties; (b) as required by court order; or (c) as otherwise required by law;
  - iii. the installation of signage in conformance with standards established in the MUTCD at each roadway entrance of the jurisdictional boundaries of the County giving notice that school bus photo violation monitoring systems are used to enforce restrictions on vehicles violating section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law. For the purposes of this paragraph, the term "roadway" shall not include state expressway routes or state interstate routes but shall include controlled-access highway exit ramps that enter the boundaries of the County; and
  - iv. oversight procedures to ensure compliance with the aforementioned privacy protection measures.

#### §2. Definitions.

For purposes of this local law, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

a. "County" shall mean the County of Nassau;

- b. "Manual on uniform traffic control devices" or "MUTCD" shall mean the manual and specifications for a uniform system of traffic control devices maintained by the commissioner of transportation pursuant to section 680 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law;
- c. "Owner" shall have the meaning provided in article two-b the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law; and
- d. "School bus photo violation monitoring system" shall mean a device that is capable of operating independently of an enforcement officer which is installed to work in conjunction with a school bus stop-arm and which automatically produces two or more photographs, two or more microphotographs, a videotape or other recorded images of a vehicle at the time it is used or operated in violation of subdivision (a) of section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law.

#### § 3. Penalties.

An owner liable for a violation of subdivision (a) of section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law pursuant to this local law shall be liable for monetary penalties in accordance with the following schedule of fines and penalties:

- a. Two hundred fifty dollars for a first violation;
- b. Two hundred seventy-five dollars for a second violation committed within eighteen months of the first violation;
- c. Three hundred dollars for a third or subsequent violation all of which were committed within eighteen months from the first violation; and
- d. An additional penalty of twenty-five dollars for each violation for the failure to respond to a notice of liability within the prescribed time period.
- e. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any local law, ordinance, or resolution to the contrary, the Public Safety Fee established by Nassau County Administrative Code §8-33.0 and Driver Responsibility Fee set forth by Ordinance No. 168-2017, as may be amended from time to time, shall not be assessed against an owner liable for a violation of subdivision (a) of section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law pursuant to this local law. (Subdivision e added by Local Law No. 12-2021, in effect on July 1, 2021).

# § 4. Notice of Liability.

- a. A notice of liability shall be sent by first class mail to each person alleged to be liable as an owner for a violation of subdivision (a) of section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law. Personal delivery on the owner shall not be required. A manual or automatic record of mailing prepared in the ordinary course of business shall be prima facie evidence of the facts contained therein.
- b. A notice of liability shall contain the name and address of the person alleged to be liable as an owner for a violation of subdivision (a) of section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law, the registration number of the vehicle involved in such violation, the location where such violation took place, the date and time of such violation and the identification number of the camera which recorded the violation or other document locator number.

- c. A notice of liability shall contain information advising the person charged of the manner and the time in which he or she may contest the liability alleged in the notice. Such notice of liability shall also contain a warning to advise the persons charged that failure to contest in the manner and time provided shall be deemed an admission of liability and that a default judgment may be entered thereon.
- d. The notice of liability shall be prepared and mailed by the Nassau County Traffic and Parking Violations Agency.

# § 5. Owner Liability.

- a. The demonstration program established hereunder shall provide that the owner of a vehicle shall be liable for a penalty imposed pursuant to this local law if such vehicle was used or operated with the permission of the owner, express or implied, in violation of subdivision (a) of section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law and such violation is evidenced by information obtained from a school bus photo violation monitoring system; provided however that no owner of a vehicle shall be liable for a penalty imposed pursuant to this section where the operator of such vehicle has been convicted of the underlying violation of subdivision (a) of section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law. For purposes of this subsection, there shall be a presumption that such vehicle was used and operated with the consent of the owner at the time it was used or operated in violation of subdivision (a) of section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law.
- b. If an owner receives a notice of liability pursuant to this local law for any time period during which the vehicle was reported to the police as having been stolen, it shall be a valid defense to an allegation of liability for a violation of subdivision (a) of section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law pursuant to this local law that the vehicle had been reported to the police as stolen prior to the time the violation occurred and had not been recovered by such time. For purposes of asserting the defense provided by this subdivision, it shall be sufficient that a certified copy of the police report on the stolen vehicle be sent by first class mail to the Nassau County Traffic and Parking Violations Agency, court having jurisdiction or parking violations bureau.
- c. An owner who is a lessor of a vehicle to which a notice of liability was issued pursuant to this local law shall not be liable for the violation of subdivision (a) of section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law, provided that he or she sends to the Nassau County Traffic and Parking Violations Agency a copy of the rental, lease or other such contract document covering such vehicle on the date of the violation, with the name and address of the lessee clearly legible, within 37 days after receiving notice from the agency of the date and time of such violation, together with the other information contained in the original notice of liability. Failure to send such information within such 37-day time period shall render the owner liable for the penalty prescribed by this local law. Where the Lessor complies with the provisions of this paragraph, the lessee of such vehicle on the date of such violation shall be deemed to be the owner of such vehicle for purposes of this section, shall be subject to liability for the violation of subdivision (a) of section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law pursuant to this local law and shall be sent a notice of liability pursuant to section 4 of this local law.

- d. A certificate, sworn to or affirmed by a technician employed by the County, or a facsimile thereof, based upon inspection of photographs, microphotographs, videotape or other recorded images produced by a school bus photo violation monitoring system, shall be prima facie evidence of the facts contained therein. Any photographs, microphotographs, videotape or other recorded images evidencing such a violation shall be available for inspection in any proceeding to adjudicate the liability for such violation.
- e. It shall be a defense to any prosecution for a violation of subdivision (a) of section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law pursuant to this local law that such school bus stoparms were malfunctioning at the time of the alleged violation.
- f. For the purpose of informing and educating owners of motor vehicles in this County during the first sixty-day period in which a school bus photo violation monitoring system is in operation within a school district pursuant to the provisions of this local law, all owners of motor vehicles who would otherwise be held liable for failure of operators thereof to comply with section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law when meeting a school bus marked and equipped as provided in subdivisions 20 and 21-c of section 375 of such law, shall be issued a written warning in lieu of a notice of liability. (Subdivision f amended by Local Law No. 13-2021, in effect on July 1,2021)

# § 6. Adjudication of Liability.

Liability pursuant to the demonstration program established hereunder shall be imposed upon owners by the Nassau County Traffic and Parking Violations Agency pursuant to section 24-1.1 of the Nassau County Administrative Code.

#### § 7. Action for Indemnification.

If the owner held liable for a violation of subdivision (a) of section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law pursuant to this local law was not the operator of the vehicle at the time of the violation, the owner may maintain an action for indemnification against the operator.

# § 8. Annual Report.

- a. The County shall submit an annual report on the results of the use of a school bus photo violation monitoring system to the Governor, the temporary president of the Senate and the speaker of the Assembly on or before June 1 of each year in which the demonstration program is operable. Such report shall include, but not be limited to:
  - i. The number of buses and a description of the routes where stationary and mobile school bus photo violation monitoring systems were used;
  - ii. The aggregate number, type and severity of accidents reported at locations where a school bus photo violation monitoring system is used for the year preceding the installation of such system, to the extent the information is maintained by the department of motor vehicles of this state;

- iii. The aggregate number, type and severity of accidents reported at locations where a school bus photo violation monitoring system is used, to the extent the information is maintained by the department of motor vehicles of this state;
- iv. The number of violations recorded at each location where a school bus photo violation monitoring system is used and in the aggregate on a daily, weekly and monthly basis;
- v. The number of convictions for violations of subdivision (a) of section 1174 of the New York Vehicle and Traffic Law recorded at each location where a school bus photo violation monitoring system is used on an annual basis, to the extent the information is maintained by the department of motor vehicles of this state;
- vi. The total number of notices of liability issued for violations recorded by such systems;
- vii. The number of fines and total amount of fines paid after the first notice of liability issued for violations recorded by such systems;
- viii. The number of violations adjudicated and results of such adjudications including breakdowns of dispositions made for violations recorded by such systems which shall be provided at least annually to the County by the Nassau County Traffic and Parking Violations Agency;
  - ix. The total amount of revenue realized by the County from such adjudications;
  - x. The expenses incurred by the County in connection with the program;
  - xi. The quality of the adjudication process and its results including the total number of hearings scheduled, re-scheduled, and held; the total number of persons scheduled for such hearings; the total number of cases where fines were paid on or before the hearing date; and the total number of default judgments entered. Such information shall be provided at least annually to the County by the Nassau County Traffic and Parking Violations Bureau; and
- xii. A description of public education activities conducted to warn motorists of the dangers of overtaking and passing stopped school buses.
- b. The County shall annually provide a copy of the annual report submitted pursuant to this local law, to each local law enforcement agency having jurisdiction to enforce violations of the vehicle and traffic law or any ordinance, rule or regulation relating to traffic adopted pursuant to such law on roadways within the County.

  (Added by Local Law No. 19-2019, in effect on October 23, 2019)

# TITLE 86 "TETHERING LAW"

# §1. Legislative Intent.

The Legislature hereby finds that inappropriate outdoor tethering of pets is an especially common and widespread form of animal abuse which has gone unaddressed for too long. With distressing frequency, pets are tethered, chained, leashed or otherwise restrained in ways which cause them severe pain and physical injury, subject them to dangerously unhealthy weather conditions, such as extreme heat and cold, and deny them adequate access to food and water for extended periods of time. In addition, pets are often restrained in ways which unreasonably confine and restrict their movements thereby denying them adequate space for exercise necessary to their physical and emotional health and well-being and forcing them to live in unsanitary conditions by compelling them to defecate and urinate in the same space where they eat, move and rest. Accordingly, it is the judgment of this Legislature that it is in the public interest to adopt legislation prohibiting inhumane tethering practices in Nassau Count y and imposing significant penalties upon those who engage in such animal cruelty.

# §2. **Definitions.** As used in this Title:

- a. "County" shall mean the County of Nassau.
- b. "Person" shall mean any individual, business, firm, partnership, limited liability partnership, corporation, company, limited liability company, society, association, or any organized group of persons whether incorporated or not.

# §3. Prohibitions.

- a. It shall be unlawful for any person to tether, leash, fasten, secure, restrain, chain or tie an animal to any stationary object outdoors or cause such animal to be restrained, in a manner that:
  - 1. Endangers the animal's health, safety or well-being;
  - 2. Restricts such animal's access to suitable and sufficient food and water;
  - 3. Confines the animal outdoors when:
    - i. The temperature is below 35 degrees Fahrenheit;
    - ii. The temperature is above 85 degrees Fahrenheit; or
    - iii. The National Weather Service has issued a heat or wind chill advisory, watch or warning.

- 4. Does not provide such animal with shelter appropriate to its breed, physical condition, and the climate as defined by Section 353-b of the New York State Agriculture and Markets Law; or
- 5. Unreasonably restricts the movement of such animal by preventing it from urinating or defecating in a separate area removed from the area where it must eat, drink or lie down.
- b. Notwithstanding the provisions of Subsection (a) of this section, no person shall tether, leash, fasten, secure, restrain, chain or tie an animal to any object with a device that:
  - 1. Is a choke collar, pinch collar, prong collar or a similar collar that restrains the animal in such a manner that it impairs the flow of oxygen or blood to the animal which may cause choking or causes substantial discomfort to the animal;
  - 2. Is embedded, partially embedded or may become embedded in such animal's skin;
  - 3. Has weights attached or contains links that are more than 1/4 inch thick;
  - 4. Weighs more than 10% of the animal's total body weight, not to exceed 25 pounds for any animal;
  - 5. Is less than 10 feet in length;
  - 6. Because of its design or placement is likely to become entangled;
  - 7. Is long enough to allow such animal to move outside of its owner's property;
  - 8. Would allow the restrained animal to move over an object or edge that would result in the strangulation of or injury to such animal.
- c. No person shall tether, leash, fasten, secure, restrain, chain or tie an animal to any stationary object outdoors for more than I hour in any 12-hour period.

#### §4. Penalties.

Any Person who violates this Title shall be guilty of a violation and subject to a maximum fine of \$500 for any first offense. A second violation of this Title shall be a violation and subject to a maximum fine of \$750. Any third or subsequent violation of this Title by a person shall be guilty of a Class A misdemeanor, punishable by imprisonment not to exceed one year, or by a fine of not more than \$1,000 or both.

#### §5. Enforcement.

The Nassau County Police Department, the Nassau County Society for Prevention of Cruelty to Animals, any animal control employee of towns and municipalities, and any other government agency with appropriate jurisdiction shall be empowered to enforce the provisions under this Title.

#### §6. No Preemption.

This Local Law shall not apply in any Town, City or Village that has adopted substantially similar local legislation.

# §7. Applicability

This law shall apply to all persons convicted of Animal Abuse Crimes on or after the effective date of this law.

(Title added by Local Law No. 22-2019, in effect on October 23, 2019).

#### **TITLE 87**

# A LAW TO REQUIRE COOPERATIVE HOUSING CORPORATIONS TO TAKE TIMELY ACTION UPON APPLICATIONS BY PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS

Section 1. **Legislative Intent.** The purpose of this law is to require Cooperative Housing Corporations in Nassau County to take action upon applications for the purchase of an ownership interest in such corporations pursuant to the time requirements defined by this statute.

### §2. Applications for Purchase.

A. The governing board of any Cooperative Housing Corporation, incorporated as such in the State of New York and that exercises control over real property located in the County of Nassau, shall include the following notification in all applications provided or made available to prospective purchasers for the purchase of shares of the Cooperative Housing Corporation's stock:

#### **NOTICE**

Pursuant to Local Law 30-2019 of the Miscellaneous Laws of Nassau County, the governing board of this Cooperative Housing Corporation shall, within fifteen (15) days of the receipt of this application, either acknowledge to you, the applicant. that the application has been properly completed or notify you of any defect that you must cure before the application can be considered complete.

Upon receipt of a properly completed application, the governing board of this Cooperative Housing Corporation shall within forty-five {45} days either reject or approve the application.

The failure of the governing board of this Cooperative Housing Corporation to abide by the terms of Local Law XX-2019 could result in fines and penalties levied against it and entitle you, the applicant. to a full refund of any fees, payments or assessments required by the Cooperative Housing Corporation pursuant to the application process. If you believe a Cooperative Housing Corporation has violated Local Law XX- 2019, complaints may be made to the:

Nassau County Department of Consumer Affairs 240 Old Country Road, 3rd Floor Mineola, New York 11501

Or by telephone to the Nassau County Department of Consumer Affairs at {516} 571-

2600.

- B. Within fifteen {15} days of the receipt of a purchaser's application, the governing board of the Cooperative Housing Corporation shall either acknowledge to the prospective purchaser that it is in receipt of a properlycompleted application or inform the prospective purchaser of any defect in the application. Where the governing board has informed a prospective purchaser of a defect in an application, upon resubmission of the application, the governing board shall have fifteen (15) days to either acknowledge to the prospective purchaser that it is in receipt of a properly completed application or inform the prospective purchaser of any uncured defect in the resubmitted application.
- C. Within forty-five (45) days of its receipt of a properly completed application, such governing board shall either reject or approve the application.
- D. The failure of a Cooperative Housing Corporation to reject or approve an application in accordance with this Local Law shall constitute a violation. Violations of this Local Law shall punishable as follows:
  - i. A written warning for the first offense;
  - ii. One thousand dollars (\$1,000) for the second offense; and
  - iii. Two thousand dollars (\$2,000) for the third and any subsequent offense.
- E. In addition, upon the failure of a Cooperative Housing Corporation to reject or approve an application in accordance with this Local Law, such Cooperative Housing Corporation shall refund the prospective purchaser any and all fees, payments or assessments required pursuant to the Cooperative Housing Corporation's application process.
- F. It shall be the duty of the Nassau County Department of Consumer Affairs to receive and investigate complaints and levy and enforce penalties and refunds for alleged violations of this Local Law.
- 3. **Reverse Preemption**. This law shall be null and void the day that a statewide or federal law goes into effect incorporating either the same or substantially similar provisions contained in this law, or in the event that a pertinent state or federal administrative agency issues and promulgates regulations preempting such action by the County of Nassau. The County Legislature may determine by resolution whether an identical or substantially similar state or federal law has been enacted for the purposes of triggering this section.

(Title added by Local Law No. 30-2019, in effect December 20, 2019)

# TITLE 88 BENNY'S LAW

§ 1. **Short title**. This law shall be known as Benny's Law.

#### § 2. Registry of Dangerous Dog Determinations

a. The Nassau County Police Department is hereby authorized, empowered and directed to contract with the Nassau County Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals to create and maintain an online registry that shall

list all dogs housed in Nassau County that have been judicially deemed "dangerous dogs" pursuant to New York State Agriculture and Markets Law §123, and shall include the judicial order rendering such a determination. The following information shall be listed with regard to "dangerous dogs": the address where the "dangerous dog" is housed, the date of the event that led to the court's "dangerous dog" determination, the duration of the "dangerous dog" designation, and the "dangerous dog's" breed, gender, weight, age and color. Further, upon the judicial determination that a dog housed in Nassau County is deemed "dangerous," or upon the entrance of a dog into Nassau County that has been deemed "dangerous" by a court of competent jurisdiction, its owner shall register the dog with the Nassau County Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals and shall provide to the Nassau County Society for the Prevention Cruelty to Animals all information required to be posted by this Local Law.

# § 3. Notice Requirements.

- a. For any judicial determination that a dog housed in Nassau County is deemed "dangerous", the Nassau County Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals shall provide to the owner of such dog a copy of this Local Law, a copy of the notice and affidavit described in §3(b) of this Local Law, a listing of businesses and services that can assist with the identification of addresses within a one thousand foot radius of the home address of the "dangerous dog" and an explanation of the owner's obligations pursuant to this Local Law.
- b. Not more than ten business days after notification to the owner of a "dangerous dog" by the Nassau County Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals pursuant to §3(a) of this Local Law, its owner shall mail the judicial determination and a notice to all addresses within a one thousand feet radius of his or her residence that states the following: "This notice is mailed pursuant to Title 88 of the Miscellaneous Laws of Nassau County to inform you that the dog housed at (address) was judicially determined to be a 'dangerous dog' pursuant to New York State Agriculture and Markets Law § 123." The "dangerous dog" owner shall submit a signed and notarized affidavit verifying that the notice has been mailed to the residences required pursuant to this section to the Nassau County Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals. Said affidavit shall be posted onto the website required by section 2(a) of this local law.

## § 4. Enforcement and Penalty.

- a. This Title shall be enforced by the Nassau County Police Department and the Nassau County Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals.
- b. Any violation of this Title shall be punishable by a fine not exceeding \$500 for the violation. Each day or part of a day in which any such violation continues shall constitute a separate violation punishable by a fine not exceeding \$100 for the violation. (Title added by Local Law No. 3 of 2021, signed by County Executive on March 10, 2021).

#### **Title 89**

# PROHIBITION AGAINST THE SMOKING OR VAPING OF CANNABIS PRODUCTS ON COUNTY-OWNED PROPERTIES

- Prohibition against the Smoking or Vaping of Cannabis Products on County-**Owned Properties.** 
  - a. No person shall smoke or vape cannabis or concentrated cannabis as those terms are defined by §222.00 of the New York State Penal Law on any County-owned property including but not limited to buildings, sidewalks, parking lots, parks, preserves, playgrounds, beaches, campgrounds, or any other county-owned open spaces.
- **Penalties**. A violation of section one of this local law shall be punishable by a civil penalty not exceeding \$25.00. (Title added by Local Law No. 11-2021, Signed by County Executive on June 9, 2021).